# ENDOCRINE AND PARACRINE ROLE OF FGF23 AND KLOTHO IN HEALTH AND DISEASE

EDITED BY: Reinhold G. Erben and L. Darryl Quarles PUBLISHED IN: Frontiers in Endocrinology







#### **Frontiers Copyright Statement**

© Copyright 2007-2019 Frontiers Media SA. All rights reserved. All content included on this site, such as text, graphics, logos, button icons, images, video/audio clips, downloads, data compilations and software, is the property of or is licensed to Frontiers Media SA ("Frontiers") or its licensees and/or subcontractors. The copyright in the text of individual articles is the property of their respective authors, subject to a license granted to Frontiers.

The compilation of articles constituting this e-book, wherever published, as well as the compilation of all other content on this site, is the exclusive property of Frontiers. For the conditions for downloading and copying of e-books from Frontiers' website, please see the Terms for Website Use. If purchasing Frontiers e-books from other websites or sources, the conditions of the website concerned apply.

Images and graphics not forming part of user-contributed materials may not be downloaded or copied without permission.

Individual articles may be downloaded and reproduced in accordance with the principles of the CC-BY licence subject to any copyright or other notices. They may not be re-sold as an e-book.

As author or other contributor you grant a CC-BY licence to others to reproduce your articles, including any graphics and third-party materials supplied by you, in accordance with the Conditions for Website Use and subject to any copyright notices which you include in connection with your articles and materials.

All copyright, and all rights therein, are protected by national and international copyright laws.

The above represents a summary only. For the full conditions see the Conditions for Authors and the Conditions for Website Use. ISSN 1664-8714 ISBN 978-2-88945-805-9

ISBN 978-2-88945-805-9 DOI 10.3389/978-2-88945-805-9

#### **About Frontiers**

Frontiers is more than just an open-access publisher of scholarly articles: it is a pioneering approach to the world of academia, radically improving the way scholarly research is managed. The grand vision of Frontiers is a world where all people have an equal opportunity to seek, share and generate knowledge. Frontiers provides immediate and permanent online open access to all its publications, but this alone is not enough to realize our grand goals.

#### **Frontiers Journal Series**

The Frontiers Journal Series is a multi-tier and interdisciplinary set of open-access, online journals, promising a paradigm shift from the current review, selection and dissemination processes in academic publishing. All Frontiers journals are driven by researchers for researchers; therefore, they constitute a service to the scholarly community. At the same time, the Frontiers Journal Series operates on a revolutionary invention, the tiered publishing system, initially addressing specific communities of scholars, and gradually climbing up to broader public understanding, thus serving the interests of the lay society, too.

#### **Dedication to Quality**

Each Frontiers article is a landmark of the highest quality, thanks to genuinely collaborative interactions between authors and review editors, who include some of the world's best academicians. Research must be certified by peers before entering a stream of knowledge that may eventually reach the public - and shape society; therefore, Frontiers only applies the most rigorous and unbiased reviews.

Frontiers revolutionizes research publishing by freely delivering the most outstanding research, evaluated with no bias from both the academic and social point of view. By applying the most advanced information technologies, Frontiers is catapulting scholarly publishing into a new generation.

#### What are Frontiers Research Topics?

Frontiers Research Topics are very popular trademarks of the Frontiers Journals Series: they are collections of at least ten articles, all centered on a particular subject. With their unique mix of varied contributions from Original Research to Review Articles, Frontiers Research Topics unify the most influential researchers, the latest key findings and historical advances in a hot research area! Find out more on how to host your own Frontiers Research Topic or contribute to one as an author by contacting the Frontiers Editorial Office: researchtopics@frontiersin.org

1

## ENDOCRINE AND PARACRINE ROLE OF FGF23 AND KLOTHO IN HEALTH AND DISEASE

Topic Editors:

**Reinhold G. Erben**, University of Veterinary Medicine Vienna, Austria **L. Darryl Quarles**, University of Tennessee Health Science Center, United States

αKlotho and fibroblast growth factor-23 (FGF23) were discovered independently about 20 years ago. Since their initial description, a series of exciting discoveries have revealed the important role of endocrine and paracrine FGF23 and αKlotho signaling not only for the physiological regulation of mineral and bone homeostasis, but also for the pathophysiology of diseases such as chronic kidney disease, left ventricular hypertrophy, myocardial infarction, hypertension, and disorders characterized by impaired bone mineralization. The 11 articles compiled in this Research Topic consist of three Original Research articles and 8 Reviews or Mini Reviews, and are an excellent source of information about the state of the art in the FGF23/αKlotho field, covering almost all aspects of FGF23/αKlotho biology.

**Citation:** Erben, R. G., Quarles, L. D., eds. (2019). Endocrine and Paracrine Role of FGF23 and Klotho in Health and Disease. Lausanne: Frontiers Media. doi: 10.3389/978-2-88945-805-9

# Table of Contents

04 Editorial: Endocrine and Paracrine Role of FGF23 and Klotho in Health and Disease Reinhold G. Erben

#### **SECTION: ORIGINAL ARTICLES**

- 67 Effect of Osteocyte-Ablation on Inorganic Phosphate Metabolism: Analysis of Bone–Kidney–Gut Axis
   Osamu Fujii, Sawako Tatsumi, Mao Ogata, Tomohiro Arakaki, Haruna Sakaguchi, Kengo Nomura, Atsumi Miyagawa, Kayo Ikuta, Ai Hanazaki, Ichiro Kaneko, Hiroko Segawa and Ken-ichi Miyamoto
- 23 Impact of Altered Mineral Metabolism on Pathological Cardiac Remodeling in Elevated Fibroblast Growth Factor 23
   Maren Leifheit-Nestler, Beatrice Richter, Melis Basaran, Julia Nespor, Isabel Vogt, Ioana Alesutan, Jakob Voelkl, Florian Lang, Joerg Heineke, Stefanie Krick and Dieter Haffner
- 36 Augmented Fibroblast Growth Factor-23 Secretion in Bone Locally Contributes to Impaired Bone Mineralization in Chronic Kidney Disease in Mice

Olena Andrukhova, Christiane Schüler, Claudia Bergow, Alexandra Petric and Reinhold G. Erben

#### **SECTION: REVIEWS & MINI REVIEWS**

- **48** *Physiological Actions of Fibroblast Growth Factor-23* Reinhold G. Erben
- 55 New Insights into the Mechanism of Action of Soluble Klotho George D. Dalton, Jian Xie, Sung-Wan An and Chou-Long Huang
- 65 FGF23 Actions on Target Tissues—With and Without Klotho Beatrice Richter and Christian Faul
- 86 Paracrine Effects of FGF23 on the Heart Maren Leifheit-Nestler and Dieter Haffner
- **99** FGF23 in Cardiovascular Disease: Innocent Bystander or Active Mediator? Robert Stöhr, Alexander Schuh, Gunnar H. Heine and Vincent Brandenburg
- 107 Corrigendum: FGF23 in Cardiovascular Disease: Innocent Bystander or Active Mediator?

Robert Stöhr, Alexander Schuh, Gunnar H. Heine and Vincent Brandenburg

- 108 Therapeutic Interference With Vascular Calcification—Lessons From Klotho-Hypomorphic Mice and Beyond
   Florian Lang, Christina Leibrock, Lisann Pelzl, Meinrad Gawaz, Burkert Pieske, Ioana Alesutan and Jakob Voelkl
- **117** *Role of Fibroblast Growth Factor-23 in Innate Immune Responses* Elizabeth A. Fitzpatrick, Xiaobin Han, Zhousheng Xiao and L. Darryl Quarles
- **124** Targeting Fibroblast Growth Factor 23 Signaling With Antibodies and Inhibitors, is There a Rationale? Seiji Fukumoto





## Editorial: Endocrine and Paracrine Role of FGF23 and Klotho in Health and Disease

Reinhold G. Erben\*

Department of Biomedical Sciences, University of Veterinary Medicine Vienna, Vienna, Austria

Keywords: Klotho, fibroblast growth factor (FCF-23), chronic kidney disease, X-linked hypophosphatemia, myocardial infarction, bone mineralization, left ventricular hypertrophy

Editorial on the Research Topic

#### Endocrine and Paracrine Role of FGF23 and Klotho in Health and Disease

αKlotho and fibroblast growth factor-23 (FGF23) were discovered independently about 20 years ago. The transmembrane protein αKlotho was originally described as an anti-aging factor (1), whereas FGF23 was discovered as a plasma phosphate-lowering hormone, suppressing phosphate reabsorption and vitamin D hormone production in the kidney (2–4). Typical for seminal discoveries, both findings have generated an avalanche of subsequent research. It took about 10 years after these initial, completely independent discoveries to find out that both molecules are part of the same signaling pathway (5). After 20 years of intensive research, there is still keen interest in the αKlotho/FGF23 biology field. This interest is currently mainly fueled by the so far unexplained finding that the levels of circulating FGF23 are a strong predictor of disease progression and mortality in patients with chronic kidney disease (CKD), and by the emerging role of FGF23 in cardiovascular diseases (6–8). Progress in science is often driven by controversies. The αKlotho/FGF23 field is actually a very good example of controversy-driven advancement of science.

The purpose of this Research Topic was to bring together Reviews/Mini-Reviews and Original Research articles, reflecting the state of the art and the current controversies in this rapidly expanding research area. The 11 accepted articles consist of three Original Research articles and 8 Reviews or Mini-Reviews.

The Original Research articles deal (i) with the bone-kidney-gut endocrine signaling network, (ii) with the role of FGF23 as pro-hypertrophic factor in the heart, and (iii) with the function of FGF23 as a local regulator of mineralization in bone. Fujii et al. investigated the role of osteocytes in the control of mineral homeostasis, using a diphtheria toxin-mediated osteocyte ablation model in mice. Intriguingly, they found an only transient reduction in circulating FGF23 after osteocyte ablation, which was followed by profoundly increased renal phosphate excretion and suppressed renal Klotho expression after serum FGF23 had normalized. Data from human studies have shown a strong association between left ventricular hypertrophy and circulating FGF23 (6). To elucidate further the pathophysiological role of FGF23 in the development of cardiac hypertrophy, Leifheit-Nestler et al. compared two mouse models characterized by increased circulating FGF23, Klotho deficient mice and Hyp mice. Hyp mice are a model of X-linked hypophosphatemia (XLH). Leifheit-Nestler et al. found that despite high circulating FGF23, increased cardiac abundance of Fgf23 mRNA, and low renal Klotho expression, Hyp mice did not show pathological cardiac remodeling. These findings suggest that increased circulating FGF23 alone is not cardiotoxic in the absence of hyperphosphatemia/hypercalcemia. If extrapolated to humans, the data provided by this study suggest that chronically elevated FGF23 levels in XLH patients will not induce left ventricular

### OPEN ACCESS

Edited and reviewed by: Pierre De Meyts, de Duve Institute, Belgium

\*Correspondence: Reinhold G. Erben reinhold.erben@vetmeduni.ac.at

#### Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Molecular and Structural Endocrinology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Endocrinology

Received: 18 December 2018 Accepted: 03 January 2019 Published: 21 January 2019

#### Citation:

Erben RG (2019) Editorial: Endocrine and Paracrine Role of FGF23 and Klotho in Health and Disease. Front. Endocrinol. 10:2. doi: 10.3389/fendo.2019.00002

4

hypertrophy *per se.* It is well-known that the mineral-bonedisorder in CKD patients (CKD-MBD) is associated with impaired bone mineralization (9). It was previously thought that the mineralization defect in CKD is mainly due to secondary hyperparathyroidism, metabolic acidosis, increased circulating Wnt inhibitors, and uremic toxins (9). The paper by Andrukhova et al. establishes a new paradigm, namely that excessive osteocytic FGF23 secretion locally contributes to the bone mineralization defect in CKD-MBD by suppression of alkaline phosphatase, which in turn leads to the accumulation of the mineralization inhibitor pyrophosphate.

The 8 Reviews/Mini-Reviews cover most of the current knowledge in the FGF23/αKlotho field. The physiological actions of FGF23 are reviewed in the paper by Erben. Current evidence suggests that under physiological conditions, kidney and bone are the main target organs of FGF23 activity. The endocrine actions of FGF23 in the kidney are mediated through the FGF receptor 1c/aKlotho receptor complex, whereas the paracrine actions of FGF23 in bone are aKlotho-independent. One of the burning questions in the field is the question whether soluble Klotho has FGF23-independent effects. It is firmly established that transmembrane aKlotho functions as a co-receptor for FGF23 signaling (5). In addition, the extracellular part of  $\alpha$ Klotho can be shed by membrane-anchored sheddases, giving rise to soluble aKlotho circulating in the blood stream. The review by Dalton et al. summarizes the state of the art as of 2017, describing the FGF23-independent hormonal and enzymatic functions of soluble aKlotho reported previously. However, in January 2018 the paradigm-shifting paper by Chen et al. (10) demonstrated that soluble aKlotho functions as a co-receptor for FGF23 signaling, and lacks any FGF23-independent effects. The review by Richter and Faul was accepted after the landmark paper by Chen et al. (10) came out, and is an insightful and thought-provoking paper. Richter and Faul not only describe what is currently known about the actions of FGF23 in the heart, liver, leukocytes, skeletal muscle, endothelium, lung, and CNS. In addition, Richter and Faul hypothesize that the main function of soluble αKlotho may be to act as a decoy receptor for FGF23, preventing pathological FGF23 signaling, which appears to be mainly mediated through FGF receptors 3 and 4.

Emerging evidence suggests that FGF23 may have paracrine effects in the heart. Leifheit-Nestler and Haffner summarize what is known about the local secretion of FGF23 in the heart, and comprehensively discuss the putative paracrine functions

#### of FGF23 in the development of left ventricular hypertrophy. From a different perspective, the review by Stöhr et al. describes our current knowledge about the mechanisms how cardiac disease induces FGF23 secretion and how FGF23 may impact cardiovascular disease via canonical and non-canonical effects. Furthermore, they discuss the potential for therapeutic interventions. An important aspect of cardiovascular disease is vascular calcification, which is often found in CKD patients. Although, it is generally accepted that hyperphosphatemia is the major driving force for vascular calcification in CKD patients, aKlotho deficiency may also play a role. The review by Lang et al. summarizes our knowledge about the pathophysiological mechanisms leading to vascular calcification in two hyperphosphatemia mouse models, aKlotho deficient mice and mice treated with a vitamin D overload. In addition, Lang et al. outline the possibilities for therapeutic interventions explored in these mouse models.

During recent years, it became clear that activated immune cells are able to produce FGF23, and that FGF23 also acts on immune cells. The review by Fitzpatrick et al. is dealing with the role of FGF23 in inflammation. Fitzpatrick et al. point out that it is important to distinguish between indirect effects of FGF23 on the immune system mediated through suppression of vitamin D hormone production, and direct  $\alpha$ Klotho-independent and  $\alpha$ Klotho-dependent effects on granulocytes and macrophages, respectively.

In February 2018, anti-FGF23 antibody therapy was approved by the European Medicines Agency for the treatment of XLH. The paper by Fukumoto is a comprehensive review of the therapeutic role of FGF23 inhibition by antibodies or synthetic inhibitors in phosphate-wasting disorders and CKD. Fukumoto concludes that while patients with phosphate-wasting diseases such as XLH may benefit from FGF23 blocking antibodies as long as the therapy is carefully monitored, current evidence is insufficient to justify the use of inhibition of FGF23 signaling in patients with CKD.

In summary, the articles in this research topic are an excellent source of information about the current knowledge in the FGF23/ $\alpha$ Klotho field.

### **AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS**

The author confirms being the sole contributor of this work and has approved it for publication.

#### REFERENCES

- Kuro-o M, Matsumura Y, Aizawa H, Kawaguchi H, Suga T, Utsugi T, et al. Mutation of the mouse klotho gene leads to a syndrome resembling ageing. *Nature* (1997) 390:45–51. doi: 10.1038/36285
- The ADHR Consortium. Autosomal dominant hypophosphataemic rickets is associated with mutations in FGF23. *Nat Genet.* (2000) 26:345–8. doi: 10.1038/81664
- Shimada T, Mizutani S, Muto T, Yoneya T, Hino R, Takeda S, et al. Cloning and characterization of FGF23 as a causative factor of tumorinduced osteomalacia. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA*. (2001) 98:6500–5. doi: 10.1073/pnas.101545198
- Shimada T, Hasegawa H, Yamazaki Y, Muto T, Hino R, Takeuchi Y, et al. FGF-23 is a potent regulator of vitamin D metabolism and phosphate homeostasis. J Bone Miner Res. (2004) 19:429–35. doi: 10.1359/JBMR.03 01264
- Urakawa I, Yamazaki Y, Shimada T, Iijima K, Hasegawa H, Okawa K, et al. Klotho converts canonical FGF receptor into a specific receptor for FGF23. *Nature* (2006) 444:770–4. doi: 10.1038/nature05315
- Faul C, Amaral AP, Oskouei B, Hu MC, Sloan A, Isakova T, et al. FGF23 induces left ventricular hypertrophy. J Clin Invest. (2011) 121:4393–408. doi: 10.1172/JCI46122
- 7. Isakova T, Xie H, Yang W, Xie D, Anderson AH, Scialla J, et al. Fibroblast growth factor 23 and risks of mortality and end-stage renal

disease in patients with chronic kidney disease. JAMA (2011) 305:2432–9. doi: 10.1001/jama.2011.826

- Scialla JJ, Xie H, Rahman M, Anderson AH, Isakova T, Ojo A, et al. Fibroblast growth factor-23 and cardiovascular events in CKD. J Am Soc Nephrol. (2014) 25:349–60. doi: 10.1681/ASN.2013050465
- Seifert ME, Hruska KA. The kidney-vascular-bone axis in the chronic kidney disease-mineral bone disorder. *Transplantation* (2016) 100:497–505. doi: 10.1097/TP.000000000000903
- Chen G, Liu Y, Goetz R, Fu L, Jayaraman S, Hu MC, et al. alpha-Klotho is a non-enzymatic molecular scaffold for FGF23 hormone signalling. *Nature* (2018) 553:461–6. doi: 10.1038/nature25451

**Conflict of Interest Statement:** The author declares that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2019 Erben. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





## Effect of Osteocyte-Ablation on Inorganic Phosphate Metabolism: Analysis of Bone–Kidney–Gut Axis

Osamu Fujii, Sawako Tatsumi<sup>\*</sup>, Mao Ogata, Tomohiro Arakaki, Haruna Sakaguchi, Kengo Nomura, Atsumi Miyagawa, Kayo Ikuta, Ai Hanazaki, Ichiro Kaneko, Hiroko Segawa and Ken-ichi Miyamoto<sup>\*</sup>

Department of Molecular Nutrition, Institution of Biomedical Science, Tokushima University Graduate School, Tokushima, Japan

#### **OPEN ACCESS**

#### Edited by:

Reinhold Gottfried Erben, Veterinärmedizinische Universität Wien, Austria

#### Reviewed by:

Yan Viva Ma, Johnson & Johnson, United States Hai-Bin Ruan, University of Minnesota, United States

#### \*Correspondence:

Sawako Tatsumi tatsumi@tokushima-u.ac.jp; Ken-ichi Miyamoto kmiyamoto@tokushima-u.ac.jp

#### Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Molecular and Structural Endocrinology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Endocrinology

Received: 12 September 2017 Accepted: 11 December 2017 Published: 21 December 2017

#### Citation:

Fujii O, Tatsumi S, Ogata M, Arakaki T, Sakaguchi H, Nomura K, Miyagawa A, Ikuta K, Hanazaki A, Kaneko I, Segawa H and Miyamoto K-i (2017) Effect of Osteocyte-Ablation on Inorganic Phosphate Metabolism: Analysis of Bone–Kidney–Gut Axis. Front. Endocrinol. 8:359. doi: 10.3389/fendo.2017.00359 In response to kidney damage, osteocytes increase the production of several hormones critically involved in mineral metabolism. Recent studies suggest that osteocyte function is altered very early in the course of chronic kidney disease. In the present study, to clarify the role of osteocytes and the canalicular network in mineral homeostasis, we performed four experiments. In Experiment 1, we investigated renal and intestinal Pi handling in osteocyte-less (OCL) model mice [transgenic mice with the dentin matrix protein-1 promoter-driven diphtheria toxin (DT)-receptor that were injected with DT]. In Experiment 2, we administered granulocyte colony-stimulating factor to mice to disrupt the osteocyte canalicular network. In Experiment 3, we investigated the role of osteocytes in dietary Pi signaling. In Experiment 4, we analyzed gene expression level fluctuations in the intestine and liver by comparing mice fed a high Pi diet and OCL mice. Together, the findings of these experiments indicate that osteocyte ablation caused rapid renal Pi excretion (P < 0.01) before the plasma fibroblast growth factor 23 (FGF23) and parathyroid hormone (PTH) levels increased. At the same time, we observed a rapid suppression of renal Klotho (P < 0.01), type II sodium phosphate transporters Npt2a (P < 0.01) and Npt2c (P < 0.05), and an increase in intestinal Npt2b (P < 0.01) protein. In OCL mice, Pi excretion in feces was markedly reduced (P < 0.01). Together, these effects of osteocyte ablation are predicted to markedly increase intestinal Pi absorption (P < 0.01), thus suggesting that increased intestinal Pi absorption stimulates renal Pi excretion in OCL mice. In addition, the ablation of osteocytes and feeding of a high Pi diet affected FGF15/bile acid metabolism and controlled Npt2b expression. In conclusion, OCL mice exhibited increased renal Pi excretion due to enhanced intestinal Pi absorption. We discuss the role of FGF23-Klotho on renal and intestinal Pi metabolism in OCL mice.

Keywords: osteocyte, phosphate, fibroblast growth factor 23, Klotho, intestine, kidney, liver, bile acid

### INTRODUCTION

Inorganic phosphate (Pi) homeostasis is maintained by complex interactions between vitamin D, parathyroid hormone (PTH), and fibroblast growth factor 23 (FGF23) (1–3). FGF23 promotes renal Pi excretion by decreasing its reabsorption in the proximal tubules while concurrently reducing plasma 1,25(OH)<sub>2</sub>D by both decreasing its biosynthesis and increasing its metabolism (3–6). FGF23 requires an additional cofactor,  $\alpha$ -Klotho (Klotho), to bind with high affinity

7

and signal efficiently through its cognate FGF receptor (7, 8). The FGF23–Klotho system directly participates in the bone– parathyroid axis as FGF23 inhibits PTH secretion (9–11). The sodium-dependent  $P_i$  cotransport system includes the Npt2a and Npt2c cotransporters, which locate in the apical membrane of the proximal tubular cells, and Npt2b cotransporter, which locates in the apical membrane of the intestinal epithelial cells (12–16). The FGF23–Klotho system suppresses renal Npt2a and Npt2c protein levels and decreases active vitamin D metabolism (17, 18). The reduction of plasma 1,25(OH)<sub>2</sub>D levels leads to decreased intestinal Npt2b protein levels (19). The FGF23– Klotho system regulates the three transporters and controls systematic Pi homeostasis (12, 13).

Elevated circulating FGF23 levels are strongly related to adverse outcomes in patients with chronic kidney disease (CKD) of all stages (20–22). Circulating FGF23 levels increase early in the course of CKD and reach levels that are several hundred times the normal range in advanced CKD and end-stage renal disease (20–22). CKD is also associated with reduced Klotho expression (23). Klotho deficiency is not only an early biomarker of CKD but also a pathogenic intermediate for CKD development and progression, and extrarenal complications (23). The causes of the increased cardiovascular risk associated with kidney disease are partly related to the CKD-mineral bone disorder (CKD-MBD) syndrome, with the FGF23–Klotho system playing an important role in the pathogenesis of CKD-MBD (23).

Osteocytes are abundant in bone and comprise 95% of all bone cells (24-26). The specialized morphology of osteocytes allows them to function effectively to direct the balance between osteoblast and osteoclast activity, and to regulate systemic mineral metabolism (24-26). Osteocytes respond to kidney damage by increasing the production of secreted factors important for bone and mineral metabolism (27). Indeed, these cells are the primary production site of several factors important for bone and mineral metabolism, including FGF23 and sclerostin (SOST), a negative regulator of the Wnt/ $\beta$ catenin pathway in bone (27, 28). Several recent reports suggest that altered osteocyte function is manifested by changes in osteocytic FGF23, and dentin matrix acidic phosphoprotrein-1 (DMP1) and SOST expression are observed very early in the course of CKD (27). By contrast, the decline in renal Klotho is an early event that is followed by other changes (FGF23, 1,25(OH)<sub>2</sub>D, PTH) as CKD progresses (29). Thus, osteocytes may be the central organ regulating Pi metabolism and dietary Pi-sensing in the kidney-bone axis (1, 24, 30, 31). The roles of osteocytes in mineral metabolism, however, have not been fully elucidated.

Recently, Tatsumi et al. established osteocyte-ablated model mice based on the diphtheria toxin receptor-mediated cell knockout (TRECK) system (32, 33) and examined the role of osteocytes in bone metabolism (32). Osteocyte-less (OCL) mice exhibit osteoporosis. Studies of osteocyte ablation model mice have provided *in vivo* evidence that osteocytes sense loading to the skeleton and orchestrate bone remodeling by controlling both osteoblasts and osteoclasts (32). The effect of osteocyte ablation on mineral metabolism remains unknown. Especially, the effects on calcium and Pi absorption, such as by the kidney

and intestine, are not known. In addition, the effects of osteocyte ablation on the fluctuation of hormones related to mineral metabolism (PTH, FGF23, and vitamin D) are unclear. In the present study, we investigated mineral (calcium and Pi) metabolism in OCL mice.

## MATERIALS AND METHODS

### **Animal Experiments**

In this study, we used the dentin matrix protein 1 promoterdiphtheria toxin receptor (DMP1-DTR) transgenic (Tg) mice established by Tatsumi et al. (32). Injecting these mice with diphtheria toxin (DT) achieves *in vivo* inducible and specific ablation of osteocytes. Ten-week-old DMP1-DTR Tg mice and wild-type (WT) mice as littermate controls (Cont) were maintained at 23°C on a 12-h light/dark cycle. The mice had unlimited access to water and a standard rodent diet. A metabolic cage was used to measure body weight, and to collect blood, urine, and feces. All animal studies were performed in accordance with the guidelines for the care and handling of laboratory animals and were approved by the animal care committee of Tokushima University.

For the dietary regulation experiments, 10-week-old male DT-injected mice (OCL and Cont mice) were placed on one of the following two isocaloric diets for 7 days: (1) control-Pi (CP) 0.6% Pi and (2) high-Pi (HP) 1.2% Pi (34, 35). For analysis of the osteocyte network-disrupted mice, we used granulocyte colony-stimulating factor (G-CSF)-injected mice. Injecting the mice with G-CSF induced hematopoietic stem/progenitor cell mobilization (36). Disruption of the osteocyte network was induced as described previously (37). Male C57 BL/6 mice were injected with recombinant human G-CSF (Filgrastim, Kyowa Kirin, 250 mg/kg body weight/day subcutaneously every 12 h in 10 divided doses unless otherwise indicated) in phosphate-buffered saline supplemented with 0.1% bovine serum albumin, and maintained for 1 day after administering the last dose of G-CSF for 24-h urine collection (37).

## Establishment of Osteocyte-Ablated Mice (OCL Mice)

DMP1-DTR Tg mice were created based on the diphtheria TRECK system (32). The mouse DMP1 gene fused to human HB-EGF (DTR) cDNA with a polyadenylation signals were constructed. The DMP1-DTR Tg mice were mated with WT mice and the offspring were genotyped by polymerase chain reaction (PCR) targeting the inserted gene using genomic DNA extracted from the tail. The following primers were used: 5'-GGGTCCCTCTTCTTCCCTAGC-3' (forward) and 5'-GTATCCACGGACCAGCTGCTAC-3' (reverse) (200 bp product for the transgene). Injecting DMP1-DTR Tg mice with DT resulted in targeted and inducible ablation of osteocytes. DT (50 µg/kg body weight)-treated DMP1-DTR Tg mice were used as OCL mice (**Figure 1A**).

## **Calcium Absorption Analysis**

Intestinal Ca^{2+} absorption was assessed in 8-week-old mice by measuring serum  $^{45}\text{Ca}^{2+}$  at early time-points after oral gavage.

Mice were fasted 12 h before the test. Animals were hemodynamically stable under anesthesia (urethane 1.4 mg/g body weight) during the entire experiment. The test solution contained 0.1 mM CaCl<sub>2</sub>, 125 mM NaCl, 17 mM Tris, and 1.8 g/l fructose, and was enriched with 20  $\mu$ Ci <sup>45</sup>CaCl<sub>2</sub>/ml for oral tests (Cont and OCL mice) (38). For oral tests, 15  $\mu$ l/g body weight was administered orally by gavage. Blood samples were obtained at the indicated time intervals. Serum (10  $\mu$ l) was analyzed by liquid scintillation





50 µm. Magnification 200x. Black arrowheads indicate osteocytes and blue arrowheads indicate ablated osteocytes (n = 6 mice/group). (**C**) Gene expression of osteocyte markers in femures of OCL mice or Cont mice. Gene expression of osteocyte markers [dentin matrix protein-1 (DMP-1), fibroblast growth factor 23 (FGF23), phosphate-regulating endopeptidase homolog X-linked (Phex), matrix extracellular phosphoglycoprotein (MEPE), Sclerostin (SOST), and E11/GP38] and osteoblast markers [Cbfa1, a Alkaline Phosphatase (ALP), Collagen type I alpha (Col1a1), osteopontin (OP), and osteocalcin (OC)] were assessed by real-time polymerase chain reaction (PCR) at 7 days after DT injection. Data were normalized to glyceraldehyde 3-phosphate dehydrogenase (GAPDH) and pooled from two or three independent experiments (n = 6 mice/group). (**D**,**E**) Plasma, serum, whole blood, and urine biochemical markers in control and OCL mice at 7 days after DT injection, feces were collected for 24 h and food intake was measured (24 h) using a metabolic cage. (**F**) Inorganic phosphate (Pi) in feces (mg)/Pi intake (mg), (**G**) calcium in feces (mg)/Ca intake (mg) (n = 6 mice/group). Food consumption of the Cont mice was adjusted to that ingested by the OCL mice. Calcium and Pi levels in the feces were normalized to the amount of diet. The bar graphs are presented as arithmetic means  $\pm$  SEM (n = 6-group). Two-tail unpaired t:  $t \approx t * P < 0.05$  vs control.

counting (38). Changes in the plasma calcium concentration ( $\Delta\mu$ mol) were calculated from the <sup>45</sup>Ca content of the plasma samples and the specific activity of the administered calcium (38).

#### Gene Expression Studies

Total RNA was isolated from bone, liver, proximal intestine, and distal intestine with ISOGEN (Wako, Osaka, Japan). The proximal intestine refers to the duodenum and the proximal part of the jejunum. The distal intestine refers to the distal part of jejunum and ileum (39). For quantitative reverse transcription (RT)-PCR, total RNA (1 µg) was reverse-transcribed using Moloney Murine Leukemia Virus Reverse Transcriptase (Invitrogen), and samples were analyzed using the Applied Biosystems®StepOnePlus Real-Time PCR system (Thermo Fisher Scientific Inc., Japan). The primers and product size used are shown in Table S1 in Supplementary Material. The amount of target mRNA was normalized to that of glyceraldehyde 3-phosphate dehydrogenase (GAPDH) mRNA. RT-PCR was performed using SYBR® Premix Ex Taq II (Tli RNaseH Plus) (TAKARA, OSAKA, Japan). The PCRs contained 1 µl of cDNA (equivalent to 50 ng of total RNA), 2× SYBR® Premix Ex Taq II and 400 nM specific primers in a total of 25  $\mu$ l. Relative expression values were evaluated with the 2<sup>-ΔΔ</sup>Ct method. Data were normalized to GAPDH and pooled from three independent experiments.

#### **Biochemical Analyses**

Plasma, feces, and urinary Pi and calcium and serum blood urea nitrogen (BUN) were determined by the Phospha-C test, Calcium-E test, or BUN-B test (Wako Pure Chemical Industries, Ltd., Osaka, Japan), respectively (40). To measure the fecal Pi and calcium levels, the collected feces (24 h) were dried at 110°C for 24 h, 250°C for 3 h, and at 350°C for 3 h. FGF23 and PTH concentrations were determined using an FGF23 ELISA kit (Kainos Laboratories, Inc., Tokyo, Japan) and mouse PTH 1-84 ELISA kit (Immutopics, CA, USA), respectively (40). 1,25(OH)<sub>2</sub>D levels were measured using a radioreceptor assay (SRL, Inc., Tokyo, Japan). Heparinized mixed arterial–venous blood was collected and analyzed immediately for pH, blood gases, and electrolytes using an OPTI CCA TS blood gas analyzer (Sysmex Corporation, Kobe, Japan).

#### **Bone Analysis**

Eight- to ten-week-old Tg mice and their WT littermates were perfused with 4% paraformaldehyde in 0.1 M cacodylate buffer (pH 7.4). Femurs and tibiae were immersed in the same fixative for 12 h prior to decalcification with 10% EDTA (pH 7.4) for 2 weeks. The specimens were embedded in paraffin and subjected to histochemistry with hematoxylin and eosin staining and immunohistochemical analysis using DMP1 antibody (TAKARA, Kyoto, Japan).

#### Preparation of Brush Border Membrane Vesicles (BBMVs) and Transport Assay

Brush border membrane vesicles were prepared from kidney and distal intestine using the  $Ca^{2+}$  precipitation method,

and used for immunoblot analysis as previously described (34, 41). Levels of leucine aminopeptidase, Na<sup>+</sup>-K<sup>+</sup>-ATPase, and cytochrome *c* oxidase were measured to assess membrane purity. Uptake of <sup>32</sup>P into the BBMVs was measured by the rapid filtration technique (34, 41).

### **Immunoblot Analyses**

Protein samples were in denatured with 2-mercaptoethanol and subjected to 8 or 10% SDS-PAGE. The separated proteins were transferred by electrophoresis to Immobilon-P polyvinylidene difluoride (Millipore, Billerica, MA, USA) and then treated with the following diluted antibodies. Immunoblot analyses were performed using the following primary antibodies: affinity-purified anti-Npt2a (1:4,000) (34), anti-Npt2c (1:3,000) (41), and anti-Npt2b (1:2,000), as described previously (42). Anti-Klotho (for mouse total lysate; Trans Genic Inc., Fukuoka, Japan) was used following the manufacturer's instructions. Mouse anti-actin monoclonal antibody (Chemicon, Temecula, CA, USA) was used as an internal control. Horseradish peroxidase-conjugated anti-rabbit or anti-mouse IgG was utilized as the secondary antibody (Jackson Immuno Research Laboratories, Inc., West Grove, PA, USA), and signals were detected using Immobilon Western (Millipore). Membranes were exposed to standard X-ray film and densitometric quantification was performed using ImageJ software (National Institutes of Health, Bethesda, MD, USA). All experiments were repeated at least five times.

## Histochemical Analyses of Kidney Sections

Immunohistochemical analyses of rat kidney sections were performed as described previously with minor modifications (43). Specimens were embedded in paraffin and subjected to immunohistochemistry for affinity-purified Npt2a antibodies or affinity-purified Npt2c antibodies. Sections were then treated with Envision (+) rabbit peroxidase (Dako, Carpinteria, CA, USA) for 30 min at room temperature. Immunoreactivity was detected by incubating the sections with 0.8 mM diaminobenzidine (43). Masson trichrome staining was observed using a Trichrome Stain (Masson) Kit (Sigma-Aldrich, St. Louis, MO, USA) following the manufacturer's instructions. Von kossa stain performed in OCL and klotho-deficient mice (43). Von Kossa staining for mineral deposition in the kidney was performed by applying 5% silver nitrate to the renal sections and exposing the sections to bright light for 30 min (44). Paraffin sections were counterstained with hematoxylin for evaluation of tissue and cell morphology.

### **Statistical Analysis**

Data are expressed as mean  $\pm$  SEM. Statistical analysis was performed using the Student's *t*-test. We evaluated differences between the two groups by an unpaired *t*-test and differences among multiple groups were analyzed by ANOVA followed by Tukey's post-test for multiple comparisons. All computations were performed using GraphPad Prism 5.0 Software. In all experiments, differences were considered statistically significant at P < 0.05.

## RESULTS

## Pi Regulatory Genes in Bone of the OCL Mice

We investigated the physiologic function of osteocytes in OCL mice. Expression of DT receptors on osteocytes was targeted specifically using the DMP1 promoter (32). A single intraperitoneal injection of DT into DMP1-DTR Tg mice killed osteocytes harboring the DT receptor and resulted in a number of empty lacunae containing no osteocytes, as reported previously (32). The OCL mice exhibited a non-significant tendency toward decreased food intake, consistent with a previous report (45). Histochemical analysis of the cortical bone revealed a low abundance of osteocytes compared with Cont mice (32). Consistent with previous findings (9), OCL mice exhibited a decreased osteocyte number at 7 days after DT injection (**Figures 1A,B**). After ablated osteocytes, bone resorption was increased, bone formation and mineralization are suppressed, resulting in osteoporosis (32).

We also measured the expression of Pi regulatory genes in the osteocyte-rich fractions as described previously (32). The mRNA levels of DMP1 (P < 0.01), FGF23 (P < 0.01), matrix extracellular phosphoglycoprotein (MEPE) (P < 0.05), and phosphateregulating endopeptidase homolog X-linked (Phex) (P < 0.05) as Pi regulatory factors were significantly decreased in OCL mice. SOST (P < 0.05) and E11/GP38 (P < 0.05) as osteocyte markers were also significantly decreased in OCL mice (Figure 1C). On the other hand, osteoblast markers were not changed in OCL mice compared with Cont mice. Compared with DT-injected WT mice, DT (50 µg/kg, DT50)-injected Tg mice showed no changes in plasma Pi, calcium, glucose, pH, BUN, Na<sup>+</sup>, K<sup>+</sup>, and Ca<sup>2+</sup> (Figure 1D). In addition, urinary Ca/Cr, Na/Cr, and K/Cr concentrations were not different between DT50 mice and Cont mice (Figure 1E). By contrast, OCL mice exhibited prominent hyperphosphaturia (P < 0.01) (Figure 1E). Food consumption by the OCL mice was slightly lower than that of Cont mice. Food consumption by the Cont mice was adjusted to the amount in OCL mice. Calcium and Pi levels in the feces were normalized to the amount of diet consumed. The Pi content in the feces was reduced by 56.9% that in the Cont mice (P < 0.01) (Figure 1F). The calcium content in the feces was 45.4% higher than that in Cont mice (P < 0.05) (Figure 1G). These findings suggest that renal Pi excretion and intestinal Pi and calcium absorption may be abnormal in OCL mice. In particular, it is expected that the increased Pi absorption in the small intestine influences systemic Pi metabolism.

### Time-Course of the Changes in the Hormones Involved in Pi Homeostasis in OCL Mice

To investigate the initial triggers for the increase in renal Pi excretion, we analyzed the time-course of the changes in the Pi excretion levels, plasma PTH, FGF23, and renal Klotho protein after DT treatment. Renal Pi excretion was significantly increased at 5 days after DT injection (3.45-fold, P < 0.01) (**Figure 2A**). Plasma FGF23 levels first decreased at 1 day (32.4%, P < 0.01) and 3 days (32.4%, P < 0.01) after injection of DT and then recovered

(Figure 2B). By contrast, plasma PTH levels were significantly increased at 9 days (1.52-fold, P < 0.01) (Figure 2C). Renal Klotho levels were significantly (75.5%) decreased at 5 days after DT injection (P < 0.01) (Figure 2D). These data suggest that the beginning of the increase in Pi excretion is not consistent with that of the increase in plasma PTH and FGF23 levels. We analyzed renal fibrosis (Figure 2E). High dietary Pi loading increases renal fibrosis (46). In OCL mice, kidney samples were obtained at 7 days after DT injection. The kidney samples obtained from OCL mice were stained with Masson's trichrome to detect total collagen deposits (Figure 2E), which revealed interstitial fibrosis

and increased renal Pi excretion independent of plasma PTH and FGF23 levels. The kidney calcification observed in Klothodeficient mice was not detected in OCL mice (**Figure 2F**).

We then investigated if DT injection induced dose-dependent changes in the osteocyte number and renal Pi excretion (32). At 5 days after DT (0, 15, or 50 µg/kg BW) injection, we measured Pi excretion and renal Klotho and 1,25(OH)<sub>2</sub>D levels (**Figure 2G**). At 5 days after DT injection, the number of osteocytes in the cortical bone decreased to 33.5 ± 1.7% (DT15) or 75.3 ± 4.2% (DT50) that in the DT0 mice (P < 0.01) (**Figure 2G**). The plasma 1,25(OH)<sub>2</sub>D levels did not change after DT injection (**Figure 2H**).





sequential kidney sections from Cont and OCL mice. Scale bars indicate 20  $\mu$ m. Magnification 400x. In OCL mice, severe fibrosis was observed in the peritubular interstitium. Fibrotic areas are stained blue (yellow \*). (F) Von Kossa staining for mineral deposition in the kidney. OCL: Tg + DT (50  $\mu$ g/kg body weight DT injection), kl/kl: klotho-deficient mice. Scale bars indicate 500  $\mu$ m, Magnification 100x (n = 6/group). (G,H) Ten-week-old male transgenic (Tg) mice were intraperitoneally injected with 15 or 50  $\mu$ g/kg body weight DT in 0.9% NaCl. DT0: vehicle (0.9%NaCl), DT15: 15  $\mu$ g/kg body weight DT injection, DT50; 50  $\mu$ g/kg body weight DT injection (n = 6/group). (G) Cortical bone mouse femure stained with hematoxylin and eosin at 5 days after DT injection. Scale bars indicate 50  $\mu$ m. Magnification 200x. (H) Urine Pi excretion in OCL. Renal Klotho expression in OCL mice by immunoblotting analysis. Plasma 1,25(OH)<sub>2</sub>D in OCL mice. The bar graphs are presented as arithmetic means  $\pm$  SEM (n = 6/group). Two-tail unpaired *t*-test \*\*P < 0.01 vs control.

Urinary Pi excretion was significantly increased at 5 days after DT50 injection (P < 0.01) (**Figure 2C**). By contrast, DT50 injection markedly suppressed renal Klotho expression (P < 0.01) (**Figure 2D**). These data suggest that the increased renal Pi excretion was dependent on the number of osteocytes ablated.

## Renal and Intestinal Pi Transport Activity in the OCL Mice

To examine whether the expression of renal Pi transporters was affected in OCL mice, Npt2a and Npt2c mRNA and protein levels were investigated (**Figure 3**). Npt2a and Npt2c mRNA levels were significantly decreased in OCL mice (P < 0.01) (**Figure 3A**). PiT2 mRNA levels were not changed in OCL mice compared with Cont mice (**Figure 3A**). 1 $\alpha$ (OH)ase mRNA levels were markedly increased in OCL mice (4.9-fold, P < 0.01), whereas 24(OH)ase mRNA expression levels were not changed (54.4% decreases, P < 0.01) (**Figure 3A**). Klotho mRNA expression levels were significantly (44.4%) decreased in OCL mice (P < 0.01) (**Figure 3A**).

The mRNA levels of the transcription factor early growth response 1 (Egr-1) were significantly increased in OCL mice (2.4-fold, P < 0.01), whereas FGF receptor 1 (FGFR1) mRNA levels were not changed. The mRNA expression levels of FGF receptors 3 (FGFR3) were significantly increased (2.1-fold, P < 0.01) and

FGF receptors 4 (FGFR4) were significantly decreased (34%, P < 0.01) (**Figure 3A**). Npt2a and Npt2c protein levels were markedly decreased in OCL mice (P < 0.01, P < 0.05) (**Figure 3C**). In addition, sodium-dependent Pi cotransport activity in the BBMVs was also significantly reduced in OCL mice compared with Cont mice (P < 0.01) (**Figure 3D**). Immunohistochemical analysis revealed reduced Npt2a and Npt2c immunoreactivity in the proximal tubular cells (**Figure 3B**). Intestinal Npt2b protein levels were significantly increased in OCL mice compared with Cont mice (fourfold, P < 0.01) (**Figure 3B**). Intestinal Npt2b protein levels were significantly increased in OCL mice compared with Cont mice (fourfold, P < 0.01) (**Figure 3E**). Intestinal Pi transport activity in OCL mice was 4.2-fold higher than that in the Cont mice (P < 0.01) (**Figure 3F**).

## **Intestinal Calcium Absorption**

We then investigated calcium absorption in the small intestine. In contrast to intestinal Pi absorption, the calcium content in the feces in OCL mice was 45.4% higher than that in Cont mice (P < 0.05) (Figure 1G).

Oral calcium absorption analysis using  ${}^{45}Ca^{2+}$  solution indicated that calcium absorption (plasma  ${}^{45}Ca^{2+}$ ) levels were significantly (62–69%) decreased in OCL mice (P < 0.01) (**Figure 4A**). Intestinal transient receptor potential vanilloid 6 (TRPV6), calbindin-D9k (CaBP D9k), and plasma membrane calcium





**FIGURE 3** | Expression of renal Npt2a, Npt2c, and intestinal Npt2b in osteocyte-less (OCL) mice. Ten-week-old male wild-type (WT) and transgenic (Tg) mice were intraperitoneally injected with 50 µg/kg body weight DT in 0.9% NaCl and assessed at 5 days after injection. Controls (Cont): WT + DT, OCL: Tg + DT. (**A**) Quantitative polymerase chain reaction (PCR) of Npt2a, Npt2c, PiT2, 1 $\alpha$ (OH)ase, 24(OH)ase, Klotho, CasR, TRPV5, early growth response 1 (Egr-1), FGF receptor 1 (FGFR1), FGFR3, and FGF receptors 4 (FGFR4) mRNA in mouse kidney at 5 days after DT injection. Data were normalized to glyceraldehyde 3-phosphate dehydrogenase (GAPDH) and pooled from two or three independent experiments (*n* = 7 mice/group). (**B**) Immunohistochemical analysis of renal Npt2a and Npt2c proteins. Scale bars indicate 50 µm. Magnification 200x. (**C**) Immunoblotting analysis of Npt2a and Npt2c proteins in renal brush-border membrane vesicles (BBMVs). All membranes were reprobed for actin. Actin was used as an internal control. The bar graphs are presented as arithmetic means  $\pm$  SEM (*n* = 5/group). (**D**) Renal Na/Pi transport activity in mice. Na/Pi transport activity was determined by <sup>32</sup>P uptake in kidney BBMVs (*n* = 7/group). (**E**) Immunoblotting analysis of Npt2b proteins in intestinal (jejunum and ileum) Na/Pi transport activity in mice. Na/Pi transport activity was determined by <sup>32</sup>P uptake in kidney BBMVs (*n* = 7/group). (**F**) Intestinal (distal jejunum and ileum) Na/Pi transport activity in mice. Na/Pi transport activity was determined by <sup>32</sup>P uptake in hyper 4 and the substant of the substant



FIGURE 4 | Calcium absorption in osteocyte-less (OCL) mice. Ten-week-old male wild-type (WT) and transgenic (Tg) mice were intraperitoneally injected with 50 µg/kg body weight DT in 0.9% NaCl at 5 days after DT injection. Control (Cont): WT + DT, OCL: Tg + DT. (A) Intestinal calcium absorption, assessed by whole blood levels of  ${}^{45}Ca$  ( $\Delta\mu$ mol) after oral gavage (n = 5/group). (B) Gene expression of calcium transport and its regulating factor in intestinal of OCL mice or Cont mice. Gene expression of transient receptor potential vanilloid channel 6 (TRPV6) as apical calcium transport, calbindin- $D_{9k}$  (CaBP-9k) as cytoplasmic calcium-binding proteins, and plasma membrane calcium ATPase 1b (PMCA1b) as basolateral calcium transporter were assessed by real-time polymerase chain reaction (PCR) at 5 days after DT injection. Data were normalized to glyceraldehyde 3-phosphate dehydrogenase (GAPDH) and pooled from two or three independent experiments (n = 7 mice/group). (C) Gene expression of intestinal claudin 2, 12, and 15 in OCL mice or Cont mice. Gene expression of intestinal (proximal part of intestine) claudin 2, 12, and 15 were assessed by real-time PCR at 5 days after DT injection. Data were normalized to GAPDH and pooled from two or three independent experiments (n = 7 mice/group). The bar graphs are presented as arithmetic means ± SEM, two-tail unpaired t-test \*\*P < 0.01, \*P < 0.05 vs control.

ATPase 1b (PMCA1) mRNA levels, however, were not altered in OCL mice (**Figure 4B**). On the other hand, mRNA expression levels of claudin 2, which regulates intestinal Ca<sup>2+</sup> absorption *via* paracellular pathways, were dramatically (79.1%) decreased in OCL mice (P < 0.01) (**Figure 4C**). Although claudin 12 mRNA expression levels were not changed in OCL mice, claudin 15 mRNA expression levels were decreased in OCL mice (30.4% decreases, P < 0.05). Thus, intestinal calcium absorption was significantly decreased in OCL mice. On the other hand, renal excretion of calcium was not affected in OCL mice. In the kidney, calcium-sensing receptor mRNA levels were not changed and TRPV5 mRNA expression was significantly (1.7-fold) increased in OCL mice (P < 0.01) (**Figure 3A**).

## Analysis of Osteocyte Canalicular Network-Disrupted Mice

We investigated other mouse models of osteocyte network disruption. Eight-week-old C57BL/6 mice were administered recombinant human G-CSF (250 µg/kg body weight/day) and analyzed 1 day after the last dose of G-CSF (Figure 5A). In the G-CSF injected mice, hematopoietic stem cells were removed from the medullary cavity (data not shown). RNA was extracted from the tibias and femurs of vehicle- and G-CSF-treated mice after flushing out the bone marrow. Gene expression was assessed by quantitative RT-PCR and the results were normalized to GAPDH mRNA. In G-CSF injected mice, Col1a1 (64.6%, P < 0.01), osteocalcin (53.8%, P < 0.01), and osteopontin mRNA (58.8%, P < 0.05) as osteoblastic markers were decreased; and FGF23 (83.8%), DMP1 (54.8%), and Phex (62.4%) as osteocytic markers were also decreased (P < 0.01), suggesting that differentiation of osteoblasts into osteocytes was suppressed by G-CSF injection (Figure 5C). Immunohistochemical analysis using DMP1 antibody showed that the length and number of canaliculi were markedly decreased in the femoral bone of G-CSF treated mice (Figure 5B). Remarkably, canaliculi did not reach the surface of the bone (Figure 5C). Therefore, these results indicate that the osteocytic canalicular network was disrupted. The serum Pi concentration did not significantly differ between the G-CSF-injected mice and vehicle-injected mice (Figure 5D) and was similar to that in the OCL mice (Figure 1D). Urinary Pi levels, however, were significantly higher (2.2-fold, P < 0.05) in the G-CSF-injected mice than in the vehicle-injected mice (Figure 5D), same as in OCL mice (Figure 1E). In the renal BBM of G-CSF mice, Npt2a and Npt2c levels were significantly



**FIGURE 5** | Analysis of granulocyte colony stimulating factor (G-CSF)- injected mice in phosphate metabolism. (A) Experimental design for osteocytic canaliculi network disruption by G-CSF (filgrastim 125 mg/kg/dose, s.c.). (B) Immunofluorescence staining of dentin matrix acidic phosphoprotrein-1 (DMP1) in osteocytes and lacuna-canaliculi network of the femur of vehicle and G-CSF injected mice. Green: DMP1. The scale bars indicate 20 µm. Magnification 400x. (C) Real-time polymerase chain reaction (PCR) analysis of markers of osteoblast and osteocytes. RNA was extracted from the femurs of 8-week-old WT mice injected with phosphate-buffered saline (white bars) or G-CSF (black bars) for 6days. Gene expression levels were normalized to glyceraldehyde 3-phosphate dehydrogenase (GAPDH) mRNA expression levels. Collagen type I alpha (Col1a1), osteopontin (OP) osteocalcin (OC), FGF23, DMP1, and Phex. Data are presented as mean  $\pm$  SEM. \*\**P* < 0.01 \*\**P* < 0.05 (*n* = 6/ group). (D) Biochemical analysis of plasma lnorganic phosphate (Pi), plasma calcium, urinary Pi/Cr, and urinary Ca/Cr levels in G-CSF or vehicle-injected mice. Urine was collected for 24 h from days 5 to 6. (E) Immunoblotting analysis of Npt2a and Npt2c proteins in renal brush-border membrane vesicles of G-CSF-treated mice and vehicle-injected mice. All membranes were reprobed for actin. Actin was used as an internal control. The bar graphs are presented as arithmetic means  $\pm$  SEM (*n* = 6 each group). (F) Serum FGF23 and plasma iPTH and renal Klotho levels in G-CSF treated mice and vehicle-injected mice. \*\**P* < 0.01; \**P* < 0.05 (*n* = 6 mice/group). Renal Klotho protein levels were observed by immunoblotting analysis in renal total lysates. All membranes were reprobed for actin. Actin was used as an internal control. The bar graphs are presented as arithmetic means  $\pm$  SEM (*n* = 6/group). Two-tail unpaired *t*-test \*\**P* < 0.01; \**P* < 0.05 vs control (vehicle injection).



**FIGURE 6** | High phosphate diet response in osteocyte-less (OCL) and granulocyte colony stimulating factor (G-CSF) mice. **(A)** Experimental design of high-Pi (HP) dietary loading in OCL mice. Ten-week-old male transgenic (Tg) mice and wild-type (WT) mice were intraperitoneally injected with 50 µg/kg body weight DT in 0.9% NaCl. Control (Cont): WT + DT, OCL: Tg + DT. Control and OCL mice were fed the control inorganic phosphate (Pi) diet until day 5 and from days 5 to 7 were fed either the high Pi diet (HP) or control diet (CP). **(B)** Relative urine Pi/Cr (%) and Ca/Cr (24 h urine collection) at 6–7 days after diphtheria toxin (DT) injection. **(C)** Plasma Pi and calcium at 7 d after DT injection. **(D)** Renal Na/Pi transport activity in mice. Na/Pi transport activity was determined by <sup>32</sup>P uptake in kidney brush border membrane vesicles (BBMVs) (n = 6/group). **(E)** Immunoblotting analysis of Npt2a and Npt2c proteins in renal BBMVs. All membranes were reprobed for actin. Actin was used as an internal control. **(F)** Plasma intact PTH and serum FGF23 at 7 days after DT injection. The bar graphs are presented as arithmetic means  $\pm$  SEM (n = 6/group). Two-tail unpaired *t*-test \*\**P* < 0.01, \**P* < 0.05. (CP VS HP). **(G)** Experimental design of HP dietary loading in G-CSF mice. Seven-week-old male mice were injected with PBS or G-CSF (filgrastim 125 mg/kg/dose, s.c.). Control (Cont): WT + PBS, G-CSF: WT + G-CSF. Control and OCL mice were fed the control Pi diet until day 5 and fed either the high Pi diet (HP) or control diet (CP) from days 5 to 7. **(H)** Relative urine Pi/Cr (%) (24 h urine collection) at 6–7 days. The bar graphs are presented as arithmetic means  $\pm$  SEM (n = 6/group). ANOVA followed by Tukey's post-test for multiple comparisons. \*\**P* < 0.01, \**P* < 0.05 (CP vs HP, Cont vs G-CSF).

decreased (P < 0.05) (**Figure 5E**), similar to the renal Npt2a and Npt2c protein levels in OCL mice (**Figure 3C**). In G-CSFinjected mice, plasma iPTH and FGF23 levels did not differ significantly from those in the vehicle-injected mice (**Figure 5F**). On the other hand, renal Klotho protein levels were decreased in G-CSF-injected mice (P < 0.05) (**Figure 5F**). Thus, mice with G-CSF-induced osteocyte network disruption showed hyperphosphaturia independent of the plasma PTH and FGF23 levels.

### Feeding on a High Pi Diet Does Not Stimulate Renal Pi Excretion in OCL and G-CSF Mice

The increased renal Pi excretion in OCL and G-CSF mice may be due to the increase in Pi released from the bone and intestinal Pi absorption. Therefore, we investigated whether feeding mice a high Pi diet increases urinary Pi excretion. **Figures 6A,G** show the schedule for dietary phosphate loading in OCL and G-CSF mice. After feeding on a high Pi diet, Pi excretion was significantly increased in the Cont mice (P < 0.01), but not changed in the OCL and G-CSF mice (**Figures 6B,H**). After feeding on a high Pi diet, plasma Pi and calcium levels were not changed in the OCL mice (**Figure 6C**).

In Cont mice, feeding on a high Pi diet significantly reduced renal Npt2a and Npt2c protein levels (P < 0.01) and Na/Pi uptake in BBMs (P < 0.01), whereas no changes were observed in OCL mice (**Figures 6D,E**). In the mice fed a high Pi diet, the levels of plasma intact PTH were not changed in OCL mice, but significantly increased in Cont mice (1.9-fold, P < 0.01) (**Figure 6F**). The increase in plasma PTH levels and serum FGF23 levels

induced by a high Pi diet in Cont mice was not observed in OCL mice. Therefore, for dietary Pi adaptation, signaling between the intestine and parathyroid gland, and between the intestine and kidney may be disturbed in OCL mice.

## Analysis of Gene Expression Profiles in OCL Mice

We performed DNA microarray analysis of the intestine, liver, and kidney in OCL mice (data not shown). In these analyses, we focused on bile acid metabolism, a commonly changing metabolic system, in OCL mice and G-CSF-administered mice, because we did not detect prominent differences in the expression of genes related to glucose, amino acid, other nutrient metabolic pathways. Bile acid metabolism was markedly disturbed in the intestine and liver in OCL mice compared with Cont mice (Figure S1 in Supplementary Material). In a previous study, Sato et al. reported that osteocytes regulate fat metabolism, that OCL mice lack visible white adipose tissue, and plasma leptin levels decrease in association with fat loss (45). Bile acids serve as ligands for the nuclear receptor farnesoid X receptor (FXR) (46, 47). Bile acids act on FXR in ileal enterocytes to induce the expression of FGF15 (47, 48). FGF15 also stimulates gallbladder filling (47, 48). FGF15 inhibits bile acid synthesis by repressing the transcription of Cyp7al, which encodes the first and rate-limiting enzyme in the classic bile acid synthesis pathway (43). FGF15 acts through a cell surface receptor complex composed of the FGF receptor 4 and  $\beta$ -Klotho (49, 50). In liver, transcription of the small heterodimer partner (SHP) gene is induced by bile acids via FXR, and SHP, in turn, binds to the CYP7A1 promoter to repress gene transcription (47). SHP is required for FGF15 to efficiently repress bile acid synthesis (48). In OCL mice compared with Cont mice, transcripts of FXR (liver: P < 0.05, distal intestine: P < 0.01), Cyp7A1 (*P* < 0.05), FGF receptor 4 (FGFR4) (*P* < 0.05), β-Klotho (P < 0.01), SHP (distal intestine; P < 0.01), and FGF15 (P < 0.01), the concentrations of serum bile acid (P < 0.05), and feces bile acids (P < 0.05) intestinal bile acids (P < 0005) were significantly increased in the liver and/or distal intestine compared with Cont mice (Figures S1B-D in Supplementary Material). Intestinal vitamin D receptor, calcium-sensing receptor, and parathyroid hormone 1 receptor mRNA levels were not changed in OCL mice (data not shown).

## Analysis of Gene Expression Profiles in High Pi Diet-Fed Mice

Next we investigated whether OCL mice are in a high Pi state. Lipid accumulation in white adipocytes was decreased in OCL and high Pi diet-fed mice (Figures S1A and S2A in Supplementary Material). We observed alterations in the genes involved in bile acid metabolism (P < 0.01) (Figure S1 in Supplementary Material). Quantitative PCR analysis revealed that, compared with Control Pi-fed mice (CP mice), high Pi-fed mice (HP mice) had significantly lower transcript levels of Cyp7A1 (P < 0.01), Cyp8b1 (P < 0.01), FGFR4 (P < 0.05), and  $\beta$ -Klotho (P < 0.05) in the liver. FXR (P < 0.01), OST- $\alpha$  (P < 0.05), and FGF15 (P < 0.01) levels in the distal intestine were also significantly decreased in HP mice (Figures S2B,C in Supplementary Material). On the

other hand, the concentrations of serum bile acid and feces bile acids were not changed in the liver or distal intestine in HP mice compared with CP mice (Figure S2D in Supplementary Material). The serum triglyceride and cholesterol concentrations were lower in HP mice than in CP mice (Figure S2D in Supplementary Material).

### DISCUSSION

In the present study, we investigated the role of osteocytes in Pi metabolism using OCL mice. In this experiment, osteocyte ablation revealed that renal Pi excretion was enhanced before the plasma PTH and FGF23 levels increased. In particular, renal Klotho protein levels declined already in the early stage. In OCL mice, Pi excretion in the feces was markedly reduced and intestinal Pi absorption (Npt2b levels and Pi uptake in BBMV) was significantly enhanced. The present study indicates that the increased renal Pi excretion is due to increased intestinal Pi absorption in OCL mice (**Figure 7**). Similar findings regarding Pi metabolism were obtained in canalicular network-disrupted mice. Furthermore, the response to dietary Pi loading was suppressed in OCL mice.

With regard to the mechanisms underlying the suppression of renal Pi transport, we observed that renal Npt2a and Npt2c protein levels were significantly decreased in the OCL mice. The transcription factor Egr-1 is downstream of ERK1/2 and is a biomarker of ERK1/2 signaling activation by FGF23 (7). Renal Egr-1 mRNA levels were significantly increased, while Klotho protein levels were markedly decreased (7). Renal 1alpha-hydroxylase (1 $\alpha$ (OH)ase) mRNA was upregulated in the OCL mice, suggesting that klotho downregulation is involved in the stimulation of 1,25(OH)<sub>2</sub>D synthesis.

Recent studies demonstrated that FGFR1c/Klotho is the primary receptor complex responsible for mediating Pi metabolism (51), whereas there is a redundant requirement for FGFR3/Klotho and FGFR4/Klotho in the control of 1,25 (OH)<sub>2</sub>D levels (52, 53). Thus, the two pathways are expected to be involved in vitamin D and Pi transport by the FGF23-Klotho system (6, 54). Portale et al. reported that suppression of renal 1,25(OH)<sub>2</sub>D synthesis was intact in egr- $1^{-/-}$  mice treated with FGF23 (55). They found that downstream of FGFR binding and ERK1/2 signaling, the pathways diverge such that egr-1 is required for FGF23-dependent inhibition of Pi transport but not for inhibition of 1,25(OH)<sub>2</sub>D synthesis (55, 56). The mechanisms underlying the promotion of renal Pi excretion in OCL mice remain unknown, but the increase in egr-1 mRNA suggests the involvement of FGF23-dependent Pi inhibition. We are currently studying the molecular mechanism of the enhancement of Pi excretion in OCL mice.

Osteocyte-less (OCL) mice are thought to have abnormally high Pi absorption from the small intestine. If this hypothesis is correct, OCL mice would be in a state of high Pi and, thus, it is expected that the response of renal Pi excretion to a high Pi diet would be attenuated (43). Osteocytes extend dendrites to each other in the osteocytic canaliculi, and osteoblasts and osteoclasts connect with each other on the bone surface by gap junctions, referred to as the osteocytic canalicular network (24, 57–61). The network is complicated and extends through



the entire bone, possibly forming gap junctional intercellular communication pathways (24, 57–61). Osteocyte canalicular networks are thought to be important for bone formation as the structure seems to be ideal for sensing mechanical stress and mechanotransduction (24, 57–61). A recent study demonstrated that osteocytic canalicular network-disrupted mice are created by injection of G-CSF (37). Disruption of the osteocyte canalicular network by G-CSF increased Pi excretion and decreased renal klotho levels independent of PTH and FGF23. In addition, in G-CSF-treated mice or OCL mice, renal Pi excretion did not increase in response to a high Pi diet. These observations suggest that OCL mice already had a high Pi state, and excessive Pi from intestinal absorption may promote renal Pi excretion.

In the present study, OCL mice exhibited abnormal intestinal Pi and calcium absorption. Previous studies demonstrated that the kidney rapidly increases Pi excretion when intestinal Pi absorption is markedly elevated (62, 63). In these conditions, the increase in the plasma PTH or FGF23 levels leads to increased renal Pi excretion in response to an increase in intestinal Pi absorption (62, 63). In OCL mice, however, we observed no increase in PTH or FGF 23. Therefore, the phosphaturic factors acting on the kidney are unknown. In OCL mice, 1,25(OH)<sub>2</sub>D may be a factor that enhances intestinal Pi absorption. With respect to the FGF23–Klotho system, plasma 1,25(OH)<sub>2</sub>D levels are an important factor for intestinal mineral absorption (3). In the OCL mice, plasma 1,25(OH)<sub>2</sub>D levels were not changed while renal  $1\alpha(OH)$  as mRNA was significantly increased. We investigated the mechanism of the reduction of calcium absorption and the elevation of Pi absorption. To clarify intestinal Pi absorption, we measured intestinal Pi transport activity in BBMV and found the elevation of Npt2b protein and Pi uptake in the OCL mice. In addition, the transfer of <sup>45</sup>Ca into the blood was markedly reduced. The calcium concentration in the feces was significantly increased and the gene expression levels of claudin 2 and claudin 15, which are involved in calcium transport, were reduced. No change in the plasma 1,25(OH)<sub>2</sub>D concentration, however, was observed. In the OCL mice, we observed the suppression of a vitamin D-responsive gene (claudin 2) involved in calcium absorption, but no decrease in TRPV6 or calbindin D9K mRNA (64). Based on these findings, we suspect that a system other than vitamin D metabolism is involved in the abnormal intestinal mineral absorption in OCL mice. Although the reasons for the abnormal intestinal mineral absorption remain unknown, osteocytes are considered to be extremely important for intestinal Pi and calcium absorption.

To elucidate the mechanism for abnormal mineral absorption in the OCL mice, we performed DNA microarray analyses of the intestine and liver. We observed alterations in the genes involved in fat and bile acid metabolism (Figures S1 and S2 in Supplementary Material). Metabolic analysis of the OCL mice and G-CSF-treated mice suggested a functional abnormality of the FGF15-FXR-CYP7A1 system in bile acid metabolism (43). Indeed, we observed increased serum bile acid and feces bile acid levels in the OCL mice. A recent study demonstrated that feeding of a lithocholic acid-rich diet increased intestinal Pi absorption and suppressed renal Pi absorption in WT mice (American Society of Nephrology, Kidney Week 2017 Abstract FR-PO258, Hashimoto N, Sakaguchi Y, Hamano T, Isaka Y, Matsui I, Mori D, Matsumoto A, Shimada K, Yamaguchi S, Kubota K, Oka T, Yonemoto S). Lithocholic acid is a known VDR ligand (65). The details of these mechanisms are unknown. However, bile

acid metabolism is considered to be a regulator of important for intestinal and renal Pi absorption (66). Bile acids are natural detergents that may solubilize calcium-phosphate particles in the small intestine (67). Bile acids are also important signaling molecules and have a role in energy metabolism, metabolic syndrome, obesity, and diabetes (68). Because Pi is deeply involved in energy metabolism, it is expected to be involved in the regulation of energy metabolism by bile acids.

We investigated whether the enhanced intestinal Pi absorption is linked to changes in FGF15/CYP7A1/bile acid in the OCL mice. Dietary Pi load is a powerful factor to suppress intestinal Npt2b protein levels (42). We investigated the possibility that the FGF15/CYP7A1 system responds to the dietary Pi load. Based on quantitative PCR analysis, the increased gene expression levels in the FGF15–FXR–CYP7A1 system observed in OCL mice were largely suppressed in control mice fed a HP diet. These findings suggest that dietary Pi levels affect the FGF15–FXR–CYP7A1 system in the intestines and liver, in addition to vitamin D metabolism.

Previous studies showed that vitamin D exerts a negative feedback on bile acid synthesis by decreasing Cyp7a1 expression (69, 70). FGF15 and SHP play central roles in the feedback regulation of bile acid synthesis by bile acids and FXR (46–48). FGF15 is integral to the mechanism of CYP7A1 regulation of vitamin D (69, 71). VDR regulates FGF15 in the intestine and this pathway is essential for the vitamin D-induced suppression of bile acid synthesis (72). In the liver, the FGF15/FGFR4/β-klotho complex suppresses SHP expression and increases Cyp7A1 (47, 49, 50). The molecular mechanisms of the vitamin D and bile acid abnormalities in OCL mice are not clear. We speculate that OCL mice have disturbed vitamin D and bile acid (FGF15/FXR/CYP7A1) metabolism due to disruptions of the FGF23–Klotho system (**Figure 7**).

In conclusion, the findings of the present study suggest that osteocyte ablation stimulates intestinal Pi absorption and enhances renal Pi excretion. The phosphaturic factors active in OCL mice are unknown, but increased Pi absorption is prominent in OCL

#### REFERENCES

- Martin A, David V, Quarles LD. Regulation and function of the FGF23/ klotho endocrine pathways. *Physiol Rev* (2012) 92(1):131–55. doi:10.1152/ physrev.00002.2011
- Kaneko I, Tatsumi S, Segawa H, Miyamoto KI. Control of phosphate balance by the kidney and intestine. *Clin Exp Nephrol* (2017) 21(Suppl 1):21–6. doi:10.1007/s10157-016-1359-4
- Erben RG, Andrukhova O. FGF23-Klotho signaling axis in the kidney. Bone (2017) 100:62–8. doi:10.1016/j.bone.2016.09.010
- Shimada T, Mizutani S, Muto T, Yoneya T, Hino R, Takeda S, et al. Cloning and characterization of FGF23 as a causative factor of tumor-induced osteomalacia. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* (2001) 98(11):6500–5. doi:10.1073/pnas.101545198
- Saito H, Kusano K, Kinosaki M, Ito H, Hirata M, Segawa H, et al. Human fibroblast growth factor-23 mutants suppress Na+-dependent phosphate co-transport activity and 1alpha,25-dihydroxyvitamin D3 production. *J Biol Chem* (2003) 278(4):2206–11. doi:10.1074/jbc.M207872200
- Shimada T, Kakitani M, Yamazaki Y, Hasegawa H, Takeuchi Y, Fujita T, et al. Targeted ablation of Fgf23 demonstrates an essential physiological role of FGF23 in phosphate and vitamin D metabolism. *J Clin Invest* (2004) 113(4): 561–8. doi:10.1172/JCI19081

mice. The marked increase in intestinal Pi absorption may be due to disruption of the FGF23–Klotho system by osteocyte ablation affecting bile acids and vitamin D metabolism. Further studies are needed to clarify the factors involved in the increased renal Pi excretion in OCL mice.

#### **AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS**

ST and K-iM contributed to the study design. OF, MO, TA, HS, KN, AM, KI, AH, IK, HS, ST, and K-iM collected and analyzed data. ST and K-iM wrote and revised the final draft of the manuscript.

#### ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

We thank Dr. Yoshio Ogura who advised us regarding the bile acid metabolism research. We thank Dr. Kyoji Ikeda, who supervised the studies for DMP1-DTR Tg mice. T.K., M.F., S.Y., R.S., M.I., and R.F. provided support with animal maintenance and tissue sample preparation for RT-PCR analysis. This study was supported by a Grant-in Aid for Scientific Research on Innovative Areas (23136511, 25136715) and by Grants 23591218, 26461253 (ST), 26293204 (K-iM) from the Ministry of Education, Culture, Sports, Science, and Technology of Japan; and by Grants (#1032, ST) and (#1322, K-iM and ST) from The Salt Science Research Foundation and Grants JKFB09-5 and JKFB12-44 (ST) for pathophysiologic research in chronic kidney disease. This study was technical support by Advance Radiation Research, Education and Management Center and Support Center for Advanced Medical Sciences and Animal Research and Genetic Engineering Institute of Biomedical Sciences, Tokushima University Graduate School.

#### SUPPLEMENTARY MATERIAL

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at http://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fendo.2017.00359/ full#supplementary-material.

- Kurosu H, Ogawa Y, Miyoshi M, Yamamoto M, Nandi A, Rosenblatt KP, et al. Regulation of fibroblast growth factor-23 signaling by klotho. *J Biol Chem* (2006) 281(10):6120–3. doi:10.1074/jbc.C500457200
- Urakawa I, Yamazaki Y, Shimada T, Iijima K, Hasegawa H, Okawa K, et al. Klotho converts canonical FGF receptor into a specific receptor for FGF23. *Nature* (2006) 444(7120):770–4. doi:10.1038/nature05315
- Ben-Dov IZ, Galitzer H, Lavi-Moshayoff V, Goetz R, Kuro-o M, Mohammadi M, et al. The parathyroid is a target organ for FGF23 in rats. *J Clin Invest* (2007) 117(12):4003–8. doi:10.1172/JCI32409
- Brownstein CA, Adler F, Nelson-Williams C, Iijima J, Li P, Imura A, et al. A translocation causing increased alpha-klotho level results in hypophosphatemic rickets and hyperparathyroidism. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* (2008) 105(9):3455–60. doi:10.1073/pnas.0712361105
- Nabeshima Y, Imura H. alpha-Klotho: a regulator that integrates calcium homeostasis. Am J Nephrol (2008) 28(3):455–64. doi:10.1159/000112824
- Miyamoto K, Haito-Sugino S, Kuwahara S, Ohi A, Nomura K, Ito M, et al. Sodium-dependent phosphate cotransporters: lessons from gene knockout and mutation studies. J Pharm Sci (2011) 100(9):3719–30. doi:10.1002/jps.22614
- Lederer E, Miyamoto K. Clinical consequences of mutations in sodium phosphate cotransporters. *Clin J Am Soc Nephrol* (2012) 7(7):1179–87. doi:10.2215/ CJN.09090911

- Murer H, Hernando N, Forster I, Biber J. Proximal tubular phosphate reabsorption: molecular mechanisms. *Physiol Rev* (2000) 80(4):1373–409. doi:10.1152/physrev.2000.80.4.1373
- Biber J, Hernando N, Forster I. Phosphate transporters and their function. *Annu Rev Physiol* (2013) 75:535–50. doi:10.1146/annurev-physiol-030212-183748
- Wagner CA, Hernando N, Forster IC, Biber J. The SLC34 family of sodium-dependent phosphate transporters. *Pflugers Arch* (2014) 466(1):139–53. doi:10.1007/s00424-013-1418-6
- Shimada T, Hasegawa H, Yamazaki Y, Muto T, Hino R, Takeuchi Y, et al. FGF-23 is a potent regulator of vitamin D metabolism and phosphate homeostasis. *J Bone Miner Res* (2004) 19(3):429–35. doi:10.1359/JBMR.0301264
- Tomoe Y, Segawa H, Shiozawa K, Kaneko I, Tominaga R, Hanabusa E, et al. Phosphaturic action of fibroblast growth factor 23 in Npt2 null mice. *Am J Physiol Renal Physiol* (2010) 298(6):F1341–50. doi:10.1152/ajprenal. 00375.2009
- Miyamoto K, Ito M, Kuwahata M, Kato S, Segawa H. Inhibition of intestinal sodium-dependent inorganic phosphate transport by fibroblast growth factor 23. Ther Apher Dial (2005) 9(4):331–5. doi:10.1111/j.1744-9987.2005.00292.x
- Wesseling-Perry K, Juppner H. The osteocyte in CKD: new concepts regarding the role of FGF23 in mineral metabolism and systemic complications. *Bone* (2013) 54(2):222–9. doi:10.1016/j.bone.2012.10.008
- Wolf M. Forging forward with 10 burning questions on FGF23 in kidney disease. J Am Soc Nephrol (2010) 21(9):1427–35. doi:10.1681/ASN.2009121293
- Kovesdy CP, Quarles LD. FGF23 from bench to bedside. Am J Physiol Renal Physiol (2016) 310(11):F1168–74. doi:10.1152/ajprenal.00606.2015
- Olauson H, Larsson TE. FGF23 and Klotho in chronic kidney disease. *Curr Opin Nephrol Hypertens* (2013) 22(4):397–404. doi:10.1097/MNH. 0b013e32836213ee
- 24. Bonewald LF. The amazing osteocyte. J Bone Miner Res (2011) 26(2):229–38. doi:10.1002/jbmr.320
- Wysolmerski JJ. Osteocytic osteolysis: time for a second look? *Bonekey Rep* (2012) 1:229. doi:10.1038/bonekey.2012.229
- 26. Kennedy OD, Schaffler MB. The roles of osteocyte signaling in bone. *J Am Acad Orthop Surg* (2012) 20(10):670–1. doi:10.5435/JAAOS-20-10-670
- Moyses RM, Schiavi SC. Sclerostin, osteocytes, and chronic kidney disease mineral bone disorder. *Semin Dial* (2015) 28(6):578–86. doi:10.1111/ sdi.12415
- Sapir-Koren R, Livshits G. Osteocyte control of bone remodeling: is sclerostin a key molecular coordinator of the balanced bone resorption-formation cycles? *Osteoporos Int* (2014) 25(12):2685–700. doi:10.1007/ s00198-014-2808-0
- 29. Kuro OM, Moe OW. FGF23-alphaKlotho as a paradigm for a kidney-bone network. *Bone* (2017) 100:4–18. doi:10.1016/j.bone.2016.11.013
- Quarles LD. Evidence for a bone-kidney axis regulating phosphate homeostasis. J Clin Invest (2003) 112(5):642–6. doi:10.1172/JCI19687
- Quarles LD. Endocrine functions of bone in mineral metabolism regulation. *J Clin Invest* (2008) 118(12):3820–8. doi:10.1172/JCI36479
- Tatsumi S, Ishii K, Amizuka N, Li M, Kobayashi T, Kohno K, et al. Targeted ablation of osteocytes induces osteoporosis with defective mechanotransduction. *Cell Metab* (2007) 5(6):464–75. doi:10.1016/j.cmet.2007.05.001
- Saito M, Iwawaki T, Taya C, Yonekawa H, Noda M, Inui Y, et al. Diphtheria toxin receptor-mediated conditional and targeted cell ablation in transgenic mice. *Nat Biotechnol* (2001) 19(8):746–50. doi:10.1038/90795
- Katai K, Segawa H, Haga H, Morita K, Arai H, Tatsumi S, et al. Acute regulation by dietary phosphate of the sodium-dependent phosphate transporter (NaP(i)-2) in rat kidney. J Biochem (1997) 121(1):50–5. doi:10.1093/oxfordjournals.jbchem.a021569
- 35. Tatsumi S, Segawa H, Morita K, Haga H, Kouda T, Yamamoto H, et al. Molecular cloning and hormonal regulation of PiT-1, a sodium-dependent phosphate cotransporter from rat parathyroid glands. *Endocrinology* (1998) 139(4):1692–9. doi:10.1210/endo.139.4.5925
- Katayama Y, Battista M, Kao WM, Hidalgo A, Peired AJ, Thomas SA, et al. Signals from the sympathetic nervous system regulate hematopoietic stem cell egress from bone marrow. *Cell* (2006) 124(2):407–21. doi:10.1016/j.cell. 2005.10.041
- 37. Asada N, Katayama Y, Sato M, Minagawa K, Wakahashi K, Kawano H, et al. Matrix-embedded osteocytes regulate mobilization of hematopoietic

stem/progenitor cells. Cell Stem Cell (2013) 12(6):737-47. doi:10.1016/j. stem.2013.05.001

- Van Cromphaut SJ, Dewerchin M, Hoenderop JG, Stockmans I, Van Herck E, Kato S, et al. Duodenal calcium absorption in vitamin D receptor-knockout mice: functional and molecular aspects. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* (2001) 98(23):13324–9. doi:10.1073/pnas.231474698
- Kaneko I, Segawa H, Furutani J, Kuwahara S, Aranami F, Hanabusa E, et al. Hypophosphatemia in vitamin D receptor null mice: effect of rescue diet on the developmental changes in renal Na+-dependent phosphate cotransporters. *Pflugers Arch* (2011) 461(1):77–90. doi:10.1007/s00424-010-0888-z
- Inoue Y, Segawa H, Kaneko I, Yamanaka S, Kusano K, Kawakami E, et al. Role of the vitamin D receptor in FGF23 action on phosphate metabolism. *Biochem* J (2005) 390(Pt 1):325–31. doi:10.1042/BJ20041799
- Segawa H, Kaneko I, Takahashi A, Kuwahata M, Ito M, Ohkido I, et al. Growth-related renal type II Na/Pi cotransporter. *J Biol Chem* (2002) 277(22):19665–72. doi:10.1074/jbc.M200943200
- Ohi A, Hanabusa E, Ueda O, Segawa H, Horiba N, Kaneko I, et al. Inorganic phosphate homeostasis in sodium-dependent phosphate cotransporter Npt2b(+)/(-) mice. Am J Physiol Renal Physiol (2011) 301(5):F1105–13. doi:10.1152/ajprenal.00663.2010
- Segawa H, Yamanaka S, Ohno Y, Onitsuka A, Shiozawa K, Aranami F, et al. Correlation between hyperphosphatemia and type II Na-Pi cotransporter activity in klotho mice. *Am J Physiol Renal Physiol* (2007) 292(2):F769–79. doi:10.1152/ajprenal.00248.2006
- Chau H, El-Maadawy S, McKee MD, Tenenhouse HS. Renal calcification in mice homozygous for the disrupted type IIa Na/Pi cotransporter gene Npt2. *J Bone Miner Res* (2003) 18(4):644–57. doi:10.1359/jbmr.2003.18.4.644
- Sato M, Asada N, Kawano Y, Wakahashi K, Minagawa K, Kawano H, et al. Osteocytes regulate primary lymphoid organs and fat metabolism. *Cell Metab* (2013) 18(5):749–58. doi:10.1016/j.cmet.2013.09.014
- Chen Z, Chen D, McCarthy TL, Centrella M, Zhang Y, Moeckel GW. Inorganic phosphate stimulates fibronectin expression in renal fibroblasts. *Cell Physiol Biochem* (2012) 30(1):151–9. doi:10.1159/000339054
- Lefebvre P, Cariou B, Lien F, Kuipers F, Staels B. Role of bile acids and bile acid receptors in metabolic regulation. *Physiol Rev* (2009) 89(1):147–91. doi:10.1152/physrev.00010.2008
- Inagaki T, Choi M, Moschetta A, Peng L, Cummins CL, McDonald JG, et al. Fibroblast growth factor 15 functions as an enterohepatic signal to regulate bile acid homeostasis. *Cell Metab* (2005) 2(4):217–25. doi:10.1016/j. cmet.2005.09.001
- Kurosu H, Choi M, Ogawa Y, Dickson AS, Goetz R, Eliseenkova AV, et al. Tissue-specific expression of betaKlotho and fibroblast growth factor (FGF) receptor isoforms determines metabolic activity of FGF19 and FGF21. *J Biol Chem* (2007) 282(37):26687–95. doi:10.1074/jbc.M704165200
- Kuro-o M. Endocrine FGFs and Klothos: emerging concepts. Trends Endocrinol Metab (2008) 19(7):239–45. doi:10.1016/j.tem.2008.06.002
- Gattineni J, Bates C, Twombley K, Dwarakanath V, Robinson ML, Goetz R, et al. FGF23 decreases renal NaPi-2a and NaPi-2c expression and induces hypophosphatemia in vivo predominantly via FGF receptor 1. *Am J Physiol Renal Physiol* (2009) 297(2):F282–91. doi:10.1152/ajprenal.90742.2008
- Gattineni J, Twombley K, Goetz R, Mohammadi M, Baum M. Regulation of serum 1,25(OH)2 vitamin D3 levels by fibroblast growth factor 23 is mediated by FGF receptors 3 and 4. *Am J Physiol Renal Physiol* (2011) 301(2):F371–7. doi:10.1152/ajprenal.00740.2010
- Li H, Martin A, David V, Quarles LD. Compound deletion of Fgfr3 and Fgfr4 partially rescues the Hyp mouse phenotype. *Am J Physiol Endocrinol Metab* (2011) 300(3):E508–17. doi:10.1152/ajpendo.00499.2010
- Berndt T, Thomas LF, Craig TA, Sommer S, Li X, Bergstralh EJ, et al. Evidence for a signaling axis by which intestinal phosphate rapidly modulates renal phosphate reabsorption. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* (2007) 104(26):11085–90. doi:10.1073/pnas.0704446104
- Portale AA, Zhang MY, David V, Martin A, Jiao Y, Gu W, et al. Characterization of FGF23-dependent Egr-1 cistrome in the mouse renal proximal tubule. *PLoS One* (2015) 10(11):e0142924. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0142924
- Zhang MY, Ranch D, Pereira RC, Armbrecht HJ, Portale AA, Perwad F. Chronic inhibition of ERK1/2 signaling improves disordered bone and mineral metabolism in hypophosphatemic (Hyp) mice. *Endocrinology* (2012) 153(4):1806–16. doi:10.1210/en.2011-1831

- Yellowley CE, Li Z, Zhou Z, Jacobs CR, Donahue HJ. Functional gap junctions between osteocytic and osteoblastic cells. *J Bone Miner Res* (2000) 15(2):209–17. doi:10.1359/jbmr.2000.15.2.209
- Lanyon LE. Osteocytes, strain detection, bone modeling and remodeling. Calcif Tissue Int (1993) 53(Suppl 1):S102–6. doi:10.1007/BF01673415
- Lu XL, Huo B, Park M, Guo XE. Calcium response in osteocytic networks under steady and oscillatory fluid flow. *Bone* (2012) 51(3):466–73. doi:10.1016/j. bone.2012.05.021
- Buenzli PR, Sims NA. Quantifying the osteocyte network in the human skeleton. *Bone* (2015) 75:144–50. doi:10.1016/j.bone.2015.02.016
- Knothe Tate ML, Adamson JR, Tami AE, Bauer TW. The osteocyte. Int J Biochem Cell Biol (2004) 36(1):1–8. doi:10.1016/S1357-2725(03) 00241-3
- Brown AJ, Ritter CS. The vitamin D analog 1alpha,25-dihydroxy-2beta-(3-hydroxypropyloxy) vitamin D(3) (Eldecalcitol) is a potent regulator of calcium and phosphate metabolism. *Calcif Tissue Int* (2011) 89(5):372–8. doi:10.1007/s00223-011-9528-7
- Tatsumi S, Miyagawa A, Kaneko I, Shiozaki Y, Segawa H, Miyamoto K. Regulation of renal phosphate handling: inter-organ communication in health and disease. *J Bone Miner Metab* (2016) 34(1):1–10. doi:10.1007/ s00774-015-0705-z
- Haussler MR, Whitfield GK, Kaneko I, Haussler CA, Hsieh D, Hsieh JC, et al. Molecular mechanisms of vitamin D action. *Calcif Tissue Int* (2013) 92(2):77–98. doi:10.1007/s00223-012-9619-0
- Nehring JA, Zierold C, DeLuca HF. Lithocholic acid can carry out in vivo functions of vitamin D. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A (2007) 104(24):10006–9. doi:10.1073/pnas.0703512104
- Lee DB, Hardwick LL, Hu MS, Jamgotchian N. Vitamin D-independent regulation of calcium and phosphate absorption. *Miner Electrolyte Metab* (1990) 16(2–3):167–73.

- Hofmann AF, Mysels KJ. Bile acid solubility and precipitation in vitro and in vivo: the role of conjugation, pH, and Ca2+ ions. J Lipid Res (1992) 33(5):617–26.
- Jiang C, Xie C, Lv Y, Li J, Krausz KW, Shi J, et al. Intestine-selective farnesoid X receptor inhibition improves obesity-related metabolic dysfunction. *Nat Commun* (2015) 6:10166. doi:10.1038/ncomms10166
- Schmidt DR, Holmstrom SR, Fon Tacer K, Bookout AL, Kliewer SA, Mangelsdorf DJ. Regulation of bile acid synthesis by fat-soluble vitamins A and D. J Biol Chem (2010) 285(19):14486–94. doi:10.1074/jbc.M110.116004
- Zhou H, Hylemon PB. Bile acids are nutrient signaling hormones. *Steroids* (2014) 86:62–8. doi:10.1016/j.steroids.2014.04.016
- Chow EC, Magomedova L, Quach HP, Patel R, Durk MR, Fan J, et al. Vitamin D receptor activation down-regulates the small heterodimer partner and increases CYP7A1 to lower cholesterol. *Gastroenterology* (2014) 146(4):1048–59. doi:10.1053/j.gastro.2013.12.027
- Nakahashi O, Yamamoto H, Tanaka S, Kozai M, Takei Y, Masuda M, et al. Short-term dietary phosphate restriction up-regulates ileal fibroblast growth factor 15 gene expression in mice. *J Clin Biochem Nutr* (2014) 54(2):102–8. doi:10.3164/jcbn.13-109

**Conflict of Interest Statement:** The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2017 Fujii, Tatsumi, Ogata, Arakaki, Sakaguchi, Nomura, Miyagawa, Ikuta, Hanazaki, Kaneko, Segawa and Miyamoto. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) or licensor are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





## Impact of Altered Mineral Metabolism on Pathological Cardiac Remodeling in Elevated Fibroblast Growth Factor 23

Maren Leifheit-Nestler<sup>1</sup>\*, Beatrice Richter<sup>1,2</sup>, Melis Basaran<sup>1</sup>, Julia Nespor<sup>1</sup>, Isabel Vogt<sup>1</sup>, Ioana Alesutan<sup>3,4</sup>, Jakob Voelkl<sup>3</sup>, Florian Lang<sup>5</sup>, Joerg Heineke<sup>6</sup>, Stefanie Krick<sup>7</sup> and Dieter Haffner<sup>1</sup>

<sup>1</sup> Department of Pediatric Kidney, Liver and Metabolic Diseases, Pediatric Research Center, Hannover Medical School, Hannover, Germany, <sup>2</sup> Division of Nephrology, Department of Medicine, University of Alabama at Birmingham, Birmingham, AL, United States, <sup>3</sup> Department of Internal Medicine and Cardiology, Center for Cardiovascular Research, Charité University Medicine, Berlin, Germany, <sup>4</sup> Berlin Institute of Health (BIH), Berlin, Germany, <sup>5</sup> Department of Physiology I, University of Tuebingen, Tuebingen, Germany, <sup>6</sup> Department of Cardiology and Angiology, Experimental Cardiology, Rebirth-Cluster of Excellence, Hannover Medical School, Hannover, Germany, <sup>7</sup> Division of Pulmonary, Allergy and Critical Care Medicine, University of Alabama at Birmingham, Birmingham, AL, United States

#### **OPEN ACCESS**

#### Edited by:

Reinhold Gottfried Erben, Veterinärmedizinische Universität Wien, Austria

#### Reviewed by:

Chrishan S. Samuel, Monash University, Australia Yan Viva Ma, Edwards Lifesciences, Singapore

\*Correspondence:

Maren Leifheit-Nestler leifheit-nestler.maren@ mh-hannover.de

#### Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Molecular and Structural Endocrinology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Endocrinology

Received: 04 December 2017 Accepted: 31 May 2018 Published: 21 June 2018

#### Citation:

Leifheit-Nestler M, Richter B, Basaran M, Nespor J, Vogt I, Alesutan I, Voelkl J, Lang F, Heineke J, Krick S and Haffner D (2018) Impact of Altered Mineral Metabolism on Pathological Cardiac Remodeling in Elevated Fibroblast Growth Factor 23. Front. Endocrinol. 9:333. doi: 10.3389/fendo.2018.00333 Clinical and experimental studies indicate a possible link between high serum levels of fibroblast growth factor 23 (FGF23), phosphate, and parathyroid hormone (PTH), deficiency of active vitamin D (1,25D) and klotho with the development of pathological cardiac remodeling, i.e., left ventricular hypertrophy and myocardial fibrosis, but a causal link has not been established so far. Here, we investigated the cardiac phenotype in klotho hypomorphic (kl/kl) mice and Hyp mice, two mouse models of elevated FGF23 levels and klotho deficiency, but differing in parameters of mineral metabolism, by using histology, quantitative real-time PCR, immunoblot analysis, and serum and urine biochemistry. Additionally, the specific impact of calcium, phosphate, PTH, and 1,25D on hypertrophic growth of isolated neonatal rat cardiac myocytes was investigated in vitro. KI/kI mice displayed high serum Fgf23 levels, increased relative heart weight, enhanced crosssectional area of individual cardiac myocytes, activated cardiac Fgf23/Fgf receptor (Fgfr) 4/calcineurin/nuclear factor of activated T cell (NFAT) signaling, and induction of prohypertrophic NFAT target genes including *Rcan1*, *bMHC*, brain natriuretic peptide (*BNP*), and atrial natriuretic peptide (ANP) as compared to corresponding wild-type (WT) mice. Investigation of fibrosis-related molecules characteristic for pathological cardiac remodeling processes demonstrated ERK1/2 activation and enhanced expression of Tgf- $\beta$ 1, collagen I, and Mmp2 in kl/kl mice than in WT mice. In contrast, despite significantly elevation of serum and cardiac Fgf23, and reduced renal klotho expression, Hyp mice showed no signs of pathological cardiac remodeling. Kl/kl mice showed enhanced serum calcium and phosphate levels, while Hyp mice showed unchanged serum calcium levels, lower serum phosphate, and elevated serum iPTH concentrations compared to corresponding WT mice. In cultured cardiac myocytes, treatment with both calcium or phosphate significantly upregulated endogenous Fgf23 mRNA expression and stimulated hypertrophic cell growth and expression of pro-hypertrophic genes. The treatment with PTH induced hypertrophic cell growth only, and stimulation with 1,25D had no significant effects.

23

In conclusion, our data indicate that *Hyp* mice, in contrast to *kl/kl* mice appear to be protected from pathological cardiac remodeling during conditions of high FGF23 levels and klotho deficiency, which may be due, at least in part, to differences in mineral metabolism alterations, i.e., hypophosphatemia and lack of hypercalcemia.

Keywords: fibroblast growth factor 23, klotho deficiency, mineral metabolism, left ventricular hypertrophy, cardiac fibrosis, klotho hypomorphic mice, *Hyp* mice

#### INTRODUCTION

Patients with chronic kidney disease (CKD) (1-3) and patients with heart failure (4-8) display abnormalities in mineral metabolism, which are associated with cardiovascular diseases (CVD). The phosphaturic hormone fibroblast growth factor (FGF) 23 is synthesized and secreted by osteocytes in response to various stimuli (9) to increase renal phosphate excretion by inhibiting the expression of sodium-phosphate co-transporters NaPi-2a and NaPi-2c (10, 11). Moreover, FGF23 suppresses parathyroid hormone (PTH) expression and secretion (12, 13) and inhibits renal formation of 1,25(OH)<sub>2</sub>D<sub>3</sub> (1,25D, calcitriol) by downregulating 1α-hydroxylase (Cyp27b1) and upregulating 24-hydroxylase (Cyp24a1) (11, 14, 15). Klotho is an endocrine hormone primarily produced in the kidney (16) and functions as co-receptor for FGF23, whereby it increases the binding affinity of FGF23 to its FGF receptors (FGFRs) and, therefore, mediates different signaling pathways including renal phosphate and 1,25D metabolism (17-19).

With declining kidney function, the endocrine network of mineral metabolism becomes altered, which leads to elevated serum levels of FGF23, phosphate, and PTH in addition to a deficiency of 1,25D and klotho (20). All these parameter represent key risk factors for the development of endothelial dysfunction, left ventricular hypertrophy (LVH), myocardial fibrosis, and contribute to the overall cardiovascular mortality in CKD and non-CKD patients (1, 6, 21-26). We previously showed that FGF23 directly targets the heart and promotes LVH by binding to FGFR4 on cardiac myocytes activating phospholipase C gamma (PLCy)/calcineurin/nuclear factor of activated T cells (NFAT) to induce pro-hypertrophic gene expression independently of its co-receptor klotho that is not expressed in the heart (16, 27-29). Moreover, we demonstrated that FGF23 contributes to pathologic cardiac remodeling and promotes the pro-fibrotic crosstalk between cardiac myocytes and fibroblasts resulting in enhanced cardiac hypertrophy and fibrosis in the absence of klotho (30).

Besides high FGF23 levels, klotho deficiency also seems to be associated with cardiac dysfunction in humans and rodents (25, 29, 31), and rescuing the availability of klotho by genetic overexpression or intravenous delivery of soluble klotho shows beneficial outcomes including amelioration of cardiac hypertrophy in klotho-deficient uremic mice and suppression of cardiac fibroblast activation and collagen synthesis (31–33). In addition, klotho ameliorates FGF23-mediated oxidative stress by inducing nitric oxide synthesis and degrading reactive oxygen species in endothelial cells (34). Furthermore, klotho protects against myocardial hypertrophy by reducing indoxyl sulfate-mediated oxidative stress *in vitro* and *in vivo* (35).

To date, the impact of high phosphate levels for the development of cardiomyopathy in the setting of high FGF23 levels is controversially discussed. Increased serum phosphate is associated with cardiovascular mortality in CKD (25, 36) and FGF23 mediates renal phosphate excretion only in the presence of klotho (19). Normalization of serum phosphate and FGF23 levels by dietary phosphate restriction in 5/6 nephrectomized klotho-deficient mice did not abrogate the development of cardiac hypertrophy suggesting that reduced klotho contributes to uremic cardiomyopathy independent of phosphate and FGF23 (32). In contrast, cardiac hypertrophy and fibrosis correlated with high phosphate levels in uremic and non-uremic klothodeficient mice, and genetically induced elevation of soluble klotho ameliorated phosphate-induced hypertrophic growth of cardiac myocytes in vivo (31). The association between FGF23 and cardiac remodeling in klotho-deficient animals suggests that FGF23 affects cardiac hypertrophy and fibrosis only in states of high phosphate and klotho deficiency. Thus, the interplay between increased FGF23, phosphate, and reduced klotho participates in the development of CVD. However, the direct impact of each single factor on pathologic cardiac remodeling is still not clear. Here, we test whether elevated FGF23 levels in klotho deficiency invariably leads to cardiac hypertrophy and fibrosis and whether different alterations in mineral metabolism play a role in these effects. Therefore, we compared two mouse models with genetically elevated serum FGF23 levels and reduced renal klotho availability, Hyp mice, and klotho hypomorphic (kl/kl) mice, with respect to the development of a pathologic cardiac phenotype. The *Hyp* mouse is a murine homolog to the human disease of X-linked dominant hypophosphatemia resembling elevated circulating FGF23 concentrations resulting in renal phosphate wasting, hypophosphatemia, decreased renal 1,25D synthesis, and defects in bone mineralization (37, 38). Klotho hypomorphic mice present with high plasma concentrations of FGF23, 1,25D, and phosphate, resulting in severe soft tissue calcification and premature aging (16). In addition, we used neonatal rat ventricular myocytes (NRVM) to study the role of parameters of altered mineral metabolism including calcium, phosphate, PTH, and 1,25D for the induction of cardiac hypertrophy.

#### MATERIALS AND METHODS

#### **Animal Experiments**

All experimental procedures were approved by the State Office committee on animal welfare Lower Saxony for *Hyp* mice and Baden-Württemberg for *kl/kl* mice and performed in accordance with national animal protection guidelines from Directive 2010/63/ EU of the European Parliament on the protection of animals used for scientific purposes.

Hemizygous male B6.Cg-PhexHyp/J (Hyp) mice (strain no. 000528; Jackson Laboratory, Bar Harbor, ME, USA) with X-linked semidominant mutation in the Phex gene causing defects in phosphate metabolism and male wild-type (WT) littermates produced from breeding of heterozygous females (Hyp/+) with C57BL/6J WT males were used in this study. Mice were fed normal rodent chow containing 600 IU/kg cholecalciferol, 0.7% calcium, and 0.5% phosphate (#1324, Altromin, Lage, Germany) ad lib. The origin of homozygous klotho hypomorphic mice (kl/kl), breeding, and genotyping were described previously (16). Five to 13 mice per group were used in this study and sacrificed at 6-8 weeks of age. Blood was collected via cardiac puncture, and hearts were isolated and prepared for histological and biochemical analyses. For serology, blood was centrifuged at 4°C and 13,000 rcf for 20 min. Serum supernatant was collected, stored at -80°C, and subsequently analyzed via ELISA techniques for C-term FGF23, intact FGF23, and 1-84 PTH (each from Immutopics, San Clemente, CA, USA), and spectrophotometrically for calcium and phosphate (each from DiaSys Diagnostic Systems GmbH, Holzheim, Germany).

#### **Isolation of NRVM**

Neonatal rat ventricular myocytes (NRVM) were isolated using a standardisolationsystem(WorthingtonBiochemicalCorporation) (39). In brief, hearts from 1- to 2-days-old Sprague Dawley rats were harvested, minced in calcium- and magnesium-free Hank's Balanced Salt Solution (HBSS) followed by tissue digestion with 50 µg/mL trypsin at 4°C for 20-24 h. Soybean trypsin inhibitor in HBSS was added and the tissue was further digested with collagenase (in Leibovitz L-15 medium) under slow rotation (15 rpm) at 37°C for 45 min. Cells were homogenized and resuspended 20 times with a standard 10 mL serological pipette and filtered twice through a 70-µm cell strainer (BD Falcon). After incubation at room temperature for 20 min, cells were centrifuged at  $100 \times g$ for 5 min and cell pellet was re-suspended in plating medium Dulbecco's Modified Eagle Medium (DMEM) with 20% M199 (Invitrogen), 15% fetal bovine serum (FBS; Invitrogen), and 1% penicillin/streptomycin solution (P/S; Invitrogen).

Cells were plated on glass and plastic surfaces pre-coated with laminin (Invitrogen; 10  $\mu$ g/mL in PBS) at room temperature for 1 h. For immunofluorescence analysis,  $3 \times 10^5$  cells were seeded per well on pre-coated glass coverslips in 24-well plates and for RNA isolations,  $8 \times 10^5$  cells were seeded in 6 cm-culture dishes. Cells were left in plating medium at 37°C over night. After starvation in maintenance medium DMEM with 20% M199, 1% insulin-transferrin-sodium selenite solution (ITS; Sigma-Aldrich), and 1% P/S, isolated NRVM were stimulated in duplicates in maintenance medium in the presence of 3 mM calcium, 1 mM phosphate, 10 nM PTH, 10 nM calcitriol, or vehicle, respectively, for 48 h. At least six independent cell isolations were used for all experiments.

### **Histological Analysis**

Formalin-fixed paraffin-embedded heart tissue samples were deparaffinized in xylene, hydrated through a series of graded

alcohols. For the quantification of cardiac myocyte size, fixed cardiac mid-chamber (MC) (33) sections were incubated with wheat germ agglutinin (WGA) Alexa Fluor555 (Invitrogen) at 5  $\mu$ g/mL in PBS for 1 h to visualize cellular borders of individual cardiac myocytes. 4',6-diamidino-2-phenylindole (DAPI; 0.2  $\mu$ g/mL) was used for nuclear staining in the dark for 15 min. Representative immunofluorescence images of cardiac tissue were taken on a Zeiss AxioObserver Z1 microscope (Carl Zeiss) with a Plan-Apo 63×/N.A. 1.4 oil objective. ZEN Software (Carl Zeiss) was used to measure myocardial cross-sectional area in square micrometer of 100 cardiac myocytes in average.

For the detection of myocardial fibrosis and visualization of fibrillar collagen fibers, MC sections were stained with picrosirius red (Sigma-Aldrich) as described previously (28). In brief, deparaffinized MC sections were incubated with picrosirius red for 60 min followed by mounting in non-aqueous mounting medium and analyzed by bright field and polarized microcopy using a Keyence BZ-9000<sup>®</sup> microscope with a 20× objective. In addition, for polarized light microscopy, two polarization filters were used in a rectangular orientation, positioned above and below the sample.

## Immunocytochemistry and Morphometry of NRVM

To analyze hypertrophic growth of isolated NRVM on laminincoated glass coverslips after 48 h of treatment with calcium, phosphate, PTH, and 1,25D, NRVM were fixed in 2% PFA in 5 mg/mL sucrose for 5 min and permeabilized in 1% Triton X-100 in PBS for 10 min followed by incubation with mouse monoclonal antibody against sarcomeric  $\alpha$ -actinin (1:1,000 dilution; EA-53; Sigma-Aldrich). Cy3-conjugated goat-anti mouse (Jackson Immuno Research) was used as secondary antibody at 1:300 dilution. To visualize nuclei, fixed cells were incubated with DAPI (400 ng/mL in PBS) for 10 min. Immunofluorescence images were taken on a Zeiss AxioObserver Z1 microscope (Carl Zeiss) with a 40× objective. Myocyte cross-sectional area was measured based on α-actinin-positive staining using Carl Zeiss ZEN software. At least 100 cells per stimulation were quantified for the determination of cardiac myocyte crosssectional area.

### **RNA Isolation and Quantitative Real-Time PCR (qRT-PCR) Analysis**

For RNA isolation of snap-frozen mouse myocardial tissue or NRVM, RNeasy Mini Kit (Qiagen) was used according to the manufacturer protocol. Total RNA (500 ng) was transcribed into cDNA using QuantiTect Reverse Transcription Kit (Qiagen) and qRT-PCR was performed in triplicates (20 ng cDNA per reaction) with appropriate primers in 5'-3'orientation (**Table 1**) using QuantiFAST SYBR Green PCR Kit including ROX dye (Qiagen). Forty-five cycles (95°C, 10 s; 60°C, 30 s) were performed on an ABI prism 7900HT Fast system (Applied Biosystems). Relative gene expression values, adjusted for the same CT-threshold and baseline settings, were calculated according to the  $2^{-\Delta\Delta CT}$  method (40) using *Gapdh* as housekeeping gene (SDS Software v2.3, Applied Biosystems).

**TABLE 1** | The following oligonucleotides shown in 5'-3' orientation were used as primers for quantitative RT-PCR analyses.

Gene	Orientation	Primer sequence (5'-3')	
Mouse Fgf23		Mm_Fgf23_1_SG QuantiTect Primer Assay QT01066772 (Qiagen, Hilden, Germany)	
Mouse Fgfr1	Forward Reverse	TGC CAG CTG CCA AGA CGG TG AAG GAT GGG CCG GTG AGG GG	
Mouse Fgfr4	Forward Reverse	GGC TAT GCT GTG GCC GCA CT GGT CTG AGG GCA CCA CGC TC	
Mouse Rcan1	Forward Reverse	CCC GTG AAA AAG CAG AAT GC TCC TTG TCA TAT GTT CTG AAG AGG G	
Mouse aMHC	Forward Reverse	ACT GTG GTG CCT CGT TCC GCC TCT AGG CGT TCC TTC TC	
Mouse bMHC	Forward Reverse	AGG CAA GGC AAA GAA AGG CTC ATC GCG TGG AGC GCA AGT TTG TCA TAA	
Mouse ANP	Forward Reverse	ATT GAC AGG ATT GGA GCC CAG AGT GA CAC ACC ACA AGG GCT TAG GAT	
Mouse BNP	Forward Reverse	CCA GAT GAT TCT GCT CCT GC TGA ACT ATG TGC CAT CTT GG	
Mouse Col1	Forward Reverse	CCG CTG GTC AAG ATG GTC CCT CGC TCT CCA GCC TTT	
Mouse Mmp2	Forward Reverse	AAC TAC GAT GAT GAC CGG AAG TG TGG CAT GGC CGA ACT CA	
Mouse Tgfb1	Forward Reverse	TTG CTT CAG CTC CAC AGA GA TGG TTG TAG AGG GCA AGG AC	
Mouse Klotho	Forward Reverse	TGG GAA GGT TTT GTC CAG AAG A AGA AAC GAG ATG AAG ACC AGC A	
Mouse Gapdh	Forward Reverse	TAT GTC GTG GAG TCT ACT GG AGT GAT GGC ATG GAC TGT GG	
Rat Fgf23	Forward Reverse	GCA ACA TTT TTG GAT CGT ATC A GAT GCT TCG GTG ACA GGT AGA	
Rat Rcan1	Forward Reverse	CTC ACA CAC GTG GAC CAC CA CGC CCA ATC CAG ACA AAC AG	
Rat bMHC	Forward Reverse	CTC CAG AAG AGA AGA ACT CC CCA CCT GCT GGA CAT TCT GC	
Rat ANP	Forward Reverse	AAA TCC CGT ATA CAG TGC GG GGA GGC ATG ACC TCA TCT TC	
Rat BNP	Forward Reverse	CCA GAA CAA TCC ACG ATG C TCG AAG TCT CTC CTG GAT CC	
Rat Gapdh	Forward Reverse	ACT CCA CGA CAT ACT CAG CAC CAT CAA CGA CCC CTT CAT T	

#### **Protein Isolation and Immunoblotting**

For protein extraction from snap-frozen myocardial specimens of the left ventricle of *Hyp* and *kl/kl* mice, 30 mg tissue was homogenized in 250  $\mu$ L RIPA extraction buffer (50 mM Tris–HCl pH 7.4, 150 mM NaCl, 1% NP-40, 0.25% Na-desoxycholate, 1 mM EDTA) with protease (P8340, Sigma-Aldrich) and phosphatase (S65208, Sigma-Aldrich) inhibitors, sonicated two times and incubated on ice for 30 min. Cell lysates were centrifuged at 13,000 rpm and 4°C for 10 min, protein concentration was quantified using BCA test, 100  $\mu$ g total protein was boiled in sample buffer and analyzed by SDS-PAGE and immunoblotting. Antibodies to FGF23 (1:1,000; ab98000, Abcam), Calcineurin A (1:10,000; ab52761, Abcam), NFATc4 (1:200; sc-13036, Santa Crus Biotechnology Inc.), Rcan1 (1:1,000; SAB2101967, Sigma), pERK1/2 and ERK1/2 (each 1:1,000; #4370 and #9107, Cell Signaling Technology), connective tissue growth factor (Ctgf) (1:1,000; ab6992, Abcam), and GAPDH (1:1,000; #2118, Cell Signaling Technology) were used as primary antibodies in 5% BSA in LI-COR blocking buffer/TBS (1:2) over night, and IRDye® secondary goat-anti-mouse and goat-anti-rabbit (LI-COR Biosciences) were used as secondary antibodies. Primary antibodies to collagen 1 (1:1,000; ab34710, Abcam), MMP2 (1:500; ab92536, Abcam), and TGF-B1 (1:500; ab179695, Abcam) were used in 5% milk in TBS-T over night followed by using HRP-labeled secondary antibodies and enhanced chemiluminescent substrate. The Odyssey Imager (LI-COR Biosciences) was used for protein detection and quantification.

#### **Statistical Analysis**

Data are presented as mean  $\pm$  SEM if not indicated otherwise. Comparison between groups of *Hyp* or *kl/kl* mice and its respective WT littermates were done by unpaired *t*-test in case of normally distributed data or Mann–Whitney *U* test in case of non-Gaussian distributions, respectively (GraphPad Prism Software version 6.0). Different groups of NRVM were compared by one-way ANOVA and Bonferroni's multiple comparison *post hoc* tests. Two-tailed *P* values of <0.05 were considered statistically significant.

### RESULTS

### Circulating Fgf23 Levels and Endogenous Cardiac Fgf23 Synthesis Are Elevated in *Hyp* and *kl/kl* Mice

First, we investigated circulating and cardiac levels of Fgf23 in *Hyp* and *kl/kl* mice. *Hyp* mice presented with 10-fold higher levels of both serum C-term and intact Fgf23 when compared to WT littermates. In *kl/kl* mice, circulating C-term and intact Fgf23 concentrations were 2,000- and 3,300-fold higher compared to respective WT controls (**Figures 1A,B**). In the heart tissue of *Hyp* and *kl/kl* mice, endogenous cardiac *Fgf23* mRNA expression and full-length biological active Fgf23 protein were significantly upregulated compared to respective WT controls (**Figures 1C,D**). Thus, both mouse models showed elevated circulating and cardiac Fgf23 levels, although serum Fgf23 concentrations appeared to be higher in *kl/kl* compared to *Hyp* mice.

### Homozygous *kl/kl*, but Not *Hyp* Mice, Develop Cardiac Hypertrophy

Next, we investigated the development of cardiac hypertrophy in both mouse models. Due to growth retardation caused by abnormal mineral metabolism in *Hyp* mice, we calculated the relative heart weight on the basis of heart weight to body weight ratio. When compared to WT controls, the relative heart weight of *kl/kl* mice was  $0.84 \pm 0.15$  mg/g higher (**Figure 2A**). In addition, *kl/kl* mice presented with  $282 \pm 13 \mu m^2$  cross-sectional area of individual cardiac myocytes compared to  $189 \pm 14 \mu m^2$  in WT









littermates demonstrated by WGA staining of the myocyte cell borders in heart tissue sections. In contrast, *Hyp* mice showed unaltered cardiac myocytes cell size compared to WT littermates ( $202 \pm 19$  versus  $178 \pm 13 \mu m^2$ ; P = 0.287) (**Figure 2B**). Thus, it appears that only *kl/kl* mice display the development of cardiac hypertrophy.

## Cardiac-Specific Fgfr4/Calcineurin/Nfat Signaling Is Only Activated in *kl/kl* Mice

Since Fgfr1 and Fgfr4 are the main Fgfrs expressed in the myocardial tissue of humans and rodents (27, 29), and each induces pathological cardiac remodeling through a different pathway, we next wanted to know whether both receptors were altered in the heart of *Hyp* and *kl/kl* mice. Cardiac *Fgfr1* mRNA levels were unchanged in *kl/kl* mice, but tended to be lower in *Hyp* mice; however, the difference did not reach statistical significance (P = 0.184) (**Figure 3A**). In contrast, cardiac *Fgfr4* mRNA expression was  $3.8 \pm 0.3$ -fold upregulated in *kl/kl* mice compared to controls. In *Hyp* mice, a trend of *Fgfr4* elevation was recognized when compared to their respective WT controls ( $2.4 \pm 0.7$ -fold; P = 0.097) (**Figure 3B**). Calcineurin protein levels, activated by Fgfr4 *via* PLC $\gamma$ , were  $1.6 \pm 0.1$ -fold enhanced in heart tissue lysates from *kl/kl* mice (P = 0.017), but not from *Hyp* mice



**FIGURE 3** | The cardiac Fgfr4/calcineurin/nuclear factor of activated T cell signaling is activated in kl/kl mice. (A) Quantitative real-time PCR analysis reveals no significant differences in *Fgfr1* mRNA expression in cardiac tissue from both mouse lines compared to their respective wild-type controls. (B) *Fgfr4* mRNA expression is elevated in hearts from kl/kl mice as well as *Hyp* mice; however, the differences are statistically significant only for the kl/kl animals. (C) Representative immunoblot and quantification indicate an upregulation of cardiac calcineurin protein expression only for kl/kl mice. (Gapdh served as loading control). (D) Representative immunoblot and quantification of Nfat activation show reduced Nfat phosphorylation in cardiac tissue from kl/kl mice. Values are presented as mean  $\pm$  SEM; numbers in each bar graph represent the *n*-values used for the respective measurement; \**P* < 0.05, \*\**P* < 0.01.

(**Figure 3C**). Moreover, the transcription factor Nfat was clearly de-phosphorylated ( $0.41 \pm 0.16$ -fold; P = 0.027) and thereby activated in heart tissue only from kl/kl mice compared to WT littermates (**Figure 3D**). Taken together, the pro-hypertrophic Fgfr4/calcineurin/NFAT signaling pathway is induced in kl/kl, but not in *Hyp* mice.

### Pro-Hypertrophic NFAT Target Markers Are Upregulated in *kl/kl* but Not in *Hyp* Mice

In order to evaluate pro-hypertrophic genes targeted by activated calcineurin/NFAT pathway, we analyzed the expression of regulator of calcineurin 1 (Rcan1), brain natriuretic peptide (BNP), atrial natriuretic peptide (ANP), and both alpha- and beta-myosin heavy chain (aMHC, bMHC) in myocardial tissue of these two mouse models. In kl/kl mice, cardiac Rcan1 expression was 2.1fold upregulated on both mRNA and protein level when compared to WT controls but not in *Hyp* mice (Figures 4A,B). The switch to a fetal cardiac gene expression pattern was only detected in kl/kl mice demonstrated by an enhanced *bMHC* to *aMHC* ratio when compared to respective WT littermates (Figure 4C). Moreover, the mRNA expression of the pro-hypertrophic factors ANP and BNP was clearly induced in *kl/kl* mice  $(5.3 \pm 1.1$ -fold, P = 0.0035; 2.0  $\pm$  0.3-fold, P = 0.0094) (Figures 4D,E). Interestingly, BNP levels were even 0.6-fold lower in Hyp mice in comparison to their WT controls (P = 0.010).

## Only klotho Hypomorphic Mice Display Enhanced Cardiac Fibrosis

One major characteristic of pathologic cardiac hypertrophy is the concomitant development of myocardial fibrosis (3, 41). Therefore, we next investigated collagen synthesis and remodeling as well as the expression levels of fibrosis-related molecules involved in the transforming growth factor-beta (Tgf- $\beta$ ) signaling cascade. Demonstrated by picrosirius red staining of myocardial tissue sections, the accumulation of fibrillar collagens was clearly increased in *kl/kl* mice but not in *Hyp* mice (Figure 5A). This was confirmed by a 2.0-fold enhanced mRNA expression of both collagen 1 (Col1) and matrix metallopeptidase 2 (Mmp2) only in kl/kl mice compared to WT littermates (Figures 5B,C). One major pro-fibrotic pathway in cardiomyopathy among others is the induction of connective tissue growth factor (Ctgf) via Tgf-\beta1-mediated activation of extracellular signal-regulated kinases (ERK)1/2 (41-43). Only in kl/kl mice, Tgfb1 mRNA levels were 3.0-fold upregulated compared to respective WT controls (Figure 5D). The enhanced pro-fibrotic gene expressions in kl/kl mice were confirmed by higher Col1, Mmp2, and Tgf-β1 protein expressions in myocardial tissue of kl/kl mice but not in Hyp mice (Figures 5E-G). Moreover, ERK1/2 was activated in kl/kl mice demonstrated by a 2.6-fold enhanced phosphorylation in total heart tissue lysates (Figures 5H,I). Finally, Ctgf protein expression was 1.5-fold induced in kl/kl mice but not in *Hyp* mice (Figures 5H,J). In summary, interstitial cardiac fibrosis was only present in kl/kl mice.



**FIGURE 4** | *Kl/kl* mice show an upregulation of cardiac pro-hypertrophic nuclear factor of activated T cell target genes. (**A**,**B**) Rcan1 expression is increased only in cardiac tissue from *kl/kl* mice demonstrated by quantification of mRNA levels by real-time PCR and protein levels by western blotting. (**C**) Quantification of *bMHC* and *aMHC* mRNA expression shows the induction of fetal gene program in heart tissue from *kl/kl* mice but not from *Hyp* mice. (**D**) *ANP* mRNA expression is induced in the myocardium of *kl/kl* mice in relation to respective wild-type animals. (**E**) Cardiac *BNP* mRNA expression is reduced in *Hyp* mice, but upregulated in *kl/kl* mice. Values are presented as mean  $\pm$  SEM; numbers in each bar graph represent the *n*-values used for the respective measurement; \**P* < 0.05, \*\**P* < 0.01.

### Mineral Metabolism Differs Between *Hyp* and *kl/kl* Mice

As we presented in this study, circulating Fgf23 levels and cardiac Fgf23 synthesis were significantly enhanced in both Hyp and kl/kl mice. However, only kl/kl mice developed cardiac hypertrophy and fibrosis. To identify additional causes mediating pathologic cardiac remodeling in *kl/kl* mice and to evaluate why *Hyp* mice might be protected from cardiovascular disease, we next investigated parameters of mineral metabolism. Serum calcium levels were normal to slightly reduced in Hyp mice  $(8.7 \pm 0.8)$ versus 9.6  $\pm$  0.5 mg/dL; P = 0.327) but significantly enhanced in kl/kl mice compared to WT littermates (11.3  $\pm$  0.5 versus  $9.5 \pm 0.3 \text{ mg/dL}$ ; P = 0.007) (Figure 6A). In addition, Hyp mice displayed hypophosphatemia (5.6  $\pm$  0.5 versus 8.7  $\pm$  0.3 mg/dL; P < 0.0001) while kl/kl mice were hyperphosphatemic (9.9 ± 0.6 versus 7.4  $\pm$  0.2 mg/dL; P = 0.0012) (Figure 6B). Furthermore, Hyp mice showed 6.5-fold enhanced serum PTH concentrations compared to WT animals (Figure 6C), whereas previous reports describe suppressed PTH levels in kl/kl mice (44, 45). Others and we showed previously that Hyp mice are deficient for 1,25D, whereas kl/kl mice have significantly higher serum 1,25D levels (37, 44-46). Finally, Hyp mice showed markedly reduced renal Klotho mRNA expression levels ( $0.6 \pm 0.07$ -fold; P = 0.0012), which were barely detectable in renal tissue of kl/klmice (Figure 6D). Taken together, despite enhanced circulating Fgf23 levels in both mouse models, serum calcium, phosphate, and 1,25D levels were increased in kl/kl mice. In Hyp mice, serum calcium was unchanged and serum phosphate and 1,25D levels were decreased compared to their WT littermates. In contrast, serum PTH levels were increased in Hyp mice, but suppressed in kl/kl mice.

### Calcium and Phosphate Stimulate Hypertrophic Cell Growth and Induce Pro-Hypertrophic Genes in Isolated Cardiac Myocytes

Since both animal models significantly differ with respect to serum calcium, phosphate, PTH, and 1,25D levels but only kl/kl mice developed cardiac remodeling processes (Table 2), we next investigated whether each single parameter was able to affect the endogenous Fgf23 expression and to promote cardiac hypertrophy in vitro. Therefore, we stimulated NRVM, which do not express klotho, with calcium, phosphate, PTH, and 1,25D and evaluated hypertrophic growth of individual cardiac myocytes, changes of endogenous Fgf23 expression, and finally induction of pro-hypertrophic markers. Treatment of NRVM with calcium, phosphate, and PTH but not with 1,25D significantly enhanced cardiac myocytes cross-sectional area demonstrated by immunocytochemical staining with anti- $\alpha$ -actinin antibody followed by quantification of the cell size (Figures 7A,B). Interestingly, Fgf23 mRNA levels of NRVM were significantly induced by calcium and phosphate treatment but neither by PTH nor by 1,25D (Figure 7C), which is in contrast to their



**FIGURE 5** | Development of cardiac fibrosis in *kl/kl* mice but not in *Hyp* mice. (A) Representative images of murine myocardial sections stained for fibrillar collagens by picrosirius red demonstrate increased accumulation of fibrillar collagens in *kl/kl* mice but not in *Hyp* mice (magnification, 20x; scale bar, 50 µm). (B) The mRNA levels of *Col1* are higher in heart tissue of *kl/kl* mice and unchanged in *Hyp* animals. (C) Likewise, *kl/kl* mice show an enhanced *Mmp2* mRNA expression. (D) The mRNA expression of *Tgfb1* is significantly different between both mouse lines whereby it is upregulated in *kl/kl* animals. The protein expression of (E) Col1, (F) Mmp2, and (G) Tgf- $\beta$ 1 in heart tissue lysates is markedly enhanced in *kl/kl* mice but not in *Hyp* mice. (H) ERK1/2 is only activated in *kl/kl* mice demonstrated by increased phosphorylated protein levels in immunoblot analysis followed by (I) densitometric quantification. (J) The levels of Ctgf protein are increased in *kl/kl* mice but not in *Hyp* mice. Values are presented as mean  $\pm$  SEM; numbers in each bar graph represent the *n*-values used for the respective measurement; \**P* < 0.05, \*\**P* < 0.01.

Fgf23-stimulating properties reported for bone (9, 47). *Rcan1* mRNA expression was significantly induced by treatment of NRVM with phosphate and tended to be increased by calcium treatment, a difference, however, not reaching statistical significance (**Figure 7D**). Moreover, the mRNA levels of *bMHC*, *BNP*, and *ANP* were significantly induced by both calcium and phosphate but not significantly modified after stimulation with

PTH or 1,25D (**Figures 7E–G**). Taken together, among the altered parameters of mineral metabolism differing between *Hyp* and *kl/kl* mice, only calcium and phosphate clearly induced cardiac *Fgf23* expression and promoted myocytes hypertrophy *in vitro*, suggesting that elevated phosphate and calcium levels may promote Fgf23-mediated cardiac hypertrophy in states of klotho deficiency.



**FIGURE 6** | Different mineral metabolism between *Hyp* and *kl/kl* mice. (A) Serum calcium levels are normal to slightly reduced in *Hyp* mice and elevated in *kl/kl* animals. (B) *Hyp* mice are hypophosphatemic and *kl/kl* mice display hyperphosphatemia. (C) Serum parathyroid hormone (PTH) levels in *Hyp* mice are extensively elevated. For *kl/kl* mice, the PTH levels in the serum were not available (n.a.). (D) Renal *Klotho* mRNA expression is reduced in *Kl/kl* mice. Values are presented as mean  $\pm$  SEM; numbers in each bar graph represent the *n*-values used for the respective measurement; \*\**P* < 0.01, \*\*\**P* < 0.0001.

**TABLE 2** | Differences between *Hyp* and *kl/kl* mice regarding characteristics of cardiovascular and kidney disease, cardiac FGF23/FGFR4 system, and parameters of mineral metabolism.

Characteristics	Hyp mouse	kl/kl mouse +
Cardiac hypertrophy		
Cardiac fibrosis	-	+
Kidney injury (48, 49)	-	-
Blood pressure (44, 50)	1	$\downarrow$
Calcification (44, 51)	-	+
Serum Fgf23	1	$\uparrow\uparrow$
Cardiac Fgf23	1	Ť
Cardiac Fgfr4	$\leftrightarrow$	1
Renal klotho	$\downarrow$	$\downarrow\downarrow$
Serum calcium	$\leftrightarrow\downarrow$	Ť
Serum phosphate	$\downarrow$	1
Serum parathyroid hormone (44, 51)	1	$\downarrow$
Serum 1,25D (37, 44, 51)	$\downarrow$	$\uparrow\uparrow$

### DISCUSSION

High FGF23 levels and klotho deficiency are postulated as key risk factors for the development of uremic cardiomyopathy (2, 23, 25, 31, 52) and increase of FGF23 is further associated with poor outcome in patients with heart failure, cardiogenic shock, or arrhythmia at normal kidney function (4–8). Even though FGF23 directly targets the heart and contributes to hypertrophy and fibrosis independent of klotho (27, 28), it is not known whether the increase of FGF23 in parallel with reduction of klotho alone

is sufficient to lead to CVD. Here, we show that enhanced FGF23 synthesis in kl/kl mice led to the development of cardiac hypertrophy and fibrosis while Hyp mice, despite of high circulating and cardiac FGF23 levels and reduced renal klotho expression, did not show any cardiac phenotype. This suggests that elevated FGF23 levels in the presence of klotho deficiency do not necessarily promote cardiac toxicity of FGF23 in vivo per se. Among additional key factors of altered mineral metabolism in *Hyp* and kl/kl mice, only calcium and phosphate stimulated endogenous FGF23 expression in cultured cardiac myocytes and induced pro-hypertrophic gene expression resulting in hypertrophic cell growth in vitro. The present results suggest that the differences in serum calcium and phosphate levels between the two mouse models may contribute to the effects on cardiac hypertrophy and fibrosis at high FGF23 levels. Concomitant normal serum calcium levels and hypophosphatemia may prevent Hyp mice from the development of LVH, whereas concomitant hypercalcemia and hyperphosphatemia may have further promoted pathological cardiac remodeling in *kl/kl* mice.

In the present study, both *Hyp* and *kl/kl* mice presented with enhanced circulating levels of C-term and intact FGF23 as well as upregulated cardiac FGF23 synthesis in addition to reduced renal Klotho expression, although both alterations were more pronounced in *kl/kl* mice. However, *kl/kl* mice, but not *Hyp* mice, developed cardiac hypertrophy, demonstrated by an increase in relative heart weight and cardiac myocyte cross-sectional area. In addition, we demonstrated for the first time that FGFR4 is upregulated in heart tissue of kl/kl mice and this resulted in activation of calcineurin/NFAT signaling and finally induction of pro-hypertrophic NFAT target genes Rcan1, bMHC, ANP, and BNP. Furthermore, kl/kl mice further displayed enhanced myocardial fibrosis with concomitant induction of collagen 1, Mmp2 and Tgf-B1 expression, activated ERK1/2 and Ctgf protein. Thereby, we support the findings of Hu et al. showing that pERK1/2 is elevated and myocardial fibrosis is present in heart tissue of homozygous kl/kl mice as well (31). Moreover, this group investigated the Tgf- $\beta$ 1-mediated activation of ERK1/2 in neonatal rat cardiac myocytes and fibroblasts in vitro, which was only present in the absence of klotho suggesting that there is a strong connection between klotho deficiency and the induction of pro-fibrotic pathways. In addition, treatment of neonatal mouse cardiac fibroblasts with the 65 kDa soluble klotho isoform was shown to suppress myofibroblast proliferation and collagen synthesis (33). Taken together, our data suggest that the well-established cardiac FGF23/FGFR4 signaling involved in the development of pathologic cardiac hypertrophy with the parallel appearance of cardiac fibrosis is induced in *kl/kl* mice with high FGF23 levels and klotho deficiency.

Our results in homozygous kl/kl mice are well in line with Yang and colleagues who showed that heterozygous kl/+ mice had elevated relative heart weight and enhanced left ventricular posterior wall thickness with reduced left ventricular internal diastolic diameter (35). In another study by Hu et al., heterozygous kl/+ mice showed reduced ejection fraction, stroke volume, and cardiac output in addition to enlarged septum and posterior wall thickness within the diastole (31). In contrast, neither kl/+ nor kl/kl mice with comparable age had baseline cardiac



**FIGURE 7** | Calcium and phosphate treatment induces cell growth and pro-hypertrophic gene expression in cultured neonatal rat ventricular myocytes (NRVM). (**A**,**B**) Immunofluorescence staining for sarcomeric  $\alpha$ -actinin followed by quantification demonstrates enhanced cardiac myocyte cross-sectional area after treatment of NRVM with calcium, phosphate, and PTH, but not 1,25D (magnification, 40x; scale bar, 50 µm). (**C**) Calcium and phosphate stimulation significantly increases *Fgf23* mRNA expression in NRVM. (**D**) *Rcan1* mRNA levels are significantly enhanced by treatment of NRVM with phosphate. The mRNA levels of (**E**) *bMHC*, (**F**) *BNP*, and (**G**) *ANP* are significantly upregulated after stimulation of NRVM with calcium and phosphate. Values are presented as mean ± SEM; numbers in each bar graph represent the *n*-values used for the respective measurement; \**P* < 0.05, \*\**P* < 0.01, \*\*\**P* < 0.001. Abbreviations: Ca, calcium; Pi, phosphate; PTH, parathyroid hormone; 1,25D, 1,25(OH)<sub>2</sub>D<sub>3</sub>.

abnormalities published in other studies by Xie and colleagues (32, 53). Interestingly, according to this study, serum FGF23 and phosphate levels were similar in WT and kl/+ mice. The different

cardiac outcome in klotho-deficient mice within these studies might be, at least partially, due to differences in dietary phosphate content ranging from 0.35 to 0.6% (31, 32, 35, 53).

The development of pathologic cardiac remodeling including hypertrophy and fibrosis is less clear in Hyp mice. Recently, it was described that 8-week-old Hyp mice showed increased relative heart weight, and administration of an FGFR1 activating antibody resulted in normalization of relative heart weight, left ventricular wall thickness, and blood pressure. Treatment of *Hyp* mice with soluble klotho ameliorated systolic, diastolic, and mean arterial blood pressure (MAP) (54). Andrukhova and colleagues showed enhanced FGF23 serum levels in 3-monthold *Hyp* mice with enhanced MAP in addition to significantly higher relative heart weight compared to WT littermates (50). Thus, both studies suggest that Hyp mice on a regular phosphate diet present with enhanced blood pressure and cardiac hypertrophy. However, a detailed evaluation of the cardiac phenotype in Hyp mice, i.e., investigation of cardiac myocyte cross-sectional area, pro-hypertrophic signaling pathways, and concomitant fibrosis, in order to evalute pathological cardiac hypertrophy in-depth, was not yet been performed in *Hyp* mice. In the present study, we investigated histological and molecular biological analyses of heart tissue in 6- to 8-week-old Hyp mice on a regular phosphate diet and compared our findings to their WT littermates. In contrast to the abovementioned studies (50, 54), relative heart weight was not significantly altered in *Hyp* mice in the present study, and additionally, cardiac myocyte cross-sectional area was similar to controls. Although, Hyp mice showed comparably increased circulating FGF23 levels and the presence of enhanced cardiac FGF23 synthesis in the present study, FGFR4 and its respective downstream signaling pathway, i.e., calcineurin/NFAT, Rcan1, bMHC, ANP, and BNP, were not induced at all. Neither accumulation of fibrillar collagens nor fibrosis-related pathways, including collagen 1 expression, Tgf-β1-mediated activation of ERK1/2, or Ctgf were induced in Hyp mice compared to controls. Thus, our data point out that high FGF23 levels in addition to klotho deficiency does not necessarily result in pathological cardiac remodeling in vivo. The fact that blood pressure is elevated in *Hyp* mice (50) while low in kl/kl mice (44) further supported the hypothesis that FGF23-mediated cardiac hypertrophy might be blood pressure independent.

Therefore, the question arises if alterations in the mineral metabolism may modulate the cardiac phenotype in these two mouse models. In line with previous published studies by others (37, 55) and us (46), Hyp mice showed normal to reduced serum calcium levels, presented with hypophosphatemia, secondary hyperparathyroidism, and vitamin D deficiency. In contrast, kl/kl mice were hypercalcemic and hyperphosphatemic, had elevated 1,25D levels, and suppressed serum PTH levels (44, 45). Thus, the observed differences in calcium and phosphate serum concentrations may at least partly explain the different cardiac phenotypes in the two mouse models. The importance of phosphate as a risk factor for cardiomyopathy was previously demonstrated in a variety of experimental studies showing that high-phosphate diet induced cardiac hypertrophy and fibrosis in rodents (25, 28, 56). Moreover, stimulation with phosphate induced pERK1/2, Ctgf, and collagen 1 in isolated neonatal rat cardiac fibroblasts and in addition pERK1/2, Ctgf, and pSmad2/3 in cardiac myocytes in vitro (31). Interestingly, co-treatment

with soluble klotho only ameliorated Ctgf and collagen 1 levels in cardiac fibroblasts and Smad2/3 phosphorylation in myocytes suggesting that klotho primarily targets phosphate-induced pro-fibrotic signaling pathways. The impact of phosphate on the development of cardiac hypertrophy on cellular level was not investigated so far. Here, we present that both calcium and phosphate stimulated hypertrophic growth of cultured cardiac myocytes with upregulation of *Rcan1*, *bMHC*, *ANP*, and *BNP*, respectively. Interestingly, among the known parameters of mineral metabolism that induce FGF23 synthesis in bone (9), only calcium and phosphate upregulated endogenous *Fgf23* expression in NRVM.

Circulating FGF23 levels were considerably higher and the degree of klotho deficiency was lower in kl/kl mice compared to *Hyp* mice in the present study. Therefore, we cannot exclude that further stimulation of circulating FGF23, e.g., by increased phosphate load may result in pathological cardiac remodeling in Hyp mice despite the presence of hypophosphatemia. In addition, kl/kl mice presented with hypercalcemia, which was shown to stimulate cardiac myocyte hypertrophy in vitro, although the effects of calcium were lower compared to phosphate. However, concomitant hypercalcemia may have further promoted the cardiac phenotype in *kl/kl* mice. Furthermore, in *kl/kl* mice, the regulation of cardiac hypertrophy and fibrosis by other pathological factors cannot be ruled out (57-59). Clearly, further studies are needed to confirm an association of altered mineral metabolism at high FGF23 levels and pathological cardiac remodeling.

In extension to previously published studies, our results support the hypothesis that both altered parameters of mineral metabolism and elevated FGF23 levels contribute to cardiac hypertrophy and fibrosis in the setting of klotho deficiency, and consequently, Hyp mice might be protected from pathologic cardiac remodeling by the presence of concomitant hypophosphatemia and lack of hypercalcemia. In addition, high FGF23 levels are only cardiotoxic in the presence of high calcium and/ or high phosphate and independent of klotho deficiency. The latter supports the concept of early initiation of phosphate lowering treatment in states of elevated FGF23 and klotho deficiency, e.g., uremia, in order to prevent pathological cardiac remodeling.

### ETHICS STATEMENT

All experimental procedures were approved by the State Office committee on animal welfare Lower Saxony for *Hyp* mice and Baden-Württemberg for *kl/kl* mice, and performed in accordance with national animal protection guidelines from Directive 2010/63/EU of the European Parliament on the protection of animals used for scientific purposes.

## **AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS**

Design: ML-N, BR, JV, and DH; experiments: BR, MB, JN, and IV; experimental support and critical revision of the manuscript: IA, JV, FL, JH, and SK; data evaluation: ML-N, BR, MB, JN, and IV; preparation of manuscript: ML-N, BR, and DH.

### ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

We would like to thank Anja Ziolek for technical assistance and Anna Gigina for isolation of neonatal rat ventricular myocytes.

#### REFERENCES

- 1. Himmelfarb J, Ikizler TA. Hemodialysis. N Engl J Med (2010) 363(19):1833–45. doi:10.1056/NEJMra0902710
- Gutierrez OM, Januzzi JL, Isakova T, Laliberte K, Smith K, Collerone G, et al. Fibroblast growth factor 23 and left ventricular hypertrophy in chronic kidney disease. *Circulation* (2009) 119(19):2545–52. doi:10.1161/ CIRCULATIONAHA.108.844506
- Gross ML, Ritz E. Hypertrophy and fibrosis in the cardiomyopathy of uremia – beyond coronary heart disease. *Semin Dial* (2008) 21(4):308–18. doi:10.1111/j.1525-139X.2008.00454.x
- Andersen IA, Huntley BK, Sandberg SS, Heublein DM, Burnett JC Jr. Elevation of circulating but not myocardial FGF23 in human acute decompensated heart failure. *Nephrol Dial Transplant* (2016) 31(5):767–72. doi:10.1093/ndt/gfv398
- Wohlfahrt P, Melenovsky V, Kotrc M, Benes J, Jabor A, Franekova J, et al. Association of fibroblast growth factor-23 levels and angiotensin-converting enzyme inhibition in chronic systolic heart failure. *JACC Heart Fail* (2015) 3(10):829–39. doi:10.1016/j.jchf.2015.05.012
- Seiler S, Cremers B, Rebling NM, Hornof F, Jeken J, Kersting S, et al. The phosphatonin fibroblast growth factor 23 links calcium-phosphate metabolism with left-ventricular dysfunction and atrial fibrillation. *Eur Heart J* (2011) 32(21):2688–96. doi:10.1093/eurheartj/ehr215
- Mathew JS, Sachs MC, Katz R, Patton KK, Heckbert SR, Hoofnagle AN, et al. Fibroblast growth factor-23 and incident atrial fibrillation: the Multi-Ethnic Study of Atherosclerosis (MESA) and the Cardiovascular Health Study (CHS). *Circulation* (2014) 130(4):298–307. doi:10.1161/CIRCULATIONAHA.113. 005499
- Fuernau G, Poss J, Denks D, Desch S, Heine GH, Eitel I, et al. Fibroblast growth factor 23 in acute myocardial infarction complicated by cardiogenic shock: a biomarker substudy of the Intraaortic Balloon Pump in Cardiogenic Shock II (IABP-SHOCK II) trial. *Crit Care* (2014) 18(6):713. doi:10.1186/s13054-014-0713-8
- Haffner D, Leifheit-Nestler M. Extrarenal effects of FGF23. Pediatr Nephrol (2017) 32(5):753–65. doi:10.1007/s00467-016-3505-3
- Gattineni J, Bates C, Twombley K, Dwarakanath V, Robinson ML, Goetz R, et al. FGF23 decreases renal NaPi-2a and NaPi-2c expression and induces hypophosphatemia in vivo predominantly via FGF receptor 1. *Am J Physiol Renal Physiol* (2009) 297(2):F282–91. doi:10.1152/ajprenal.90742.2008
- Shimada T, Hasegawa H, Yamazaki Y, Muto T, Hino R, Takeuchi Y, et al. FGF-23 is a potent regulator of vitamin D metabolism and phosphate homeostasis. *J Bone Miner Res* (2004) 19(3):429–35. doi:10.1359/JBMR.0301264
- Ben-Dov IZ, Galitzer H, Lavi-Moshayoff V, Goetz R, Kuro-o M, Mohammadi M, et al. The parathyroid is a target organ for FGF23 in rats. *J Clin Invest* (2007) 117(12):4003–8. doi:10.1172/JCI32409
- Quarles LD. Endocrine functions of bone in mineral metabolism regulation. J Clin Invest (2008) 118(12):3820–8. doi:10.1172/JCI36479
- Liu S, Tang W, Zhou J, Stubbs JR, Luo Q, Pi M, et al. Fibroblast growth factor 23 is a counter-regulatory phosphaturic hormone for vitamin D. J Am Soc Nephrol (2006) 17(5):1305–15. doi:10.1681/ASN.2005111185
- Erben RG, Andrukhova O. FGF23-Klotho signaling axis in the kidney. *Bone* (2017) 100:10062–8. doi:10.1016/j.bone.2016.09.010
- Kuro-o M, Matsumura Y, Aizawa H, Kawaguchi H, Suga T, Utsugi T, et al. Mutation of the mouse klotho gene leads to a syndrome resembling ageing. *Nature* (1997) 390(6655):45–51. doi:10.1038/36285
- Kurosu H, Ogawa Y, Miyoshi M, Yamamoto M, Nandi A, Rosenblatt KP, et al. Regulation of fibroblast growth factor-23 signaling by klotho. *J Biol Chem* (2006) 281(10):6120–3. doi:10.1074/jbc.C500457200
- Urakawa I, Yamazaki Y, Shimada T, Iijima K, Hasegawa H, Okawa K, et al. Klotho converts canonical FGF receptor into a specific receptor for FGF23. *Nature* (2006) 444(7120):770–4. doi:10.1038/nature05315
- Razzaque MS. The FGF23-Klotho axis: endocrine regulation of phosphate homeostasis. Nat Rev Endocrinol (2009) 5(11):611–9. doi:10.1038/ nrendo.2009.196

### FUNDING

This work was supported by the Deutsche Forschungsgemeinschaft (La315-15).

- Hu MC, Shiizaki K, Kuro-o M, Moe OW. Fibroblast growth factor 23 and Klotho: physiology and pathophysiology of an endocrine network of mineral metabolism. *Annu Rev Physiol* (2013) 75:503–33. doi:10.1146/ annurev-physiol-030212-183727
- Richter M, Lautze HJ, Walther T, Braun T, Kostin S, Kubin T. The failing heart is a major source of circulating FGF23 via oncostatin M receptor activation. *J Heart Lung Transplant* (2015) 34(9):1211–4. doi:10.1016/j. healun.2015.06.007
- 22. Hasegawa H, Nagano N, Urakawa I, Yamazaki Y, Iijima K, Fujita T, et al. Direct evidence for a causative role of FGF23 in the abnormal renal phosphate handling and vitamin D metabolism in rats with early-stage chronic kidney disease. *Kidney Int* (2010) 78(10):975–80. doi:10.1038/ki.2010.313
- Heine GH, Seiler S, Fliser D. FGF-23: the rise of a novel cardiovascular risk marker in CKD. Nephrol Dial Transplant (2012) 27(8):3072–81. doi:10.1093/ ndt/gfs259
- Gunta SS, Thadhani RI, Mak RH. The effect of vitamin D status on risk factors for cardiovascular disease. *Nat Rev Nephrol* (2013) 9(6):337–47. doi:10.1038/ nrneph.2013.74
- Scialla JJ, Wolf M. Roles of phosphate and fibroblast growth factor 23 in cardiovascular disease. Nat Rev Nephrol (2014) 10(5):268–78. doi:10.1038/ nrneph.2014.49
- Larsson T, Nisbeth U, Ljunggren O, Juppner H, Jonsson KB. Circulating concentration of FGF-23 increases as renal function declines in patients with chronic kidney disease, but does not change in response to variation in phosphate intake in healthy volunteers. *Kidney Int* (2003) 64(6):2272–9. doi:10.1046/j.1523-1755.2003.00328.x
- Faul C, Amaral AP, Oskouei B, Hu MC, Sloan A, Isakova T, et al. FGF23 induces left ventricular hypertrophy. J Clin Invest (2011) 121(11):4393–408. doi:10.1172/JCI46122
- Grabner A, Amaral AP, Schramm K, Singh S, Sloan A, Yanucil C, et al. Activation of cardiac fibroblast growth factor receptor 4 causes left ventricular hypertrophy. *Cell Metab* (2015) 22(6):1020–32. doi:10.1016/j.cmet.2015.09.002
- Leifheit-Nestler M, Grosse Siemer R, Flasbart K, Richter B, Kirchhoff F, Ziegler WH, et al. Induction of cardiac FGF23/FGFR4 expression is associated with left ventricular hypertrophy in patients with chronic kidney disease. *Nephrol Dial Transplant* (2016) 31(7):1088–99. doi:10.1093/ndt/gfv421
- Leifheit-Nestler M, Kirchhoff F, Nespor J, Richter B, Soetje B, Klintschar M, et al. Fibroblast growth factor 23 is induced by an activated renin-angiotensinaldosterone system in cardiac myocytes and promotes the pro-fibrotic crosstalk between cardiac myocytes and fibroblasts. *Nephrol Dial Transplant* (2018). doi:10.1093/ndt/gfy006
- Hu MC, Shi M, Cho HJ, Adams-Huet B, Paek J, Hill K, et al. Klotho and phosphate are modulators of pathologic uremic cardiac remodeling. *J Am Soc Nephrol* (2015) 26(6):1290–302. doi:10.1681/ASN.2014050465
- Xie J, Yoon J, An SW, Kuro-o M, Huang CL. Soluble Klotho protects against uremic cardiomyopathy independently of fibroblast growth factor 23 and phosphate. J Am Soc Nephrol (2015) 26(5):1150–60. doi:10.1681/ ASN.2014040325
- Liu X, Chen Y, McCoy CW, Zhao T, Quarles DL, Pi M, et al. Differential regulatory role of soluble Klothos on cardiac fibrogenesis in hypertension. *Am J Hypertens* (2016) 29(10):1140–7. doi:10.1093/ajh/hpw062
- Richter B, Haller J, Haffner D, Leifheit-Nestler M. Klotho modulates FGF23-mediated NO synthesis and oxidative stress in human coronary artery endothelial cells. *Pflugers Arch* (2016) 468(9):1621–35. doi:10.1007/ s00424-016-1858-x
- Yang K, Wang C, Nie L, Zhao X, Gu J, Guan X, et al. Klotho protects against indoxyl sulphate-induced myocardial hypertrophy. J Am Soc Nephrol (2015) 26(10):2434–46. doi:10.1681/ASN.2014060543
- Kestenbaum B, Sampson JN, Rudser KD, Patterson DJ, Seliger SL, Young B, et al. Serum phosphate levels and mortality risk among people with chronic kidney disease. J Am Soc Nephrol (2005) 16(2):520–8. doi:10.1681/ASN. 2004070602

- Liu S, Zhou J, Tang W, Jiang X, Rowe DW, Quarles LD. Pathogenic role of Fgf23 in Hyp mice. Am J Physiol Endocrinol Metab (2006) 291(1):E38–49. doi:10.1152/ajpendo.00008.2006
- Francis F, Hennig S, Korn B, Reinhardt R, de Jong P, Poustka A, et al. A gene (PEX) with homologies to endopeptidases is mutated in patients with X-linked hypophosphatemic rickets. *Nat Genet* (1995) 11(2):130–6. doi:10.1038/ ng1095-130
- Zwadlo C, Schmidtmann E, Szaroszyk M, Kattih B, Froese N, Hinz H, et al. Antiandrogenic therapy with finasteride attenuates cardiac hypertrophy and left ventricular dysfunction. *Circulation* (2015) 131(12):1071–81. doi:10.1161/ CIRCULATIONAHA.114.012066
- 40. Pfaffl MW. A new mathematical model for relative quantification in real-time RT-PCR. *Nucleic Acids Res* (2001) 29(9):e45. doi:10.1093/nar/29.9.e45
- Creemers EE, Pinto YM. Molecular mechanisms that control interstitial fibrosis in the pressure-overloaded heart. *Cardiovasc Res* (2011) 89(2):265–72. doi:10.1093/cvr/cvq308
- 42. Chen Y, Blom IE, Sa S, Goldschmeding R, Abraham DJ, Leask A. CTGF expression in mesangial cells: involvement of SMADs, MAP kinase, and PKC. *Kidney Int* (2002) 62(4):1149–59. doi:10.1111/j.1523-1755.2002. kid567.x
- Phanish MK, Wahab NA, Hendry BM, Dockrell ME. TGF-beta1-induced connective tissue growth factor (CCN2) expression in human renal proximal tubule epithelial cells requires Ras/MEK/ERK and Smad signalling. *Nephron Exp Nephrol* (2005) 100(4):e156–65. doi:10.1159/000085445
- Leibrock CB, Voelkl J, Kohlhofer U, Quintanilla-Martinez L, Kuro OM, Lang F. Bicarbonate-sensitive calcification and lifespan of klotho-deficient mice. *Am J Physiol Renal Physiol* (2016) 310(1):F102–8. doi:10.1152/ajprenal. 00037.2015
- Leibrock CB, Alesutan I, Voelkl J, Michael D, Castor T, Kohlhofer U, et al. Acetazolamide sensitive tissue calcification and aging of klothohypomorphic mice. *J Mol Med (Berl)* (2016) 94(1):95–106. doi:10.1007/ s00109-015-1331-x
- 46. Leifheit-Nestler M, Kucka J, Yoshizawa E, Behets G, D'Haese P, Bergen C, et al. Comparison of calcimimetic R568 and calcitriol in mineral homeostasis in the Hyp mouse, a murine homolog of X-linked hypophosphatemia. *Bone* (2017) 103:103224–32. doi:10.1016/j.bone.2017.06.019
- Lanske B, Razzaque MS. Molecular interactions of FGF23 and PTH in phosphate regulation. *Kidney Int* (2014) 86(6):1072–4. doi:10.1038/ki.2014.316
- Baum M, Loleh S, Saini N, Seikaly M, Dwarakanath V, Quigley R. Correction of proximal tubule phosphate transport defect in Hyp mice in vivo and in vitro with indomethacin. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* (2003) 100(19):11098–103. doi:10.1073/pnas.1834060100
- Sugiura H, Yoshida T, Shiohira S, Kohei J, Mitobe M, Kurosu H, et al. Reduced Klotho expression level in kidney aggravates renal interstitial fibrosis. *Am J Physiol Renal Physiol* (2012) 302(10):F1252–64. doi:10.1152/ ajprenal.00294.2011

- Andrukhova O, Slavic S, Smorodchenko A, Zeitz U, Shalhoub V, Lanske B, et al. FGF23 regulates renal sodium handling and blood pressure. *EMBO Mol Med* (2014) 6(6):744–59. doi:10.1002/emmm.201303716
- Leibrock CB, Feger M, Voelkl J, Kohlhofer U, Quintanilla-Martinez L, Kuro-o M, et al. Partial reversal of tissue calcification and extension of life span following ammonium nitrate treatment of Klotho-deficient mice. *Kidney Blood Press Res* (2016) 41(1):99–107. doi:10.1159/000443411
- Gutierrez OM, Mannstadt M, Isakova T, Rauh-Hain JA, Tamez H, Shah A, et al. Fibroblast growth factor 23 and mortality among patients undergoing hemodialysis. N Engl J Med (2008) 359(6):584–92. doi:10.1056/NEJMoa0706130
- Xie J, Cha SK, An SW, Kuro OM, Birnbaumer L, Huang CL. Cardioprotection by Klotho through downregulation of TRPC6 channels in the mouse heart. *Nat Commun* (2012) 3:1238. doi:10.1038/ncomms2240
- Han X, Ross J, Kolumam G, Pi M, Sonoda J, King G, et al. Cardiovascular effects of renal distal tubule deletion of the FGF receptor 1 gene. J Am Soc Nephrol (2017) 29(1):69–80. doi:10.1681/ASN.2017040412
- Li H, Martin A, David V, Quarles LD. Compound deletion of Fgfr3 and Fgfr4 partially rescues the Hyp mouse phenotype. *Am J Physiol Endocrinol Metab* (2011) 300(3):E508–17. doi:10.1152/ajpendo.00499.2010
- Grabner A, Schramm K, Silswal N, Hendrix M, Yanucil C, Czaya B, et al. FGF23/FGFR4-mediated left ventricular hypertrophy is reversible. *Sci Rep* (2017) 7(1):1993. doi:10.1038/s41598-017-02068-6
- Voelkl J, Alesutan I, Leibrock CB, Quintanilla-Martinez L, Kuhn V, Feger M, et al. Spironolactone ameliorates PIT1-dependent vascular osteoinduction in klotho-hypomorphic mice. *J Clin Invest* (2013) 123(2):812–22. doi:10.1172/ JCI64093
- Leibrock CB, Alesutan I, Voelkl J, Pakladok T, Michael D, Schleicher E, et al. NH4Cl treatment prevents tissue calcification in Klotho deficiency. J Am Soc Nephrol (2015) 26(10):2423–33. doi:10.1681/ASN.2014030230
- Alesutan I, Feger M, Tuffaha R, Castor T, Musculus K, Buehling SS, et al. Augmentation of phosphate-induced osteo-/chondrogenic transformation of vascular smooth muscle cells by homoarginine. *Cardiovasc Res* (2016) 110(3):408–18. doi:10.1093/cvr/cvw062

**Conflict of Interest Statement:** The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2018 Leifheit-Nestler, Richter, Basaran, Nespor, Vogt, Alesutan, Voelkl, Lang, Heineke, Krick and Haffner. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.




# Augmented Fibroblast Growth Factor-23 Secretion in Bone Locally Contributes to Impaired Bone Mineralization in Chronic Kidney Disease in Mice

Olena Andrukhova, Christiane Schüler, Claudia Bergow, Alexandra Petric and Reinhold G. Erben\*

Department of Biomedical Sciences, University of Veterinary Medicine Vienna, Vienna, Austria

#### **OPEN ACCESS**

#### Edited by:

Milka Vrecl, University of Ljubljana, Slovenia

#### Reviewed by:

Kristen Sgambat, Children's National Health System, United States Guillermo Romero, University of Pittsburgh, United States

#### \*Correspondence:

Reinhold G. Erben reinhold.erben@vetmeduni.ac.at

#### Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Molecular and Structural Endocrinology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Endocrinology

Received: 23 January 2018 Accepted: 24 May 2018 Published: 11 June 2018

#### Citation:

Andrukhova O, Schüler C, Bergow C, Petric A and Erben RG (2018) Augmented Fibroblast Growth Factor-23 Secretion in Bone Locally Contributes to Impaired Bone Mineralization in Chronic Kidney Disease in Mice. Front. Endocrinol. 9:311. doi: 10.3389/fendo.2018.00311 Chronic kidney disease-mineral and bone disorder (CKD-MBD) is a systemic disorder of mineral and bone metabolism caused by CKD. Impaired bone mineralization together with increased bony secretion of fibroblast growth factor-23 (FGF23) are hallmarks of CKD-MBD. We recently showed that FGF23 suppresses the expression of tissue nonspecific alkaline phosphatase (TNAP) in bone cells by a Klotho-independent, FGF receptor-3-mediated signaling axis, leading to the accumulation of the mineralization inhibitor pyrophosphate. Therefore, we hypothesized that excessive FGF23 secretion may locally impair bone mineralization in CKD-MBD. To test this hypothesis, we induced CKD by 5/6 nephrectomy in 3-month-old wild-type (WT) mice and  $Fgf23^{-/-}$ /VDR<sup> $\Delta/\Delta$ </sup> (*Fgf23*/VDR) compound mutant mice maintained on a diet enriched with calcium, phosphate, and lactose. Eight weeks postsurgery, WT CKD mice were characterized by reduced bone mineral density at the axial and appendicular skeleton, hyperphosphatemia, secondary hyperparathyroidism, increased serum intact Fqf23, and impaired bone mineralization as evidenced by bone histomorphometry. Laser capture microdissection in bone cryosections showed that both osteoblasts and osteocytes contributed to the CKD-induced increase in Fgf23 mRNA abundance. In line with our hypothesis, osteoblastic and osteocytic activity of alkaline phosphatase was reduced, and bone pyrophosphate concentration was ~2.5-fold higher in CKD mice, relative to Sham controls. In Fgf23/VDR compound mice lacking Fgf23, 5/6-Nx induced secondary hyperparathyroidism and bone loss. However, 5/6-Nx failed to suppress TNAP activity, and bone pyrophosphate concentrations remained unchanged in Fgf23/VDR CKD mice. Collectively, our data suggest that elevated Fgf23 production in bone contributes to the mineralization defect in CKD-MBD by auto-/ paracrine suppression of TNAP and subsequent accumulation of pyrophosphate in bone. Hence, our study has identified a novel mechanism involved in the pathogenesis of CKD-MBD.

Keywords: fibroblast growth factor-23, chronic kidney disease, bone mineralization, osteocytes, pyrophosphate, alkaline phosphatase

# INTRODUCTION

The progressive decline in kidney function associated with chronic kidney disease (CKD) leads to complex changes in mineral and bone metabolism. These changes include alterations in circulating biomarkers, metabolic bone disease, and ectopic, especially vascular calcifications. The term chronic kidney disease-mineral and bone disorder (CKD-MBD) has been coined to better illustrate the association between altered mineral and bone metabolism and cardiovascular morbidity in CKD patients (1). CKD-MBD encompasses metabolic bone disease, vascular calcifications, as well as changes in blood biochemistry such as secondary hyperparathyroidism, hyperphosphatemia, lowered levels of the vitamin D hormone  $1\alpha$ ,25-dihydroxyvitamin D<sub>3</sub> [1,25(OH)<sub>2</sub>D<sub>3</sub>], chronic metabolic acidosis, elevated circulating Wnt (Wingless/ integrated-1) inhibitors, and increased concentrations of intact fibroblast growth factor-23 (FGF23) (1, 2).

Fibroblast growth factor-23 is a bone-derived hormone, suppressing urinary phosphate reabsorption by a downregulation of apical membrane expression of sodium phosphate cotransporters in proximal renal tubular epithelium (3, 4). Moreover, FGF23 is a strong transcriptional suppressor of proximal tubular 1 $\alpha$ -hydroxylase, the key enzyme for 1,25(OH)<sub>2</sub>D<sub>3</sub> production (3). In distal renal tubules, FGF23 augments renal calcium and sodium reabsorption (5, 6). Only the intact form of FGF23 is biologically active (7). High-affinity binding of FGF23 requires the concomitant presence of FGF receptors (FGFRs) and of the co-receptor  $\alpha$ Klotho (Klotho) in target tissues (8, 9).

Increased blood concentrations of intact FGF23 are one of the earliest biomarkers of CKD. The decline in kidney function in CKD patients causes the circulating intact FGF23 levels to rise. In advanced renal failure, FGF23 serum concentrations can reach levels 1,000-fold above the normal range (10, 11). The reason underlying the upregulation of circulating intact FGF23 in CKD patients is still not entirely clear. One component may be reduced renal elimination through impaired glomerular filtration rate (GFR) (12), but lower renal elimination alone is insufficient to explain the pronounced rise in intact FGF23 in CKD patients. Parathyroid hormone (PTH) and extracellular phosphate are known stimulators of FGF23 secretion (13). However, several studies in human CKD patients have shown that the early increase in circulating intact FGF23 occurs independent of hyperphosphatemia and increased PTH (14). It is conceivable that the CKD-induced increase in circulating proinflammatory cytokines may play an important role in causing the rise in FGF23 in patients with early CKD (15, 16).

In bone, the combination of secondary hyperparathyroidism, low  $1,25(OH)_2D_3$ , hyperphosphatemia, and metabolic acidosis leads to a syndrome named renal osteodystrophy. The hallmarks of renal osteodystrophy are altered bone turnover (high or low) and impaired bone mineralization (1). Bone turnover in CKD patients is thought to be mainly driven by secondary hyperparathyroidism (1, 17). The mechanisms underlying the impaired bone mineralization are less clear, and may involve secondary hyperparathyroidism, metabolic acidosis, increased circulating Wnt inhibitors, or uremic toxins (1). We recently showed that FGF23 not only targets the kidney in an endocrine manner but also acts as an auto-/paracrine regulator of bone mineralization by suppressing tissue nonspecific alkaline phosphatase (TNAP) expression in osteoblasts and osteocytes (18). One of the substrates of TNAP in bone is pyrophosphate, which is produced by osteoblasts and osteocytes for the regulation of bone mineralization. Pyrophosphate is a potent inhibitor of mineralization by binding to hydroxyapatite crystals (19). In bones of Hyp mice, which are characterized by profoundly increased endogenous bony production of Fgf23, we found suppressed osteocytic TNAP activity and accumulation of pyrophosphate (20). Both effects could be rescued by bone-specific ablation of Fgf23 (20). This finding led us to hypothesize that the CKD-driven upregulation of bony Fgf23 secretion may also locally contribute to impaired bone mineralization in CKD-MBD by suppressing TNAP, leading to accumulation of pyrophosphate. To test this hypothesis, we induced CKD by 5/6-nephrectomy (5/6-Nx) in wild-type (WT) and Fgf23 deficient mice, and examined mineral and bone metabolism, 8 weeks after 5/6-Nx.

# MATERIALS AND METHODS

#### Animals

All animal studies were approved by the Ethical Committee of the University of Veterinary Medicine, Vienna and by the Austrian Federal Ministry of Science and Research and were undertaken in strict accordance with prevailing guidelines for animal care (permit No. BMWF-68.205/0054-II/3b/2013). All efforts were made to minimize animal suffering. All experiments were performed on 3-month-old male WT and Fgf23<sup>-/-/</sup> VDR<sup>∆/∆</sup> mice on C57BL/6N genetic background. To generate  $Fgf23^{-/-}/VDR^{\Delta/\Delta}$  mice,  $VDR^{+/\Delta}/Fgf23^{+/-}$  double heterozygous mice were mated, and the offspring was genotyped by multiplex PCR using genomic DNA extracted from the tail as described (21, 22). All mice were kept at 24°C with a 12/12 h light/dark cycle, and were allowed free access to tap water and a diet containing 2.0% calcium, 1.25% phosphorus, 20% lactose, and 600 IU vitamin D/kg (Ssniff, Soest, Germany). This diet was shown to normalize mineral homeostasis in vitamin D deficient mice and rats, and in mice lacking a functional VDR (23). Urine was collected in metabolic cages for a 12-h period overnight before necropsy. All mice received subcutaneous calcein double labeling (20 mg/kg, s.c.), 4 and 2 days before necropsy. At necropsy, mice were exsanguinated from the abdominal V. cava under general anesthesia (ketamine/xylazine, 100/6 mg/kg i.p.) for serum collection.

# 5/6-Nephrectomy (5/6-Nx) Model

The 5/6 nephrectomy (5/6 Nx) was performed by a two-stage procedure (24) under isoflurane anesthesia. Pain was managed by s.c. injections of buprenorphine, metamizol, and meloxicam. In addition, the animals received the analgesic piritramid *via* the drinking water for 3 days postsurgery, starting 6 h postsurgery. At the first stage (week 1), the left kidney was exposed *via* a left flank incision, and decapsulated to avoid ureter and adrenal damage. Thereafter, the upper and lower poles were resected. Bleeding was controlled by microfibrillar collagen hemostasis (Gelaspon,

Chauvin Ankerpharm, Berlin). The resected upper and lower poles were weighed to ascertain 2/3-resection. One week later, the entire right kidney was removed *via* a right flank incision. In the Sham control mice, the left kidney was exposed *via* a left flank incision at step 1, and the right renal artery was identified after a right flank incision at step 2. After each flank incision, muscles and skin were appropriately repositioned and sewed.

#### Serum and Urine Biochemistry

Serum phosphorus and creatinine (Crea) as well as urinary creatinine were analyzed on a Cobas c111 analyzer (Roche). GFR was calculated based on the endogenous creatinine clearance (GFR = Urinary Crea/Serum Crea  $\times$  Urine volume per min). Serum intact PTH (Immutopics) and serum intact Fgf23 (Kainos) were determined by ELISA.

# Bone Mineral Density (BMD) Measurements

Bone mineral density of the left tibia and L2 lumbar vertebra was measured by peripheral quantitative computed tomography (pQCT) using an XCT Research M+ pQCT machine (Stratec Medizintechnik). The voxel size was 70 µm. One 0.2-mm-thick slice in the tibial shaft at 2 mm proximal to the tibiofibular junction, and three slices in the proximal tibial metaphysis located 1.5, 2, and 2.5 mm distal to the proximal tibial growth plate were measured. In the L2 vertebra, three slices were measured, one in a mid-transversal plane, and two located 0.5 mm rostral and caudal of the mid-transversal plane. BMD values of the tibial metaphysis and L2 lumbar vertebral body were calculated as the mean over three slices. A threshold of 600 mg/cm<sup>3</sup> were used for calculation of cortical BMD at the tibial shaft, and a threshold of 450 mg/cm<sup>3</sup> was used for the discrimination between trabecular and cortical BMD in both the tibial metaphysis and the L2 vertebra.

#### **Bone Histology and Histomorphometry**

Proximal tibiae were fixed in 4% paraformaldehyde for 24 h, processed for methylmethacrylate embedding, sectioned at 3  $\mu$ m thickness using a HM 355S microtome (Microm, Walldorf, Germany), and stained with von Kossa/McNeal and for tartrate resistant acid phosphatase enzyme activity as described (25). Undeplasticized and unstained sections mounted with Fluoromount (Serva) were used for calcein-based measurements. All histomorphometric measurements were made with the help of a semiautomatic system (OsteoMeasure, OsteoMetrics) as described (26).

### **TNAP Histochemistry**

Histochemical TNAP staining was performed as described previously (20). In brief, deplastified sections were incubated with Vector Red alkaline phosphatase staining kit (Vector Laboratories) and counterstained with DAPI. The sections were analyzed using a Zeiss Axioskop 2 microscope. The fluorescence signal was quantified using Image J. Relative fluorescence of osteoblasts was quantified along the bone surface. For the quantification of relative fluorescence in osteocytes, at least 90 osteocytes per animal were used, and fluorescence was normalized to cell number.

### **Pyrophosphate Measurement**

Femurs were cut in half at the diaphysis, and the bone marrow was flushed out. Minerals and pyrophosphate were extracted using 300  $\mu$ L 1.2 M HCl at 4°C overnight under light protection. Subsequently, HCl was evaporated at 99°C within 1–2 h, and samples were re-suspended in 0.5–1 mL of assay buffer. The amount of pyrophosphate was quantified using the PhosphoWorks Fluorimetric Pyrophosphate Assay (AAT Bioquest #21611) according to the manufacturer's protocol and was normalized to wet weight of the bone.

### Laser Capture Microdissection (LCM)

Distal femurs were snap-frozen in liquid nitrogen with OCT compound (Sakura Finetek, Zoeterwoude, Netherlands). 4-µm-thick cryosections were cut on a cryotome (Leica Kryostat 1720), using the cryotape method as described (27). Cryosections were quickly stained with HistoStain (Arcturus), and cancellous and cortical bone osteoblasts and osteocytes (~100–200 cells per sample each) were harvested using a Veritas (Arcturus) LCM system as described (28).

#### **RNA Isolation and Quantitative RT-PCR**

RNA was extracted from LCM-harvested samples using the PicoPure RNA isolation kit (Thermo Fisher Scientific), and RNA quality was determined using the 2100 Bioanalyzer (Agilent Technologies). After first-strand cDNA synthesis (iScript cDNA Synthesis Kit, Bio-Rad), quantitative RT-PCR was performed on a Rotor-Gene 6000 (Corbett Life Science) using SsoFastTM EvaGreen PCR kit (Bio-Rad). A melting curve analysis was done for all assays. Primer sequences are available on request. Efficiencies were examined by standard curve. Gene expression data were corrected for efficiency and normalized to ornithine decarboxylase antizyme-1 (*Oaz1*) as housekeeping gene.

#### **Statistical Analyses**

The aim of the study was to compare Sham and CKD C57BL/6 mice and Sham and CKD Fgf23/VDR mice. The investigators were not blinded as to the type of intervention. We used 10-12 mice per group. For some parameters, data from two identical experiments were pooled. The power analysis of the study was based on our experience with similarly designed mouse experiments, which have shown that the SD of total proximal tibial BMD is about 35 mg/cm3 in 4- to 5-month-old male C57BL/6 mice. Based on this SD, a group size of 10-12 animals is sufficient to detect a difference of about 45 mg/cm3 total BMD (corresponding to an about 10% change in total BMD) with a power  $\beta = 80\%$  and an error  $\alpha = 5\%$ . Statistics were computed using Prism 7.03 (GraphPad Software Inc.). The data from two groups (Sham and CKD) were analyzed by unpaired *t*-test. Equality of variances was tested by F-test. In case the variances were not equal, the data were analyzed using the non-parametric Mann-Whitney U-test. When more than two groups were compared, the data were analyzed by one-way analysis of variance followed by Holm-Sidak's multiple comparisons test. P values of less than 0.05 were considered significant. The data are presented as the mean  $\pm$  SEM.

### RESULTS

# 5/6-Nephrectomy-Induced CKD Is Associated With Increased Osteoblastic and Osteocytic Fgf23 Secretion

It is known that C57BL/6 mice are relatively resistant against the development of CKD after 5/6 nephrectomy (5/6-Nx), probably due to low renin activity in this strain of mice (24, 29, 30). Therefore, all mice were maintained on a diet enriched with calcium, phosphate, and lactose. This diet was named rescue diet because it normalizes mineral homeostasis in mice with deficient vitamin D signaling (23). It is well known that phosphate-rich diets accelerate disease progression in 5/6-Nx mice (31). In the rescue diet, lactose stimulates intestinal calcium and phosphate uptake by a vitamin D-independent, paracellular mechanism (32). Eight weeks after 5/6-Nx, GFR as measured by endogenous creatinine clearance was reduced by about 60% relative to Sham controls (**Figure 1A**). Serum creatinine was distinctly increased in 5/6-Nx mice (**Figure 1A**). Furthermore, 5/6-Nx mice showed hyperphosphatemia, increased total serum alkaline phosphatase



**FIGURE 1** | 5/6-nephrectomy induces chronic kidney disease (CKD) and increased osteoblastic and osteocytic *Fgf23* mRNA expression in mice on high phosphate diet. **(A)** Glomerular filtration rate (GFR) (n = 12–13 each), serum creatinine (n = 12 each), serum phosphate (n = 12 each), serum alkaline phosphatase (ALP) activity (14 Sham, 20 CKD), serum parathyroid hormone (PTH) (n = 12 each), and serum intact Fgf23 (n = 5 each) in 5-month-old male C57BL/6 Sham and CKD mice on the phosphate-rich rescue diet, 8 weeks postsurgery. \*P < 0.05 vs. Sham by *t*-test or Mann–Whitney *U*-test as appropriate. **(B)** *In situ* mRNA expression profiling of osteoblasts (OB) and osteocytes (OC) harvested by laser capture microdissection in 4-µm-thick distal femoral cryosections from 5-month-old male C57BL/6 Sham (n = 7–8) and CKD (n = 2) mice on rescue diet, 8 weeks postsurgery. \*P < 0.05 vs. Sham, \*P < 0.05 vs. Sham OB by one-way analysis of variance followed by Holm–Sidak's multiple comparisons test. Data in **(A,B)** are mean ± SEM.

(ALP) activity, severe secondary hyperparathyroidism, and elevated serum intact Fgf23 levels, relative to Sham controls (**Figure 1A**). Collectively, these data demonstrate that 5/6-Nx mice on a phosphate-rich diet develop CKD within 8 weeks postsurgery, which corresponds in severity approximately to stage 3 of human CKD (2).

It is still controversial whether osteoblasts or osteocytes are the major Fgf23-producing cells in CKD. To shed more light on this issue, we harvested osteoblasts and osteocytes in bone cryosections of Sham and CKD mice, employing LCM, a recently established technology (28). In Sham mice, Fgf23 mRNA expression in osteocytes was about threefold higher compared with osteoblasts (**Figure 1B**). CKD induced an upregulation of Fgf23 mRNA abundance in both osteoblasts and osteocytes (**Figure 1B**). Although it is clear that Fgf23 protein secretion may not be directly related to changes in *Fgf23* mRNA expression, our findings suggest that both cell types are involved in the CKD-driven increase in bony Fgf23 production.

### CKD Mice Are Characterized by Osteopenia and Impaired Bone Mineralization

In agreement with the well-known fact that the CKD is associated with metabolic bone disease, CKD mice in our study were characterized by small, but significant reductions in total, cortical/ subcortical, and trabecular BMD at the spine and at the proximal tibial metaphysis compared with Sham mice (**Figures 2A,B**).





In addition, total and cortical BMD at the tibial shaft were lower in CKD mice, relative to Sham controls (**Figure 2C**). Cancellous bone histomorphometry showed that the CKD-induced osteopenia was

associated with distinctly increased osteoid volume, osteoid surface, osteoblast surface, and osteoclast numbers (**Figures 3A,C**). Overt signs of impaired bone mineralization were absent in CKD



**FIGURE 3** | Chronic kidney disease (CKD) mice are characterized by impaired bone mineralization. (**A**) Osteoid volume (14 Sham, 24 CKD), osteoid surface (14 Sham, 24 CKD), osteoid thickness (14 Sham, 24 CKD), osteoid sturface (14 Sham, 24 CKD), osteoid thickness (14 Sham, 24 CKD), osteoid sturface (14 Sham, 24 CKD), bone formation rate per bone perimeter (BFR/B.Pm) (13 Sham, 8 CKD), osteoid maturation time (13 Sham, 8 CKD), and mineralization lag time (13 Sham, 8 CKD) measured by histomorphometry in cancellous bone of the proximal tibial metaphysis in 5-month-old male C57BL/6 Sham and CKD mice on rescue diet, 8 weeks postsurgery. \**P* < 0.05 vs. Sham by *t*-test or Mann–Whitney *U*-test as appropriate. (**B**) 24-h urinary excretion of deoxypyridinoline (DPD) (*n* = 16–17 each) in 5-month-old male C57BL/6 Sham and CKD mice on rescue diet, 8 weeks postsurgery. \**P* < 0.05 vs. Sham by *t*-test. Data in (**A**,**B**) are mean ± SEM. (**C**) Representative images of tartrate resistant acid phosphatase (TRACP)-stained proximal tibial sections of Sham and CKD mice, showing increased numbers of TRACP-positive osteoclasts in CKD mice. Bar = 100 µm in (**C**).



images of cortical bone osteocytes in Sham and CKD mice, and (C) pyrophosphate (PPi) concentration in extracts of femurs (n = 3-5 each) from 5-month-old male C57BL/6 Sham and CKD mice on rescue diet, 8 weeks postsurgery. Data in (A–C) are mean  $\pm$  SEM. In (B), \* denotes P < 0.05 vs. Sham by one-way analysis of variance followed by Holm–Sidak's multiple comparisons test. In (C), \* denotes P < 0.05 vs. Sham by t-test. Bar = 20 µm in (B).

mice, as evidenced by unchanged osteoid thickness, osteoid maturation time, and bone formation rate (Figure 3A). However, CKD mice showed a ~10-fold increase in mineralization lag time (Figure 3A), relative to Sham controls. The calculation of mineralization lag time is based on the adjusted apposition rate, which includes OFF periods in which osteoblasts are not actively mineralizing (33, 34). The pronounced CKD-induced increase in mineralization lag time is indicative of impaired bone mineralization, because a much smaller percentage of osteoblasts was actively mineralizing in CKD vs. Sham mice. In contrast to the elevated osteoclast numbers in CKD mice (Figures 3A,C), 24-h urinary excretion of collagen crosslinks was found to be reduced in CKD mice (Figure 3B). Hence, bone resorption at the functional, whole body level appeared to be decreased in CKD relative to Sham mice. Taken together, these results indicate that 5/6-Nx-induced bone loss was associated with impaired bone mineralization. However, despite the profound elevation

in circulating intact PTH in CKD mice (**Figure 1A**), clear functional evidence of increased bone turnover, i.e., increased bone formation rate or collagen crosslink excretion, was absent in CKD mice, 8 weeks postsurgery.

#### Osteoblastic and Osteocytic TNAP Activity Is Suppressed, and Pyrophosphate Concentrations Are Increased in Bones of CKD Mice

To test whether the CKD-induced impairment in bone mineralization in cancellous bone would also have implications for mineralization in osteocyte lacunae, we measured osteocyte lacunar size in tibial cortical bone of Sham and CKD mice in von Kossa-stained bone sections. However, osteocyte lacunar size remained unchanged in CKD animals, relative to Sham controls (**Figure 4A**). We reported earlier that increased local endogenous production of Fgf23 suppresses TNAP activity in osteocytes of *Hyp* mice (20). To examine whether a similar mechanism is also operative in CKD mice, we measured TNAP activity by histochemical analysis in plastic-embedded bone sections. Relative TNAP activity was indeed lower in osteocytes and osteoblasts of CKD mice compared with Sham controls (**Figure 4B**). The decrease in TNAP activity was associated with increased pyrophosphate concentrations in bones of CKD mice (**Figure 4C**). These findings support that notion that locally secreted Fgf23 suppresses TNAP in osteocytes, which leads to secondary accumulation of the mineralization inhibitor pyrophosphate.

### Genetic Ablation of Fgf23 Rescues CKD-Induced TNAP Suppression and Pyrophosphate Accumulation

To test whether genetic ablation of *Fgf23* would rescue the suppression of TNAP activity and pyrophosphate accumulation in

CKD mice, we performed 5/6-Nx in  $Fgf23^{-/-}/VDR^{\Delta/\Delta}$  (Fgf23/ VDR) compound mutants, which are characterized by concomitant Fgf23 deficiency and lack of a functioning vitamin D receptor  $(VDR^{\Delta/\Delta})$ . Single *Fgf23* knockout mice have a severe phenotype (35, 36), making it impossible studying 5/6-Nx-induced bone loss in these mice. However, the phenotype and early lethality of  $Fgf23^{-/-}$  mice can be rescued by ablation of the vitamin D signaling pathway (21). Fgf23/VDR compound mutants kept on rescue diet are healthy and can be studied until old ages (37). The rescue diet enriched with calcium, phosphate, and lactose is an elegant dietary tool to normalize blood calcium and PTH levels in VDR-ablated mice (23, 38). Employing this genetic loss-of-function model, we found that 5/6-Nx induced secondary hyperparathyroidism and bone loss in Fgf23/VDR mice, similar to WT mice (Figures 5A,B). In line with our previously reported finding that Fgf23/VDR mice are characterized by partial renal and skeletal PTH resistance, intact PTH levels were several-fold higher in Sham Fgf23/VDR mice than



**FIGURE 5** | 5/6-Nx induces bone loss in *Fgf23/VDR* compound mutant mice, but does not alter tissue nonspecific alkaline phosphatase (TNAP) activity or pyrophosphate concentration in bone. **(A)** Serum parathyroid hormone (PTH) (n = 13 each), **(B)** total, cortical/subcortical, and trabecular bone mineral density (BMD) of the L2 lumbar vertebra [4 Sham, 17 chronic kidney disease (CKD)], **(C)** osteoid surface (4 Sham, 14 CKD), number of osteoclasts (4 Sham, 14 CKD), bone formation rate (3 Sham, 10 CKD), and mineralization lag time (3 Sham, 10 CKD) in proximal tibial cancellous bone, **(D)** histochemical TNAP staining of undecalcified sections of proximal tibiae and quantification of relative fluorescence in osteoblasts (OB) and osteocytes (OC) (n = 3-5 each), and **(E)** pyrophosphate (PPi) concentration in extracts of femurs (n = 4-6 each) from 5-month-old male Sham and CKD *Fgf23/VDR* compound mutant mice on rescue diet, 8 weeks postsurgery. Data are mean  $\pm$  SEM. Green dotted lines represent mean values found in wild-type (WT) Sham mice. The data in **(D)** were normalized to the WT Sham group. In **(A–C)**, \* denotes P < 0.05 vs. Sham by *t*-test or Mann–Whitney *U*-test, as appropriate.

in Sham WT mice (**Figure 5A**). Nevertheless, 5/6-Nx still led to a ~3-fold upregulation of serum intact PTH in Fgf23/VDR mice (**Figure 5A**). Similar to WT mice, the CKD-induced bone loss in Fgf23/VDR mice was associated with increased osteoid surface (**Figure 5C**). However, in contrast to WT mice, osteoclast numbers and mineralization lag time in CKD Fgf23/VDR mice were not significantly different from Sham Fgf23/VDR mice, and showed, together with bone formation rate, only non-significant trends toward higher levels in CKD vs. Sham mice (**Figure 5C**). In agreement with the notion that the CKD-induced upregulation in osteoblastic and osteocytic Fgf23 secretion contributes to the mineralization defect in CKD mice, 5/6-Nx failed to significantly suppress TNAP activity in Fgf23/VDR mice (**Figure 5D**), and pyrophosphate concentrations remained unchanged in bones of CKD Fgf23/VDR mice (**Figure 5E**).

### DISCUSSION

The current study has shown that 5/6-Nx C57BL/6 mice on the phosphate-rich rescue diet develop bone loss and impaired bone mineralization within 8 weeks postsurgery. Furthermore, we found that the CKD-driven increase in osteoblastic and osteocytic Fgf23 secretion contributes to the mineralization defect in murine CKD-MDB by auto-/paracrine suppression of TNAP and subsequent accumulation of pyrophosphate in bone. Hence, our study has uncovered a novel mechanism involved in the pathogenesis of CKD-MBD, i.e., Fgf23-driven accumulation of the mineralization inhibitor pyrophosphate. This new paradigm is shown in **Figure 6**.

We previously showed that the Fgf23-induced auto-/paracrine suppression of TNAP in osteoblasts and osteocytes is caused by a Klotho-independent, mainly FGFR3-mediated signaling mechanism (18). The presence of transmembrane Klotho increases the affinity of FGFR1c to FGF23 by a factor of about 20 (39).

Therefore, one of the key questions in this context is whether the concentrations of Fgf23 in the extracellular fluid surrounding osteoblasts/osteocytes is high enough for Klotho-independent FGFR signaling. The true concentration of Fgf23 within the osteocyte canalicular network is currently unknown. However, due to the fact that Fgf23 is secreted locally from bone cells, it is likely that the concentration is much higher within the canalicular network compared with the blood. In addition, differentiation of osteoblasts into osteocytes is associated with a profound upregulation of FGFR1 and 3 mRNA expression in vivo (20). Therefore, it is well conceivable that the Fgf23 concentration within the canalicular network is indeed sufficient to suppress TNAP transcription via a Klotho-independent, auto-/paracrine feedback mechanism. The situation is more complicated in osteoblasts. Osteoblasts are polar cells, and it is currently unknown whether FGF23 is secreted in a polar manner. In addition, it is unknown whether the membrane distribution of FGFRs is uniform or whether it is also organized in a polar fashion in osteoblasts. Therefore, it is difficult to estimate the concentrations of locally produced Fgf23 in the extracellular fluid surrounding osteoblasts, and to judge the possibilities for local feedback mechanisms. Nevertheless, our finding that the CKD-induced suppression of osteoblastic and osteocytic TNAP activity and accumulation of pyrophosphate in bone did not occur in *Fgf23*/VDR mutant mice lacking Fgf23 lends additional support to the notion that the CKD-driven increase in Fgf23 secretion suppresses TNAP transcription in an auto-/paracrine manner.

Despite the increase in pyrophosphate concentrations in bone, 5/6-Nx did not increase the size of osteocyte lacunae in cortical bone in the current study. This finding is not unexpected for two reasons. First, we did not observe major increases in osteoid thickness in cancellous bone, making it unlikely to see major changes in the amount of osteoid in osteocyte lacunae, and, therefore, in lacunar size. Second, murine cortical bone



FIGURE 6 | Proposed model of fibroblast growth factor-23 (FGF23)-induced suppression of tissue nonspecific alkaline phosphatase (TNAP) and accumulation of pyrophosphate in chronic kidney disease (CKD). Driven by increased circulating concentrations of pro-inflammatory cytokines, phosphate, parathyroid hormone (PTH), and other unknown factors, osteoblastic and osteocytic FGF23 secretion is increased in CKD. Excessive concentrations of FGF23 in the extracellular fluid surrounding osteocytes lead to FGF receptor (FGFR)-mediated, Klotho-independent suppression of *TNAP* transcription in a para-/autocrine manner. One of the main functions of TNAP in the mineralization process is the hydrolysis of the mineralization inhibitor pyrophosphate (PPi), thus providing inorganic phosphate (Pi) for mineralization. Hence, excessive FGF23 concentrations in the osteocyte canalicular network lead to accumulation of PPi and inhibition of bone mineralization in CKD.

does not show Haversian remodeling (33). Since 5/6-Nx was performed in adult mice, analysis of osteocyte lacunar size necessarily included mostly osteocytes formed prior to the onset of renal disease.

Total serum ALP activity was increased in CKD mice in our study. Similarly, bone-specific ALP is typically increased in patients with high turnover CKD-MBD (40). ALP activity in serum originates in about equal parts from bone and liver, with TNAP being the major isoenzyme found in blood (41). How can increased circulating ALP activity be reconciled with our finding that excessive Fgf23 secretion locally suppresses TNAP in bone cells? We do not have a conclusive answer to this question. However, the most likely explanation is that the number of osteoblasts and of osteoblast precursor cells is increased due to secondary hyperparathyroidism in CKD. Therefore, serum ALP activity may be mainly reflecting the number of osteoblasts and of osteoblast precursors rather than the ALP activity of individual bone cells. In line with this idea, we found a ~3-fold increase in osteoblast surface in WT CKD mice, relative to Sham controls.

Despite an approximately twofold increase in osteoclast numbers in proximal tibial cancellous bone, 24-h excretion of collagen crosslinks was reduced in CKD mice in our study. The plasma clearance of collagen crosslinks depends on kidney function (42). Therefore, serum collagen crosslink concentrations are not considered suitable markers of bone resorption in CKD patients (40). Under normal circumstances, urinary collagen crosslink excretion is the best estimate of whole body bone resorption activity in mice, because osteoclast numbers are often not indicative of osteoclast resorptive activity (33). Similarly, osteoblast surface and calcein-based bone formation rate were dissociated in the current study, underscoring the potential discrepancies between cell morphology and functional readouts in disease models. Whether, despite potential accumulation in serum, urinary collagen crosslink excretion accurately reflects bone resorption in CKD mice is not known. However, in a steady state, urinary excretion of collagen crosslinks should equal collagen breakdown in bone also in animals with compromized kidney function. Nevertheless, it remains unclear whether bone resorption in our CKD mouse model was increased as suggested by histomorphometry or decreased as suggested by urinary collagen crosslink excretion.

It is well known that circulating intact PTH is one of the main drivers of bone turnover in CKD patients. Hence, serum intact PTH is a useful biomarker to discriminate between low and high bone turnover in CKD patients (17), albeit its sensitivity to dissect high and low bone turnover disease is only about 65% (17, 40). What is actually causing the often observed impairment in bone mineralization in bone biopsies of CKD patients is not well known (1). One possibility is that secondary hyperparathyroidism *per se* leads to disturbed mineralization due to excessive stimulation of matrix synthesis and woven bone formation (1). Moreover,

#### REFERENCES

 Seifert ME, Hruska KA. The kidney-vascular-bone axis in the chronic kidney disease-mineral bone disorder. *Transplantation* (2016) 100:497–505. doi:10.1097/TP.000000000000903 kidney-derived circulating Wnt inhibitors such as dickkopf-1 or sclerostin may inhibit bone formation and mineralization (43). In addition, FGF23 has been shown to directly suppress Wnt signaling in osteoblasts, and circulating uremic toxins and metabolic acidosis may interfere with normal osteoblast function and maturation (44-46). Our study has added an additional mechanism, namely the Fgf23-induced suppression of TNAP in osteoblasts and osteocytes. TNAP is essential for the initiation of bone mineralization by cleavage of pyrophosphate (19, 47). It is currently technically challenging to assess differences in local pyrophosphate concentration within the bone matrix. However, we hypothesize that increased pyrophosphate concentrations are at least a partial explanation for the profound increase in non-mineralizing osteoid seams in CKD mice in our study. This model may also help to explain the hungry bone syndrome in CKD patients after parathyroidectomy or kidney transplantation, because the decline in bony FGF23 secretion postsurgery will lift the FGF23-induced suppression of TNAP, leading to increased mineralization of previously unmineralized osteoid, and, hence, increased flux of calcium and phosphate into bone.

In conclusion, here we report a novel mechanism leading to impaired bone mineralization in CKD-MBD. We found that excessive CKD-driven Fgf23 secretion in osteoblasts and osteocytes is leading to auto-/paracrine suppression of TNAP and subsequent accumulation of the mineralization inhibitor pyrophosphate.

#### ETHICS STATEMENT

All animal studies were approved by the Ethical Committee of the University of Veterinary Medicine, Vienna and by the Austrian Federal Ministry of Science and Research and were undertaken in strict accordance with prevailing guidelines for animal care (permit No. BMWF-68.205/0054-II/3b/2013). All efforts were made to minimize animal suffering.

#### **AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS**

OA and RE conceived and designed the experiments, analyzed the data, and wrote the manuscript; OA, CS, CB, and AP performed experiments.

#### ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

We thank U. Zeitz and S. K. Murali for help with the animal experiments, S. Sasgary for help with the genotyping, and G. Hofer for help with the pQCT measurements. OA passed away before the submission of the final version of this manuscript. RE accepts responsibility for the integrity and validity of the data collected and analyzed. This work was supported by a grant from the Austrian Science Fund (FWF P24186-B21) to RE.

- Miller PD. Chronic kidney disease and the skeleton. Bone Res (2014) 2:14044. doi:10.1038/boneres.2014.44
- Shimada T, Hasegawa H, Yamazaki Y, Muto T, Hino R, Takeuchi Y, et al. FGF-23 is a potent regulator of vitamin D metabolism and phosphate homeostasis. J Bone Miner Res (2004) 19:429–35. doi:10.1359/JBMR.0301264

- Andrukhova O, Zeitz U, Goetz R, Mohammadi M, Lanske B, Erben RG. FGF23 acts directly on renal proximal tubules to induce phosphaturia through activation of the ERK1/2-SGK1 signaling pathway. *Bone* (2012) 51:621–8. doi:10.1016/j.bone.2012.05.015
- Andrukhova O, Slavic S, Smorodchenko A, Zeitz U, Shalhoub V, Lanske B, et al. FGF23 regulates renal sodium handling and blood pressure. *EMBO Mol Med* (2014) 6:744–59. doi:10.1002/emmm.201303716
- Andrukhova O, Smorodchenko A, Egerbacher M, Streicher C, Zeitz U, Goetz R, et al. FGF23 promotes renal calcium reabsorption through the TRPV5 channel. *EMBO J* (2014) 33:229–46. doi:10.1002/embj.201284188
- Erben RG. Update on FGF23 and Klotho signaling. Mol Cell Endocrinol (2016) 432:56–65. doi:10.1016/j.mce.2016.05.008
- Urakawa I, Yamazaki Y, Shimada T, Iijima K, Hasegawa H, Okawa K, et al. Klotho converts canonical FGF receptor into a specific receptor for FGF23. *Nature* (2006) 444:770–4. doi:10.1038/nature05315
- Chen G, Liu Y, Goetz R, Fu L, Jayaraman S, Hu MC, et al. alpha-Klotho is a non-enzymatic molecular scaffold for FGF23 hormone signalling. *Nature* (2018) 553:461–6. doi:10.1038/nature25451
- Gutierrez OM. Fibroblast growth factor 23 and disordered vitamin D metabolism in chronic kidney disease: updating the "trade-off" hypothesis. *Clin J Am Soc Nephrol* (2010) 5:1710–6. doi:10.2215/CJN.02640310
- Weber TJ, Liu S, Indridason OS, Quarles LD. Serum FGF23 levels in normal and disordered phosphorus homeostasis. *J Bone Miner Res* (2003) 18:1227–34. doi:10.1359/jbmr.2003.18.7.1227
- Mace ML, Gravesen E, Hofman-Bang J, Olgaard K, Lewin E. Key role of the kidney in the regulation of fibroblast growth factor 23. *Kidney Int* (2015) 88:1304–13. doi:10.1038/ki.2015.231
- Martin A, David V, Quarles LD. Regulation and function of the FGF23/Klotho endocrine pathways. *Physiol Rev* (2012) 92:131–55. doi:10.1152/physrev. 00002.2011
- Isakova T, Wahl P, Vargas GS, Gutierrez OM, Scialla J, Xie H, et al. Fibroblast growth factor 23 is elevated before parathyroid hormone and phosphate in chronic kidney disease. *Kidney Int* (2011) 79:1370–8. doi:10.1038/ ki.2011.47
- David V, Martin A, Isakova T, Spaulding C, Qi L, Ramirez V, et al. Inflammation and functional iron deficiency regulate fibroblast growth factor 23 production. *Kidney Int* (2016) 89(1):135–46. doi:10.1038/ki.2015.290
- Kovesdy CP, Quarles LD. FGF23 from bench to bedside. Am J Physiol Renal Physiol (2016) 310:F1168–74. doi:10.1152/ajprenal.00606.2015
- Sprague SM, Bellorin-Font E, Jorgetti V, Carvalho AB, Malluche HH, Ferreira A, et al. Diagnostic accuracy of bone turnover markers and bone histology in patients with CKD treated by dialysis. *Am J Kidney Dis* (2016) 67:559–66. doi:10.1053/j.ajkd.2015.06.023
- Murali SK, Roschger P, Zeitz U, Klaushofer K, Andrukhova O, Erben RG. FGF23 regulates bone mineralization in a 1,25(OH) D and Klotho-independent manner. J Bone Miner Res (2016) 31:129–42. doi:10.1002/jbmr.2606
- Addison WN, Azari F, Sorensen ES, Kaartinen MT, McKee MD. Pyrophosphate inhibits mineralization of osteoblast cultures by binding to mineral, upregulating osteopontin, and inhibiting alkaline phosphatase activity. *J Biol Chem* (2007) 282:15872–83. doi:10.1074/jbc.M701116200
- Murali SK, Andrukhova O, Clinkenbeard EL, White KE, Erben RG. Excessive osteocytic Fgf23 secretion contributes to pyrophosphate accumulation and mineralization defect in hyp mice. *PLoS Biol* (2016) 14:e1002427. doi:10.1371/ journal.pbio.1002427
- Hesse M, Frohlich LF, Zeitz U, Lanske B, Erben RG. Ablation of vitamin D signaling rescues bone, mineral, and glucose homeostasis in Fgf-23 deficient mice. *Matrix Biol* (2007) 26:75–84. doi:10.1016/j.matbio.2006.10.003
- Anour R, Andrukhova O, Ritter E, Zeitz U, Erben RG. Klotho lacks a vitamin D independent physiological role in glucose homeostasis, bone turnover, and steady-state PTH secretion *in vivo*. *PLoS One* (2012) 7:e31376. doi:10.1371/ journal.pone.0031376
- Erben RG, Soegiarto DW, Weber K, Zeitz U, Lieberherr M, Gniadecki R, et al. Deletion of deoxyribonucleic acid binding domain of the vitamin D receptor abrogates genomic and nongenomic functions of vitamin D. *Mol Endocrinol* (2002) 16:1524–37. doi:10.1210/mend.16.7.0866
- Leelahavanichkul A, Yan Q, Hu X, Eisner C, Huang Y, Chen R, et al. Angiotensin II overcomes strain-dependent resistance of rapid CKD progression in a new remnant kidney mouse model. *Kidney Int* (2010) 78:1136–53. doi:10.1038/ ki.2010.287

- Erben RG. Embedding of bone samples in methylmethacrylate: an improved method suitable for bone histomorphometry, histochemistry, and immunohistochemistry. J Histochem Cytochem (1997) 45:307–13. doi:10.1177/ 002215549704500215
- Schneider MR, Mayer-Roenne B, Dahlhoff M, Proell V, Weber K, Wolf E, et al. High cortical bone mass phenotype in betacellulin transgenic mice is EGFRdependent. J Bone Miner Res (2009) 24:455–67. doi:10.1359/jbmr.081202
- Hong SH, Jiang X, Chen L, Josh P, Shin DG, Rowe D. Computer-automated static, dynamic and cellular bone histomorphometry. *J Tissue Sci Eng* (2012) Suppl 1:004. doi:10.4172/2157-7552.S1-004
- Streicher C, Heyny A, Andrukhova O, Haigl B, Slavic S, Schuler C, et al. Estrogen regulates bone turnover by targeting RANKL expression in bone lining cells. *Sci Rep* (2017) 7:6460. doi:10.1038/s41598-017-06614-0
- Ma LJ, Fogo AB. Model of robust induction of glomerulosclerosis in mice: importance of genetic background. *Kidney Int* (2003) 64:350–5. doi:10.1046/j. 1523-1755.2003.00058.x
- Nogueira A, Pires MJ, Oliveira PA. Pathophysiological mechanisms of renal fibrosis: a review of animal models and therapeutic strategies. *In Vivo* (2017) 31:1–22. doi:10.21873/invivo.11019
- 31. Lau WL, Linnes M, Chu EY, Foster BL, Bartley BA, Somerman MJ, et al. High phosphate feeding promotes mineral and bone abnormalities in mice with chronic kidney disease. *Nephrol Dial Transplant* (2013) 28:62–9. doi:10.1093/ndt/gfs333
- Kollenkirchen U, Fox J, Walters MR. Normocalcemia without hyperparathyroidism in vitamin D-deficient rats. J Bone Miner Res (1991) 6:273–8. doi:10.1002/jbmr.5650060309
- Erben RG, Glosmann M. Histomorphometry in rodents. *Methods Mol Biol* (2012) 816:279–303. doi:10.1007/978-1-61779-415-5\_19
- Dempster DW, Compston JE, Drezner MK, Glorieux FH, Kanis JA, Malluche H, et al. Standardized nomenclature, symbols, and units for bone histomorphometry: a 2012 update of the report of the ASBMR Histomorphometry Nomenclature Committee. *J Bone Miner Res* (2013) 28:2–17. doi:10.1002/ jbmr.1805
- 35. Shimada T, Kakitani M, Yamazaki Y, Hasegawa H, Takeuchi Y, Fujita T, et al. Targeted ablation of Fgf23 demonstrates an essential physiological role of FGF23 in phosphate and vitamin D metabolism. *J Clin Invest* (2004) 113:561–8. doi:10.1172/JCI200419081
- 36. Sitara D, Razzaque MS, Hesse M, Yoganathan S, Taguchi T, Erben RG, et al. Homozygous ablation of fibroblast growth factor-23 results in hyperphosphatemia and impaired skeletogenesis, and reverses hypophosphatemia in Phex-deficient mice. *Matrix Biol* (2004) 23:421–32. doi:10.1016/j. matbio.2004.09.007
- 37. Streicher C, Zeitz U, Andrukhova O, Rupprecht A, Pohl E, Larsson TE, et al. Long-term Fgf23 deficiency does not influence aging, glucose homeostasis, or fat metabolism in mice with a nonfunctioning vitamin D receptor. *Endocrinology* (2012) 153:1795–805. doi:10.1210/en.2011-1878
- Weber K, Zeitz U, Bergow C, Hirmer S, Schuler C, Erben RG. Vitamin D independent therapeutic effects of extracellular calcium in a mouse model of adult-onset secondary hyperparathyroidism. *J Bone Miner Res* (2009) 24(1):22–32. doi:10.1359/jbmr.0080904
- Goetz R, Ohnishi M, Kir S, Kurosu H, Wang L, Pastor J, et al. Conversion of a paracrine fibroblast growth factor into an endocrine fibroblast growth factor. *J Biol Chem* (2012) 287:29134–46. doi:10.1074/jbc.M112.342980
- Vervloet MG, Brandenburg VM; CKD-MBD Working Group of ERA-EDTA. Circulating markers of bone turnover. J Nephrol (2017) 30:663–70. doi:10.1007/s40620-017-0408-8
- Magnusson P, Sharp CA, Magnusson M, Risteli J, Davie MW, Larsson L. Effect of chronic renal failure on bone turnover and bone alkaline phosphatase isoforms. *Kidney Int* (2001) 60:257–65. doi:10.1046/j.1523-1755. 2001.00794.x
- Wheater G, Elshahaly M, Tuck SP, Datta HK, van Laar JM. The clinical utility of bone marker measurements in osteoporosis. *J Transl Med* (2013) 11:201. doi:10.1186/1479-5876-11-201
- Fang Y, Ginsberg C, Seifert M, Agapova O, Sugatani T, Register TC, et al. CKD-induced wingless/integration1 inhibitors and phosphorus cause the CKD-mineral and bone disorder. *J Am Soc Nephrol* (2014) 25:1760–73. doi:10.1681/ASN.2013080818
- 44. Disthabanchong S, Radinahamed P, Stitchantrakul W, Hongeng S, Rajatanavin R. Chronic metabolic acidosis alters osteoblast differentiation from human

mesenchymal stem cells. *Kidney Int* (2007) 71:201-9. doi:10.1038/sj.ki. 5002035

- Xiao ZS, Quarles LD, Chen QQ, Yu YH, Qu XP, Jiang CH, et al. Effect of asymmetric dimethylarginine on osteoblastic differentiation. *Kidney Int* (2001) 60:1699–704. doi:10.1046/j.1523-1755.2001.00011.x
- 46. Carrillo-Lopez N, Panizo S, Alonso-Montes C, Roman-Garcia P, Rodriguez I, Martinez-Salgado C, et al. Direct inhibition of osteoblastic Wnt pathway by fibroblast growth factor 23 contributes to bone loss in chronic kidney disease. *Kidney Int* (2016) 90:77–89. doi:10.1016/j.kint.2016.01.024
- Millan JL, Whyte MP. Alkaline phosphatase and hypophosphatasia. Calcif Tissue Int (2016) 98:398–416. doi:10.1007/s00223-015-0079-1

**Conflict of Interest Statement:** The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2018 Andrukhova, Schüler, Bergow, Petric and Erben. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





# Physiological Actions of Fibroblast Growth Factor-23

#### Reinhold G. Erben\*

Department of Biomedical Sciences, University of Veterinary Medicine Vienna, Vienna, Austria

Fibroblast growth factor-23 (FGF23) is a bone-derived hormone suppressing phosphate reabsorption and vitamin D hormone synthesis in the kidney. At physiological concentrations of the hormone, the endocrine actions of FGF23 in the kidney are  $\alpha$ Klothodependent, because high-affinity binding of FGF23 to FGF receptors requires the presence of the co-receptor a Klotho on target cells. It is well established that excessive concentrations of intact FGF23 in the blood lead to phosphate wasting in patients with normal kidney function. Based on the importance of diseases associated with gain of FGF23 function such as phosphate-wasting diseases and chronic kidney disease, a large body of literature has focused on the pathophysiological consequences of FGF23 excess. Less emphasis has been put on the role of FGF23 in normal physiology. Nevertheless, during recent years, lessons we have learned from loss-of-function models have shown that besides the paramount physiological roles of FGF23 in the control of  $1\alpha$ -hydroxylase expression and of apical membrane expression of sodium-phosphate co-transporters in proximal renal tubules, FGF23 also is an important stimulator of calcium and sodium reabsorption in distal renal tubules. In addition, there is an emerging role of FGF23 as an auto-/paracrine regulator of alkaline phosphatase expression and mineralization in bone. In contrast to the renal actions of FGF23, the FGF23-mediated suppression of alkaline phosphatase in bone is αKlotho-independent. Moreover, FGF23 may be a physiological suppressor of differentiation of hematopoietic stem cells into the erythroid lineage in the bone microenvironment. At present, there is little evidence for a physiological role of FGF23 in organs other than kidney and bone. The purpose of this mini-review is to highlight the current knowledge about the complex physiological functions of FGF23.

Keywords: fibroblast growth factor-23, Klotho, vitamin D,  $1\alpha$ -hydroxylase, bone mineralization, phosphate metabolism, alkaline phosphatase

#### INTRODUCTION

In the year 2000, gain-of-function mutations in fibroblast growth factor-23 (FGF23) were identified as the genetic cause of autosomal dominant hypophosphatemic rickets (ADHR), an inherited renal phosphate-wasting disease (1). In the following years, FGF23 turned out to be the long-sought "phosphatonin" that had already been postulated in the 1980s, when parabiosis experiments in hypophosphatemic *Hyp* mice had shown that the renal phosphate wasting and the hypophosphatemia in these mice were caused by a factor circulating in the blood (2).

Fibroblast growth factor-23 is a 32 kDa glycoprotein mainly produced in bone by osteoblasts and osteocytes under physiological circumstances. FGF23 is inactivated by cleavage at the <sup>176</sup>RXXR<sup>179</sup> site, a site that is mutated in ADHR patients. Together with FGF19 and FGF21, FGF23 belongs to

#### **OPEN ACCESS**

#### Edited by:

Andreas Hoeflich, Leibniz-Institut für Nutztierbiologie (FBN), Germany

#### Reviewed by:

Nan E. Hatch, University of Michigan, United States Andrew C. B. Cato, Karlsruher Institut für Technologie, Germany

\*Correspondence: Reinhold G. Erben reinhold.erben@vetmeduni.ac.at

#### Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Molecular and Structural Endocrinology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Endocrinology

Received: 08 March 2018 Accepted: 08 May 2018 Published: 28 May 2018

#### Citation:

Erben RG (2018) Physiological Actions of Fibroblast Growth Factor-23. Front. Endocrinol. 9:267. doi: 10.3389/fendo.2018.00267

48

the group of endocrine FGFs (3). All endocrine FGFs require the co-receptors  $\alpha$ - and  $\beta$ -Klotho for high-affinity binding to the ubiquitously expressed FGF receptors (FGFR1-4) in target cells (4–7). The co-receptor needed for binding of FGF23 to FGF receptors is transmembrane or soluble  $\alpha$ Klotho (4, 8). Among the four different FGFRs, FGF receptor-1c (FGFR1c) is probably the most important FGFR for FGF23 signaling, at least under physiological conditions (4, 9).  $\alpha$ Klotho enhances the binding affinity of FGFR1c to FGF23 by a factor of approximately 20 (6). The "c" in FGFR1 stands for a splice variant which occurs in FGFR1, 2, and 3.

The principal action of FGF23 on mineral metabolism that led to its discovery as a hormone is the suppressive effect on phosphate reabsorption from the urine (10, 11). In addition, FGF23 suppresses the synthesis of the vitamin D hormone, 1a, 25-dihydroxyvitamin D<sub>3</sub> [1,25(OH)<sub>2</sub>D<sub>3</sub>], in the kidney (10, 11). It is now well known that diseases characterized by excessive blood concentrations of intact FGF23 lead to renal phosphate wasting and inappropriately low-circulating 1,25(OH)<sub>2</sub>D<sub>3</sub> levels in patients with a normal kidney function (12). Examples of human disorders associated with elevated intact FGF23 are ADHR with a defective cleavage site of FGF23, X-linked hypophosphatemic rickets (XLH), and autosomal recessive hypophosphatemic rickets 1 (ARHR1) caused by overproduction of FGF23 in bone, and tumor-induced osteomalacia caused by FGF23-producing tumors (12). The molecular mechanism underlying the increased bony FGF23 secretion in XLH and ARHR1 patients is still unclear. In terms of factors that may drive FGF23 secretion, the common denominator in both diseases is impaired bone mineralization. XLH is caused by loss-of-function mutations in PHEX (13). It has been shown in *Hyp* mice, the murine model of XLH, that lack of the endopeptidase PHEX leads to accumulation of osteopontin and ASARM (acidic serine- and aspartate-rich MEPE-associated motif) peptides in the matrix, which both inhibit mineralization (14-17). ARHR1 is caused by loss-of-function mutations in dentin matrix protein-1, which is required for normal mineralization of bone (18). It is currently believed that the excessive osteocytic and osteoblastic FGF23 secretion in both diseases is either driven by the impaired mineralization of the extracellular matrix, which may be detected by matrix-embedded bone cells through a putative sensing mechanism that may involve FGF receptors (19, 20), or by an altered set point for phosphate sensing in bone cells (21, 22). Circulating intact FGF23 is also elevated in patients with chronic kidney disease (CKD), and can reach blood levels as high as 1,000-fold above the normal range (23, 24). Although elevated intact FGF23 may help to maintain normophosphatemia in early stages of CKD, serum phosphate levels typically increase at later stages of the disease despite very high-serum intact FGF23. Therefore, in the setting of impaired kidney function, the phosphaturic action of FGF23 is not able to correct the hyperphosphatemia in more advanced CKD.

Collectively, there is very good evidence that gain of FGF23 function results in renal phosphate wasting in patients with normal kidney function. However, what is the role of FGF23 in normal physiology? The purpose of this mini-review is to answer this question, and to highlight the current knowledge about the complex physiological functions of FGF23 in mice and men.

# PHYSIOLOGICAL FUNCTIONS OF FGF23 IN THE KIDNEY

Knockout experiments in mice have revealed that the paramount physiological function of FGF23 is not its phosphaturic function, but its suppressive role in the control of renal  $1\alpha$ -hydroxylase (CYP27B1) transcription, the key enzyme for 1,25(OH)<sub>2</sub>D<sub>3</sub> synthesis. Notably, in the absence of the ligand FGF23 or of its co-receptor αKlotho, the stringent endocrine control of 1α-hydroxylase transcription fails, leading to inappropriately high expression and activity of this enzyme. The sequel of  $1\alpha$ -hydroxylase overexpression are elevated 1,25(OH)<sub>2</sub>D<sub>3</sub> levels, causing hypercalcemia, hyperphosphatemia, ectopic calcifications, impaired bone mineralization, and early lethality in  $\alpha$ *Klotho* and *Fgf23* deficient mice (25–27). The major function of  $1,25(OH)_2D_3$  in mineral metabolism is the stimulation of intestinal calcium and phosphorus absorption. The crucial role of 1,25(OH)<sub>2</sub>D<sub>3</sub> overproduction in mediating the phenotype of  $\alpha Klotho^{-/-}$  and *Fgf23<sup>-/-</sup>* mice is underscored by the well documented finding that ablation of vitamin D signaling almost completely rescues the phenotype of *Fgf23<sup>-/-</sup>* and  $\alpha$ *Klotho<sup>-/-</sup>* mice (28–30). In analogy to the phenotype of  $\alpha$ *Klotho* and *Fgf23* deficient mice, humans with loss-of-function mutations in FGF23 or aKlotho are characterized by elevated circulating vitamin D hormone levels and soft tissue calcifications (31-34), corroborating the mouse data.

Despite the pivotal physiological importance of the FGF23mediated suppression of  $1\alpha$ -hydroxylase transcription, the knowledge of the intracellular signaling pathway involved in this regulation is still fragmentary. Expression of 1α-hydroxylase is mainly localized in proximal renal tubules. Proximal and distal renal tubules express the co-receptor αKlotho as well as FGFR1, 3, and 4, but only little FGFR2 (35, 36). All FGFRs are receptor tyrosine kinases, initiating intracellular phosphorylation cascades after ligand-induced dimerization (37). Mice with a specific deletion of Fgfr1 in proximal renal tubules are resistant to the FGF23-induced suppression of  $1,25(OH)_2D_3$  production (9). Therefore, FGFR1c is probably the predominant FGFR mediating the suppressive effects of FGF23 on renal tubular 1,25(OH)<sub>2</sub>D<sub>3</sub> synthesis (Figure 1). However, to a lesser extent, FGFR3 and 4 may also be involved, because genetic ablation of Fgfr3 and Fgfr4 increases renal 1 $\alpha$ -hydroxylase expression in *Hyp* mice, which are characterized by increased endogenous FGF23 production (38). There is good evidence that the FGF23-mediated suppression of 1*a*-hydroxylase transcription involves extracellular signal-regulated kinase-1 and -2 (ERK1/2) activation (39, 40), but the exact signaling pathway downstream of ERK1/2 is unknown (Figure 1). Interestingly, the FGF23-mediated control of the transcriptional activity of the  $1\alpha$ -hydroxylase gene occurs through regulatory elements located in introns of the neighboring Mettl21b gene (41). However, the transcription factor(s) involved in this regulation are currently unknown. It is only clear in this context that FGF23 regulates 1\alpha-hydroxylase in a 1,25(OH)<sub>2</sub>D<sub>3</sub> and vitamin D receptor (VDR) independent manner (42).

It is well established that parathyroid hormone (PTH) and FGF23 regulate  $1\alpha$ - and 24-hydroxylase (CYP24A1) expression reciprocally. FGF23 suppresses  $1\alpha$ -hydroxylase, but induces 24-hydroxylase expression. PTH has the opposite effects.



**FIGURE 1** | Physiological functions of fibroblast growth factor-23 (FGF23). FGF23 is mainly produced in bone cells, osteoblasts, and osteocytes. One of the main target organs of the hormone FGF23 is the kidney. In the kidney, FGF23 acts on proximal and distal convoluted renal tubules. Binding of blood-borne FGF23 to FGF receptor-1c (FGFR1c) requires the presence of the co-receptor  $\alpha$ Klotho. In renal proximal tubules (PT), FGF23 inhibits phosphate (Pi) re-uptake and expression of  $1\alpha$ -hydroxylase (CYP27B1), the rate-limiting enzyme for vitamin D hormone  $(1\alpha, 25(OH)_2D_3)$  production. The FGF23-mediated suppression of  $1\alpha$ -hydroxylase transcription involves extracellular signal-regulated kinase-1 and 2 (ERK1/2) activation. However, the exact signaling pathway downstream of ERK1/2 is unknown. The inhibition of phosphate reabsorption in proximal renal tubules by FGF23 is mediated through activation of ERK1/2 and serum/glucocorticoid-regulated kinase-1 (SGK1), leading to phosphorylation of the scaffolding protein Na<sup>+</sup>/H<sup>+</sup> exchange regulatory cofactor (NHERF)-1. NHERF-1 phosphorylation triggers internalization and degradation of the sodium-phosphate cotransporter NaPi-2a, so that less NaPi-2a is available in the apical membrane for phosphate uptake from urine. In distal convoluted tubules (DCT), FGF23 increases reabsorption of calcium and sodium by increasing the apical membrane abundance of the epithelial calcium channel transient receptor potential vanilloid-5 and of the sodium-chloride cotransporter NCC through a signaling cascade involving ERK1/2, SGK1, and with-no-lysine kinase-4 (WNK4). FGF23 locally produced by osteocytes is an auto-/paracrine inhibitor of bone mineralization by down-regulating tissue non-specific alkaline phosphatase (TNAP) transcription in a  $\alpha$ Klotho-independent fashion *via* FGFR1- or FGFR3-mediated activation of ERK1/2. The signaling pathway downstream of ERK1/2, leading to suppression of TNAP transcription, is not known. TNAP is essential for normal mineralization of bone by cleavi

1α-hydroxylation represents metabolic conversion of the precursor 25-hydroxyvitamin D into the biologically active hormone, whereas 24-hydroxylation is an inactivation pathway (43). 1,25(OH)<sub>2</sub>D is known to be a strong inducer of 24-hydroxylase (43), stimulating its own degradation. Whether FGF23 is a direct regulator of 24-hydroxylase transcription has been a controversial issue for many years. Some reports in Fgf23-/mice (26) as well as in wild-type mice treated with recombinant FGF23 (11) suggested that FGF23 signaling may directly induce 24-hydroxylase, whereas experiments in VDR knockout mice suggested that the FGF23-mediated regulation of 24-hydroxylase is not direct, but depends on the VDR (42, 44). The latter notion has been confirmed by recent evidence showing that, in contrast to the 1,25(OH)<sub>2</sub>D<sub>3</sub>-mediated induction, both the FGF23-mediated induction and the PTH-mediated suppression of 24-hydroxylase are completely lost in 1α-hydroxylase knockout mice (41). This finding strongly suggests that the FGF23 and PTH-mediated regulation of 24-hydroxylase expression are entirely indirect through altered 1,25(OH)<sub>2</sub>D<sub>3</sub> synthesis and subsequent changes in VDR-regulated promoter activity of 24-hydroxylase.

As mentioned above, FGF23 promotes renal phosphate excretion by inhibiting cellular phosphate re-uptake from the urine in proximal renal tubules (Figure 1). Through a signaling cascade involving the aKlotho/FGFR1c receptor complex, ERK1/2, and serum/glucocorticoid-regulated kinase-1 (SGK1), FGF23 signaling induces the phosphorylation of the scaffolding protein Na+/ H<sup>+</sup> exchange regulatory cofactor (NHERF)-1 which in turn leads to internalization and degradation of the sodium-phosphate cotransporters NaPi-2a and NaPi-2c (36, 45, 46). Notably, 4-weekold  $Fgf23^{-/-}/VDR^{\Delta/\Delta}$  (Fgf23/VDR) and  $\alpha Klotho^{-/-}/VDR^{\Delta/\Delta}$ (Klotho/VDR) compound mutant mice lacking Fgf23 or Klotho and a functioning VDR are not hyperphosphatemic (28, 29, 47). Hyperphosphatemia is only seen in older, more slowly or nongrowing Fgf23/VDR compound mutant mice beyond 3 months of age (30, 47), suggesting that the phosphaturic effect of FGF23 is physiologically less essential compared with the 1α-hydroxylasesuppressing effect, at least in mice. Both the phosphaturic and the 1,25(OH)<sub>2</sub>D<sub>3</sub>-lowering effect of FGF23 protect against hyperphosphatemia: the first effect directly through increased elimination of phosphate, and the second effect indirectly through reduced intestinal phosphate absorption. In addition, because 1,25(OH)<sub>2</sub>D<sub>3</sub> and phosphate stimulate FGF23 secretion in bone (12), the phosphaturic and 1,25(OH)<sub>2</sub>D<sub>3</sub>-lowering effects of FGF23 form a negative feedback loop between bone and kidney.

In recent years, it has become clear that FGF23 is not only a regulator of vitamin D and phosphate metabolism, but also directly influences calcium and sodium handling in the distal nephron in the kidney (**Figure 1**). Skeletally mature *Fgf23*/VDR and *Klotho*/VDR compound mutant mice are characterized by renal calcium wasting (48), as well as by renal sodium wasting and subsequent hyponatremia, hypovolemia, and hypotension (49). Similar to proximal renal tubules, the FGFR1c/Klotho complex appears to be the most important receptor complex in the distal nephron, because distal tubular-specific deletion of *Fgfr1* recapitulates the renal calcium wasting seen in *Fgf23*/VDR compound mutant mice (9). In distal tubular epithelium, FGF23 regulates the apical membrane abundance of the epithelial calcium channel transient receptor potential vanilloid-5 (TRPV5) and of the sodium-chloride cotransporter NCC through a signaling cascade involving ERK1/2, SGK1, and with-no-lysine kinase-4 (48, 49). Fgf23 and Klotho deficient mice are characterized by a downregulation of distal tubular TRPV5 and NCC membrane expression, leading to renal calcium and sodium wasting, despite counter-regulatory increases in circulating PTH and aldosterone (48-50). These findings indicate that the calcium- and sodiumconserving functions of FGF23 in distal renal tubules are of physiological relevance. Indeed, the increased renal conservation of calcium may help to maintain blood calcium levels despite the suppression of 1,25(OH)<sub>2</sub>D<sub>3</sub> synthesis induced by upregulated FGF23 secretion. In single Fgf23 and Klotho knockout mice, the calcium-conserving function of FGF23 is masked by the profound upregulation of 1,25(OH)2D3 production and subsequent hypercalcemia.

Parathyroid hormone and FGF23 have partially overlapping functions in proximal and distal renal tubules. Both hormones inhibit phosphate reabsorption in proximal renal tubules by targeting NHERF-1 phosphorylation (36, 45, 46), and increase calcium reabsorption in distal renal tubules by targeting expression and/or open probability of TRPV5 (48, 51). Albeit the signaling mechanisms are different, the proximal and distal renal target molecules of PTH and FGF23 are the same. An interesting finding in this context is that absence of FGF23 signaling in Fgf23 deficient mice causes partial renal resistance to the phosphaturic and calcium-conserving actions of PTH (50). Vice versa, a reduction in PTH signaling in human patients with hypoparathyroidism has been shown to induce partial resistance to the phosphaturic actions of FGF23 (52, 53). Therefore, both hormones interact, and an important physiological function of FGF23 may be to enable normal responsiveness to PTH signaling in the kidney and also in bone (50).

Taken together, lessons learned from knockout mouse models have revealed that the most important physiological function of FGF23 is not its phosphaturic effect but the downregulation of vitamin D hormone production. It is likely that the exquisite sensitivity of the homeostatic system regulating  $1\alpha$ -hydroxylase transcription to lack of FGF23 signaling is caused by the absence of other suppressive hormones which might be able to effectively counter-balance FGF23 deficiency. In Fgf23 and Klotho deficient mice, the suppression of PTH secretion observed in these mice is insufficient to control transcription of renal  $1\alpha$ -hydroxylase. In contrast, lack of the phosphaturic, as well as of the calcium- and sodium-conserving functions of FGF23 can at least partially be compensated by the phosphaturic and calcium-conserving hormone PTH, and by the sodium-conserving hormone aldosterone. Therefore, the pivotal importance of FGF23 signaling for the control of  $1\alpha$ -hydroxylase transcription might be considered as a systems biology problem. This problem may also have implications for the treatment of patients with antibodies against FGF23 or with small molecules blocking the FGF23 signaling pathway. The therapeutic window for these treatments is relatively narrow, and requires close monitoring of calcium and phosphorus metabolism to avoid toxic side effects (54, 55).

# PHYSIOLOGICAL FUNCTIONS OF FGF23 IN BONE

Fibroblast growth factor-23 may also have physiologically relevant functions in bone on bone mineralization and on hematopoiesis. We recently reported that FGF23 is a powerful suppressor of transcription of tissue non-specific alkaline phosphatase (TNAP) mRNA in bone cells in a Klotho-independent manner (56) (Figure 1). TNAP is essential for the regulation of bone mineralization by cleaving the mineralization inhibitor pyrophosphate which is secreted by osteoblasts to prevent premature mineralization of osteoid (57). Based on experiments with pharmacological FGFR inhibitors, we concluded that the FGF23-induced, Klothoindependent suppression of TNAP mRNA abundance in primary murine osteoblasts is mainly mediated through FGFR3 (56). In contrast, Shalhoub et al. (58) reported that FGF23 suppresses TNAP expression in mouse osteoblast-like cells in an FGFR1-dependent manner, and that this effect could be enhanced by soluble Klotho. Thus, it awaits further clarification whether the FGF23-mediated suppression of TNAP in bone cells is mainly mediated through FGFR1, FGFR3, or both. Klotho expression in bone is very low (33, 59). Therefore, it is unlikely that Klotho expression in bone cells is sufficient to enhance FGF23 binding to FGFRs in osteoblasts and osteocytes. However, it can be assumed that due to the local production of FGF23 in osteocytes, the concentration of FGF23 within the canalicular system is high enough for auto-/paracrine, Klotho-independent signaling through FGFRs in bone. Hence, locally produced FGF23 may not only contribute to impaired mineralization under the conditions of excessive bony FGF23 secretion such as in Hyp mice (60), but may also serve as a physiological inhibitor of bone mineralization by downregulating TNAP expression. In line with this notion, we found an upregulation of Tnap mRNA abundance in Fgf23 deficient Fgf23/VDR compound mutant mice compared with wild-type and VDR control mice (56). However, the relevance of this mechanism in the context of physiological ranges of FGF23 secretion remains to be shown.

*Fgf23* deficient mice are characterized by increased erythropoiesis (61). Conversely, injection of recombinant FGF23 into normal mice suppresses erythropoiesis (61), and inhibition of FGF23 signaling alleviates the suppression of erythropoiesis in mice with excessive FGF23 blood levels due to renal failure (62). Therefore, FGF23 may be a physiological regulator of erythroid lineage commitment in the bone microenvironment. However, the signaling mechanisms underlying this effect are currently not known, and further studies are needed to demonstrate the relevance of this effect in relation to the physiological regulation of erythropoiesis by the renal hormone erythropoietin.

# PHYSIOLOGICAL FUNCTIONS OF FGF23 IN OTHER ORGANS?

It is interesting to note that the first description of FGF23 was actually in thalamic nuclei in the murine brain (63). However, data about possible functions of FGF23 in the brain are still scarce. It was reported that high concentrations of FGF23 may interfere with neuronal ramification and may increase synaptic density in cultures of hippocampal neurons (64), but very little is known about

potential physiological functions. *Fgf23*/VDR compound mutant mice do not have an overt CNS phenotype until older ages (30), but more elaborate behavioral or cognitive tests have never been done.

The parathyroid gland is one of the organs abundantly expressing  $\alpha$ Klotho (33, 65), making it a potential target tissue for FGF23. However, conditional knockout mice with a parathyroid-specific deletion of  $\alpha$ Klotho show normal circulating intact PTH levels (65). In addition, global *Fgf23*/VDR and  $\alpha$ *Klotho*/VDR mutant mice at young ages do not show differences in PTH blood concentrations compared with VDR mutant mice (28, 29). Only at older ages, PTH secretion is upregulated in *Fgf23*/VDR and  $\alpha$ *Klotho*/VDR mutant mice, relative to VDR controls, in response to chronic renal calcium wasting and partial PTH resistance (50). Hence, although high-FGF23 blood concentrations may suppress PTH secretion in a Klotho-independent fashion in rodents (65, 66), it is unlikely that FGF23 signaling has an important role in the physiological regulation of PTH secretion.

Although the heart may be an important target tissue at supraphysiological FGF23 concentrations, promoting cardiomyocyte hypertrophy in CKD patients by a Klotho-independent signaling pathway (67, 68), FGF23 is not expressed in the normal heart, and heart function is normal in Fgf23/VDR mutant mice (69). These findings suggest that FGF23 does not have a functional role in the heart under physiological circumstances.

Taken together, there is only little evidence that FGF23 has a role in normal physiology in organs other than kidney and bone.

# CONCLUSION

The purpose of this mini-review is to highlight the current knowledge about the physiological functions of the bone-derived hormone FGF23. Excessive circulating intact FGF23 levels result in renal phosphate wasting under the conditions of a normal kidney function. However, knockout mouse models have shown that the most important physiological function of FGF23 is not the phosphaturic effect, but the suppressive effect on renal  $1\alpha$ -hydroxylase expression. The absence of FGF23 or of its co-receptor aKlotho results in deregulated renal 1a-hydroxylase expression and vitamin D hormone production, which cannot be compensated by other endocrine systems. Moreover, FGF23 has several additional physiological functions, which include inhibition of renal phosphate reabsorption, increased conservation of calcium and sodium in the kidney, support of a normal responsiveness of the kidney to PTH, and regulation of bone mineralization. Although excessive FGF23 may target many non-canonical tissues, there is currently little evidence for a role of FGF23 in the normal physiology of organs other than kidney and bone.

### **AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS**

The author confirms being the sole contributor of this work and approved it for publication.

# FUNDING

This work was supported by a grant from the Austrian Science Fund (FWF P24186-B21) to RE.

#### REFERENCES

- ADHR Consortium. Autosomal dominant hypophosphataemic rickets is associated with mutations in FGF23. Nat Genet (2000) 26:345–8. doi:10.1038/81664
- Meyer RA Jr, Meyer MH, Gray RW. Parabiosis suggests a humoral factor is involved in X-linked hypophosphatemia in mice. *J Bone Miner Res* (1989) 4:493–500. doi:10.1002/jbmr.5650040407
- Itoh N, Ohta H, Konishi M. Endocrine FGFs: evolution, physiology, pathophysiology, and pharmacotherapy. *Front Endocrinol* (2015) 6:154. doi:10.3389/fendo.2015.00154
- Urakawa I, Yamazaki Y, Shimada T, Iijima K, Hasegawa H, Okawa K, et al. Klotho converts canonical FGF receptor into a specific receptor for FGF23. *Nature* (2006) 444:770–4. doi:10.1038/nature05315
- Goetz R, Beenken A, Ibrahimi OA, Kalinina J, Olsen SK, Eliseenkova AV, et al. Molecular insights into the Klotho-dependent, endocrine mode of action of fibroblast growth factor 19 subfamily members. *Mol Cell Biol* (2007) 27:3417–28. doi:10.1128/MCB.02249-06
- Goetz R, Ohnishi M, Kir S, Kurosu H, Wang L, Pastor J, et al. Conversion of a paracrine fibroblast growth factor into an endocrine fibroblast growth factor. *J Biol Chem* (2012) 287:29134–46. doi:10.1074/jbc.M112.342980
- Goetz R, Ohnishi M, Ding X, Kurosu H, Wang L, Akiyoshi J, et al. Klotho coreceptors inhibit signaling by paracrine fibroblast growth factor 8 subfamily ligands. *Mol Cell Biol* (2012) 32:1944–54. doi:10.1128/MCB.06603-11
- Chen G, Liu Y, Goetz R, Fu L, Jayaraman S, Hu MC, et al. alpha-Klotho is a non-enzymatic molecular scaffold for FGF23 hormone signalling. *Nature* (2018) 553:461–6. doi:10.1038/nature25451
- Han X, Yang J, Li L, Huang J, King G, Quarles LD. Conditional deletion of Fgfr1 in the proximal and distal tubule identifies distinct roles in phosphate and calcium transport. *PLoS One* (2016) 11:e0147845. doi:10.1371/journal. pone.0147845
- Shimada T, Mizutani S, Muto T, Yoneya T, Hino R, Takeda S, et al. Cloning and characterization of FGF23 as a causative factor of tumor-induced osteomalacia. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* (2001) 98:6500–5. doi:10.1073/pnas.101545198
- Shimada T, Hasegawa H, Yamazaki Y, Muto T, Hino R, Takeuchi Y, et al. FGF-23 is a potent regulator of vitamin D metabolism and phosphate homeostasis. J Bone Miner Res (2004) 19:429–35. doi:10.1359/JBMR.0301264
- Martin A, David V, Quarles LD. Regulation and function of the FGF23/ Klotho endocrine pathways. *Physiol Rev* (2012) 92:131–55. doi:10.1152/ physrev.00002.2011
- Francis F, Hennig S, Korn B, Reinhardt R, de Jong P, Poustka A, et al. A gene (PEX) with homologies to endopeptidases is mutated in patients with X-linked hypophosphatemic rickets. The HYP Consortium. *Nat Genet* (1995) 11:130–6. doi:10.1038/ng1095-130
- Bresler D, Bruder J, Mohnike K, Fraser WD, Rowe PS. Serum MEPE-ASARMpeptides are elevated in X-linked rickets (HYP): implications for phosphaturia and rickets. J Endocrinol (2004) 183:R1–9. doi:10.1677/joe.1.05989
- Martin A, David V, Laurence JS, Schwarz PM, Lafer EM, Hedge AM, et al. Degradation of MEPE, DMP1, and release of SIBLING ASARM-peptides (minhibins): ASARM-peptide(s) are directly responsible for defective mineralization in HYP. *Endocrinology* (2008) 149:1757–72. doi:10.1210/en. 2007-1205
- McKee MD, Nanci A. Osteopontin and the bone remodeling sequence. Colloidal-gold immunocytochemistry of an interfacial extracellular matrix protein. *Ann N Y Acad Sci* (1995) 760:177–89. doi:10.1111/j.1749-6632.1995. tb44629.x
- Barros NM, Hoac B, Neves RL, Addison WN, Assis DM, Murshed M, et al. Proteolytic processing of osteopontin by PHEX and accumulation of osteopontin fragments in Hyp mouse bone, the murine model of X-linked hypophosphatemia. *J Bone Miner Res* (2013) 28:688–99. doi:10.1002/ jbmr.1766
- Feng JQ, Ward LM, Liu S, Lu Y, Xie Y, Yuan B, et al. Loss of DMP1 causes rickets and osteomalacia and identifies a role for osteocytes in mineral metabolism. *Nat Genet* (2006) 38:1310–5. doi:10.1038/ng1905
- Xiao Z, Huang J, Cao L, Liang Y, Han X, Quarles LD. Osteocyte-specific deletion of Fgfr1 suppresses FGF23. *PLoS One* (2014) 9:e104154. doi:10.1371/ journal.pone.0104154
- 20. Wohrle S, Henninger C, Bonny O, Thuery A, Beluch N, Hynes NE, et al. Pharmacological inhibition of fibroblast growth factor (FGF) receptor

signalingamelioratesFGF23-mediatedhypophosphatemicrickets. *J Bone Miner Res* (2013) 28:899–911. doi:10.1002/jbmr.1810

- Ichikawa S, Austin AM, Gray AK, Econs MJ. A Phex mutation in a murine model of X-linked hypophosphatemia alters phosphate responsiveness of bone cells. J Bone Miner Res (2012) 27:453–60. doi:10.1002/jbmr.544
- Ichikawa S, Gerard-O'Riley RL, Acton D, McQueen AK, Strobel IE, Witcher PC, et al. A mutation in the Dmp1 gene alters phosphate responsiveness in mice. *Endocrinology* (2017) 158:470–6. doi:10.1210/en.2016-1642
- Gutierrez OM. Fibroblast growth factor 23 and disordered vitamin D metabolism in chronic kidney disease: updating the "trade-off" hypothesis. *Clin J Am Soc Nephrol* (2010) 5:1710–6. doi:10.2215/CJN.02640310
- 24. Weber TJ, Liu S, Indridason OS, Quarles LD. Serum FGF23 levels in normal and disordered phosphorus homeostasis. *J Bone Miner Res* (2003) 18:1227–34. doi:10.1359/jbmr.2003.18.7.1227
- Yoshida T, Fujimori T, Nabeshima Y. Mediation of unusually high concentrations of 1,25-dihydroxyvitamin D in homozygous Klotho mutant mice by increased expression of renal 1alpha-hydroxylase gene. *Endocrinology* (2002) 143:683–9. doi:10.1210/endo.143.2.8657
- Shimada T, Kakitani M, Yamazaki Y, Hasegawa H, Takeuchi Y, Fujita T, et al. Targeted ablation of Fgf23 demonstrates an essential physiological role of FGF23 in phosphate and vitamin D metabolism. *J Clin Invest* (2004) 113:561–8. doi:10.1172/JCI200419081
- Sitara D, Razzaque MS, Hesse M, Yoganathan S, Taguchi T, Erben RG, et al. Homozygous ablation of fibroblast growth factor-23 results in hyperphosphatemia and impaired skeletogenesis, and reverses hypophosphatemia in Phex-deficient mice. *Matrix Biol* (2004) 23:421–32. doi:10.1016/j.matbio. 2004.09.007
- Hesse M, Frohlich LF, Zeitz U, Lanske B, Erben RG. Ablation of vitamin D signaling rescues bone, mineral, and glucose homeostasis in Fgf-23 deficient mice. *Matrix Biol* (2007) 26:75–84. doi:10.1016/j.matbio.2006.10.003
- Anour R, Andrukhova O, Ritter E, Zeitz U, Erben RG. Klotho lacks a vitamin D independent physiological role in glucose homeostasis, bone turnover, and steady-state PTH secretion *in vivo*. *PLoS One* (2012) 7:e31376. doi:10.1371/ journal.pone.0031376
- Streicher C, Zeitz U, Andrukhova O, Rupprecht A, Pohl E, Larsson TE, et al. Long-term Fgf23 deficiency does not influence aging, glucose homeostasis, or fat metabolism in mice with a nonfunctioning vitamin D receptor. *Endocrinology* (2012) 153:1795–805. doi:10.1210/en.2011-1878
- Topaz O, Shurman DL, Bergman R, Indelman M, Ratajczak P, Mizrachi M, et al. Mutations in GALNT3, encoding a protein involved in O-linked glycosylation, cause familial tumoral calcinosis. *Nat Genet* (2004) 36:579–81. doi:10.1038/ng1358
- Araya K, Fukumoto S, Backenroth R, Takeuchi Y, Nakayama K, Ito N, et al. A novel mutation in fibroblast growth factor 23 gene as a cause of tumoral calcinosis. J Clin Endocrinol Metab (2005) 90:5523–7. doi:10.1210/jc.2005-0301
- Kuro-o M, Matsumura Y, Aizawa H, Kawaguchi H, Suga T, Utsugi T, et al. Mutation of the mouse Klotho gene leads to a syndrome resembling ageing. *Nature* (1997) 390:45–51. doi:10.1038/36285
- Ichikawa S, Imel EA, Kreiter ML, Yu X, Mackenzie DS, Sorenson AH, et al. A homozygous missense mutation in human KLOTHO causes severe tumoral calcinosis. J Clin Invest (2007) 117:2684–91. doi:10.1172/JCI31330
- 35. Gattineni J, Bates C, Twombley K, Dwarakanath V, Robinson ML, Goetz R, et al. FGF23 decreases renal NaPi-2a and NaPi-2c expression and induces hypophosphatemia in vivo predominantly via FGF receptor 1. *Am J Physiol Renal Physiol* (2009) 297:F282–91. doi:10.1152/ajprenal.90742.2008
- Andrukhova O, Zeitz U, Goetz R, Mohammadi M, Lanske B, Erben RG. FGF23 acts directly on renal proximal tubules to induce phosphaturia through activation of the ERK1/2-SGK1 signaling pathway. *Bone* (2012) 51:621–8. doi:10.1016/j.bone.2012.05.015
- Ornitz DM, Itoh N. The fibroblast growth factor signaling pathway. Wiley Interdiscip Rev Dev Biol (2015) 4:215–66. doi:10.1002/wdev.176
- Li H, Martin A, David V, Quarles LD. Compound deletion of Fgfr3 and Fgfr4 partially rescues the Hyp mouse phenotype. *Am J Physiol Endocrinol Metab* (2011) 300:E508–17. doi:10.1152/ajpendo.00499.2010
- Zhang MY, Ranch D, Pereira RC, Armbrecht HJ, Portale AA, Perwad F. Chronic inhibition of ERK1/2 signaling improves disordered bone and mineral metabolism in hypophosphatemic (Hyp) mice. *Endocrinology* (2012) 153:1806–16. doi:10.1210/en.2011-1831

- Ranch D, Zhang MY, Portale AA, Perwad F. Fibroblast growth factor 23 regulates renal 1,25-dihydroxyvitamin D and phosphate metabolism via the MAP kinase signaling pathway in Hyp mice. *J Bone Miner Res* (2011) 26:1883–90. doi:10.1002/jbmr.401
- Meyer MB, Benkusky NA, Kaufmann M, Lee SM, Onal M, Jones G, et al. A kidney-specific genetic control module in mice governs endocrine regulation of the cytochrome P450 gene Cyp27b1 essential for vitamin D3 activation. J Biol Chem (2017) 292:17541–58. doi:10.1074/jbc.M117.806901
- Shimada T, Yamazaki Y, Takahashi M, Hasegawa H, Urakawa I, Oshima T, et al. Vitamin D receptor-independent FGF23 actions in regulating phosphate and vitamin D metabolism. *Am J Physiol Renal Physiol* (2005) 289:F1088–95. doi:10.1152/ajprenal.00474.2004
- Jones G, Prosser DE, Kaufmann M. 25-Hydroxyvitamin D-24-hydroxylase (CYP24A1): its important role in the degradation of vitamin D. Arch Biochem Biophys (2012) 523:9–18. doi:10.1016/j.abb.2011.11.003
- Inoue Y, Segawa H, Kaneko I, Yamanaka S, Kusano K, Kawakami E, et al. Role of the vitamin D receptor in FGF23 action on phosphate metabolism. *Biochem J* (2005) 390:325–31. doi:10.1042/BJ20041799
- 45. Deliot N, Hernando N, Horst-Liu Z, Gisler SM, Capuano P, Wagner CA, et al. Parathyroid hormone treatment induces dissociation of type IIa Na+-P(i) cotransporter-Na+/H+ exchanger regulatory factor-1 complexes. *Am J Physiol Cell Physiol* (2005) 289:C159–67. doi:10.1152/ajpcell.00456.2004
- 46. Weinman EJ, Biswas RS, Peng G, Shen L, Turner CL, Xiaofei E, et al. Parathyroid hormone inhibits renal phosphate transport by phosphorylation of serine 77 of sodium-hydrogen exchanger regulatory factor-1. *J Clin Invest* (2007) 117:3412–20. doi:10.1172/JCI32738
- Andrukhova O, Bayer J, Schuler C, Zeitz U, Murali SK, Ada S, et al. Klotho lacks a FGF23 independent role in mineral homeostasis. *J Bone Miner Res* (2017) 32:2049–61. doi:10.1002/jbmr.3195
- Andrukhova O, Smorodchenko A, Egerbacher M, Streicher C, Zeitz U, Goetz R, et al. FGF23 promotes renal calcium reabsorption through the TRPV5 channel. *EMBO J* (2014) 33:229–46. doi:10.1002/embj.201284188
- Andrukhova O, Slavic S, Smorodchenko A, Zeitz U, Shalhoub V, Lanske B, et al. FGF23 regulates renal sodium handling and blood pressure. *EMBO Mol Med* (2014) 6:744–59. doi:10.1002/emmm.201303716
- Andrukhova O, Streicher C, Zeitz U, Erben RG. Fgf23 and parathyroid hormone signaling interact in kidney and bone. *Mol Cell Endocrinol* (2016) 436:224–39. doi:10.1016/j.mce.2016.07.035
- de Groot T, Lee K, Langeslag M, Xi Q, Jalink K, Bindels RJ, et al. Parathyroid hormone activates TRPV5 via PKA-dependent phosphorylation. J Am Soc Nephrol (2009) 20:1693–704. doi:10.1681/ASN.2008080873
- Gupta A, Winer K, Econs MJ, Marx SJ, Collins MT. FGF-23 is elevated by chronic hyperphosphatemia. *J Clin Endocrinol Metab* (2004) 89:4489–92. doi:10.1210/jc.2004-0724
- Geller JL, Khosravi A, Kelly MH, Riminucci M, Adams JS, Collins MT. Cinacalcet in the management of tumor-induced osteomalacia. *J Bone Miner Res* (2007) 22:931–7. doi:10.1359/jbmr.070304
- Shalhoub V, Shatzen EM, Ward SC, Davis J, Stevens J, Bi V, et al. FGF23 neutrali zation improves chronic kidney disease-associated hyperparathyroidism yet increases mortality. J Clin Invest (2012) 122:2543–53. doi:10.1172/JCI61405
- Kinoshita Y, Fukumoto S. X-linked hypophosphatemia and FGF23-related hypophosphatemic diseases – prospect for new treatment. *Endocr Rev* (2018). doi:10.1210/er.2017-00220
- Murali SK, Roschger P, Zeitz U, Klaushofer K, Andrukhova O, Erben RG. FGF23 regulates bone mineralization in a 1,25(OH) D and Klotho-independent manner. J Bone Miner Res (2016) 31:129–42. doi:10.1002/jbmr.2606
- 57. Addison WN, Azari F, Sorensen ES, Kaartinen MT, McKee MD. Pyrophosphate inhibits mineralization of osteoblast cultures by binding to mineral,

up-regulating osteopontin, and inhibiting alkaline phosphatase activity. *J Biol Chem* (2007) 282:15872–83. doi:10.1074/jbc.M701116200

- Shalhoub V, Ward SC, Sun B, Stevens J, Renshaw L, Hawkins N, et al. Fibroblast growth factor 23 (FGF23) and alpha-Klotho stimulate osteoblastic MC3T3. E1 cell proliferation and inhibit mineralization. *Calcif Tissue Int* (2011) 89:140–50. doi:10.1007/s00223-011-9501-5
- Miyagawa K, Yamazaki M, Kawai M, Nishino J, Koshimizu T, Ohata Y, et al. Dysregulated gene expression in the primary osteoblasts and osteocytes isolated from hypophosphatemic Hyp mice. *PLoS One* (2014) 9:e93840. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0093840
- Murali SK, Andrukhova O, Clinkenbeard EL, White KE, Erben RG. Excessive osteocytic Fgf23 secretion contributes to pyrophosphate accumulation and mineralization defect in hyp mice. *PLoS Biol* (2016) 14:e1002427. doi:10.1371/ journal.pbio.1002427
- Coe LM, Madathil SV, Casu C, Lanske B, Rivella S, Sitara D. FGF-23 is a negative regulator of prenatal and postnatal erythropoiesis. *J Biol Chem* (2014) 289:9795–810. doi:10.1074/jbc.M113.527150
- Agoro R, Montagna A, Goetz R, Aligbe O, Singh G, Coe LM, et al. Inhibition of fibroblast growth factor 23 (FGF23) signaling rescues renal anemia. *FASEB J* (2018):fj201700667R. doi:10.1096/fj.201700667R
- Yamashita T, Yoshioka M, Itoh N. Identification of a novel fibroblast growth factor, FGF-23, preferentially expressed in the ventrolateral thalamic nucleus of the brain. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun* (2000) 277:494–8. doi:10.1006/ bbrc.2000.3696
- Hensel N, Schon A, Konen T, Lubben V, Forthmann B, Baron O, et al. Fibroblast growth factor 23 signaling in hippocampal cells: impact on neuronal morphology and synaptic density. *J Neurochem* (2016) 137:756–69. doi:10.1111/jnc.13585
- Olauson H, Lindberg K, Amin R, Sato T, Jia T, Goetz R, et al. Parathyroidspecific deletion of Klotho unravels a novel calcineurin-dependent FGF23 signaling pathway that regulates PTH secretion. *PLoS Genet* (2013) 9:e1003975. doi:10.1371/journal.pgen.1003975
- Ben Dov IZ, Galitzer H, Lavi-Moshayoff V, Goetz R, Kuro-o M, Mohammadi M, et al. The parathyroid is a target organ for FGF23 in rats. *J Clin Invest* (2007) 117:4003–8. doi:10.1172/JCI32409
- Faul C, Amaral AP, Oskouei B, Hu MC, Sloan A, Isakova T, et al. FGF23 induces left ventricular hypertrophy. *J Clin Invest* (2011) 121:4393–408. doi:10.1172/JCI46122
- Grabner A, Amaral AP, Schramm K, Singh S, Sloan A, Yanucil C, et al. Activation of cardiac fibroblast growth factor receptor 4 causes left ventricular hypertrophy. *Cell Metab* (2015) 22:1020–32. doi:10.1016/j.cmet.2015. 09.002
- Slavic S, Ford K, Modert M, Becirovic A, Handschuh S, Baierl A, et al. Genetic ablation of Fgf23 or Klotho does not modulate experimental heart hypertrophy induced by pressure overload. *Sci Rep* (2017) 7:11298. doi:10.1038/ s41598-017-10140-4

**Conflict of Interest Statement:** The author declares that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2018 Erben. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





# New Insights into the Mechanism of Action of Soluble Klotho

#### George D. Dalton<sup>1</sup>, Jian Xie<sup>2</sup>, Sung-Wan An<sup>2</sup> and Chou-Long Huang<sup>2\*</sup>

<sup>1</sup> Department of Medicine, Division of Gastroenterology, Duke University Medical Center, Durham, NC, United States, <sup>2</sup> Department of Internal Medicine, Division of Nephrology and Hypertension, University of Iowa Carver College of Medicine, Iowa City, IA, United States

The klotho gene encodes a type I single-pass transmembrane protein that contains a large extracellular domain, a membrane spanning segment, and a short intracellular domain. Klotho protein exists in several forms including the full-length membrane form (mKI) and a soluble circulating form [soluble klotho (sKI)]. mKI complexes with fibroblast growth factor receptors to form coreceptors for FGF23, which allows it to participate in FGF23-mediated signal transduction and regulation of phosphate and calcium homeostasis. sKI is present in the blood, urine, and cerebrospinal fluid where it performs a multitude of functions including regulation of ion channels/transporters and growth factor signaling. How sKI exerts these pleiotropic functions is poorly understood. One hurdle in understanding sKI's mechanism of action as a "hormone" has been the inability to identify a receptor that mediates its effects. In the body, the kidneys are a major source of sKI and sKI levels decline during renal disease. sKI deficiency in chronic kidney disease makes the heart susceptible to stress-induced injury. Here, we summarize the current knowledge of mKI's mechanism of action, the mechanistic basis of sKI's protective, FGF23-independent effects on the heart, and provide new insights into the mechanism of action of sKI focusing on recent findings that sKI binds sialogangliosides in membrane lipid rafts to regulate growth factor signaling.

Keywords: klotho, FGF23, lipid rafts, aging, TRPC6, sialidase, IGF-1, heart disease

# DISCOVERY OF THE AGING-SUPPRESSOR GENE klotho

For decades, scientists have searched for genes that regulate lifespan. In 1997, one such gene was identified in a transgenic mouse strain whose mutation resulted in a syndrome resembling premature aging that included shortened lifespan, growth retardation, vascular calcification, genital atrophy, emphysema, and osteomalacia (1). The gene was named *klotho*, which in Greek mythology is one of the three goddesses of fate who spins the thread of life (1). The aging phenotypes were observed exclusively in mice that were homozygous for *SLC9A1* transgene insertion into the 5' flanking region of the *klotho* gene, which resulted in a severe hypomorphic *klotho* allele (*kl/kl*). Since the discovery, *klotho* attracted considerable scientific interest due to its role in aging suppression. Abundant evidence has accumulated during the past two decades that supports the association between *klotho* and senescence. For instance, transgenic mice that overexpress *klotho* exhibit an extended lifespan compared with wild-type (WT) mice which has been attributed, at least partly, to *klotho*-induced resistance to insulin signaling and oxidative stress (2, 3). In humans, total Klotho protein levels decline with age in serum, while single nucleotide polymorphisms have

#### **OPEN ACCESS**

#### Edited by:

Reinhold Gottfried Erben, Veterinärmedizinische Universität Wien, Austria

#### Reviewed by:

Chrishan S. Samuel, Department of Pharmacology, Monash University, Australia Guillermo Romero, University of Pittsburgh, United States

#### \*Correspondence:

Chou-Long Huang chou-long-huang@uiowa.edu

#### Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Molecular and Structural Endocrinology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Endocrinology

Received: 01 August 2017 Accepted: 02 November 2017 Published: 17 November 2017

#### Citation:

Dalton GD, Xie J, An S-W and Huang C-L (2017) New Insights into the Mechanism of Action of Soluble Klotho. Front. Endocrinol. 8:323. doi: 10.3389/fendo.2017.00323

55

been identified in the *klotho* gene that correlates with reduced longevity and the pathophysiology of age-related disorders such as osteoporosis, coronary artery disease, and stroke (4–8). Finally, gene profile analyses have demonstrated that *klotho* expression is decreased in aged brain white matter in rhesus monkeys indicating a role for *klotho* as a lifespan gene in the nervous system (9).

The klotho gene encodes a 130 kDa type I single-pass transmembrane glycoprotein called  $\alpha$ -Klotho that contains a short intracellular domain composed of 10 amino acids and an extracellular (EC) domain containing two internal repeats (KL1 and KL2) that are both approximately 450 amino acids long with sequence homology to family 1  $\beta$ -glycosidases (1).  $\alpha$ -Klotho differs from family I glycosidases due to the absence of two conserved glutamic acid residues in its KL1 and KL2 regions that are important for the catalytic activity of this enzyme family (1, 10-12).  $\alpha$ -Klotho has been reported to exhibit sialidase and β-glucuronidase activities (13–16). Three primary isoforms of the  $\alpha$ -Klotho protein have been identified as follows: (1) the full-length transmembrane form (mKl), (2) a shed soluble form [soluble klotho (sKl)], and (3) a secreted truncated form that is produced by alternative splicing of klotho mRNA and consists of KL1 only (17, 18). In the EC space, the secreted truncated form is presumably much less abundant relative to the shed form.

mKl associates with fibroblast growth factor receptors (FGFRs) to form coreceptors for the bone-derived phosphaturic hormone FGF23 (19, 20). sKl is produced when the mKl EC domain is shed from the cell surface into the blood, urine and cerebrospinal fluid following proteolytic cleavage of mKl near the juxtamembrane region by the metalloproteinases ADAM10 and ADAM17 (21-25). Following its release from the cell membrane, circulating sKl exerts its biological effects on distant organs or tissues. Gene and protein expression analyses show that α-Klotho is abundantly expressed in rodents and humans in the kidney and the choroid plexus of the brain, and to a lesser extent in areas such as the parathyroid gland, thyroid gland, pancreas, and sex organs (1, 26–28). Finally, the klotho gene family includes two additional family members  $\beta$ -Klotho and  $\gamma$ -Klotho (29, 30). Like  $\alpha$ -Klotho,  $\beta$ -Klotho and  $\gamma$ -Klotho are type I single-pass transmembrane proteins that share sequence homology to family 1 β-glycosidases but lack dual conserved glutamic acid residues that are essential for enzymatic glycosidase activities (29, 30). β-Klotho is expressed mainly in liver, adipose tissue, and pancreas, whereas y-Klotho is expressed in the kidney and skin (29, 30). FGF19 and FGF21 require β-Klotho as a coreceptor to bind FGFRs and activate FGF signaling pathways that regulate bile acid synthesis and energy metabolism (31).

# FUNCTIONS AND MECHANISM OF ACTION OF sKI

Binding of FGF23 to mKl-FGFR coreceptors plays critical roles in vitamin D, calcium, and phosphate metabolism (19, 20, 32). Homozygous hypomorphic *kl/kl* mice have severe hypervitaminosis D, hypercalcemia, hyperphosphatemia, and extensive tissue calcification (32, 33). Dietary vitamin D or phosphate restriction rescues growth retardation and premature death in *klotho<sup>-/-</sup>* mice, validating that function of mKl as a coreceptor for FGF23 is critical for normal vitamin D and mineral metabolism, as well as growth and lifespan (32, 33). By contrast, the function and mechanism of action of sKl are less clear. Several recent studies have provided important information to advancing our understanding of the function and mechanism of action of sKl. In this review, we will summarize the current knowledge of pleiotropic functions of sKl and discuss recent studies that decipher the molecular mechanisms of action of sKl by identifying its receptors. Finally, we will review the cardioprotective function of sKl to illustrate an important function of sKl independently of the FGFR–FGF23 axis.

# sKI Can Function As a Circulating Hormone

 $\alpha$ -Klotho is predominantly expressed in the kidney and brain (1). However, *klotho*<sup>-/-</sup> mice exhibit functional defects in cells that do not express  $\alpha$ -Klotho suggesting that circulating sKl can function as a hormone to act at a distance. Overexpression of the klotho gene extends lifespan in the mouse (2). The antiaging effects of  $\alpha$ -Klotho have been attributed to inhibition of insulin-like signaling, which is an evolutionarily conserved mechanism for suppressing aging (34). In vitro studies have demonstrated that sKl suppresses autophosphorylation of insulin/IGF-1 receptors and downstream signaling events that include tyrosine phosphorylation of insulin receptor substrates (IRS) and phosphoinositide 3-kinase (PI3K) p85 association with IRS proteins (2). In addition, inhibition of insulin/IGF-1 signaling alleviated aging-like phenotypes in *klotho<sup>-/-</sup>* mice (2). sKl-mediated inhibition of insulin/IGF-1/PI3K signaling may suppress aging by inducing resistance to oxidative stress. The insulin/IGF-1/PI3K pathway is linked to oxidative stress via the FoxO forkhead transcription factors (FOXOs) that are downstream targets of insulin-like signaling that regulate aging (34). Inhibition of insulin-like signaling results in FOXO activation and the upregulation of genes that encode antioxidant enzymes, such as mitochondrial manganese superoxide dismutase (MnSOD), that is important for removing reactive oxygen species and reducing oxidative stress (35). Studies have revealed treatment of cultured cells with sKl reduces lipid oxidation and apoptosis induced by the superoxide-generating herbicide paraquat by blocking insulin-mediated inhibition of FOXO which promoted FOXO activation and nuclear translocation (3). Nuclear FOXO was shown to bind to the MnSOD gene promoter and increase MnSOD protein levels (3). Insulin-induced FOXO phosphorylation/inactivation was enhanced in klotho-/- mice and attenuated in transgenic mice that overexpress  $\alpha$ -Klotho (3). Compared with WT mice,  $\alpha$ -Klotho-overexpressing transgenic mice exhibited increased MnSOD protein levels in muscles, reduced urinary 8-OHdG levels (in vivo marker of oxidative DNA damage), and enhanced survival following a challenge with a lethal dose of paraguat (3).

In addition to the insulin/IGF-1 pathway, sKl has been shown to confer cytoprotective effects through other antioxidative pathways. For instance, vascular calcification is a phenotype observed in mice homozygous for a hypomorphic klotho allele  $(klotho^{-/-})(1)$ . Oxidative stress contributes to the progression of vascular calcification by inducing apoptosis and senescence in vascular endothelial cells. sKl is considered to act as a hormone in the vasculature where it is continuously exposed to vascular endothelial cells. Studies have demonstrated that sKl reduces H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub>-induced apoptosis and senescence in human umbilical vascular endothelial cells (HUVECs) by inhibiting the caspase 3/caspase 9 and p53/p21 pathways (36). The antiapoptotic and anti-senescence effects of sKl in HUVECs may be mediated by the mitogen-activated protein kinase (MAPK)/extracellular signal-regulated kinase (ERK) pathway, while sKl has also been shown to exert antioxidative effects in HUVECs by inducing MnSOD expression via activation of the cAMP/protein kinase A (PKA) pathway (37, 38). In addition to endothelial cells, klotho gene transfer attenuated angiotensin II-induced superoxide production, oxidative damage, and apoptosis in vascular smooth muscle cells by stimulating cAMP/PKA-mediated suppression of Nox2 NADPH oxidase protein expression (39). In vitro and in vivo studies have also demonstrated that sKl protects the lung against oxidative damage. In cultured lung epithelial cells, sKl protected the cells from hyperoxic and phosphotoxic injury by increasing cell oxidative capacity *via* induction of nuclear factor erythroid-derived 2-related factors 1 and 2 (Nrf1/2) transcriptional activity (40). In an acute hyperoxic lung injury animal model, injection of sKl-containing medium into rat peritoneum alleviated oxidative damage and interstitial edema and stimulated an increase in total antioxidant capacity (40). Finally, studies indicate  $\alpha$ -Klotho acts as an antioxidant effector in liver and brain by modulating the reactive oxygen species-sensitive apoptosis signal-regulating kinase 1/p38 MAPK pathway (41, 42).

Elevated plasma sKl levels are independently associated with a decreased likelihood of cardiovascular disease (CVD) in humans (43). sKl may be a risk factor for CVD based on studies that have demonstrated endothelial dysfunction is inversely correlated with  $\alpha$ -Klotho expression (1, 44). Endothelial dysfunction plays a role in the development of atherosclerosis and is characterized by reduced bioavailability of NO, impaired endothelium-dependent vasorelaxation, increased endothelial permeability, increased oxidative stress, and increased expression of adhesion molecules, pro-inflammatory, and pro-thrombotic factors (45, 46). sKl may exert vasoprotective effects on the endothelium and reduces endothelial dysfunction by regulating NO availability. Studies have shown that NO production and vasodilation are impaired in klotho+/- mice, whereas endothelial function can be restored in *klotho*<sup>+/-</sup> mice by parabiosis with WT mice (44, 47). In Otsuka Long-Evans Tokushima Fatty rats, an experimental animal model of atherosclerosis, adenovirus-mediated klotho gene delivery ameliorated vascular endothelial dysfunction, increased NO production, reduced elevated blood pressure, and prevented medial hypertrophy and perivascular fibrosis (48). Mechanistic investigations using HUVECs have demonstrated that sKl upregulates NO production via a cAMP-dependent pathway (37). The cAMP-PKA pathway is known to contribute to activation of endothelial NO synthase and increased NO production in coronary arteries (49-51).

Soluble klotho also prevents endothelial dysfunction by maintaining endothelial integrity and protecting against vascular permeability. In endothelial cells, calcium regulates numerous functions including proliferation, migration, and apoptosis (52). Studies report that sKl binds the transient receptor potential canonical 1 (TRPC1) calcium-permeable channel and vascular endothelial growth factor receptor 2 to strengthen their association and cause their cointernalization which regulates the expression level of TRPC1 on the plasma membrane (53). This allows sKl to tightly regulate VEGF-stimulated calcium entry and hyperactivity of calcium-dependent proteases in endothelial cells which maintains endothelial integrity (53). In support of sKl's role in maintaining endothelial integrity, the vascular endothelium is hyperpermeable in *klotho<sup>-/-</sup>* mice, believed due to increased TRPC1 expression and TRPC1-mediated calcium influx, hyperactivation of calcium-dependent calpain/caspase 3, and increased apoptosis and endothelial damage (53). Finally, a growing body of evidence indicates vascular inflammation plays an important role in endothelial dysfunction. Pro-inflammatory molecules, such as tumor necrosis factor- $\alpha$  (TNF- $\alpha$ ), upregulate adhesion molecules on the surface of endothelial cells (54, 55). Moreover, studies have demonstrated that the expression of the adhesion molecules ICAM-1 and VCAM-1 are increased in animals with inflammation and in human atherosclerotic plaques (54). Recombinant sKl inhibited TNF-α-induced expression of ICAM-1 and VCAM-1 on HUVECs (56). In addition, sKl blocked TNF-α-induced NF-κB activation in HUVECs, which is significant because NF-kB is a transcription factor that regulates ICAM-1 and VCAM-1 expression (56). Thus, sKl may maintain endothelial integrity by regulating the expression of endothelial cell inflammatory mediators such as adhesion molecules and NF-κB.

Tumor suppressor genes regulate cell proliferation and inhibit tumor development. Klotho may be a tumor suppressor in a wide range of malignancies that include breast cancer, cervical cancer, pancreatic cancer, melanoma, gastric cancer, colorectal cancer, lung cancer, liver cancer, renal cell carcinoma, and ovarian cancer (57-67). In all of these cancers, klotho expression was reduced in tumor tissue compared with normal tissue. Epigenetic modifications, such as DNA methylation and histone modifications, often play an important role in regulating the expression of tumor suppressor genes (68). Promoter methylation and histone deacetylation have been found to be epigenetic silencing mechanisms of klotho expression in multiple types of cancer (58, 61-63, 65). In addition, microRNAs appear to play a role in cancer progression by targeting klotho and regulating its expression (68-70). The reduction of klotho expression in malignant tissue suggests that  $\alpha$ -Klotho has anticancer effects. Studies by re-expression of *klotho* in cancer cells revealed that sKl acts as a tumor suppressor by inhibiting multiple signaling pathways that include the insulin/ IGF-1 pathway, FGF pathway, Wnt signaling pathway, and transforming growth factor- $\beta$ 1 (TGF- $\beta$ 1) pathway.

The insulin/IGF-1 signaling pathway plays an important role in cell proliferation, apoptosis, and cancer (71, 72). Insulin and IGF-1 binding to their receptors activates IRS proteins leading to activation of PI3K/Akt or MAPK/ERK1/2 cell signaling pathways, which play a role in the normal development and maintenance of tissues. Dysregulation of these pathways can lead to tumor development and progression.  $\alpha$ -Klotho acts as a tumor suppressor by inhibiting insulin/IGF-1 signaling in breast cancer, lung cancer, pancreatic cancer, gastric cancer, liver cancer, colon cancer, and ovarian cancer (57, 59, 65, 73–76). Overexpression of  $\alpha$ -Klotho or treatment with sKl inhibits insulin/IGF-1-mediated downstream effectors IRS-1, Akt1, and ERK1/2 in cancer cells (57, 59, 65, 67, 73–76). The tumor suppressive activity has been attributed to its KL1 domain (59, 76).

Defects in the regulation of the Wnt signaling pathway also cause cancer (77). Wnt signaling is initiated when secreted Wnt ligands activate transmembrane receptors that promote the translocation of  $\beta$ -catenin to the nucleus where it induces the activity of transcription factors such as TCF and LEF (77). The activation of gene transcription by  $\beta$ -catenin leads to the synthesis of genes, such as *c-myc* and *cyclin D1*, that cause cancer cell growth and invasiveness (78). sKl is a Wnt antagonist that binds to multiple Wnt ligands and inhibits their activation of Wnt signaling (79). sKl inhibition of the Wnt signaling pathway has been shown to reduce cancer cell invasiveness, proliferation, and viability, while it increased cancer cell apoptosis (60, 64, 80). Biochemical evidence has shown that sKl reduces Wnt5A and Wnt3A expression and internalization in melanoma and lung cancer cells, which downregulates Wnt-β-catenin signaling and expression of the Wnt target genes *c-myc* and *cyclin D1* (60, 64). In melanoma cells, sKl reduced cell invasiveness by inhibiting Wnt5A stimulation of µ-calpain-mediated cleavage of Filamin A (60). TGF- $\beta$ 1 signaling pathway plays an important role in cancer metastasis (81), and sKl suppressed TGF-B1-induced epithelial-to-mesenchymal transition to inhibit renal fibrosis and cancer metastasis in mice (82). In vitro studies revealed sKl binds the type II TGF-β receptor to reduce TGF-β1 binding which inhibited receptor activation, Smad3 phosphorylation, and Smad3 transcriptional activity (82). Finally,  $\alpha$ -Klotho acts as a tumor suppressor by modulating the FGF signaling pathway. Basic FGF-mediated ERK1/2 phosphorylation and activation of the FGF pathway inhibit colony formation in breast cancer cells (57). Overexpression of α-Klotho enhanced bFGF-mediated ERK1/2 phosphorylation and FGF pathway activation in these cells (57). In pancreatic cancer cells, overexpression of  $\alpha$ -Klotho or the α-Klotho KL1 domain reduced bFGF-mediated phosphorylation of Akt and ERK1/2 and cancer cell growth (59).

# Identification of Membrane Lipid Rafts and Gangliosides As Receptors for sKI

As a "hormone," sKl regulates multiple signaling pathways to elicit pleiotropic cellular effects. However, the mechanism of action of hormonal sKl remains poorly understood in part because membrane receptors for sKl have not been identified. Recent studies have shed light on this gap in knowledge and identified monosialogangliosides GM1 and GM3 present in lipid rafts as receptors for sKl (83). sKl co-migrated with lipid raft fractions in sucrose gradient ultracentrifugation experiments indicating sKl's affinity for lipid rafts (83). Förster resonance energy transfer (FRET) and fluorescence lifetime imaging microscopy studies demonstrated sKl alters lipid organization and decreases membrane order within rafts (83). Studies have shown that inhibition of PI3K-dependent TRPC6 function underlies cardioprotection by sKl (84). sKl also selectively downregulated growth factor-driven PI3K/Akt signaling and TRPC6 channel function in lipid rafts, but not in non-lipid raft regions (83). In vitro binding assays and competition experiments using TRPC6-based functional assays identified  $\alpha 2,3$ -sialyllactose in the glycan of GM1 and GM3 gangliosides as the minimal motif required for sKl binding and regulation of TRPC6 in lipid rafts (83). Furthermore, these assays demonstrated that sKl affinity is 300-fold greater for clustered  $\alpha$ 2,3-sialyllactose compared with free  $\alpha 2,3$ -sialyllactoses which supports the notion that lipid rafts enriched in a2,3-sialyllactose-containing GM1 and GM3 gangliosides are effective targets for physiologically low circulating concentrations of sKl (~30 pM) (83). Sialylated glycans bind specifically to a number of glycan-binding proteins, but these binding interactions tend to be of low affinity. The formation of glycan clusters is a common mechanism that generates high affinity biologically relevant binding sites for multivalent glycan-binding proteins (85). Moreover, sKl is likely multivalent due to the fact that sKl forms dimers and each unit contains two highly homologous KL1 and KL2 domains with potential glycan-binding activity (86). The multimeric nature of sKl and the clustering of gangliosides likely explain why circulating sKl preferentially targets GM1 and GM3 clustered in lipid rafts rather than un-clustered GM1 and GM3 present in non-raft membranes or isolated  $\alpha$ 2,3-sialyllactose residues present in glycoproteins (Figure 1). The idea of sKl specifically binding lipid rafts was further supported by FRET experiments in live cells that showed sKl selectively interacts with lipid raft-associated GM1, as well as permeation experiments using hexyltriphenylphosphonium (C6TPP) showing sKl has no effect on disordered membranes (i.e., non-lipid raft membrane regions) (83). The in vivo relevance of these findings was confirmed by the discovery that raft-dependent PI3K signaling is upregulated in klotho-/- mouse hearts compared with WT mouse hearts (83). By contrast, PI3K signaling in non-raft membranes is not different between WT and *klotho*<sup>-/-</sup> mouse hearts (83).

To further support the notion that sKl binds sialogangliosides in lipid rafts to regulate TRPC6 and cardioprotection, the investigators determined a modeled structure of sKl by homology modeling and used docking protocols to examine the potential binding sites in sKl for  $\alpha_{2,3}$ -sialyllactose (87). It was shown that Arg<sup>148</sup>, His<sup>246</sup>, and the <sup>465</sup>EWHR<sup>468</sup> motif found in the KL1 domain of sKl are important for binding  $\alpha_{2,3}$ -sialyllactose (87). Binding experiments using biolayer inferometry showed the KL1 domain alone indeed binds  $\alpha_{2,3}$ -sialyllactose with a  $K_4$  value that is similar to that reported for the entire ectodomain of sKl (83, 87). Finally, purified recombinant KL1 domain inhibits TRPC6 in cultured cells and protects against stress-induced cardiac hypertrophy in mice (87). Overall, these studies provide compelling evidence supporting that sialogangliosides GM1 and GM3 and lipid rafts can serve as membrane receptors for sKl.

# sKI Functions As an Enzyme to Regulate Ion Channels/Transporters

Binding of FGF23 to FGFRs and the coreceptor mKl inhibits the synthesis of  $1,25(OH)_2$ -vitamin D (32). Elevated 1,25



 $(OH)_2$ -vitamin D causes hypercalcemia in *klotho*<sup>-/-</sup> mice (88). In addition, sKl plays an important role in calcium homeostasis by regulating the transient receptor potential vanilloid type 5 (TRPV5) calcium channel located at the apical surface of the distal convoluted and connecting tubules that is responsible for calcium reabsorption in the distal nephron (89-91). sKl directly increases renal calcium reabsorption by enhancing cell-surface abundance of TRPV5. An early study demonstrated sKl increases TRPV5 cell-surface abundance by modifying N-glycan chains of TRPV5 (14). Subsequent investigations sought to identify the specific TRPV5 sugar residues that were modified by sKl and how N-glycan modification led to TRPV5 accumulation in the plasma membrane. Structurally, the N-glycan chains of TRPV5 can consist of as many as four branches (92, 93). Individual N-glycan branches are initiated by N-acetylglucosamine addition to mannose residues followed by galactose addition to form N-acetyllactosamine (LacNAc) (93). Galactoses can be capped with sialic acids in a reaction catalyzed by  $\alpha 2,3$ - and  $\alpha 2,6$ sialylytransferases (94-96). sKl increases cell-surface abundance of TRPV5 by acting as a sialidase and specifically removing terminal α2,6-linked sialic acids from TRPV5 N-glycan chains (15). Galectins are a family of galactose-binding lectins present extracellularly on the cell surface as well as inside the cell (97, 98). Galectin-1 binds LacNAc, but not  $\alpha$ 2,6-sialylated LacNAc (99).

sKl removal of terminal  $\alpha$ 2,6-sialic acids from TRPV5 *N*-glycan chains exposes LacNAc residues which bind EC galectin-1 present on the cell surface (15). The binding of galectin-1 to TRPV5 prevents endocytosis and leads to channel accumulation on the cell membrane (15). In general, the affinity for binding galectin-1 is enhanced by the polymeric structure of LacNAc in the *N*-glycan chains. Functional TRPV5 channels have a tetrameric stoichiometry which increases *N*-glycan number, polymeric LacNAc, and the affinity of TRPV5 for galectin-1 (100, 101).

In addition to TRPV5, sKl regulates other ion channels and transporters in the kidney by modifying their *N*-glycan chains. sKl increases the cell-membrane abundance of renal outer medullary potassium channel 1 (ROMK1) by removing terminal  $\alpha$ 2,6-sialic acids from *N*-glycans of the channel (16). Like TRPV5, removal of  $\alpha$ 2,6-sialic acids exposes underlying LacNAc which binds galectin-1 to prevent ROMK1 endocytosis leading to accumulation of functional channel on the plasma membrane (16). Together with the finding that sKl regulates membrane lipid rafts by binding sialogangliosides, targeting sialic acids may be a general mechanism for pleiotropic actions of sKl. How sKl appears in the urinary lumen remains unclear. Possibilities include shedding of mKl present in the apical membrane of tubular epithelial cells (if present) or *via* transcytosis from the systemic circulation across the proximal and distal renal tubules (102). Finally, it

should be noted that apically localized mKL could conceivably act on TRPV5 or ROMK1 *in situ*.

# FGF23-INDEPENDENT CARDIOPROTECTION BY sKI

Cardiac hypertrophy is highly prevalent in patients with chronic kidney disease (CKD) and associated with increased mortality risk (103-106). Conventional risk factors, such as hypertension and volume overload, play important roles in the development of cardiac hypertrophy in CKD (104, 106-108). In addition, multiple CKD-specific risk factors increase the likelihood of cardiac hypertrophy including elevated circulating FGF23 levels and phosphate retention (104, 109). Circulating FGF23 concentrations increase progressively during early and intermediate stages of CKD and can reach levels that are 1,000 times above normal by late stage CKD (110-112). Elevated FGF23 levels in CKD are considered a compensatory mechanism to counteract hyperphosphatemia (113). However, chronically elevated FGF23 levels may become maladaptive to directly stimulate cardiomyocyte growth and induce cardiac hypertrophy in patients with CKD (111).

Soluble klotho levels decline during CKD, which suggests it is a biomarker for CKD diagnosis (114, 115). Studies have shown that the decline in sKl in CKD may be an independent risk factor for CKD-associated cardiac hypertrophy (109). The cardioprotective effects of sKl were investigated using a recognized model of stress-induced cardiac hypertrophy that involves overstimulation by the non-selective β-adrenoreceptor agonist isoproterenol (ISO) (84, 116, 117). Pathological heart growth was induced by ISO in WT mice as reflected by increases in heart size, heart weight indices (heart weight-to-body weight ratio or heart weight-to-tibia length ratio), cardiac fibrosis, and cardiac hypertrophic genes, and these ISO-induced increases were aggravated in klotho<sup>-/-</sup> mice (84). Additional studies revealed that klotho deficiency aggravated cardiac hypertrophy in CKD mice, in a manner completely independent of phosphate and/or FGF23 (118). Recombinant klotho ameliorated CKD-associated cardiac hypertrophy without significantly altering serum phosphate and/ or FGF23 levels (118). Thus, sKl deficiency is an important risk factor for CKD-associated cardiac hypertrophy independently of the effects of hyperphosphatemia and FGF23.

Injury and stress induce pathological growth and remodeling of the heart. One important regulatory pathway in the development



**FIGURE 2** | Working model for cardioprotection by soluble klotho (sKl). In the systolic phase,  $Ca^{2+}$  (light blue dot) enters through L-type  $Ca^{2+}$  channels (LCC) in the T-tube and initiates  $Ca^{2+}$ -induced  $Ca^{2+}$  release (CICR) from ryanodine receptors (RyR). This process results in increased intracellular [ $Ca^{2+}$ ] to  $\geq 10 \mu$ M to trigger cardiac contraction (i.e., contractile  $Ca^{2+}$ ). Pathological cardiac remodeling and hypertrophy are triggered by compartmentalized abnormally elevated  $Ca^{2+}$  levels, called signaling  $Ca^{2+}$ . Perinuclear/nuclear  $Ca^{2+}$  released from inositol trisphosphate receptor (IP3R) present in the nuclear envelope activates CaMKII–HDAC–MEF2 nuclear signaling cascade. CaMKII,  $Ca^{2+}$ /calmodulin-dependent protein kinase II; HDAC, histone deacetylase; MEF2, myocyte-enhancer factor-2. Activation of the TRPC6–CaN–NFAT signaling cascade originated from the sarcolemmal TRPC6 channels amplify and sustain cardiac hypertrophic gene expression through a feed-forward circuit [see text for details; calcineurin (CaN)]. Phosphoinositide 3-kinase (PI3K)–Akt signaling is important for exocytotic insertion of TRPC6-containing vesicles. sKl binds to gangliosides GM1 and GM3 (purple ovale) present in the membrane lipid rafts (green–gray shaded area) to inhibit raft-dependent PI3K signaling and TRPC6 channel function. Note that TRPC6 is localized to the lipid raft membrane microdomain.

of pathological cardiac hypertrophy involves calcium-mediated activation of the calmodulin-dependent serine-threonine protein phosphatase calcineurin (119). Activated calcineurin dephosphorylates nuclear factor of activated T cells (NFAT) and causes its translocation to the nucleus where it activates cardiac genes involved in hypertrophic growth (119). Calcium influx through multiple TRPC channels is involved in calcineurin signaling and cardiac hypertrophy (120-122). TRPC6 contains NFATresponsive elements in its promoter, which helps to amplify and sustain cardiac hypertrophic gene expression through a feed-forward circuit (122). Cardiac TRPC channel expression is increased in stress-induced hypertrophic hearts and downregulation of TRPC channels protects against cardiac hypertrophy (123). Thus, TRPC6 is an important mediator of cardiac hypertrophy and may be a therapeutic target. Studies in both ISO-induced cardiac hypertrophy and CKD models supported that  $\alpha$ -Klotho protects the heart by downregulating growth factor-driven PI3Kdependent exocytosis of TRPC6 (84, 118).

One important question related to sKl protection of the heart independently of the FGF23-FGF receptor axis is how sKl inhibits PI3K signaling to downregulate TRPC6 in the heart. In other words, what is the receptor that mediates sKl action to inhibit PI3K signaling? Given that FGF23 also activates the PI3K and NFAT signaling cascade and that FGF23 levels are elevated in CKD patients, questions may be raised as to whether cardioprotection observed by administration of sKl is due to binding and neutralization of circulating FGF23. The studies discussed earlier that sKl binds membrane lipid rafts and inhibits raft-dependent PI3K signaling and TRPC6 function provide further support that cardioprotection by sKl is via its own membrane receptors and is independent of FGF23 (Figure 2). Finally, other mechanisms for sKl to elicit cellular responses besides via binding to gangliosides in lipid rafts, such as direct interaction with IGF-1 receptors and TGF- $\beta$  receptors are also possible (124, 125).

#### REFERENCES

- Kuro-o M, Matsumura Y, Aizawa H, Kawaguchi H, Suga T, Utsugi T, et al. Mutation of the mouse klotho gene leads to a syndrome resembling ageing. *Nature* (1997) 390:45–51. doi:10.1038/36285
- Kurosu H, Yamamoto M, Clark JD, Pastor JV, Nandi A, Gurnani P, et al. Suppression of aging in mice by the hormone Klotho. *Science* (2005) 309:1829–33. doi:10.1126/science.1112766
- Yamamoto M, Clark JD, Pastor JV, Gurnani P, Nandi A, Kurosu H, et al. Regulation of oxidative stress by the anti-aging hormone klotho. *J Biol Chem* (2005) 280:38029–34. doi:10.1074/jbc.M509039200
- Yamazaki Y, Imura A, Urakawa I, Shimada T, Murakami J, Aono Y, et al. Establishment of sandwich ELISA for soluble alpha-klotho measurement: age-dependent change of soluble alpha-klotho levels in healthy subjects. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun* (2010) 398:513–8. doi:10.1016/j. bbrc.2010.06.110
- Arking DE, Krebsova A, Macek M Sr, Macek M Jr, Arking A, Mian IS, et al. Association of human aging with a functional variant of klotho. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* (2002) 99:856–61. doi:10.1073/pnas.022484299
- Arking DE, Becker DM, Yanek LR, Fallin D, Judge DP, Moy TF, et al. KLOTHO allele status and the risk of early-onset occult coronary artery disease. Am J Hum Genet (2003) 72:1154–61. doi:10.1086/375035
- 7. Arking DE, Atzmon G, Arking A, Barzilai N, Dietz HC. Association between a functional variant of the KLOTHO gene and high-density lipoprotein

# CONCLUSION AND FUTURE PERSPECTIVES

Identification of membrane lipid rafts and sialogangliosides as receptors have provided new insights into our understanding of how sKl works as a circulating hormone or local autocrine/ paracrine factor to exert pleiotropic actions. As in the case of regulation of TRPV5 channels, sKl may target sialic acids to exert its action in different contexts. Other potential mechanisms also exist. Moving forward, it will be important to elucidate the crystal structure of sKl with or without its ligands, which will help with development of smaller active domains of sKl and/or klotho-mimetic for therapeutics. Further understanding of sKl secretion/shedding, regulation, and distribution, as well as handling and pharmacokinetics of endogenous and exogenously administered klotho are also important.

### **AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS**

GD, JX, S-WA, and C-LH made substantial contributions to the conception and design of the manuscript, were involved in drafting of the work and critical review for important intellectual content, involved in final approval of the version of the manuscript to be published, and agreed to be accountable for all aspects of the work ensuring that all questions related to the accuracy or integrity of any part of the work will be investigated and resolved.

#### ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

Authors were supported in part by NIH Grants DK109887, DK100605, and DK111542 (to C-LH). C-LH is recipient of Roy J. Carver Chair in Internal Medicine, University of Iowa Carver College of Medicine.

cholesterol, blood pressure, stroke, and longevity. *Circ Res* (2005) 96:412-8. doi:10.1161/01.RES.0000157171.04054.30

- Kawano K, Ogata N, Chiano M, Molloy H, Kleyn P, Spector TD, et al. Klotho gene polymorphisms associated with bone density of aged postmenopausal women. *J Bone Miner Res* (2002) 17:1744–51. doi:10.1359/ jbmr.2002.17.10.1744
- Duce JA, Podvin S, Hollander W, Kipling D, Rosene DL, Abraham CR. Gene profile analysis implicates klotho as an important contributor to aging changes in brain white matter of the rhesus monkey. *Glia* (2008) 56:106–17. doi:10.1002/glia.20593
- McCarter JD, Withers SG. Mechanisms of enzymatic glycoside hydrolysis. Curr Opin Struct Biol (1994) 4:885–92. doi:10.1016/0959-440X(94)90271-2
- Davies G, Henrissat B. Structures and mechanisms of glycosyl hydrolases. Structure (1995) 3:853–9. doi:10.1016/S0969-2126(01)00220-9
- 12. Rye CS, Withers SG. Glycosidase mechanisms. *Curr Opin Chem Biol* (2000) 4:573–80. doi:10.1016/S1367-5931(00)00135-6
- Tohyama O, Imura A, Iwano A, Freund JN, Henrissat B, Fujimori T, et al. Klotho is a novel beta-glucuronidase capable of hydrolyzing steroid betaglucuronides. J Biol Chem (2004) 279:9777–84. doi:10.1074/jbc.M312392200
- Chang Q, Hoefs S, van der Kemp AW, Topala CN, Bindels RJ, Hoenderop JG. The beta-glucuronidase klotho hydrolyzes and activates the TRPV5 channel. *Science* (2005) 310:490–3. doi:10.1126/science.1114245
- Cha SK, Ortega B, Kurosu H, Rosenblatt KP, Kuro OM, Huang CL. Removal of sialic acid involving klotho causes cell-surface retention of TRPV5 channel

via binding to galectin-1. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A (2008) 105:9805-10. doi:10.1073/pnas.0803223105

- Cha SK, Hu MC, Kurosu H, Kuro-o M, Moe O, Huang CL. Regulation of renal outer medullary potassium channel and renal K(+) excretion by klotho. *Mol Pharmacol* (2009) 76:38–46. doi:10.1124/mol.109.055780
- Matsumura Y, Aizawa H, Shiraki-Iida T, Nagai R, Kuro-o M, Nabeshima Y. Identification of the human klotho gene and its two transcripts encoding membrane and secreted klotho protein. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun* (1998) 242:626–30. doi:10.1006/bbrc.1997.8019
- Shiraki-Iida T, Aizawa H, Matsumura Y, Sekine S, Iida A, Anazawa H, et al. Structure of the mouse klotho gene and its two transcripts encoding membrane and secreted protein. *FEBS Lett* (1998) 424:6–10. doi:10.1016/ S0014-5793(98)00127-6
- Kurosu H, Ogawa Y, Miyoshi M, Yamamoto M, Nandi A, Rosenblatt KP, et al. Regulation of fibroblast growth factor-23 signaling by klotho. *J Biol Chem* (2006) 281:6120–3. doi:10.1074/jbc.C500457200
- Urakawa I, Yamazaki Y, Shimada T, Iijima K, Hasegawa H, Okawa K, et al. Klotho converts canonical FGF receptor into a specific receptor for FGF23. *Nature* (2006) 444:770–4. doi:10.1038/nature05315
- Chen CD, Podvin S, Gillespie E, Leeman SE, Abraham CR. Insulin stimulates the cleavage and release of the extracellular domain of klotho by ADAM10 and ADAM17. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* (2007) 104:19796–801. doi:10.1073/ pnas.0709805104
- Bloch L, Sineshchekova O, Reichenbach D, Reiss K, Saftig P, Kuro-o M, et al. Klotho is a substrate for alpha-, beta- and gamma-secretase. *FEBS Lett* (2009) 583:3221–4. doi:10.1016/j.febslet.2009.09.009
- Imura A, Iwano A, Tohyama O, Tsuji Y, Nozaki K, Hashimoto N, et al. Secreted klotho protein in sera and CSF: implication for post-translational cleavage in release of klotho protein from cell membrane. *FEBS Lett* (2004) 565:143–7. doi:10.1016/j.febslet.2004.03.090
- Akimoto T, Yoshizawa H, Watanabe Y, Numata A, Yamazaki T, Takeshima E, et al. Characteristics of urinary and serum soluble klotho protein in patients with different degrees of chronic kidney disease. *BMC Nephrol* (2012) 13:155. doi:10.1186/1471-2369-13-155
- Chen CD, Tung TY, Liang J, Zeldich E, Tucker Zhou TB, Turk BE, et al. Identification of cleavage sites leading to the shed form of the anti-aging protein klotho. *Biochemistry* (2014) 53:5579–87. doi:10.1021/bi500409n
- Krajisnik T, Olauson H, Mirza MA, Hellman P, Akerstrom G, Westin G, et al. Parathyroid klotho and FGF-receptor 1 expression decline with renal function in hyperparathyroid patients with chronic kidney disease and kidney transplant recipients. *Kidney Int* (2010) 78:1024–32. doi:10.1038/ki.2010.260
- Lim K, Lu TS, Molostvov G, Lee C, Lam FT, Zehnder D, et al. Vascular klotho deficiency potentiates the development of human artery calcification and mediates resistance to fibroblast growth factor 23. *Circulation* (2012) 125:2243–55. doi:10.1161/CIRCULATIONAHA.111.053405
- Lim K, Groen A, Molostvov G, Lu T, Lilley KS, Snead D, et al. alpha-Klotho expression in human tissues. *J Clin Endocrinol Metab* (2015) 100:E1308–18. doi:10.1210/jc.2015-1800
- 29. Ito S, Fujimori T, Hayashizaki Y, Nabeshima Y. Identification of a novel mouse membrane-bound family 1 glycosidase-like protein, which carries an atypical active site structure. *Biochim Biophys Acta* (2002) 1576:341–5. doi:10.1016/S0167-4781(02)00281-6
- 30. Ito S, Kinoshita S, Shiraishi N, Nakagawa S, Sekine S, Fujimori T, et al. Molecular cloning and expression analyses of mouse betaklotho, which encodes a novel klotho family protein. *Mech Dev* (2000) 98:115–9. doi:10.1016/S0925-4773(00)00439-1
- Kurosu H, Kuro OM. The klotho gene family as a regulator of endocrine fibroblast growth factors. *Mol Cell Endocrinol* (2009) 299:72–8. doi:10.1016/j. mce.2008.10.052
- Kuro-o M. Klotho as a regulator of fibroblast growth factor signaling and phosphate/calcium metabolism. *Curr Opin Nephrol Hypertens* (2006) 15:437–41. doi:10.1097/01.mnh.0000232885.81142.83
- Kuro OM. The FGF23 and klotho system beyond mineral metabolism. Clin Exp Nephrol (2017) 21:64–9. doi:10.1007/s10157-016-1357-6
- Kenyon C. The plasticity of aging: insights from long-lived mutants. *Cell* (2005) 120:449–60. doi:10.1016/j.cell.2005.02.002
- Kops GJ, Dansen TB, Polderman PE, Saarloos I, Wirtz KW, Coffer PJ, et al. Forkhead transcription factor FOXO3a protects quiescent cells from oxidative stress. *Nature* (2002) 419:316–21. doi:10.1038/nature01036

- Ikushima M, Rakugi H, Ishikawa K, Maekawa Y, Yamamoto K, Ohta J, et al. Anti-apoptotic and anti-senescence effects of klotho on vascular endothelial cells. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun* (2006) 339:827–32. doi:10.1016/j. bbrc.2005.11.094
- Rakugi H, Matsukawa N, Ishikawa K, Yang J, Imai M, Ikushima M, et al. Anti-oxidative effect of klotho on endothelial cells through cAMP activation. *Endocrine* (2007) 31:82–7. doi:10.1007/s12020-007-0016-9
- Maekawa Y, Ohishi M, Ikushima M, Yamamoto K, Yasuda O, Oguro R, et al. Klotho protein diminishes endothelial apoptosis and senescence via a mitogen-activated kinase pathway. *Geriatr Gerontol Int* (2011) 11:510–6. doi:10.1111/j.1447-0594.2011.00699.x
- Wang Y, Kuro-o M, Sun Z. Klotho gene delivery suppresses Nox2 expression and attenuates oxidative stress in rat aortic smooth muscle cells via the cAMP-PKA pathway. *Aging Cell* (2012) 11:410–7. doi:10.1111/j.1474-9726.2012.00796.x
- Ravikumar P, Ye J, Zhang J, Pinch SN, Hu MC, Kuro-o M, et al. alpha-Klotho protects against oxidative damage in pulmonary epithelia. *Am J Physiol Lung Cell Mol Physiol* (2014) 307:L566–75. doi:10.1152/ajplung.00306.2013
- Hsieh CC, Kuro-o M, Rosenblatt KP, Brobey R, Papaconstantinou J. The ASK1-signalosome regulates p38 MAPK activity in response to levels of endogenous oxidative stress in the klotho mouse models of aging. *Aging* (*Albany NY*) (2010) 2:597–611. doi:10.18632/aging.100194
- Brobey RK, German D, Sonsalla PK, Gurnani P, Pastor J, Hsieh CC, et al. Klotho protects dopaminergic neuron oxidant-induced degeneration by modulating ASK1 and p38 MAPK signaling pathways. *PLoS One* (2015) 10:e0139914. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0139914
- Semba RD, Cappola AR, Sun K, Bandinelli S, Dalal M, Crasto C, et al. Plasma klotho and cardiovascular disease in adults. J Am Geriatr Soc (2011) 59:1596–601. doi:10.1111/j.1532-5415.2011.03558.x
- Saito Y, Yamagishi T, Nakamura T, Ohyama Y, Aizawa H, Suga T, et al. Klotho protein protects against endothelial dysfunction. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun* (1998) 248:324–9. doi:10.1006/bbrc.1998.8943
- Esper RJ, Nordaby RA, Vilarino JO, Paragano A, Cacharron JL, Machado RA. Endothelial dysfunction: a comprehensive appraisal. *Cardiovasc Diabetol* (2006) 5:4. doi:10.1186/1475-2840-5-4
- Sitia S, Tomasoni L, Atzeni F, Ambrosio G, Cordiano C, Catapano A, et al. From endothelial dysfunction to atherosclerosis. *Autoimmun Rev* (2010) 9:830–4. doi:10.1016/j.autrev.2010.07.016
- Nakamura T, Saito Y, Ohyama Y, Masuda H, Sumino H, Kuro-o M, et al. Production of nitric oxide, but not prostacyclin, is reduced in klotho mice. *Jpn J Pharmacol* (2002) 89:149–56. doi:10.1254/jjp.89.149
- Saito Y, Nakamura T, Ohyama Y, Suzuki T, Iida A, Shiraki-Iida T, et al. In vivo klotho gene delivery protects against endothelial dysfunction in multiple risk factor syndrome. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun* (2000) 276:767–72. doi:10.1006/bbrc.2000.3470
- Boo YC, Hwang J, Sykes M, Michell BJ, Kemp BE, Lum H, et al. Shear stress stimulates phosphorylation of eNOS at Ser(635) by a protein kinase A-dependent mechanism. *Am J Physiol Heart Circ Physiol* (2002) 283:H1819–28. doi:10.1152/ajpheart.00214.2002
- Boo YC, Sorescu G, Boyd N, Shiojima I, Walsh K, Du J, et al. Shear stress stimulates phosphorylation of endothelial nitric-oxide synthase at Ser1179 by Akt-independent mechanisms: role of protein kinase A. *J Biol Chem* (2002) 277:3388–96. doi:10.1074/jbc.M108789200
- Zhang XP, Tada H, Wang Z, Hintze TH. cAMP signal transduction, a potential compensatory pathway for coronary endothelial NO production after heart failure. *Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol* (2002) 22:1273–8. doi:10.1161/01. ATV.0000025429.67378.65
- Nilius B, Droogmans G. Ion channels and their functional role in vascular endothelium. *Physiol Rev* (2001) 81:1415–59.
- 53. Kusaba T, Okigaki M, Matui A, Murakami M, Ishikawa K, Kimura T, et al. Klotho is associated with VEGF receptor-2 and the transient receptor potential canonical-1 Ca2+ channel to maintain endothelial integrity. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* (2010) 107:19308–13. doi:10.1073/pnas.1008544107
- Galkina E, Ley K. Vascular adhesion molecules in atherosclerosis. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol (2007) 27:2292–301. doi:10.1161/ATVBAHA.107.149179
- Trepels T, Zeiher AM, Fichtlscherer S. The endothelium and inflammation. Endothelium (2006) 13:423–9. doi:10.1080/10623320601061862
- 56. Maekawa Y, Ishikawa K, Yasuda O, Oguro R, Hanasaki H, Kida I, et al. Klotho suppresses TNF-alpha-induced expression of adhesion molecules

in the endothelium and attenuates NF-kappaB activation. *Endocrine* (2009) 35:341–6. doi:10.1007/s12020-009-9181-3

- Wolf I, Levanon-Cohen S, Bose S, Ligumsky H, Sredni B, Kanety H, et al. Klotho: a tumor suppressor and a modulator of the IGF-1 and FGF pathways in human breast cancer. *Oncogene* (2008) 27:7094–105. doi:10.1038/ onc.2008.292
- Lee J, Jeong DJ, Kim J, Lee S, Park JH, Chang B, et al. The anti-aging gene KLOTHO is a novel target for epigenetic silencing in human cervical carcinoma. *Mol Cancer* (2010) 9:109. doi:10.1186/1476-4598-9-109
- Abramovitz L, Rubinek T, Ligumsky H, Bose S, Barshack I, Avivi C, et al. KL1 internal repeat mediates klotho tumor suppressor activities and inhibits bFGF and IGF-I signaling in pancreatic cancer. *Clin Cancer Res* (2011) 17:4254–66. doi:10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-10-2749
- Camilli TC, Xu M, O'Connell MP, Chien B, Frank BP, Subaran S, et al. Loss of klotho during melanoma progression leads to increased filamin cleavage, increased Wnt5A expression, and enhanced melanoma cell motility. *Pigment Cell Melanoma Res* (2011) 24:175–86. doi:10.1111/j.1755-148X.2010.00792.x
- Wang L, Wang X, Jie P, Lu H, Zhang S, Lin X, et al. Klotho is silenced through promoter hypermethylation in gastric cancer. *Am J Cancer Res* (2011) 1:111–9.
- Pan J, Zhong J, Gan LH, Chen SJ, Jin HC, Wang X, et al. Klotho, an antisenescence related gene, is frequently inactivated through promoter hypermethylation in colorectal cancer. *Tumour Biol* (2011) 32:729–35. doi:10.1007/s13277-011-0174-5
- Rubinek T, Shulman M, Israeli S, Bose S, Avraham A, Zundelevich A, et al. Epigenetic silencing of the tumor suppressor klotho in human breast cancer. Breast Cancer Res Treat (2012) 133:649–57. doi:10.1007/s10549-011-1824-4
- 64. Chen B, Ma X, Liu S, Zhao W, Wu J. Inhibition of lung cancer cells growth, motility and induction of apoptosis by klotho, a novel secreted Wnt antagonist, in a dose-dependent manner. *Cancer Biol Ther* (2012) 13:1221–8. doi:10.4161/cbt.21420
- Xie B, Zhou J, Shu G, Liu DC, Chen J, Yuan L. Restoration of klotho gene expression induces apoptosis and autophagy in gastric cancer cells: tumor suppressive role of klotho in gastric cancer. *Cancer Cell Int* (2013) 13:18. doi:10.1186/1475-2867-13-18
- Gigante M, Lucarelli G, Divella C, Netti GS, Pontrelli P, Cafiero C, et al. Soluble serum alphaKlotho is a potential predictive marker of disease progression in clear cell renal cell carcinoma. *Medicine (Baltimore)* (2015) 94:e1917. doi:10.1097/MD.000000000001917
- Lojkin I, Rubinek T, Orsulic S, Schwarzmann O, Karlan BY, Bose S, et al. Reduced expression and growth inhibitory activity of the aging suppressor klotho in epithelial ovarian cancer. *Cancer Lett* (2015) 362:149–57. doi:10.1016/j.canlet.2015.03.035
- Perri F, Longo F, Giuliano M, Sabbatino F, Favia G, Ionna F, et al. Epigenetic control of gene expression: potential implications for cancer treatment. *Crit Rev Oncol Hematol* (2017) 111:166–72. doi:10.1016/j.critrevonc.2017.01.020
- He XJ, Ma YY, Yu S, Jiang XT, Lu YD, Tao L, et al. Up-regulated miR-199a-5p in gastric cancer functions as an oncogene and targets klotho. *BMC Cancer* (2014) 14:218. doi:10.1186/1471-2407-14-218
- Huang J, Sun C, Wang S, He Q, Li D. microRNA miR-10b inhibition reduces cell proliferation and promotes apoptosis in non-small cell lung cancer (NSCLC) cells. *Mol Biosyst* (2015) 11:2051–9. doi:10.1039/c4mb00752b
- 71. Ray A, Alalem M, Ray BK. Insulin signaling network in cancer. *Indian J Biochem Biophys* (2014) 51:493–8.
- Pollak MN, Schernhammer ES, Hankinson SE. Insulin-like growth factors and neoplasia. Nat Rev Cancer (2004) 4:505–18. doi:10.1038/nrc1387
- Chen B, Wang X, Zhao W, Wu J. Klotho inhibits growth and promotes apoptosis in human lung cancer cell line A549. J Exp Clin Cancer Res (2010) 29:99. doi:10.1186/1756-9966-29-99
- 74. Shu G, Xie B, Ren F, Liu DC, Zhou J, Li Q, et al. Restoration of klotho expression induces apoptosis and autophagy in hepatocellular carcinoma cells. *Cell Oncol (Dordr)* (2013) 36:121–9. doi:10.1007/s13402-012-0118-0
- Li XX, Huang LY, Peng JJ, Liang L, Shi DB, Zheng HT, et al. Klotho suppresses growth and invasion of colon cancer cells through inhibition of IGF1Rmediated PI3K/AKT pathway. *Int J Oncol* (2014) 45:611–8. doi:10.3892/ ijo.2014.2430
- 76. Ligumsky H, Rubinek T, Merenbakh-Lamin K, Yeheskel A, Sertchook R, Shahmoon S, et al. Tumor suppressor activity of klotho in breast cancer is

revealed by structure-function analysis. *Mol Cancer Res* (2015) 13:1398–407. doi:10.1158/1541-7786.MCR-15-0141

- 77. Polakis P. Wnt signaling and cancer. Genes Dev (2000) 14:1837–51.
- Klaus A, Birchmeier W. Wnt signalling and its impact on development and cancer. Nat Rev Cancer (2008) 8:387–98. doi:10.1038/nrc2389
- Liu H, Fergusson MM, Castilho RM, Liu J, Cao L, Chen J, et al. Augmented Wnt signaling in a mammalian model of accelerated aging. *Science* (2007) 317:803–6. doi:10.1126/science.1143578
- Tang X, Wang Y, Fan Z, Ji G, Wang M, Lin J, et al. Klotho: a tumor suppressor and modulator of the Wnt/beta-catenin pathway in human hepatocellular carcinoma. *Lab Invest* (2016) 96:197–205. doi:10.1038/labinvest.2015.86
- Ganapathy V, Ge R, Grazioli A, Xie W, Banach-Petrosky W, Kang Y, et al. Targeting the transforming growth factor-beta pathway inhibits human basal-like breast cancer metastasis. *Mol Cancer* (2010) 9:122. doi:10.1186/1476-4598-9-122
- Doi S, Zou Y, Togao O, Pastor JV, John GB, Wang L, et al. Klotho inhibits transforming growth factor-beta1 (TGF-beta1) signaling and suppresses renal fibrosis and cancer metastasis in mice. *J Biol Chem* (2011) 286:8655–65. doi:10.1074/jbc.M110.174037
- Dalton G, An SW, Al-Juboori SI, Nischan N, Yoon J, Dobrinskikh E, et al. Soluble klotho binds monosialoganglioside to regulate membrane microdomains and growth factor signaling. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* (2017) 114:752–7. doi:10.1073/pnas.1620301114
- Xie J, Cha SK, An SW, Kuro OM, Birnbaumer L, Huang CL. Cardioprotection by klotho through downregulation of TRPC6 channels in the mouse heart. *Nat Commun* (2012) 3:1238. doi:10.1038/ncomms2240
- Cohen M, Varki A. Modulation of glycan recognition by clustered saccharide patches. *Int Rev Cell Mol Biol* (2014) 308:75–125. doi:10.1016/ B978-0-12-800097-7.00003-8
- Tucker Zhou TB, King GD, Chen C, Abraham CR. Biochemical and functional characterization of the klotho-VS polymorphism implicated in aging and disease risk. *J Biol Chem* (2013) 288:36302–11. doi:10.1074/jbc. M113.490052
- Wright JD, An SW, Xie J, Yoon J, Nischan N, Kohler JJ, et al. Modeled structural basis for the recognition of alpha2-3-sialyllactose by soluble klotho. *FASEB J* (2017) 31:3574–86. doi:10.1096/fj.201700043R
- Yoshida T, Fujimori T, Nabeshima Y. Mediation of unusually high concentrations of 1,25-dihydroxyvitamin D in homozygous klotho mutant mice by increased expression of renal 1alpha-hydroxylase gene. *Endocrinology* (2002) 143:683–9. doi:10.1210/endo.143.2.8657
- Hoenderop JG, Nilius B, Bindels RJ. Molecular mechanism of active Ca2+ reabsorption in the distal nephron. *Annu Rev Physiol* (2002) 64:529–49. doi:10.1146/annurev.physiol.64.081501.155921
- Hoenderop JG, Hartog A, Stuiver M, Doucet A, Willems PH, Bindels RJ. Localization of the epithelial Ca(2+) channel in rabbit kidney and intestine. *J Am Soc Nephrol* (2000) 11:1171–8.
- Loffing J, Loffing-Cueni D, Valderrabano V, Klausli L, Hebert SC, Rossier BC, et al. Distribution of transcellular calcium and sodium transport pathways along mouse distal nephron. *Am J Physiol Renal Physiol* (2001) 281:F1021–7. doi:10.1152/ajprenal.0085.2001
- Huang CL, Moe OW. Klotho: a novel regulator of calcium and phosphorus homeostasis. *Pflugers Arch* (2011) 462:185–93.doi:10.1007/s00424-011-0950-5
- Stanley P, Schachter H, Taniguchi N. N-glycans. In: Varki A, Cummings RD, Esko JD, Freeze HH, Stanley P, Bertozzi CR, et al., editors. *Essentials* of Glycobiology. (Chap. 8), Cold Spring Harbor, NY: Cold Spring Harbor Laboratory Press (2009). p. 101–14.
- 94. Tsuji S. Molecular cloning and functional analysis of sialyltransferases. *J Biochem* (1996) 120:1–13. doi:10.1093/oxfordjournals.jbchem.a021369
- Harduin-Lepers A, Vallejo-Ruiz V, Krzewinski-Recchi MA, Samyn-Petit B, Julien S, Delannoy P. The human sialyltransferase family. *Biochimie* (2001) 83:727–37. doi:10.1016/S0300-9084(01)01301-3
- Bhide GP, Colley KJ. Sialylation of N-glycans: mechanism, cellular compartmentalization and function. *Histochem Cell Biol* (2017) 147:149–74. doi:10.1007/s00418-016-1520-x
- 97. Hughes RC. The galectin family of mammalian carbohydrate-binding molecules. *Biochem Soc Trans* (1997) 25:1194–8. doi:10.1042/bst0251194
- Liu FT, Patterson RJ, Wang JL. Intracellular functions of galectins. *Biochim Biophys Acta* (2002) 1572:263–73. doi:10.1016/S0304-4165(02)00313-6

- 99. Leppanen A, Stowell S, Blixt O, Cummings RD. Dimeric galectin-1 binds with high affinity to alpha2,3-sialylated and non-sialylated terminal N-acetyllactosamine units on surface-bound extended glycans. *J Biol Chem* (2005) 280:5549–62. doi:10.1074/jbc.M412019200
- Nabi IR, Shankar J, Dennis JW. The galectin lattice at a glance. J Cell Sci (2015) 128:2213–9. doi:10.1242/jcs.151159
- Hoenderop JG, Voets T, Hoefs S, Weidema F, Prenen J, Nilius B, et al. Homoand heterotetrameric architecture of the epithelial Ca2+ channels TRPV5 and TRPV6. *EMBO J* (2003) 22:776–85. doi:10.1093/emboj/cdg080
- Hu MC, Shi M, Zhang J, Addo T, Cho HJ, Barker SL, et al. Renal production, uptake, and handling of circulating alphaKlotho. J Am Soc Nephrol (2016) 27:79–90. doi:10.1681/ASN.2014101030
- 103. Go AS, Chertow GM, Fan D, McCulloch CE, Hsu CY. Chronic kidney disease and the risks of death, cardiovascular events, and hospitalization. N Engl J Med (2004) 351:1296–305. doi:10.1056/NEJMoa041031
- 104. Taddei S, Nami R, Bruno RM, Quatrini I, Nuti R. Hypertension, left ventricular hypertrophy and chronic kidney disease. *Heart Fail Rev* (2011) 16:615–20. doi:10.1007/s10741-010-9197-z
- 105. Gross ML, Ritz E. Hypertrophy and fibrosis in the cardiomyopathy of uremia – beyond coronary heart disease. *Semin Dial* (2008) 21:308–18. doi:10.1111/j.1525-139X.2008.00454.x
- Glassock RJ, Pecoits-Filho R, Barberato SH. Left ventricular mass in chronic kidney disease and ESRD. *Clin J Am Soc Nephrol* (2009) 4(Suppl 1):S79–91. doi:10.2215/CJN.04860709
- Middleton RJ, Parfrey PS, Foley RN. Left ventricular hypertrophy in the renal patient. J Am Soc Nephrol (2001) 12:1079–84.
- London GM. Cardiovascular disease in chronic renal failure: pathophysiologic aspects. Semin Dial (2003) 16:85–94. doi:10.1046/j.1525-139X.2003.16023.x
- 109. Xie J, Wu YL, Huang CL. Deficiency of soluble alpha-Klotho as an independent cause of uremic cardiomyopathy. *Vitam Horm* (2016) 101:311–30. doi:10.1016/bs.vh.2016.02.010
- 110. Gutierrez OM, Januzzi JL, Isakova T, Laliberte K, Smith K, Collerone G, et al. Fibroblast growth factor 23 and left ventricular hypertrophy in chronic kidney disease. *Circulation* (2009) 119:2545–52. doi:10.1161/CIRCULATIONAHA.108.844506
- 111. Faul C, Amaral AP, Oskouei B, Hu MC, Sloan A, Isakova T, et al. FGF23 induces left ventricular hypertrophy. *J Clin Invest* (2011) 121:4393–408. doi:10.1172/JCI46122
- 112. Fliser D, Kollerits B, Neyer U, Ankerst DP, Lhotta K, Lingenhel A, et al. Fibroblast growth factor 23 (FGF23) predicts progression of chronic kidney disease: the mild to moderate kidney disease (MMKD) study. J Am Soc Nephrol (2007) 18:2600–8. doi:10.1681/ASN.2006080936
- Kuro-o M. Klotho, phosphate and FGF-23 in ageing and disturbed mineral metabolism. Nat Rev Nephrol (2013) 9:650–60. doi:10.1038/nrneph.2013.111
- 114. Koh N, Fujimori T, Nishiguchi S, Tamori A, Shiomi S, Nakatani T, et al. Severely reduced production of klotho in human chronic renal failure kidney. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun* (2001) 280:1015–20. doi:10.1006/ bbrc.2000.4226

- 115. Shimamura Y, Hamada K, Inoue K, Ogata K, Ishihara M, Kagawa T, et al. Serum levels of soluble secreted alpha-Klotho are decreased in the early stages of chronic kidney disease, making it a probable novel biomarker for early diagnosis. *Clin Exp Nephrol* (2012) 16:722–9. doi:10.1007/s10157-012-0621-7
- 116. Boluyt MO, Long X, Eschenhagen T, Mende U, Schmitz W, Crow MT, et al. Isoproterenol infusion induces alterations in expression of hypertrophyassociated genes in rat heart. *Am J Physiol* (1995) 269:H638–47.
- 117. Takaki M. Cardiac mechanoenergetics for understanding isoproterenolinduced rat heart failure. *Pathophysiology* (2012) 19:163–70. doi:10.1016/j. pathophys.2012.04.004
- Xie J, Yoon J, An SW, Kuro-o M, Huang CL. Soluble klotho protects against uremic cardiomyopathy independently of fibroblast growth factor 23 and phosphate. J Am Soc Nephrol (2015) 26:1150–60. doi:10.1681/ ASN.2014040325
- Vega RB, Bassel-Duby R, Olson EN. Control of cardiac growth and function by calcineurin signaling. *J Biol Chem* (2003) 278:36981–4. doi:10.1074/jbc. R300023200
- Wu X, Eder P, Chang B, Molkentin JD. TRPC channels are necessary mediators of pathologic cardiac hypertrophy. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* (2010) 107:7000–5. doi:10.1073/pnas.1001825107
- 121. Bush EW, Hood DB, Papst PJ, Chapo JA, Minobe W, Bristow MR, et al. Canonical transient receptor potential channels promote cardiomyocyte hypertrophy through activation of calcineurin signaling. *J Biol Chem* (2006) 281:33487–96. doi:10.1074/jbc.M605536200
- 122. Kuwahara K, Wang Y, McAnally J, Richardson JA, Bassel-Duby R, Hill JA, et al. TRPC6 fulfills a calcineurin signaling circuit during pathologic cardiac remodeling. J Clin Invest (2006) 116:3114–26. doi:10.1172/JCI27702
- 123. Rowell J, Koitabashi N, Kass DA. TRP-ing up heart and vessels: canonical transient receptor potential channels and cardiovascular disease. J Cardiovasc Transl Res (2010) 3:516–24. doi:10.1007/s12265-010-9208-4
- Mollinedo F, Gajate C. Lipid rafts as major platforms for signaling regulation in cancer. *Adv Biol Regul* (2015) 57:130–46. doi:10.1016/j.jbior.2014. 10.003
- 125. Zuo W, Chen YG. Specific activation of mitogen-activated protein kinase by transforming growth factor-beta receptors in lipid rafts is required for epithelial cell plasticity. *Mol Biol Cell* (2009) 20:1020–9. doi:10.1091/mbc. E08-09-0898

**Conflict of Interest Statement:** The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2017 Dalton, Xie, An and Huang. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) or licensor are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





# FGF23 Actions on Target Tissues—With and Without Klotho

#### Beatrice Richter and Christian Faul\*

Division of Nephrology, Department of Medicine, The University of Alabama at Birmingham, Birmingham, AL, United States

Fibroblast growth factor (FGF) 23 is a phosphaturic hormone whose physiologic actions on target tissues are mediated by FGF receptors (FGFR) and klotho, which functions as a co-receptor that increases the binding affinity of FGF23 for FGFRs. By stimulating FGFR/klotho complexes in the kidney and parathyroid gland, FGF23 reduces renal phosphate uptake and secretion of parathyroid hormone, respectively, thereby acting as a key regulator of phosphate metabolism. Recently, it has been shown that FGF23 can also target cell types that lack klotho. This unconventional signaling event occurs in an FGFR-dependent manner, but involves other downstream signaling pathways than in "classic" klotho-expressing target organs. It appears that klotho-independent signaling mechanisms are only activated in the presence of high FGF23 concentrations and result in pathologic cellular changes. Therefore, it has been postulated that massive elevations in circulating levels of FGF23, as found in patients with chronic kidney disease, contribute to associated pathologies by targeting cells and tissues that lack klotho. This includes the induction of cardiac hypertrophy and fibrosis, the elevation of inflammatory cytokine expression in the liver, and the inhibition of neutrophil recruitment. Here, we describe the signaling and cellular events that are caused by FGF23 in tissues lacking klotho, and we discuss FGF23's potential role as a hormone with widespread pathologic actions. Since the soluble form of klotho can function as a circulating co-receptor for FGF23, we also discuss the potential inhibitory effects of soluble klotho on FGF23-mediated signaling which might-at least partially-underlie the pleiotropic tissue-protective functions of klotho.

Keywords: FGF23, klotho, fibroblast growth factor receptor 4, chronic kidney disease, cardiac hypertrophy, inflammation

### FGF23-A BRIEF INTRODUCTION

The family of fibroblast growth factors (FGF) consists of 22 members in humans, with a broad range of biological functions, including the regulation of embryonic development, organogenesis, and metabolism (1). FGFs are divided into seven subfamilies based on phylogenic analyses and overlapping structures (2). Members of the FGF19 subfamily, consisting of FGF19, FGF21, and FGF23, function as circulating hormones and are, therefore, termed endocrine FGFs (3, 4). Unlike paracrine FGFs, such as FGF1 or FGF2, endocrine FGFs share a characteristic structure and lack the heparin-binding domain in their C-terminus which enables their secretion, circulation, and action on distant target organs (5, 6).

#### OPEN ACCESS

#### Edited by:

Reinhold Gottfried Erben, Veterinärmedizinische Universität Wien, Austria

#### Reviewed by:

Hannes Olauson, Karolinska Institute (KI), Sweden Jan-Luuk Hillebrands, University Medical Center Groningen, Netherlands

> \***Correspondence:** Christian Faul cfaul@uabmc.edu

#### Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Molecular and Structural Endocrinology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Endocrinology

Received: 16 January 2018 Accepted: 06 April 2018 Published: 02 May 2018

#### Citation:

Richter B and Faul C (2018) FGF23 Actions on Target Tissues—With and Without Klotho. Front. Endocrinol. 9:189. doi: 10.3389/fendo.2018.00189

65

FGF23 is a bone-derived hormone that lowers serum phosphate levels (7-9). Dietary phosphate intake stimulates the production and secretion of FGF23 from osteocytes, and FGF23 directly targets the kidney to increase phosphate excretion by downregulating the cell surface expression of the sodiumdependent phosphate transporters, NaPi-2a and NaPi-2c, in the proximal tubule (10-14) (Figure 1). In addition, FGF23 reduces circulating levels of active vitamin D by inhibiting renal 1- $\alpha$ -hydroxylase (also called CYP27B1), the enzyme that converts the prehormone 25-hydroxyvitamin D into its active form, 1,25-dihydroxyvitamin D (1,25D), and by increasing the expression of 24-hydroxylase (also called CYP24A1), the enzyme that degrades 1,25D into inactive metabolites (10-14). In the parathyroid gland, FGF23 inhibits the secretion of parathyroid hormone (PTH) (15, 16) (Figure 1). FGF23's effects on reducing circulating levels of 1,25D and PTH further contribute to its phosphaturic actions (3, 17).

The biologically active form of FGF23 is a 32 kDa glycoprotein with a conserved N-terminus that shares homologies with the other FGF family members and contains a conserved FGF receptor (FGFR) binding site (18-20) (Figure 2). As the case for all endocrine FGFs, the C-terminus of FGF23 has only low binding affinity for heparin and instead is capable of interacting with alpha-klotho (termed klotho from here on) (20-24), a member of a family of three transmembrane proteins that act as FGFR co-receptors for endocrine FGFs (6, 25). The half-life of circulating FGF23 is about 45-60 min in humans (26), and appears to be much shorter in rodents, with about 20 min in mice (27) and 5 min in rats (28). Renal extraction seems to be a major contributor to FGF23 metabolism, while renal FGF23 excretion might play a minor role as FGF23 cannot be detected in urine, at least not in rodents (28). However, FGF23 can be measured in urine from patients with acute kidney injury (AKI), where elevations correlate with mortality (29). Whether in the context of AKI urinary FGF23 is derived from circulating filtered FGF23 or produced by the injured kidney is currently not clear.

### FGF23-POSTTRANSLATIONAL MODIFICATIONS AND PROCESSING

FGF23 can be cleaved by subtilisin-like pro-protein convertases, such as furin, at a consensus sequence (Arg176-X-X-Arg179) that is not present in other FGF family members (30-32) (Figure 2). FGF23 is O-glycosylated at several sites (31, 33, 34), and O-glycosylation at Thr<sup>178</sup> by polypeptide N-acetylgalactosaminyltransferase 3 (GalNT3) protects FGF23 from proteolytic cleavage (35). FGF23 is also phosphorylated at several serine residues (36), and phosphorylation at Ser<sup>180</sup> via the secretory protein kinase family with sequence similarity-20 member C (FAM20C), also called dentin matrix protein 4, inhibits GalNT3-mediated O-glycosylation, and thereby promotes proteolytic cleavage of FGF23 (37). A tight regulation of FGF23's posttranslational modifications and processing is crucial, as mutations in modification sites and interference with processing can block or promote FGF23 cleavage, leading to elevated serum levels of intact FGF23 and hypophosphatemia (32, 38, 39) or to reduced serum levels of intact FGF23 and hyperphosphatemia (33, 34, 40-42), respectively, both associated with mineral bone disorders.

Furin-mediated cleavage of FGF23 results in the generation of two fragments and thereby separates the binding domains for FGFRs and klotho from each other (**Figure 2**). As FGF23 appears to act in concert with FGFR and klotho, it has been assumed that the two FGF23 fragments by themselves are inactive, as supported by injection studies in mice showing that both fragments lack phosphaturic activity (31). Interestingly, injections of

Cell type	Parathyroid chief cells	1		ő				
		Renal tubular epithelial cells	Renal fibroblasts	Cardiac myocytes	Cardiac fibroblasts	Hepatocytes	Macrophages	Neutrophils
Klotho	+	+	-	-	-	-	?	-
FGFR isoform	1	1	4	4	?	4	1	2
Signal mediators	FRS2α/Ras/ MAPK	FRS2a/Ras/ MAPK	PLCγ/calcineurin/ NFAT	PLCγ/calcineurin/ NFAT	?	PLCy/calcineurin/ NFAT	FRS2a/Ras/ MAPK	PKA/Rap1
Cellular effects	Decreased PTH expression	<ul> <li>Downregulation of NaPi-2a/c transporters</li> <li>Inhibition of CYP27B1</li> <li>Activation of CYP24A1</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Increased TGFβ production</li> <li>Activation</li> </ul>	Hypertrophic growth	<ul><li>Activation</li><li>Proliferation</li></ul>	Increased IL-6 and CRP expression	Increased TNFa production	<ul> <li>Decreased integrir activation</li> <li>Increased rolling velocity</li> </ul>
Organ effects	Suppression of PTH secretion	<ul> <li>Reduction of phosphate uptake</li> <li>Reduction of vitamin D activation</li> </ul>	Fibrosis	Hypertrophy	Fibrosis	Elevation of IL-6 and CRP secretion	-	-
Systemic effects	Reduced serum levels of PTH and calcium	Reduced serum levels of phosphate and 1,25D	Kidney failure	<ul> <li>Heart failure</li> <li>Compensatory remodeling</li> </ul>	Heart failure	Inflammation	Impaired immune response	<ul> <li>Reduced leukocyte recruitment</li> <li>Impaired host defense</li> </ul>

FIGURE 1 | The major target organs of FGF23. FGF23 can directly target different cell types in a variety of organs. The underlying molecular pathways can differ in their requirement for klotho as well as the involvement of specific FGFR isoforms and downstream signal mediators, leading to cell type-specific events and tissue-specific effects.



הפימותים טו נווים נשיט קפוופומנכט ו סו בט וומקודופות זה טורטיפמו. אטטרפיומנוטרוה: ממ, מדוודוט מכוט; ויו, ויו-נפרדווחטג; כ, כ-נפר

the C-terminal fragment containing the klotho binding site in a genetic mouse model with high serum concentrations of FGF23, reduce FGF23 excess and associated renal phosphate wasting (22, 43), suggesting that FGF23 cleavage not only removes the klotho binding site from FGF23, but also generates an endogenous inhibitor of FGF23. While the mechanism underlying such an inhibitory action is not understood, it is plausible to speculate that C-terminal FGF23 can interact with klotho without binding and activating FGFRs, thereby competitively blocking access of intact FGF23 to the FGFR/klotho complex and inhibiting FGF23-induced signaling. The existence of such a mechanism is supported by an in vitro study, showing that the FGF23-mediated reduction of phosphate uptake in proximal tubular cells is blocked in the presence of the C-terminal FGF23 fragment (44). However, this view has been challenged by a different injection study in mice showing that C-terminal FGF23 retains phosphaturic activity (45), indicating that either the C-terminus by itself can bind FGFRs or that the fragment's cellular actions are FGFR-independent and possibly mediated by other receptors. Furthermore, cell culture studies with chimeric FGF23:FGF21 proteins have shown that the replacement of the C-terminal klotho-binding site in FGF23 does not result in a loss of FGF23's ability to activate FGFR/klotho-mediated signaling

(46), suggesting that the N-terminus of FGF23 by itself can bind klotho. Nevertheless, a recent analysis of the crystal structure of the FGF23/FGFR1/klotho ternary complex clearly indicates that the N-terminus of FGF23 interacts with FGFRs, while FGF23's C-terminus is bound to klotho (47).

It is currently unclear whether FGF23 cleavage fragments are biologically active, and if so, whether this activity differs from the actions of intact FGF23. One could speculate that furin-mediated cleavage serves as a first step in further proteolysis and removal of FGF23. However, since the same bone cell not only synthesizes, but also cleaves FGF23 and is, therefore, capable of releasing intact FGF23 as well as FGF23 fragments into the circulation (48), it is reasonable to assume that the fragments have a function and are not just a proteolytic garbage product. As FGF23 synthesis and cleavage appear to be independent events, they provide two distinct levels for the regulation of FGF23 production (48). It is possible that classic factors associated with mineral metabolism [such as phosphate, calcium 1,25D, and PTH (11, 49-52)] and novel factors linked to pathologic scenarios [such as systemic elevations of inflammatory cytokines, iron deficiency, and hypoxia (53-56)] regulate FGF23 production in osteocytes and osteoblasts at different levels. The massively elevated serum levels of intact FGF23, as observed in late stages of chronic kidney

disease (CKD) (57, 58), seem to result from an increase in FGF23 synthesis (59) accompanied by an inhibition of FGF23 cleavage (53, 60). The inducers and mechanisms of FGF23 production and processing in bone are currently studied by many investigators [as reviewed in more detail elsewhere (48, 61-64)], and their characterization should provide important answers to one of the key questions in the field, i.e., why circulating FGF23 is elevated in CKD, as well as novel pharmacological targets to lower serum FGF23 levels. Furthermore, it needs to be determined whether cleavage of FGF23 only occurs in bone or also in the circulation and/or other tissues, which would suggest that the half-life of circulating FGF23 can be regulated and might be increased in CKD, and whether distant organs, such as the kidney, can control the production and processing of FGF23 in bone cells. Moreover, it is likely that changes in renal clearance of FGF23 might also contribute to CKD-associated FGF23 elevations.

### KLOTHO—A PROTEIN THAT COMES IN MULTIPLE FORMS

Klotho was originally identified as an anti-aging protein, because genetically modified mice lacking klotho develop a variety of phenotypic features that are associated with premature aging, including multiple organ dysfunction and a significantly shortened life span (65). The klotho gene encodes a 130 kDa single-pass transmembrane protein that is composed of two extracellular domains, termed KL1 and KL2, a transmembrane domain and a short cytoplasmic tail (66, 67). The KL1 and KL2 domains show amino acid sequence homologies with β-glucosidase of bacteria and plants, and, therefore, klotho could potentially catalyze the release of glucose from oligosaccharides (65). However, based on the absence of two conserved glutamic acid residues that are important for enzymatic activity of this family (65), it appears that klotho has only weak glucosidase activity, if any. A recent structural analysis of the klotho ectodomain combined with an *in vitro* assay to detect glycosidase, sialidase, and β-glucuronidase activities confirmed that klotho lacks enzymatic activity (47).

Klotho is mainly expressed in the kidney, brain, and parathyroid gland (65, 68, 69). In addition to the membrane-associated full-length protein, the ectodomain of klotho can also exist in a soluble form (soluble klotho, sKL), which can be generated by proteolytic cleavage of full-length klotho via the  $\alpha$ -secretases, a desintegrin and metalloproteinase (ADAM) 10 and ADAM17, leading to sKL shedding from the cell membrane (70-73). sKL cleavage can also be mediated by the  $\beta$ -APP cleaving enzyme 1 (BACE1), which belongs to the family of  $\beta$ -secretases, and the remaining membrane-associated klotho fragment is further processed and removed by the  $\gamma$ -secretase complex (71, 73). The kidney is the major source for sKL (73–75), but also ependymal cells of the choroid plexus in the brain might release sKL by shedding (76–78), and sKL can be detected in the blood (73, 79–84) and the cerebrospinal fluid (CSF) (83, 84). The half-life of sKL in rats is about 7 h (73), which might be shortened in CKD, where degradation of circulating sKL appears to be increased (79). It seems that sKL is cleared from the circulation by the kidney, most likely by transport across renal tubules to the apical membrane and release into the urinary lumen (73), and sKL can be measured in the urine (73, 79–82). However, other studies have failed to detect sKL in urine (85), questioning if and how sKL can enter the urinary space.

# sKL—AN ENDOCRINE FACTOR WITH PLEIOTROPIC FUNCTIONS

It has been postulated that sKL acts as an endocrine factor that can target a variety of tissues (25, 86-88), but a specific receptor for sKL has not been identified to date, and the mechanisms underlying potential direct actions of sKL on target cells are only poorly understood. Several in vitro studies in multiple different cell types, such as fibroblasts, endothelial cells, vascular smooth muscle cells, cardiac myocytes, pulmonary epithelial cells, oligodendrocytes, and neurons, indicate that sKL has cell-protective activities, including the inhibition of apoptosis, oxidative stress, senescence, and pathologic gene programs (80, 89-107), suggesting that sKL might protect against cellular dysfunction as well as tissue fibrosis and inflammation. It has been postulated that such protective actions of sKL also exist in vivo, and that a reduction in circulating sKL levels, as observed in aging or in diseases, such as CKD, contribute to widespread tissue injury (86, 87, 108). However, strong experimental evidence indicating that sKL protects tissues by directly targeting them is still missing. Furthermore, it remains unclear if pathologies associated with a global reduction in klotho expression are caused directly by the absence of sKL and its tissue-protective actions, or indirectly by the loss of membrane-associated klotho resulting in systemic alterations, such as elevations in serum levels of phosphate or FGF23 (109). To distinguish experimentally between both scenarios, animal models with preserved expression of membraneassociated klotho, but a loss of sKL production [e.g., by genetically inactivating the proteolytic cleavage site in klotho (72)] need to be generated and analyzed. Since mice with kidney-specific deletion of klotho develop the same phenotype as mice that lack klotho globally (74), sKL derived from other sources than the kidney appears to lack tissue-protective effects and might not be capable of compensating for a loss of kidney-derived sKL.

To date the molecular base for the potentially pleiotropic actions of sKL remains a mystery. Several ligand/receptor complexes, such as insulin/IGF1/IGF1R (110–113), TGFβ1/type-II TGF<sub>β</sub> receptor (114, 115), AngII/AT1R (96, 116), and Wnt/ Frizzled (115, 117-119), have been postulated to serve as direct sKL targets (88). However, it is unclear how one particular protein can inhibit various signal mediators and receptors that significantly differ in their structure, biophysical features, and mode of action. Recently, a different mechanistic explanation has been suggested for sKL's pleiotropic effects (87). The two KL domains of sKL can bind sialic acid, thereby targeting monogangliosides, such as GM1 and GM3, in cell membranes (120). Since the binding affinity of each KL domain for sialic acid is low (121), sKL preferentially interacts with lipid raft domains where gangliosides are enriched. The association with sKL might then affect overall lipid raft dynamics and composition,

thereby regulating the localization and activity of a variety of raft-associated proteins, including signaling receptors and ion channels (87). This hypothesis is supported by in vivo findings showing that raft-associated, but not raft-independent, phosphoinositide 3-kinase (PI3K) signaling is elevated in mice lacking klotho (120). Furthermore, by binding to sialic acid on transmembrane proteins, sKL can regulate their cell surface abundance. This has been shown for transient receptor potential vanilloid type 5 (TRPV5), renal outer medullary potassium channel 1 (ROMK1) and NaPi-2a, which are all located in renal tubular cells (81, 122-124), suggesting that sKL might regulate ion homeostasis (125). It has been reported that sKL has sialidase and  $\beta$ -glucoronidase activity (81, 122–124, 126), indicating that sKL not only binds, but also removes sialic acid from lipids and proteins. However, the recent structural and functional analysis of sKL described earlier refutes such a hypothesis (47). Binding sialic acids in glycolipids and glycoproteins is a plausible mechanistic explanation for sKL's pleiotropic actions (87). To further test this hypothesis, the respective binding site in sKL needs to be characterized and genetically inactivated followed by the functional characterization of the resulting sKL mutant in cell culture and animal models. Furthermore, since all eukaryotic cells contain lipids rafts (127), it is unclear how the described mechanism could ensure target specificity for sKL's action.

Based on the low binding affinity of each KL domain for sialic acid, it has been suggested that sKL acts as a multimer (87). However, strong experimental data supporting the existence of sKL oligomers is still missing. Overexpression studies in cultured cells indicate that full-length klotho is capable of forming dimers (83, 128), and sKL might exist in an oligomeric form in serum and CSF from human and mice (83). Furthermore, klotho and sKL appear to be N-glycosylated (83, 129), but to date a detailed characterization of their posttranslational modifications including functional consequences has not been conducted. Interestingly, sKL might have intracellular activity, as suggested by a recent study (129). sKL can interact with a variety of cytosolic proteins, some of which are involved in regulating cellular anti-oxidative activities or posttranslational modifications and folding of other proteins. While this mechanism needs further experimental validation, including an explanation of how sKL secretion is blocked or bypassed, it is tempting to speculate that its dysregulation in klotho-expressing tissues might contribute to aging-related injury. A potential intracellular role of klotho is also supported by the fact that the klotho-related protein, KLrP, acts as a cytosolic enzyme (130).

# FGFR-MEDIATED SIGNAL TRANSDUCTION

The mammalian genome encodes four different FGFR isoforms (i.e., FGFR1-4) (1). FGFRs are receptor tyrosine kinases which are composed of an extracellular domain consisting of three immunoglobulin-like domains and containing the ligand-binding site, a transmembrane domain, and a cytoplasmic tyrosine kinase domain (131). Upon FGF binding, FGFRs form dimers and auto-phosphorylate each other at specific tyrosine residues within their cytoplasmic tails which then initiates subsequent downstream signaling events (132). The FGFR isoforms differ in their affinity for particular FGF ligands. Alternative splicing events increase the variety of FGFR1-3 isoforms, designated as b and c splice variants, thereby increasing the spectrum of FGFRs with distinct FGF binding specificities (1, 131). Although *in vivo* proof is still missing, *in vitro* studies suggest that FGFR isoforms not only form homo- but also heterodimers (133–135), which would further increase the possible combinations of FGFRs to form dimeric complexes with different FGF binding specificities.

FGFs ligands require the presence of co-receptors for efficient FGFR binding. For paracrine FGFs, this co-receptor is heparin/ heparan sulfate which captures the FGF upon release and forms a stable complex with FGFRs in an isoform-dependent manner on the same or neighboring cell (131). Endocrine FGFs, such as FGF23, have significantly reduced affinity for heparin (21, 136). This feature enables FGF23 to avoid being captured by extracellular matrices and to function as a hormone, while it also reduces the capacity of heparin to promote FGF23 binding to FGFRs (137). Instead of heparin, klotho acts as an FGF23 co-receptor that promotes efficient binding of FGF23 to FGFRs (138, 139). Biochemical binding studies have shown that klotho increases the FGFR binding affinity of FGF23 by about 20-fold (23). The recent report of its atomic structure revealed that FGF23, sKL, and FGFR1c form a 1:1:1 complex, where sKL functions as a scaffold protein that brings FGFR and FGF23 in close proximity, thereby conferring stability of the ternary complex (47). Surprisingly, while heparan sulfate does not affect the formation and stabilization of the monomeric complex, it is required for complex dimerization, suggesting that the active signaling complex consists of FGF23, sKL, FGFR1, and heparan sulfate in a 2:2:2:2 stoichiometry (47). While FGFRs are widely expressed, the restricted expression of klotho to renal tubules and parathyroid gland defines FGF23 target tissues (15, 65, 75). It is plausible to assume that besides heparin and klotho, many other co-factors participate in the formation of FGF/FGFR signaling complexes, such as cell adhesion proteins of the cadherin and immunoglobulin superfamilies (140-145), and modify the binding affinity, accessibility, and activity of FGFRs.

Fibroblast growth factor receptor signaling is transduced by the cytoplasmic adaptors, phospholipase  $C\gamma$  (PLC $\gamma$ ), and FGF receptor substrate  $2\alpha$  (FRS2 $\alpha$ ) (1, 132). Following ligandinduced auto-phosphorylation of FGFR, PLCy binds directly to one specific phosphorylated tyrosine residue within the FGFR cytoplasmic tail (146, 147). Subsequent tyrosine phosphorylation of PLC $\gamma$  results in PLC $\gamma$  activation by the receptor (148). Downstream signal transduction is mediated by PLCy-catalyzed production of diacylglycerol and inositol 1,4,5-triphosphate that can increase cytoplasmic calcium levels thereby inducing the activation of several calcium-sensing signal mediators, including the protein phosphatase calcineurin (131). The dephosphorylation of the transcription factor, nuclear factor of activated T cells (NFAT), by activated calcineurin causes the translocation of NFAT into the nucleus to modulate the expression of specific target genes (149). FGFR signaling can also be transduced via the activation of FRS2α by FGFR-mediated tyrosine phosphorylation (131). In contrast to PLC $\gamma$ , FRS2 $\alpha$  is constitutively

bound to FGFR independently of the receptor's activation state (150). FRS2 $\alpha$ -mediated signaling results in the activation of Ras/mitogen-activated protein kinase (MAPK) and PI3K/Akt signaling (131).

Although FGFRs can stimulate a variety of downstream signaling branches (132), most FGF and FGFR isoforms have been shown to employ the FRS2a/Ras/MAPK pathway to mediate their cellular effects. This is also the case for FGF23. In the presence of klotho, FGF23 can bind to the c splice variants of FGFR1-3 as well as to FGFR4 which results in the activation of MAPK signaling (47, 138, 139). In FGF23's physiologic target organs (15, 16, 151-154), FGFR1 appears to be the main FGF23 receptor which acts in concert with klotho (Figure 3, I). It has been shown in HEK293 cells, which express different FGFR isoforms, including FGFR1, but lack klotho, that the forced overexpression of full-length klotho followed by FGF23 treatment results in FRS2a/Ras/ MAPK signaling (47, 128, 155, 156). Interestingly, the same effect was observed when HEK293 cells were co-treated with FGF23 and sKL (47, 139). These in vitro studies show that the introduction of klotho is sufficient to make FGFR expressing cells responsive to FGF23 resulting in an activation of FRS2α/Ras/MAPK signaling. Furthermore, they indicate that membrane-associated klotho and sKL share a common function, which is that both mediate FGF23-induced FRS2α/Ras/ MAPK signaling.

# FGF23 AND KLOTHO CO-REGULATE FGFR-MEDIATED SIGNALING

Overall, one could speculate that sKL acts as a circulating FGF23 co-receptor that promotes an interaction between FGF23 and membrane-bound FGFRs, thereby facilitating FGF23 binding to cell types that per se do not express klotho and mediating temporary responsiveness to FGF23. Such a mechanism has been reported in fibroblast and myoblast cell lines in which the combined treatment with FGF23 and sKL activates FGFR1/MAPK signaling leading to increased cell survival (157). Furthermore, combined treatment with FGF23 and sKL induces Ras/MAPK signaling in cultured osteoblasts, which is FGFR1-dependent and results in increased FGF23 production (158). FGF23 and sKL together also induce the phosphorylation of FRS2α and MAPK in cultured chondrocytes, which seems to be mediated by FGFR3 (159). Interestingly, elevating serum sKL levels in mice by viral overexpression of sKL in the liver or by injection of recombinant sKL protein causes increased Ras/MAPK signaling and reduces NaPi-2a expression in the kidney resulting in increased renal phosphate excretion and hypophosphatemia (47, 157). When conducted in mouse models with CKD or genetic klotho deficiency, such sKL elevations reduce renal NaPi-2a expression as well as the increases in serum phosphate levels (158). Combined, these animal studies suggest that sKL can compensate for the reduction or loss of klotho, and that



**FIGURE 3** | Summary of potential scenarios for the crosstalk between FGF23 and klotho in the regulation of signal transduction. FGF23-activated signaling events are mediated and modified by the availability of either membrane-associated full-length klotho or soluble klotho (sKL). (I–III) Transmembrane klotho as well as sKL mediate FGF23 binding to FGFR1 resulting in the phosphorylation of FGF receptor substrate  $2\alpha$  (FRS2 $\alpha$ ) and the subsequent activation of Ras/mitogen-activated protein kinase (MAPK) signaling. (IV) In the absence of klotho and sKL, FGF23 binds FGFR4 which induces the phosphorylation of phospholipase C $\gamma$  (PLC $\gamma$ ) and the activation of calcium-regulated signal pathways, such as calcineurin/NFAT. (V–VI) Membrane-associated klotho and sKL can modulate klotho-independent FGF23/FGFR4 signaling in two different ways. First, in the presence of klotho or sKL, FGF23 cannot bind to FGFR4, and thereby not activate the PLC $\gamma$ -driven signaling cascade. Second, binding of FGF23 to FGFR4 can also occur in the presence of transmembrane klotho or sKL, but causes different downstream events, switching from PLC $\gamma$  to FRS2 $\alpha$  phosphorylation, thereby activating Ras/MAPK instead of calcineurin/NFAT signaling. Abbreviation: P, protein phosphorylation.

by targeting the kidney, sKL might increase FGF23-mediated FGFR1/Ras/MAPK signaling in tubular cells, thereby reducing renal phosphate uptake and lowering serum phosphate levels. One could speculate that sKL acts as a circulating factor that elevates FGF23 production in the bone and mediates FGF23 signaling in target organs by promoting FGFR1 binding (160). This view is supported by the recent finding that sKL lacking the FGFR binding domain does not show phosphaturic activity when injected into mice and cannot mediate FGF23-induced Ras/MAPK signaling in HEK293 cells. Similarly, mutant forms of sKL and FGF23 which disrupt sKL-FGF23 binding fail to activate Ras/MAPK signaling (47).

As described before, a recent structural analysis shows that sKL acts as a scaffold protein for FGF23 and FGFRs that promotes FGF23/FGFR-mediated signaling, suggesting that all effects of sKL are FGF23-dependent and thereby challenging the concept that sKL can function as an FGF23-independent hormone (47). A crystal structure can only provide a snap shot of one particular state within a multi-step signaling process and the precise order of binding events among the signal inducers remains unknown. Two scenarios seem to be possible. First, sKL binds a membrane-associated FGFR which then enables FGF23 binding to the receptor complex (Figure 3, II). It has been shown that sKL has high affinity for FGFR1c (22), and experiments in cell culture overexpression systems show that full-length klotho can bind FGFRs in the absence of FGF23 (139), suggesting that sKL might have similar abilities. It remains to be established whether endogenous sKL binding and effects are FGFR isoform-specific. As mentioned before, studies in HEK293 cells with overexpressed full-length klotho or with sKL incubations suggest that klotho preferably binds to FGFR1c, FGFR2c, FGFR3c, and FGFR4 (47, 139). Second, FGF23 and sKL bind to each other in solution and then together interact with an FGFR on the cell surface (Figure 3, III). Although the sKL/FGF23 complex has been detected in the circulation of rodents (161) and in extracts and supernatants from transfected HEK293 cells (159), surface plasmon resonance spectroscopy studies have shown that sKL binds FGF23 only with very low affinity in the absence of FGFR (22). Clearly, more experimental work is required in order to determine whether FGF23 and sKL can interact with each other in solutions, such as cell culture supernatants or blood.

Studies in HEK293 cells and in primary cardiac myocytes showed for the first time that FGF23 can also affect cell types that do not express klotho (162), implying that the presence of klotho is not a prerequisite for FGF23 responsiveness. Whereas klotho-expressing cells respond to FGF23 by activating the FRS2α/Ras/MAPK cascade (138), FGF23 stimulates PLCγ/ calcineurin/NFAT in cells that lack klotho (155, 162, 163). Furthermore, while FGFR1 acts as the main FGF23 receptor in "classic" klotho-expressing FGF23 target organs (138, 139), klotho-independent effects of FGF23 appear to be mediated by FGFR4 (Figure 3, IV) (155, 163, 164). In HEK293 cells, FGF23 only induces PLCy binding to FGFR4, but to none of the other FGFR isoforms (155). Furthermore, deletion of FGFR4 or cotreatment with FGFR4-specific blocking agents inhibits FGF23induced PLCy/calcineurin/NFAT signaling in cardiac myocytes (155). Finally, FGF23 can activate the PLCy/calcineurin/NFAT

pathway in cultured hepatocytes, which of all FGFR isoforms only express FGFR4 (163). Overall, it appears that depending on the FGFR isoform and the presence or absence of klotho, FGF23 activates distinct downstream signaling pathways. The FGFR4/PLC $\gamma$ /calcineurin/NFAT cascade seems to be a major mediator of klotho-independent FGF23 signaling (109), whose tissue-specific effects are discussed in detail below.

Since elevations in serum FGF23 levels, as observed in aging and in CKD, correlate with decreases in renal expression of klotho and in circulating levels of sKL (80, 165), it is interesting to speculate that associated pathologies are caused by both, high FGF23 and low sKL. If true, one would assume that sKL might act as an inhibitor of klotho-independent pathologic actions of FGF23. The existence of such a mechanism is supported by a study in vascular smooth muscle cells and endothelial cells, where sKL counterbalances the effects of FGF23 (98). As discussed earlier for the stimulating effects of sKL on FGF23/FGFR1 signaling, it is possible that sKL inhibits FGF23/FGFR4 signaling by either binding first to FGFR4 (Figure 3, V), or via an initial interaction with FGF23 (Figure 3, VI). sKL could then block the interaction between FGF23 and FGFR4 and thereby inhibit PLCy/calcineurin/NFAT signaling. It is possible that sKL acts as a circulating FGF23 decoy receptor, as described for other ligands and truncated forms of their transmembrane receptors, such as vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF) and the soluble form of VEGF receptor-1 (called sFlt-1) generated by alternative splicing (166). It is also possible that sKL can bind FGFR4 and block the access or affinity of FGFR4 for FGF23. A similar mechanism has been reported in cultured proximal tubular epithelial cells, where sKL binding to FGFR1 inhibits FGF2/FGFR1 signaling, most likely by competing with FGF2 for FGFR1 binding (101). Such a mechanism might also underlie sKL's inhibitory actions toward FGF2-induced Ras/MAPK signaling and proliferation in tumor cells (112). As an alternative mechanism, FGFR4 and FGF23 might still be able to form a complex in the presence of sKL, but activate FRS2a/Ras/MAPK rather than PLCy/calcineurin/NFAT downstream signaling, resulting in significant differences in cellular effects (Figure 3, VI).

Shedded sKL consists of the KL1 and KL2 domains (70-73). Furthermore, it has been reported that also the KL1 domain alone can be generated by proteolytic cleavage from membraneassociated klotho (70) or by alternative splicing and subsequent secretion into the extracellular environment (66, 67). However, a more recent study indicates that alternative splicing is not involved in the generation of any soluble forms of klotho, as alternative klotho mRNA transcripts are primed for nonsensemediated mRNA decay and are not translated into protein (167). Whether soluble KL1 actually exists in animals and in humans, and if so, is present in the circulation and can act as a hormone, needs to be established. Since the KL1 domain seems to be sufficient for sialoganglioside binding (121), and KL1 has tumor suppressor activity in vitro and in vivo (112, 156), one could speculate that KL1 by itself has biological activity. However, studies with recombinant proteins have shown that KL1 cannot mediate FGF23-induced Ras/MAPK signaling in cultured cells (156), and when injected into mice, KL1 does not lower serum phosphate levels (112). A recent structural study reporting that
sKL binding to FGF23 and FGFR1 is mediated by KL2 and the linker region connecting KL2 with KL1 supports the idea that KL1 by itself might not have biological activity, at least no activity that requires FGF23 and FGFRs (47).

# **EFFECTS OF FGF23 ON THE HEART**

The heart was the first organ that was shown to respond to circulating FGF23 in a klotho-independent fashion (162). FGF23 directly targets cardiac myocytes via the described FGFR4/ PLCy/calcineurin/NFAT signaling pathway and induces cardiac hypertrophy, and potentially other changes in cardiac remodeling, including cardiac fibrosis and altered cardiac metabolism, eventually resulting in reduced heart function (155, 162, 164) (Figure 1). Animal models with elevated serum FGF23 levels, induced by CKD, genetic deletion of klotho, injection of recombinant FGF23 protein, or a high phosphate diet, develop cardiac hypertrophy, which can be blocked by administration of specific inhibitors for FGFR4 or calcineurin (155, 164, 168). Since only some of these animal models develop kidney injury, hyperphosphatemia, or hypertension, while all of them have elevated FGF23 and cardiac hypertrophy, one can assume that by directly targeting the myocardium, FGF23 is a major driver of cardiac remodeling that acts independently of other pro-hypertrophic factors, such as high blood pressure or uremic toxins. However, these animal models also show low serum sKL levels, and it seems that in all scenarios studied to date, FGF23 elevations are always accompanied by a decrease in sKL concentrations (109). Since animal experiments indicate that sKL reductions per se can contribute to cardiac injury (80, 107, 165, 169), it would be important to conduct studies in the absence of FGF23 in order to determine whether in the context of CKD, FGF23 elevations are required for the induction of cardiac injury. However, such loss-of-function studies are not feasible, as FGF23 deletion or inhibition in rodents elevates serum phosphate levels and causes severe cardiovascular injury resulting in premature death (12, 170). Instead, the cardiac myocyte-specific deletion of the FGF23 receptor, i.e., FGFR4, followed by the elevation of circulating FGF23 should help to determine whether direct cardiac actions of FGF23/FGFR4 contribute to cardiac hypertrophy.

Several studies have shown that repetitive intravenous and intraperitoneal injections of recombinant FGF23 protein in wild-type mice induce cardiac hypertrophy within 5 days, indicating that FGF23 has potent hypertrophic effects on the heart (162, 171-173). However, it remains unknown whether FGF23 elevations are also sufficient to impair cardiac function and cause heart failure. Future experiments in animal models with increased serum FGF23 levels need to study the observed changes in cardiac structure and function in more detail, and put them into context with particular FGF23 exposure concentrations and times, which is experimentally challenging. It has been hypothesized that long-term exposure at very high FGF23 concentrations, as the case in patients with late stages of CKD, who can develop up to 1,000-fold elevations for months (174, 175), causes pathological cardiac remodeling and contributes to uremic cardiomyopathy (109, 176–178). Such a hypothesis is supported by a recent study in mice lacking the alpha 3 chain of type IV collagen (Col4a3), a genetic animal model for CKD (179). Dependent on the genetic background, these mice either develop fast-progressing kidney injury and die at around 10 weeks of age, or the development of severe kidney injury takes longer resulting in extended survival until about 20 weeks (180, 181). Although both mouse lines show the same degree in blood pressure elevations, only slow-progressing Col4a3 knockout mice develop cardiac hypertrophy and fibrosis which is accompanied by increased cardiac expression levels of FGFR4 (179). At 10 weeks of age, fast-progressing Col4a3 knockout mice show significantly higher elevations in intact FGF23 concentrations than slow progressors. Although serum FGF23 levels in slowprogressing mice further increase between 10 and 20 weeks, they never reach the levels of those detected in fast progressors. Overall, this study indicates that the duration of the exposure to increased circulating FGF23, rather than the degree of FGF23 elevation per se, is an important determinant in the development of pathologic cardiac remodeling in this model of CKD. Future studies should determine the impact of cardiac FGF23/FGFR4 signaling in comparison to other potential factors, such as hyperphosphatemia or hypertension, which based on the increased duration of impact might also have more damaging effects in slow-progressing Col4a3 knockout mice. Furthermore, detailed cardiac analyses of the rodent model for adenine-induced tubulointerstitial nephropathy, where serum FGF23 levels are highly elevated (182) and appear to positively correlate with cardiac hypertrophy (183), should help to further determine a causative role of FGF23 in uremic cardiomyopathy.

Elevations in cardiac FGFR4 expression and calcineurin activity have not only been reported in animal models of CKD (155, 168, 184), but also in patients with CKD (185). A retrospective study with autopsy samples from heart tissue of 24 deceased pediatric patients showed that only individuals who had developed cardiac hypertrophy also showed significant elevations of FGFR4 in the heart, but not of FGFR1, as well as of calcineurin and NFAT (185). In these patients, FGFR4 expression positively correlated with the size of individual cardiac myocytes suggesting a causative relationship between FGFR4/PLCy/calcineurin/NFAT activation and the induction of cardiac hypertrophy in humans. This is further supported by the finding that compared to dialysis patients who remained high FGF23 concentrations, patients who received a kidney transplant and had reduced FGF23 levels also showed lower cardiac expression of FGFR4, calcineurin, and NFAT (185). In the same study, CKD patients also showed the presence of sKL protein in the heart which must be derived from the circulation, as no increase in cardiac klotho mRNA could be detected. Interestingly, in this study declining sKL protein levels in the heart in combination with elevated FGF23 production correlated with cardiac hypertrophy, indicating that a reduction in sKL's inhibitory actions toward FGF23's pro-hypertrophic effects might contribute to uremic cardiomyopathy (185), thereby supporting the hypothesis that sKL can act as a decoy receptor for FGF23, as discussed above.

Several cell culture studies indicate that cardiac myocytes serve as a direct target for FGF23 (155, 162, 164, 186–188). Besides the activation of pro-hypertrophic gene programs (162, 188), FGF23 might also induce the expression of pro-fibrotic factors and inflammatory cytokines in cardiac myocytes, thereby contributing to cardiac injury (188). Furthermore, it has been recently shown that FGF23 can activate cardiac fibroblasts isolated from adult mice and newborn rats (188, 189), and that the experimental elevation of FGF23 expression in an animal model for myocardial infarct further increases cardiac fibrosis (189). Therefore, it is possible that by directly targeting cardiac fibroblasts, FGF23 contributes to cardiac fibrosis and pathologic cardiac remodeling (Figure 1). The underlying mechanism is not clear, but since cardiac cells, including fibroblasts, in humans and rodents do not express klotho (75, 162, 184, 185), it would be worth to study a potential involvement of the FGFR4/ PLCy/calcineurin/NFAT signaling cascade. It has been recently shown that fibroblasts isolated from an injured mouse kidney can respond to FGF23 resulting in the activation of pro-fibrotic gene programs (190), as discussed below. Interestingly, this FGF23 effect on injury-primed renal fibroblasts was mediated by FGFR4 and PLCy/calcineurin/NFAT signaling and resulted in the activation of the pro-fibrotic transforming growth factor  $\beta$ (TGF $\beta$ ) signaling cascade (191). Based on these studies, one could hypothesize that FGF23 responsiveness is also increased in injured cardiac fibroblasts. It would be interesting to determine effects of FGF23 on cardiac fibroblasts isolated from uremic hearts. Although they do not provide evidence for direct and causative actions of FGF23 on the heart, some animal studies have indicated that FGF23 might require a fibrotic (189) or inflammatory milieu (192, 193) in order to contribute to cardiac injury. As suggested for the kidney (190, 191), FGF23's pro-fibrotic effect on the heart might be also mediated by FGF23-induced TGF $\beta$  signaling (189). However, a recent study has reported that FGF23 does not elevate TGFβ in isolated neonatal rat cardiac myocytes or fibroblasts, and that other mediators, such as the reninangiotensin-aldosterone system, connective tissue growth factor, or endothelin-1, might be involved in FGF23-induced alterations in the myocyte-fibroblast crosstalk that may contribute to cardiac fibrosis (188).

The concept of priming cardiac cells (and possibly of other cell types in the body) by tissue injury resulting in increased FGF23 sensitivity appears to be plausible. Although cause and mechanism of the priming event are not known, it is possible that CKD-related stressors, such as elevations in serum levels of phosphate or uremic toxins, increase the cell surface expression of FGFR4 which then senses FGF23 elevations. Since fibroblasts do not express FGFR4, or only at very low levels (155), this mechanism would fit with the concept of injury-induced FGF23 responsiveness of fibroblasts resulting in pro-fibrotic actions of FGF23. The hypothesis that FGF23 mainly contributes to cardiac injury in the context of CKD is also supported by two other findings. First, although serum FGF23 levels are elevated following pressure overload via transaortic constriction in mice, FGF23 does not appear to be required for the development of pathologic cardiac hypertrophy in this animal model (171). Second, patients with X-linked hypophosphatemia (XLH), genetic forms of hypophosphatemic rickets, have high serum levels of FGF23 but do not develop cardiac hypertrophy (194). However, another clinical study challenges this view (195). Furthermore, it has been shown that genetic

mouse models for XLH and autosomal recessive hypophosphatemic rickets (ARHR) show an increase in cardiac mass, while cardiac functions seems to be normal (172, 173, 196). Overall, primary forms of pathologic cardiac remodeling might not require FGF23, and not every scenario of FGF23 elevations might result in cardiac hypertrophy. In the context of secondary CKD-associated cardiac damage, the type and severity of kidney injury might also affect FGF23's actions on the heart. A recent study in a genetic mouse model with primary podocyte injury leading to a CKD-mineral bone disease-like phenotype shows that although serum levels of phosphate and FGF23 were elevated, mice showed no signs of pathologic cardiac remodeling (197). It is possible that the absence of a cardiac phenotype was based on the relatively short exposure time, as mice died within 8-10 weeks. Of note, although mice developed significant kidney injury, they did not have renal fibrosis. Therefore, one could speculate that mice did not develop cardiac hypertrophy, since they lack pathologic stimuli released by activated renal fibroblasts and/or associated with kidney fibrosis that act in synergy with FGF23 to harm the heart.

Cell culture and animals studies have shown that FGF23/ FGFR4-induced hypertrophy is reversible upon removal or inhibition of the FGF23 stimulus (164). Furthermore, studies in a rat model of CKD have shown that administration of a FGFR4specific blocking antibody (anti-FGFR4) not only prevents the induction of cardiac hypertrophy (155), but also blocks the progression of cardiac injury in animals with already established cardiac hypertrophy (164). Therefore, FGF23/FGFR4 might serve as a pathomechanism of uremic cardiomyopathy that could be tackled pharmacologically. Since FGF23 mediates its physiologic functions mainly via FGFR1, while its klotho-independent actions on the heart and other organs seem to be mediated by FGFR4 (155, 163, 191), a therapeutic approach to block FGFR4 should only interfere with FGF23's pathologic actions, while leaving its role as an important regulator of phosphate metabolism unaffected. Since global FGFR4 knockout mice are viable and do not develop any significant phenotypic alterations (198), and delivery of anti-FGFR4 does not show toxic effects in rats (155), FGFR4 appears to be an appropriate drug target and its systemic blockade might only result in minor side effects. However, other findings dampen the excitement for FGFR4 blocking therapies. First, although anti-FGFR4 treatment of CKD rats as well as lowering elevated FGF23 levels by taking mice off a high phosphate diet, reduce cardiac hypertrophy, these interventions seem to have little or no effect on cardiac fibrosis (164). Compared to CKD patients who received a kidney transplant, dialysis patients have higher serum FGF23 levels and develop cardiac fibrosis, but cardiac FGFR4 expression levels do not correlate with fibrosis (188), further supporting the notion that cardiac FGF23/FGFR4 signaling might not directly contribute to fibrosis. If cardiac fibrosis persists following FGFR4 blockade, one would assume that although hypertrophy is halted, cardiac injury will progress and heart function will further decline, eventually resulting in heart failure. Clearly, future in vitro and in vivo studies need to determine cardiac effects of FGF23 in a cell type-specific manner to elucidate precise cardiac actions of FGF23 and its potential for drug development. Second, it has been shown that FGF23 also

has acute effects on the myocardium. Within seconds, FGF23 increases cytoplasmic calcium levels in an FGFR-dependent manner in cultured cardiac myocytes (186). Furthermore, within minutes, FGF23 elevates the contractile force of isolated murine ventricular muscle strips, which does not occur in the presence of an FGFR4 inhibitor (164). Therefore, FGF23/FGFR4 might have beneficial effects on the heart which involve an increase in cardiac function, and its blockade might result in adverse outcomes. Whether acute effects of FGF23 on calcium homeostasis and contractility are indeed beneficial, or result in arrhythmia, as suggested by a different study (187), requires further analyses. Furthermore, it would be interesting to determine a potential involvement of FGF23 in the development of physiological hypertrophy, as observed during pregnancy and in athletes (199). However, to date it is still unknown whether under these two conditions of extreme physiologic and metabolic alterations, serum FGF23 levels are even elevated. Only one study has reported an increase of circulating FGF23 by about twofold in pregnant mice (200), and a different study showed that in professional cyclists, serum FGF23 levels increase by about 50% during a 3-week race (201). An elevation of FGF23 in these scenarios appears to be plausible, as they should both involve significant changes in calcium/phosphate homeostasis. However, analyses of larger populations are required to draw meaningful conclusions. Furthermore, to determine whether circulating FGF23 might contribute to physiologic cardiac hypertrophy requires studies in animals with genetic modifications of the FGF23/ FGFR4 signaling pathway in the heart.

It appears that FGF23 can hit the heart in several ways: directly, by targeting cells in the myocardium, and indirectly, by contributing to traditional as well as non-traditional or CKD-specific cardiovascular risk factors (63, 125, 202). It has been shown that by targeting kidney distal tubules via FGFR1 and klotho, FGF23 elevates the expression of the sodium chloride co-transporter (NCC) and reduces levels of angiotensin-converting enzyme 2 (172, 173). By doing so, FGF23 increases sodium retention and activates the renin-angiotensin system, respectively. Combined, these renal effects lead to hypertension which is an established inducer of pathologic cardiac remodeling (199). FGF23 has been shown to be also involved in the regulation of iron metabolism by affecting erythropoiesis (62, 203). FGF23 reduces renal production of erythropoietin and might thereby contribute to CKD-associated anemia (204). Furthermore, FGF23 promotes expression of inflammatory cytokines in the liver (as discussed below) (163), and possibly in other tissues. Since vice versa, iron deficiency and inflammatory cytokines increase FGF23 production in bone (53), FGF23 could be part of a vicious cycle that contributes to FGF23-driven pathologies associated with CKD, such as anemia and systemic inflammation (62, 203), which are also potent inducers of pathologic cardiac remodeling and injury (199).

## **EFFECTS OF FGF23 ON THE LIVER**

In mammals, the liver is among the organs with highest FGFR4 expression levels (205), raising the question if FGF23 has direct hepatic actions. Indeed, it has been shown that FGF23

can activate FGFR4/PLCy/calcineurin/NFAT signaling in cultured hepatocytes which lack klotho, and thereby induce the expression of the inflammatory cytokines, interleukin-6 (IL-6) and C-reactive protein (CRP) (163). As already described for the associated cardiac remodeling, animal models with elevated serum FGF23 levels, induced by renal ablation, deletion of klotho, injection of FGF23, or administration of a high phosphate diet, show increased hepatic and serum levels of IL-6 and CRP, which are reduced when FGFR4 is deleted or pharmacologically inhibited (163). As discussed for the heart, hepatocyte-specific deletion of FGFR4 will be necessary to determine whether direct actions of the FGF23/FGFR4 signaling system on the liver contribute to systemic inflammation, and thereby to inflammatory injury in different tissues. Since studies in CKD patients have shown that higher serum FGF23 levels are associated with increased circulating concentrations of inflammatory cytokines, such as CRP, IL-6, IL-12, and tumor necrosis factor  $\alpha$  (TNF $\alpha$ ) (206–209), and that an elevation in these cytokines is a strong predictor of poor clinical outcome (210-213), the direct hepatic actions of FGF23/FGFR4 might serve as a novel pathomechanism that links CKD with systemic inflammation and contributes to morbidity and mortality (Figure 1). If hepatocytes and/or other cell types of the liver directly respond to FGF23 needs to be further investigated. Primary hepatocyte cultures are not absolutely pure and contain other cell types, such as Kupffer cells, which are specialized macrophages that release cytokines, such as IL-6 and  $TNF\alpha$ , to communicate with hepatocytes (214). Since it has been shown that FGF23 can directly target other macrophage populations (215, 216), it is possible that FGF23 induces IL-6 production in Kupffer cells, which then indirectly affects hepatocytes.

In the described animal models with FGF23 excess, elevations in the hepatic production of inflammatory cytokines occur in the absence of increased liver enzymes (163). To date, no cell culture or animal studies have reported damaging actions of FGF23 on liver cells, which is consistent with the clinical observation that the presence of CKD per se does not promote liver injury despite marked increases in serum FGF23 levels. As discussed for cardiac hypertrophy, it is possible that FGF23-induced expression of inflammatory cytokines is not pathological, at least not initially, but has protective functions. Kupffer cell-derived IL-6 is a major regulator of hepatocyte proliferation and survival and thereby promotes liver regeneration (214). The hypothesis that FGF23/ FGFR4 might act as a hepato-protective signaling pathway is supported by the finding that mice lacking FGFR4 are more sensitive to carbon tetrachloride-induced liver injury (217) and fail to restore liver mass after partial hepatectomy (218). Other FGF family members, such as paracrine FGF7 and FGF9, have been shown to mediate repair in response to liver injury (219). Further research is needed to determine whether physiologic concentrations or only high levels of FGF23, as observed in advanced CKD, can stimulate hepatic cytokine expression, and whether FGF23induced cytokines have physiologic functions or mediate global tissue injury.

It is likely that FGF23 can stimulate inflammatory cytokine expression and secretion from other known reservoirs. This is supported by a genome-wide analysis of FGF23-regulated genes in a mouse model of CKD that suggested inflammatory cytokine genes as general FGF23 targets (220), and by studies in which FGF23 stimulated TNF $\alpha$  expression in macrophages (215, 216) and in the spleen (221). Furthermore, NFAT activation induces the expression of a variety of cytokines, such as IL-2, IL-4, IL-6, and TNF $\alpha$ , in different cells types, including T cells and mast cells (222). Therefore, it is possible that by activating klothoindependent calcineurin/NFAT signaling in other cell types, FGF23 induces the production of inflammatory cytokines in multiple tissues contributing to systemic elevations of inflammatory mediators as well as tissue injury (223).

Several factors that are dysregulated in CKD associate with elevations in inflammatory cytokines and might contribute to inflammatory tissue damage, including increased serum phosphate levels (224, 225). However, since only some of the studied animal models with elevated FGF23 develop kidney injury or hyperphosphatemia, while all of them show increases in serum concentrations of inflammatory cytokines (163), it is possible that FGF23 acts as a major driver of inflammation in CKD. Associations between serum levels of FGF23 and inflammatory cytokines have been also reported in adults without CKD and in the elderly, despite their significantly lower FGF23 levels relative to patients with CKD (226-228). This suggests a general pro-inflammatory role of FGF23 that is independent of reduced kidney function, and that FGFR4 blockade might be effective in reducing chronic inflammation. In CKD, several liver-controlled mechanisms, such as iron and lipid metabolism or detoxification, are out of order. Whether FGF23-mediated activation of FGFR4 in hepatocytes can also regulate these facets of liver function needs to be investigated. Klotho is not expressed in the liver (75, 163), and to date direct effects of sKL on the liver have not been reported. However, since a reduction in global klotho expression in rodents (163, 221, 229, 230) and humans (209) has been associated with systemic elevations of inflammatory cytokines, it is tempting to speculate that sKL's anti-inflammatory effects are-at least partially-due to its inhibitory actions toward the FGF23-mediated production of inflammatory cytokines. While such a mechanism has been described in cultured endothelial cells where FGF23-induced expression of IL-1 is inhibited by sKL (231), it was not found in cultured spleen cells, where the FGF23-induced production of TNFa is not reduced in the presence of sKL (221).

## **EFFECTS OF FGF23 ON LEUKOCYTES**

Chronic kidney disease is a state of acquired immune deficiency involving cellular and humoral immunity (232). The incidence of bacterial infections in CKD patients is higher than in the general population, and acute infections with bacteria, viruses, and fungi substantially contribute to the high hospitalization rates and mortality (233–235). As described above, the proinflammatory CKD environment is most likely caused by a variety of sources, including activated immune cells, and *vice versa* systemic inflammation is associated with an impaired function of the immune system. Since in CKD patients elevated serum FGF23 levels are independently associated with the incidence of infections (175, 236, 237), a role of FGF23 not only in the regulation of the inflammatory response, but also in the associated host defense is plausible (223).

The pathomechanism underlying the impaired host defense in CKD is not well understood. The innate immune response requires the recruitment and activation of immune cells to the site of infection, and neutrophils are among the most prominent leukocyte subsets during this process. Neutrophils from CKD patients are unresponsive to further stimulation and activation, indicating that CKD-associated factors might contribute to defects in the host defense by inducing neutrophil dysfunction (238-240). A recent experimental study has shown that by directly targeting neutrophils, FGF23 can inhibit neutrophil recruitment and thereby impair the host defense (241) (Figure 1). Mechanistically, FGF23 blocks chemokine- and selectinmediated  $\beta_2$ -integrin activation on neutrophils, thereby preventing the interaction between  $\beta_2$ -integrin and intracellular adhesion molecule-1 on endothelial cells, neutrophil arrest on the endothelium and trans-endothelial neutrophil migration. This FGF23 effect appears to be klotho-independent and requires FGFR activity. Since neutrophils only express FGFR2 on the cell surface, while FGFR1 and FGFR4 are localized in the cytoplasm (242), one can assume that FGF23 targets neutrophils via FGFR2. FGF23 actions on neutrophils seem to be dose-dependent and only occur at high FGF23 concentrations, which result in the activation of protein kinase A (PKA), subsequent inhibition of the signal mediator Rap1, and eventually deactivation of  $\beta_2$ integrin. This pathomechanism can be translated into humans, as leukocytes isolated from CKD patients show increased rolling velocity which can be reduced by pharmacologic FGFR inhibition, and vice versa, FGF23 treatment of leukocytes isolated from healthy subjects elevates rolling velocity (241). Furthermore, two more recent studies show that FGF23 treatment of isolated human leukocytes reduces expression levels of CD11b integrin (208) and weakens chemotaxis (243). Combined, these findings suggest direct inhibitory actions of FGF23 on integrin activation in leukocytes, resulting in reduced leukocyte adhesion and migration which might serve as a pathomechanism that causatively links increase in serum FGF23 levels with impaired host defense in CKD. Since integrin inactivation occurs rapidly following FGF23 treatment (241), this effect appears to be direct. However, the analysis of rodent models with cell type-specific deletion of FGFR2 will be required to determine whether FGF23 can indeed directly target neutrophils.

Direct effects of FGF23 have been also described for other leukocyte populations suggesting a broader role of FGF23 in the regulation of the immunological and inflammatory response. For example, FGF23 might alter monocyte function by inhibiting 1- $\alpha$ -hydroxylase and thereby 1,25D synthesis (244, 245). Furthermore, FGF23 can stimulate TNF $\alpha$  expression in macrophages (215, 216) (**Figure 1**). FGF23 effects on monocytes and macrophages seem to be mediated by Ras/MAPK signaling and occur in the absence of klotho (215, 244). FGFR1 is expressed at highest levels in these cells (216, 244) and, therefore, FGFR1 might mediate FGF23 effects. However, animal studies with monocyte/ macrophage-specific deletion of FGFR1 will be necessary in order to determine if FGF23 can directly target these leukocyte populations. Since 1,25D can inhibit FGF23-induced TNF $\alpha$  in macrophages (215), it is interesting to speculate that FGF23's inhibitory actions on the innate immunity can be counter-regulated by 1,25D (246), which would explain the stimulating effects of 1,25D on antibacterial macrophage response (247).

# INDICATIONS THAT FGF23 MIGHT AFFECT A VARIETY OF OTHER TISSUES AND CELL TYPES

While the effects of klotho and sKL on the central nervous system have been extensively studied, as reviewed elsewhere (77, 248), it is less clear whether FGF23 can directly target neurons. A study in hippocampal neuron cultures isolated from mice shows that FGF23 treatment reduces the complex cell morphology and enhances synaptic density (106). This effect occurs in the absence of klotho that is not expressed in hippocampal neurons, requires FGFR activity and involves PLCy signaling. Co-treatment with sKL inhibits the FGF23 effect and causes an activation of Akt signaling (106). As Akt can be activated *via* FRS2 $\alpha$ , this finding supports the hypothesis described earlier, that sKL might modify FGF23-induced downstream signaling (Figure 3). By directly targeting hippocampal neurons, FGF23 might contribute to learning and memory deficits which are observed in many patients with CKD, especially in children (249-251). Indeed, it has been reported that elevations in serum FGF23 levels are associated with cognitive impairment in CKD patients (252). Furthermore, transgenic mice overexpressing cleavage-resistant FGF23 resulting in elevated serum FGF23 levels show reduced long-term potentiation in the hippocampus and impaired spatial learning and memory (253). However, since administration of a high phosphate diet ameliorates this phenotype, FGF23-induced hypophosphatemia rather than direct FGF23 actions on the brain might be involved. Clearly, more detailed in vitro and in vivo experiments are necessary to test the existence of direct pathologic actions of FGF23 on neurons as well as other cell types in the central nervous systems.

Since FGF23 can directly induce injury of the heart muscle, it is tempting to speculate that FGF23 might also contribute to skeletal muscle dysfunction and atrophy that is found in many patients with CKD (254). Interestingly, animal models for ARHR and XLH with primary FGF23 elevations show deficiencies in skeletal muscle fiber contraction and develop muscle weakness, which is ameliorated after injections of an FGF23-blocking antibody (196, 255). FGF23 might also have beneficial effects on skeletal muscle, as elevations of circulating FGF23 by intraperitoneal injections of recombinant FGF23 in wild-type mice extends exercise performance (256). Similar to cardiac myocytes, skeletal muscle cells express FGFR4, but lack klotho (205), and it has been shown that FGFR4 is a key regulator of myogenic differentiation and muscle regeneration after injury (257, 258). Furthermore, activating FGFR4 mutations contribute to rhabdomyosarcoma, a childhood cancer originating from skeletal muscle (259). However, a recent study shows that acute and prolonged FGF23 treatments have no effect on the function of isolated mouse skeletal muscle fibers or on an established cell culture model for myoblasts and myotubes (260).

Several types of lung injury are associated with CKD (261, 262), raising the question whether serum FGF23 can directly target and damage the lung. Since kidney, lung, and heart are in close interactions with each other (263), it is possible that FGF23 serves as one of the many pathophysiologic factors that can impact the balance between the three organs. The lung expresses all four FGFR isoforms (198), and like the liver, the lung has high levels of FGFR4 (264). However, as global FGFR4 knockout mice do not develop a lung phenotype (198), the role of FGFR4 in the regulation of lung development and function is unclear. Furthermore, analyses of klotho expression in the lung have provided conflicting results (65, 75, 205, 265), and, therefore, it is unclear whether direct FGF23 actions would be klotho-dependent and/or klotho-independent. So far only one mechanistic study has aimed to analyze potential direct effects of FGF23 on lung cells (265). FGF23 can target bronchial epithelial cells via FGFR1 and klotho to induce Ras/MAPK signaling and the expression of the inflammatory cytokine IL-8, which occurs in concert with TGFβ signaling that potentiates FGF23 effects by elevating FGFR1 expression. Addition of sKL attenuates FGF23 actions (265), indicating that membrane-bound klotho and sKL have opposite effects in this scenario and again pointing toward counterbalancing protective effects of sKL in regards to FGF23's pathologic actions. Interestingly, the FGF23 effect only occurs in bronchial epithelial cells isolated from patients with cystic fibrosis (265), suggesting that the priming of cells by disease-specific stimuli might be necessary for FGF23 responsiveness. Since patients with cystic fibrosis have elevated serum FGF23 levels (265), it is possible that by targeting the lung and other tissues, such as the liver (163), FGF23 contributes to the systemic inflammation that is common in this disease (266). It has also been speculated that FGF23 might serve as a biomarker for chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (267), and smokers have elevated serum FGF23 levels (268, 269), indicating that FGF23 might be involved in a wider spectrum of chronic lung disorders. Of note, mice with global FGF23 deletion develop lung emphysema, which can be partially rescued by the deletion of NaPi-2a resulting in a normalization of phosphate metabolism (270). This finding indicates that in this animal model lung injury might be caused by hyperphosphatemia and FGF23, suggesting important physiologic actions of FGF23 on the lung. While to date only little is known about potential effects of FGF23 on the lung, several human, and experimental studies have reported reductions in levels of klotho and sKL in a variety of lung disease, indicating cell-protective effects of sKL, as reviewed elsewhere (271, 272). Furthermore, mice globally lacking klotho develop pulmonary emphysema (65, 273, 274).

Whether the endothelium expresses klotho, or not, is currently under debate (275), and, therefore, it is unclear if FGF23 could have klotho-independent actions on blood vessels. Studies in cultured endothelial cells have shown that FGF23 can promote oxidative stress (92) and induce the expression of cell adhesion proteins (231), suggesting that FGF23 might contribute to endothelial dysfunction. However, clinical and experimental studies have shown that FGF23 does not associate with and contribute to vascular calcification in CKD (276), where rather elevations in serum phosphate levels act as the major culprit (177). Whether FGF23 affects other aspects of vascular injury associated with CKD and might directly target different cell types in blood vessels, such as vascular smooth muscle cells, needs to be determined. Similarly, it is currently investigated, whether FGF23 can directly affect bone cells in a paracrine manner, and if so, whether this effect requires klotho or not. Interestingly, it has been shown that FGF23 can directly target chondrocytes which lack klotho, and thereby suppress proliferation and induce hypertrophy and differentiation (159, 277, 278). As briefly mentioned before, also macrophages and monocytes (215, 216, 244, 245) as well as cells in the spleen (221) can respond to FGF23. Furthermore, FGF23 has been shown to increase proliferation of prostate cancer cell lines (279).

It has been shown that "classic" FGF23 target organs which express klotho under normal conditions can also respond to FGF23 in a klotho-independent manner. For example, FGF23 effects in the parathyroid gland are mediated by FGFR1 and klotho, resulting in FRS2a/Ras/MAPK signaling and reduced PTH secretion (15, 154) (Figure 1). Interestingly, in mice lacking klotho specifically in the parathyroid gland, FGF23 retains its inhibitory actions on PTH secretion, but activates calcineurin/NFAT instead of Ras/MAPK signaling (16). This animal model supports the hypothesis discussed above, that klotho determines the branch of FGF23-mediated downstream signaling (Figure 3). However, since both, klotho-dependent and klotho-independent signaling, have the same physiologic effect, i.e., to reduce PTH secretion, the biological relevance of klothoindependent signaling is unclear, but it might act as back-up mechanism to ensure FGF23 responsiveness of the parathyroid gland in situations of klotho deficiency. FGF23 seems to also affect the kidney in a klotho-independent manner, at least in the scenario of kidney injury. It has been shown in an animal model of acute tubulointerstitial injury that FGF23 contributes to fibrosis (190, 280) (Figure 1). However, FGF23 can only directly target fibroblasts that are derived from an injured kidney (190), indicating that pathologic actions of FGF23 depend on the context and the presence of other pathologic stimuli. FGF23 effects on injury-primed fibroblasts are mediated by FGFR4 and calcineurin/NFAT signaling and result in an upregulation of TGFβ production, which then carries the pro-fibrotic signal forward to induce extensive fibrosis and tissue injury (191). Since neither healthy nor injured renal fibroblast express klotho (190), this pathologic effect of FGF23 appears to be klotho-independent. Interestingly, the introduction of klotho expression or treatment with sKL causes a switch from calcineurin/NFAT to Ras/MAPK signaling in isolated injured renal fibroblasts and attenuates FGF23's pro-fibrotic actions (191). Overall, this study supports the hypothesis that sKL can counterbalance FGF23's pathologic effects by inducing a switch in FGF23-induced downstream signaling toward the FRS2α/Ras/MAPK cascade (Figure 3). Whether FGF23 can induce renal injury by targeting other cell types than fibroblasts as well as the spectrum of renal diseases that might involve FGF23 as a causative kidney-damaging factor remains to be established. Furthermore, it needs to be studied whether in "classic" FGF23 target organs, klotho-independent signaling only occurs in the situation of klotho reduction or absence, or can also co-exist in the same tissue or even cell in parallel to klotho-mediated signaling events and might, therefore, have physiologically relevant functions.

# CONCLUSION AND OUTLOOK

FGF23 can directly affect several cell types and tissues. Depending on the target, FGF23 actions occur in the presence or absence of klotho, require different FGFR isoforms and are mediated by different signal transduction cascades. The variety of molecular pathways that can be activated by FGF23 in a cell type-specific context ensures that FGF23 has numerous effects that differ among tissues, and can include changes in the cellular uptake and secretion of other factors as well as modifications of cell growth and migration. Klotho-independent FGF23 actions might be more widespread than originally thought. However, based on the diverse nature of FGF23-induced signaling events and effects, traditional read-outs to detect FGF23 responsiveness are not adaptable to every potential target tissue, thereby complicating the identification of novel FGF23 actions. Furthermore, in vitro studies that are necessary to determine potential direct effects of FGF23 on a defined cell type, are hindered by the fact that FGF23 requires specific signaling receptors and mediators whose expression levels, localization, or activity might change when cells are isolated and kept in culture over time. Current findings indicate that klotho-independent actions of FGF23 might be exclusively pathological. However, more animal experiments analyzing FGF23 effects in a concentration- and time-dependent manner are needed to confirm this view. It is also possible that such studies will reveal that initial FGF23 effects are cell protective and meant to compensate for tissue injury. Most likely, FGF23's pathologic actions occur in combination with other injury and stress stimuli, whose presence might alter the "molecular make-up" of cells and thereby increase their FGF23 responsiveness. However, it will be challenging to mimic such a multifactorial scenario in cultured cells in order to test this hypothesis.

Besides osteocytes in the bone, several other tissues and cell types have been reported to produce FGF23. The original studies reporting the cloning of FGF23 include FGF23 expression analyses of selected human and mouse tissues by reverse transcription PCR, showing signals for heart, liver, brain, small intestine, lymph node, and thymus (10, 18). This outcome overlaps with more comprehensive qPCR-based tissue screens in mice, reporting that besides these tissues also spleen, lung, skeletal muscle, and stomach contain FGF23 mRNA (205, 281). More detailed analyses of tissues and cultured cells by qPCR, immunoblotting, and immunohistochemistry, have confirmed and extended the findings of these screening studies, showing FGF23 expression in the heart (184, 185, 192, 193, 282), liver (283, 284), kidney (190, 285-287), spleen (216, 288, 289), brain (18), skeletal muscle (256), bone marrow (216, 290-293), and macrophages (215, 294). Also certain types of tumors have been shown to produce FGF23 (10, 279). Combined with the various FGF23 effects, as described above, these findings indicate that FGF23 might not only act as a hormone, but also functions as a paracrine factor. Furthermore, FGF23 might play important roles during embryonic development. In zebrafish embryos, FGF23 expression is confined to the cells of the corpuscles of Stannius which regulate mineral ion homeostasis in advanced bony fish, also called teleosts (295). During embryonic mouse development, FGF23 is predominantly expressed in somites, heart, and liver (296). Although global FGF23 knockout mice are born at normal Mendelian ratios and do not develop an obvious phenotype before 10 days after birth (296), indicating that FGF23 is not essential for embryonic development, it is still possible that FGF23 contributes to proper organogenesis.

FGF23 expression often seems to occur in the context of pathologic stimuli or tissue damage, suggesting that either FGF23 contributes to the injury process or is induced to protect from injury. Tissue-specific knockout studies will be required to analyze the role of locally produced FGF23 in comparison to bone-derived, circulating FGF23. Furthermore, it needs to be determined whether the mechanisms that regulate FGF23 synthesis as well as posttranslational modifications and processing

# REFERENCES

- Ornitz DM, Itoh N. Fibroblast growth factors. Genome Biol (2001) 2(3):REVIEWS3005. doi:10.1186/gb-2001-2-3-reviews3005
- Itoh N, Ornitz DM. Evolution of the Fgf and Fgfr gene families. *Trends Genet* (2004) 20(11):563–9. doi:10.1016/j.tig.2004.08.007
- Hu MC, Shiizaki K, Kuro-o M, Moe OW. Fibroblast growth factor 23 and klotho: physiology and pathophysiology of an endocrine network of mineral metabolism. *Annu Rev Physiol* (2013) 75:503–33. doi:10.1146/annurevphysiol-030212-183727
- Angelin B, Larsson TE, Rudling M. Circulating fibroblast growth factors as metabolic regulators – a critical appraisal. *Cell Metab* (2012) 16(6):693–705. doi:10.1016/j.cmet.2012.11.001
- Kurosu H, Kuro OM. Endocrine fibroblast growth factors as regulators of metabolic homeostasis. *Biofactors* (2009) 35(1):52–60. doi:10.1002/biof.12
- Goetz R, Mohammadi M. Exploring mechanisms of FGF signalling through the lens of structural biology. *Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol* (2013) 14(3):166–80. doi:10.1038/nrm3528
- 7. Quarles LD. Endocrine functions of bone in mineral metabolism regulation. *J Clin Invest* (2008) 118(12):3820–8. doi:10.1172/JCI36479
- Pool LR, Wolf M. FGF23 and nutritional metabolism. Annu Rev Nutr (2017) 37:247–68. doi:10.1146/annurev-nutr-071816-064620
- Erben RG, Andrukhova O. FGF23 regulation of renal tubular solute transport. *Curr Opin Nephrol Hypertens* (2015) 24(5):450–6. doi:10.1097/ MNH.00000000000145
- Shimada T, Mizutani S, Muto T, Yoneya T, Hino R, Takeda S, et al. Cloning and characterization of FGF23 as a causative factor of tumor-induced osteomalacia. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* (2001) 98(11):6500–5. doi:10.1073/ pnas.101545198
- Shimada T, Hasegawa H, Yamazaki Y, Muto T, Hino R, Takeuchi Y, et al. FGF-23 is a potent regulator of vitamin D metabolism and phosphate homeostasis. J Bone Miner Res (2004) 19(3):429–35. doi:10.1359/JBMR.0301264
- Shimada T, Kakitani M, Yamazaki Y, Hasegawa H, Takeuchi Y, Fujita T, et al. Targeted ablation of Fgf23 demonstrates an essential physiological role of FGF23 in phosphate and vitamin D metabolism. *J Clin Invest* (2004) 113(4):561–8. doi:10.1172/JCI200419081
- Shimada T, Urakawa I, Yamazaki Y, Hasegawa H, Hino R, Yoneya T, et al. FGF-23 transgenic mice demonstrate hypophosphatemic rickets with reduced expression of sodium phosphate cotransporter type IIa. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun* (2004) 314(2):409–14. doi:10.1016/j.bbrc. 2003.12.102
- Shimada T, Yamazaki Y, Takahashi M, Hasegawa H, Urakawa I, Oshima T, et al. Vitamin D receptor-independent FGF23 actions in regulating phosphate and vitamin D metabolism. *Am J Physiol Renal Physiol* (2005) 289(5): F1088–95. doi:10.1152/ajprenal.00474.2004

in the bone are also active in other FGF23 producing organs, or whether FGF23's precise form and modifications and, therefore, bioactivity varies and depends on the source. Clearly, a key open question that needs to be answered is whether the N- and C-terminal FGF23 cleavage fragments have a biological function, and if so, whether this is different from the role of intact FGF23.

# **AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS**

BR designed and generated the three figures. CF wrote the majority of the text, which then was edited by BR.

# FUNDING

This study was supported by the R01HL128714 grant from the National Institutes of Health and by the 1-16-IBS-087 award from the American Diabetes Association (both to CF).

- Ben-Dov IZ, Galitzer H, Lavi-Moshayoff V, Goetz R, Kuro-o M, Mohammadi M, et al. The parathyroid is a target organ for FGF23 in rats. *J Clin Invest* (2007) 117(12):4003–8. doi:10.1172/JCI32409
- Olauson H, Lindberg K, Amin R, Sato T, Jia T, Goetz R, et al. Parathyroidspecific deletion of klotho unravels a novel calcineurin-dependent FGF23 signaling pathway that regulates PTH secretion. *PLoS Genet* (2013) 9(12):e1003975. doi:10.1371/journal.pgen.1003975
- Quarles LD. Role of FGF23 in vitamin D and phosphate metabolism: implications in chronic kidney disease. *Exp Cell Res* (2012) 318(9):1040–8. doi:10.1016/j.yexcr.2012.02.027
- Yamashita T, Yoshioka M, Itoh N. Identification of a novel fibroblast growth factor, FGF-23, preferentially expressed in the ventrolateral thalamic nucleus of the brain. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun* (2000) 277(2):494–8. doi:10.1006/ bbrc.2000.3696
- Bhattacharyya N, Chong WH, Gafni RI, Collins MT. Fibroblast growth factor 23: state of the field and future directions. *Trends Endocrinol Metab* (2012) 23(12):610–8. doi:10.1016/j.tem.2012.07.002
- Yamazaki Y, Tamada T, Kasai N, Urakawa I, Aono Y, Hasegawa H, et al. Anti-FGF23 neutralizing antibodies show the physiological role and structural features of FGF23. *J Bone Miner Res* (2008) 23(9):1509–18. doi:10.1359/ jbmr.080417
- Goetz R, Beenken A, Ibrahimi OA, Kalinina J, Olsen SK, Eliseenkova AV, et al. Molecular insights into the klotho-dependent, endocrine mode of action of fibroblast growth factor 19 subfamily members. *Mol Cell Biol* (2007) 27(9):3417–28. doi:10.1128/MCB.02249-06
- 22. Goetz R, Nakada Y, Hu MC, Kurosu H, Wang L, Nakatani T, et al. Isolated C-terminal tail of FGF23 alleviates hypophosphatemia by inhibiting FGF23-FGFR-klotho complex formation. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* (2010) 107(1):407–12. doi:10.1073/pnas.0902006107
- Goetz R, Ohnishi M, Kir S, Kurosu H, Wang L, Pastor J, et al. Conversion of a paracrine fibroblast growth factor into an endocrine fibroblast growth factor. J Biol Chem (2012) 287(34):29134–46. doi:10.1074/jbc.M112.342980
- Xu Y, Sun Z. Molecular basis of klotho: from gene to function in aging. Endocr Rev (2015) 36(2):174–93. doi:10.1210/er.2013-1079
- Kuro-o M. Klotho in health and disease. Curr Opin Nephrol Hypertens (2012) 21(4):362–8. doi:10.1097/MNH.0b013e32835422ad
- Khosravi A, Cutler CM, Kelly MH, Chang R, Royal RE, Sherry RM, et al. Determination of the elimination half-life of fibroblast growth factor-23. *J Clin Endocrinol Metab* (2007) 92(6):2374–7. doi:10.1210/jc.2006-2865
- Christov M, Waikar SS, Pereira RC, Havasi A, Leaf DE, Goltzman D, et al. Plasma FGF23 levels increase rapidly after acute kidney injury. *Kidney Int* (2013) 84(4):776–85. doi:10.1038/ki.2013.150
- Mace ML, Gravesen E, Hofman-Bang J, Olgaard K, Lewin E. Key role of the kidney in the regulation of fibroblast growth factor 23. *Kidney Int* (2015) 88(6):1304–13. doi:10.1038/ki.2015.231

- Leaf DE, Jacob KA, Srivastava A, Chen ME, Christov M, Juppner H, et al. Fibroblast growth factor 23 levels associate with AKI and death in critical illness. J Am Soc Nephrol (2017) 28(6):1877–85. doi:10.1681/ASN.2016080836
- Benet-Pages A, Lorenz-Depiereux B, Zischka H, White KE, Econs MJ, Strom TM. FGF23 is processed by proprotein convertases but not by PHEX. *Bone* (2004) 35(2):455–62. doi:10.1016/j.bone.2004.04.002
- 31. Shimada T, Muto T, Urakawa I, Yoneya T, Yamazaki Y, Okawa K, et al. Mutant FGF-23 responsible for autosomal dominant hypophosphatemic rickets is resistant to proteolytic cleavage and causes hypophosphatemia in vivo. *Endocrinology* (2002) 143(8):3179–82. doi:10.1210/endo.143.8.8795
- White KE, Carn G, Lorenz-Depiereux B, Benet-Pages A, Strom TM, Econs MJ. Autosomal-dominant hypophosphatemic rickets (ADHR) mutations stabilize FGF-23. *Kidney Int* (2001) 60(6):2079–86. doi:10.1046/j.1523-1755.2001. 00064.x
- 33. Frishberg Y, Ito N, Rinat C, Yamazaki Y, Feinstein S, Urakawa I, et al. Hyperostosishyperphosphatemia syndrome: a congenital disorder of O-glycosylation associated with augmented processing of fibroblast growth factor 23. J Bone Miner Res (2007) 22(2):235–42. doi:10.1359/jbmr.061105
- Bergwitz C, Banerjee S, Abu-Zahra H, Kaji H, Miyauchi A, Sugimoto T, et al. Defective O-glycosylation due to a novel homozygous S129P mutation is associated with lack of fibroblast growth factor 23 secretion and tumoral calcinosis. *J Clin Endocrinol Metab* (2009) 94(11):4267–74. doi:10.1210/jc. 2009-0961
- Kato K, Jeanneau C, Tarp MA, Benet-Pages A, Lorenz-Depiereux B, Bennett EP, et al. Polypeptide GalNAc-transferase T3 and familial tumoral calcinosis. Secretion of fibroblast growth factor 23 requires O-glycosylation. *J Biol Chem* (2006) 281(27):18370–7. doi:10.1074/jbc.M602469200
- Lindberg I, Pang HW, Stains JP, Clark D, Yang AJ, Bonewald L, et al. FGF23 is endogenously phosphorylated in bone cells. *J Bone Miner Res* (2015) 30(3):449–54. doi:10.1002/jbmr.2354
- 37. Tagliabracci VS, Engel JL, Wiley SE, Xiao J, Gonzalez DJ, Nidumanda Appaiah H, et al. Dynamic regulation of FGF23 by Fam20C phosphorylation, GalNAc-T3 glycosylation, and furin proteolysis. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* (2014) 111(15):5520–5. doi:10.1073/pnas.1402218111
- Consortium A. Autosomal dominant hypophosphataemic rickets is associated with mutations in FGF23. Nat Genet (2000) 26(3):345–8. doi:10.1038/ 81664
- Wang X, Wang S, Li C, Gao T, Liu Y, Rangiani A, et al. Inactivation of a novel FGF23 regulator, FAM20C, leads to hypophosphatemic rickets in mice. *PLoS Genet* (2012) 8(5):e1002708. doi:10.1371/journal.pgen.1002708
- Topaz O, Shurman DL, Bergman R, Indelman M, Ratajczak P, Mizrachi M, et al. Mutations in GALNT3, encoding a protein involved in O-linked glycosylation, cause familial tumoral calcinosis. *Nat Genet* (2004) 36(6):579–81. doi:10.1038/ng1358
- Larsson T, Davis SI, Garringer HJ, Mooney SD, Draman MS, Cullen MJ, et al. Fibroblast growth factor-23 mutants causing familial tumoral calcinosis are differentially processed. *Endocrinology* (2005) 146(9):3883–91. doi:10.1210/ en.2005-0431
- Ichikawa S, Sorenson AH, Austin AM, Mackenzie DS, Fritz TA, Moh A, et al. Ablation of the Galnt3 gene leads to low-circulating intact fibroblast growth factor 23 (Fgf23) concentrations and hyperphosphatemia despite increased Fgf23 expression. *Endocrinology* (2009) 150(6):2543–50. doi:10.1210/ en.2008-0877
- 43. Johnson K, Levine K, Sergi J, Chamoun J, Roach R, Vekich J, et al. Therapeutic effects of FGF23 c-tail Fc in a murine preclinical model of X-linked hypophosphatemia via the selective modulation of phosphate reabsorption. *J Bone Miner Res* (2017) 32(10):2062–73. doi:10.1002/jbmr.3197
- 44. Sneddon WB, Ruiz GW, Gallo LI, Xiao K, Zhang Q, Rbaibi Y, et al. Convergent signaling pathways regulate parathyroid hormone and fibroblast growth factor-23 action on NPT2A-mediated phosphate transport. *J Biol Chem* (2016) 291(36):18632–42. doi:10.1074/jbc.M116.744052
- Berndt TJ, Craig TA, McCormick DJ, Lanske B, Sitara D, Razzaque MS, et al. Biological activity of FGF-23 fragments. *Pflugers Arch* (2007) 454(4):615–23. doi:10.1007/s00424-007-0231-5
- 46. Wu X, Weiszmann J, Ge H, Baribault H, Stevens J, Hawkins N, et al. A unique FGF23 with the ability to activate FGFR signaling through both alphaKlotho and betaKlotho. J Mol Biol (2012) 418(1–2):82–9. doi:10.1016/j. jmb.2012.02.027

- Chen G, Liu Y, Goetz R, Fu L, Jayaraman S, Hu MC, et al. alpha-klotho is a non-enzymatic molecular scaffold for FGF23 hormone signalling. *Nature* (2018) 553(7689):461–6. doi:10.1038/nature25451
- Wolf M, White KE. Coupling fibroblast growth factor 23 production and cleavage: iron deficiency, rickets, and kidney disease. *Curr Opin Nephrol Hypertens* (2014) 23(4):411–9. doi:10.1097/01.mnh.0000447020. 74593.6f
- David V, Dai B, Martin A, Huang J, Han X, Quarles LD. Calcium regulates FGF-23 expression in bone. *Endocrinology* (2013) 154(12):4469–82. doi:10.1210/en.2013-1627
- Liu S, Tang W, Zhou J, Stubbs JR, Luo Q, Pi M, et al. Fibroblast growth factor 23 is a counter-regulatory phosphaturic hormone for vitamin D. *J Am Soc Nephrol* (2006) 17(5):1305–15. doi:10.1681/ASN.2005111185
- Lopez I, Rodriguez-Ortiz ME, Almaden Y, Guerrero F, de Oca AM, Pineda C, et al. Direct and indirect effects of parathyroid hormone on circulating levels of fibroblast growth factor 23 in vivo. *Kidney Int* (2011) 80(5):475–82. doi:10.1038/ki.2011.107
- Rhee Y, Bivi N, Farrow E, Lezcano V, Plotkin LI, White KE, et al. Parathyroid hormone receptor signaling in osteocytes increases the expression of fibroblast growth factor-23 in vitro and in vivo. *Bone* (2011) 49(4):636–43. doi:10.1016/j.bone.2011.06.025
- David V, Martin A, Isakova T, Spaulding C, Qi L, Ramirez V, et al. Inflammation and functional iron deficiency regulate fibroblast growth factor 23 production. *Kidney Int* (2016) 89(1):135–46. doi:10.1038/ki.2015.290
- Ito N, Wijenayaka AR, Prideaux M, Kogawa M, Ormsby RT, Evdokiou A, et al. Regulation of FGF23 expression in IDG-SW3 osteocytes and human bone by pro-inflammatory stimuli. *Mol Cell Endocrinol* (2015) 399:208–18. doi:10.1016/j.mce.2014.10.007
- 55. Farrow EG, Yu X, Summers LJ, Davis SI, Fleet JC, Allen MR, et al. Iron deficiency drives an autosomal dominant hypophosphatemic rickets (ADHR) phenotype in fibroblast growth factor-23 (Fgf23) knock-in mice. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* (2011) 108(46):E1146–55. doi:10.1073/pnas. 1110905108
- Clinkenbeard EL, Farrow EG, Summers LJ, Cass TA, Roberts JL, Bayt CA, et al. Neonatal iron deficiency causes abnormal phosphate metabolism by elevating FGF23 in normal and ADHR mice. *J Bone Miner Res* (2014) 29(2):361–9. doi:10.1002/jbmr.2049
- Smith ER, Cai MM, McMahon LP, Holt SG. Biological variability of plasma intact and C-terminal FGF23 measurements. *J Clin Endocrinol Metab* (2012) 97(9):3357–65. doi:10.1210/jc.2012-1811
- Shimada T, Urakawa I, Isakova T, Yamazaki Y, Epstein M, Wesseling-Perry K, et al. Circulating fibroblast growth factor 23 in patients with end-stage renal disease treated by peritoneal dialysis is intact and biologically active. *J Clin Endocrinol Metab* (2010) 95(2):578–85. doi:10.1210/jc.2009-1603
- Pereira RC, Juppner H, Azucena-Serrano CE, Yadin O, Salusky IB, Wesseling-Perry K. Patterns of FGF-23, DMP1, and MEPE expression in patients with chronic kidney disease. *Bone* (2009) 45(6):1161–8. doi:10.1016/j.bone. 2009.08.008
- Stubbs JR, He N, Idiculla A, Gillihan R, Liu S, David V, et al. Longitudinal evaluation of FGF23 changes and mineral metabolism abnormalities in a mouse model of chronic kidney disease. *J Bone Miner Res* (2012) 27(1):38–46. doi:10.1002/jbmr.516
- Francis C, David V. Inflammation regulates fibroblast growth factor 23 production. *Curr Opin Nephrol Hypertens* (2016) 25(4):325–32. doi:10.1097/ MNH.00000000000232
- David V, Francis C, Babitt JL. Ironing out the cross talk between FGF23 and inflammation. *Am J Physiol Renal Physiol* (2017) 312(1):F1–8. doi:10.1152/ ajprenal.00359.2016
- Han X, Quarles LD. Multiple faces of fibroblast growth factor-23. Curr Opin NephrolHypertens(2016)25(4):333–42.doi:10.1097/MNH.00000000000240
- Kawai M. The FGF23/klotho axis in the regulation of mineral and metabolic homeostasis. *Horm Mol Biol Clin Investig* (2016) 28(1):55–67. doi:10.1515/ hmbci-2015-0068
- Kuro-o M, Matsumura Y, Aizawa H, Kawaguchi H, Suga T, Utsugi T, et al. Mutation of the mouse klotho gene leads to a syndrome resembling ageing. *Nature* (1997) 390(6655):45–51. doi:10.1038/36285
- Matsumura Y, Aizawa H, Shiraki-Iida T, Nagai R, Kuro-o M, Nabeshima Y. Identification of the human klotho gene and its two transcripts encoding

membrane and secreted klotho protein. Biochem Biophys Res Commun (1998) 242(3):626-30. doi:10.1006/bbrc.1997.8019

- Shiraki-Iida T, Aizawa H, Matsumura Y, Sekine S, Iida A, Anazawa H, et al. Structure of the mouse klotho gene and its two transcripts encoding membrane and secreted protein. *FEBS Lett* (1998) 424(1–2):6–10. doi:10.1016/ S0014-5793(98)00127-6
- Kato Y, Arakawa E, Kinoshita S, Shirai A, Furuya A, Yamano K, et al. Establishment of the anti-klotho monoclonal antibodies and detection of klotho protein in kidneys. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun* (2000) 267(2): 597–602. doi:10.1006/bbrc.1999.2009
- Lim K, Groen A, Molostvov G, Lu T, Lilley KS, Snead D, et al. alpha-Klotho expression in human tissues. J Clin Endocrinol Metab (2015) 100(10): E1308–18. doi:10.1210/jc.2015-1800
- Chen CD, Podvin S, Gillespie E, Leeman SE, Abraham CR. Insulin stimulates the cleavage and release of the extracellular domain of klotho by ADAM10 and ADAM17. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* (2007) 104(50):19796–801. doi:10.1073/pnas.0709805104
- Bloch L, Sineshchekova O, Reichenbach D, Reiss K, Saftig P, Kuro-o M, et al. Klotho is a substrate for alpha-, beta- and gamma-secretase. *FEBS Lett* (2009) 583(19):3221–4. doi:10.1016/j.febslet.2009.09.009
- Chen CD, Tung TY, Liang J, Zeldich E, Tucker Zhou TB, Turk BE, et al. Identification of cleavage sites leading to the shed form of the anti-aging protein klotho. *Biochemistry* (2014) 53(34):5579–87. doi:10.1021/bi500409n
- Hu MC, Shi M, Zhang J, Addo T, Cho HJ, Barker SL, et al. Renal production, uptake, and handling of circulating alphaKlotho. J Am Soc Nephrol (2016) 27(1):79–90. doi:10.1681/ASN.2014101030
- Lindberg K, Amin R, Moe OW, Hu MC, Erben RG, Ostman Wernerson A, et al. The kidney is the principal organ mediating klotho effects. *J Am Soc Nephrol* (2014) 25(10):2169–75. doi:10.1681/ASN.2013111209
- Olauson H, Mencke R, Hillebrands JL, Larsson TE. Tissue expression and source of circulating alphaKlotho. *Bone* (2017) 100:19–35. doi:10.1016/j. bone.2017.03.043
- Li SA, Watanabe M, Yamada H, Nagai A, Kinuta M, Takei K. Immunohistochemical localization of klotho protein in brain, kidney, and reproductive organs of mice. *Cell Struct Funct* (2004) 29(4):91–9. doi:10.1247/ csf.29.91
- Abraham CR, Mullen PC, Tucker-Zhou T, Chen CD, Zeldich E. Klotho is a neuroprotective and cognition-enhancing protein. *Vitam Horm* (2016) 101:215–38. doi:10.1016/bs.vh.2016.02.004
- Pavlatou MG, Remaley AT, Gold PW. Klotho: a humeral mediator in CSF and plasma that influences longevity and susceptibility to multiple complex disorders, including depression. *Transl Psychiatry* (2016) 6(8):e876. doi:10.1038/tp.2016.135
- Barker SL, Pastor J, Carranza D, Quinones H, Griffith C, Goetz R, et al. The demonstration of alphaKlotho deficiency in human chronic kidney disease with a novel synthetic antibody. *Nephrol Dial Transplant* (2015) 30(2): 223–33. doi:10.1093/ndt/gfu291
- Hu MC, Shi M, Cho HJ, Adams-Huet B, Paek J, Hill K, et al. Klotho and phosphate are modulators of pathologic uremic cardiac remodeling. *J Am Soc Nephrol* (2015) 26(6):1290–302. doi:10.1681/ASN.2014050465
- Hu MC, Shi M, Zhang J, Pastor J, Nakatani T, Lanske B, et al. Klotho: a novel phosphaturic substance acting as an autocrine enzyme in the renal proximal tubule. *FASEB J* (2010) 24(9):3438–50. doi:10.1096/fj.10-154765
- Akimoto T, Yoshizawa H, Watanabe Y, Numata A, Yamazaki T, Takeshima E, et al. Characteristics of urinary and serum soluble klotho protein in patients with different degrees of chronic kidney disease. *BMC Nephrol* (2012) 13:155. doi:10.1186/1471-2369-13-155
- Imura A, Iwano A, Tohyama O, Tsuji Y, Nozaki K, Hashimoto N, et al. Secreted klotho protein in sera and CSF: implication for post-translational cleavage in release of klotho protein from cell membrane. *FEBS Lett* (2004) 565(1–3):143–7. doi:10.1016/j.febslet.2004.03.090
- Kunert SK, Hartmann H, Haffner D, Leifheit-Nestler M. Klotho and fibroblast growth factor 23 in cerebrospinal fluid in children. *J Bone Miner Metab* (2017) 35(2):215–26. doi:10.1007/s00774-016-0746-y
- Andrukhova O, Smorodchenko A, Egerbacher M, Streicher C, Zeitz U, Goetz R, et al. FGF23 promotes renal calcium reabsorption through the TRPV5 channel. *EMBO J* (2014) 33(3):229–46. doi:10.1002/embj.201284188
- Neyra JA, Hu MC. Potential application of klotho in human chronic kidney disease. *Bone* (2017) 100:41–9. doi:10.1016/j.bone.2017.01.017

- Dalton GD, Xie J, An SW, Huang CL. New insights into the mechanism of action of soluble klotho. *Front Endocrinol* (2017) 8:323. doi:10.3389/ fendo.2017.00323
- Mencke R, Olauson H, Hillebrands JL. Effects of klotho on fibrosis and cancer: a renal focus on mechanisms and therapeutic strategies. *Adv Drug Deliv Rev* (2017) 121:85–100. doi:10.1016/j.addr.2017.07.009
- Yamamoto M, Clark JD, Pastor JV, Gurnani P, Nandi A, Kurosu H, et al. Regulation of oxidative stress by the anti-aging hormone klotho. *J Biol Chem* (2005) 280(45):38029–34. doi:10.1074/jbc.M509039200
- Ikushima M, Rakugi H, Ishikawa K, Maekawa Y, Yamamoto K, Ohta J, et al. Anti-apoptotic and anti-senescence effects of klotho on vascular endothelial cells. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun* (2006) 339(3):827–32. doi:10.1016/j. bbrc.2005.11.094
- Saito Y, Yamagishi T, Nakamura T, Ohyama Y, Aizawa H, Suga T, et al. Klotho protein protects against endothelial dysfunction. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun* (1998) 248(2):324–9. doi:10.1006/bbrc.1998.8943
- Richter B, Haller J, Haffner D, Leifheit-Nestler M. Klotho modulates FGF23-mediated NO synthesis and oxidative stress in human coronary artery endothelial cells. *Pflugers Arch* (2016) 468(9):1621–35. doi:10.1007/ s00424-016-1858-x
- Maekawa Y, Ishikawa K, Yasuda O, Oguro R, Hanasaki H, Kida I, et al. Klotho suppresses TNF-alpha-induced expression of adhesion molecules in the endothelium and attenuates NF-kappaB activation. *Endocrine* (2009) 35(3):341–6. doi:10.1007/s12020-009-9181-3
- 94. Maekawa Y, Ohishi M, Ikushima M, Yamamoto K, Yasuda O, Oguro R, et al. Klotho protein diminishes endothelial apoptosis and senescence via a mitogen-activated kinase pathway. *Geriatr Gerontol Int* (2011) 11(4):510–6. doi:10.1111/j.1447-0594.2011.00699.x
- Buendia P, Carracedo J, Soriano S, Madueno JA, Ortiz A, Martin-Malo A, et al. Klotho prevents NFkappaB translocation and protects endothelial cell from senescence induced by uremia. J Gerontol A Biol Sci Med Sci (2015) 70(10):1198–209. doi:10.1093/gerona/glu170
- Wang Y, Kuro-o M, Sun Z. Klotho gene delivery suppresses Nox2 expression and attenuates oxidative stress in rat aortic smooth muscle cells via the cAMP-PKA pathway. *Aging Cell* (2012) 11(3):410–7. doi:10.1111/j.1474-9726. 2012.00796.x
- Banerjee S, Zhao Y, Sarkar PS, Rosenblatt KP, Tilton RG, Choudhary S. Klotho ameliorates chemically induced endoplasmic reticulum (ER) stress signaling. *Cell Physiol Biochem* (2013) 31(4–5):659–72. doi:10.1159/ 000350085
- Six I, Okazaki H, Gross P, Cagnard J, Boudot C, Maizel J, et al. Direct, acute effects of klotho and FGF23 on vascular smooth muscle and endothelium. *PLoS One* (2014) 9(4):e93423. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0093423
- 99. Zeng Y, Wang PH, Zhang M, Du JR. Aging-related renal injury and inflammation are associated with downregulation of klotho and induction of RIG-I/ NF-kappaB signaling pathway in senescence-accelerated mice. *Aging Clin Exp Res* (2016) 28(1):69–76. doi:10.1007/s40520-015-0371-y
- 100. Zhao Y, Banerjee S, Dey N, LeJeune WS, Sarkar PS, Brobey R, et al. Klotho depletion contributes to increased inflammation in kidney of the db/db mouse model of diabetes via RelA (serine)536 phosphorylation. *Diabetes* (2011) 60(7):1907–16. doi:10.2337/db10-1262
- 101. Guan X, Nie L, He T, Yang K, Xiao T, Wang S, et al. Klotho suppresses renal tubulo-interstitial fibrosis by controlling basic fibroblast growth factor-2 signalling. J Pathol (2014) 234(4):560–72. doi:10.1002/path.4420
- 102. Ravikumar P, Ye J, Zhang J, Pinch SN, Hu MC, Kuro-o M, et al. alpha-Klotho protects against oxidative damage in pulmonary epithelia. *Am J Physiol Lung Cell Mol Physiol* (2014) 307(7):L566–75. doi:10.1152/ajplung.00306.2013
- 103. Chen CD, Sloane JA, Li H, Aytan N, Giannaris EL, Zeldich E, et al. The antiaging protein klotho enhances oligodendrocyte maturation and myelination of the CNS. *J Neurosci* (2013) 33(5):1927–39. doi:10.1523/ JNEUROSCI.2080-12.2013
- 104. Chen CD, Li H, Liang J, Hixson K, Zeldich E, Abraham CR. The anti-aging and tumor suppressor protein klotho enhances differentiation of a human oligodendrocytic hybrid cell line. *J Mol Neurosci* (2015) 55(1):76–90. doi:10.1007/s12031-014-0336-1
- Zeldich E, Chen CD, Colvin TA, Bove-Fenderson EA, Liang J, Tucker Zhou TB, et al. The neuroprotective effect of klotho is mediated via regulation of members of the redox system. *J Biol Chem* (2014) 289(35):24700–15. doi:10.1074/ jbc.M114.567321

- 106. Hensel N, Schon A, Konen T, Lubben V, Forthmann B, Baron O, et al. Fibroblast growth factor 23 signaling in hippocampal cells: impact on neuronal morphology and synaptic density. J Neurochem (2016) 137(5):756–69. doi:10.1111/jnc.13585
- 107. Yang K, Wang C, Nie L, Zhao X, Gu J, Guan X, et al. Klotho protects against indoxyl sulphate-induced myocardial hypertrophy. J Am Soc Nephrol (2015) 26(10):2434–46. doi:10.1681/ASN.2014060543
- Lu X, Hu MC. Klotho/FGF23 axis in chronic kidney disease and cardiovascular disease. *Kidney Dis (Basel)* (2017) 3(1):15–23. doi:10.1159/ 000452880
- Grabner A, Faul C. The role of fibroblast growth factor 23 and klotho in uremic cardiomyopathy. *Curr Opin Nephrol Hypertens* (2016) 25(4):314–24. doi:10.1097/MNH.0000000000231
- Kurosu H, Yamamoto M, Clark JD, Pastor JV, Nandi A, Gurnani P, et al. Suppression of aging in mice by the hormone klotho. *Science* (2005) 309 (5742):1829–33. doi:10.1126/science.1112766
- 111. Chateau MT, Araiz C, Descamps S, Galas S. Klotho interferes with a novel FGF-signalling pathway and insulin/Igf-like signalling to improve longevity and stress resistance in *Caenorhabditis elegans*. *Aging (Albany NY)* (2010) 2(9):567–81. doi:10.18632/aging.100195
- 112. Abramovitz L, Rubinek T, Ligumsky H, Bose S, Barshack I, Avivi C, et al. KL1 internal repeat mediates klotho tumor suppressor activities and inhibits bFGF and IGF-I signaling in pancreatic cancer. *Clin Cancer Res* (2011) 17(13):4254–66. doi:10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-10-2749
- 113. Xie J, Cha SK, An SW, Kuro OM, Birnbaumer L, Huang CL. Cardioprotection by klotho through downregulation of TRPC6 channels in the mouse heart. *Nat Commun* (2012) 3:1238. doi:10.1038/ncomms2240
- 114. Doi S, Zou Y, Togao O, Pastor JV, John GB, Wang L, et al. Klotho inhibits transforming growth factor-beta1 (TGF-beta1) signaling and suppresses renal fibrosis and cancer metastasis in mice. *J Biol Chem* (2011) 286(10): 8655–65. doi:10.1074/jbc.M110.174037
- 115. Zhou L, Li Y, Zhou D, Tan RJ, Liu Y. Loss of klotho contributes to kidney injury by derepression of Wnt/beta-catenin signaling. J Am Soc Nephrol (2013) 24(5):771–85. doi:10.1681/ASN.2012080865
- 116. Mitani H, Ishizaka N, Aizawa T, Ohno M, Usui S, Suzuki T, et al. In vivo klotho gene transfer ameliorates angiotensin II-induced renal damage. *Hypertension* (2002) 39(4):838–43. doi:10.1161/01.HYP.0000013734.33441.EA
- 117. Liu H, Fergusson MM, Castilho RM, Liu J, Cao L, Chen J, et al. Augmented Wnt signaling in a mammalian model of accelerated aging. *Science* (2007) 317(5839):803–6. doi:10.1126/science.1143578
- 118. Satoh M, Nagasu H, Morita Y, Yamaguchi TP, Kanwar YS, Kashihara N. Klotho protects against mouse renal fibrosis by inhibiting Wnt signaling. *Am J Physiol Renal Physiol* (2012) 303(12):F1641–51. doi:10.1152/ajprenal. 00460.2012
- 119. Tang X, Wang Y, Fan Z, Ji G, Wang M, Lin J, et al. Klotho: a tumor suppressor and modulator of the Wnt/beta-catenin pathway in human hepatocellular carcinoma. *Lab Invest* (2016) 96(2):197–205. doi:10.1038/labinvest.2015.86
- 120. Dalton G, An SW, Al-Juboori SI, Nischan N, Yoon J, Dobrinskikh E, et al. Soluble klotho binds monosialoganglioside to regulate membrane microdomains and growth factor signaling. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* (2017) 114(4):752–7. doi:10.1073/pnas.1620301114
- 121. Wright JD, An SW, Xie J, Yoon J, Nischan N, Kohler JJ, et al. Modeled structural basis for the recognition of alpha2-3-sialyllactose by soluble klotho. *FASEB J* (2017) 31(8):3574–86. doi:10.1096/fj.201700043R
- 122. Chang Q, Hoefs S, van der Kemp AW, Topala CN, Bindels RJ, Hoenderop JG. The beta-glucuronidase klotho hydrolyzes and activates the TRPV5 channel. *Science* (2005) 310(5747):490–3. doi:10.1126/science.1114245
- 123. Cha SK, Ortega B, Kurosu H, Rosenblatt KP, Kuro OM, Huang CL. Removal of sialic acid involving klotho causes cell-surface retention of TRPV5 channel via binding to galectin-1. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* (2008) 105(28):9805–10. doi:10.1073/pnas.0803223105
- Cha SK, Hu MC, Kurosu H, Kuro-o M, Moe O, Huang CL. Regulation of renal outer medullary potassium channel and renal K(+) excretion by klotho. *Mol Pharmacol* (2009) 76(1):38–46. doi:10.1124/mol.109.055780
- Erben RG. Update on FGF23 and klotho signaling. Mol Cell Endocrinol (2016) 432:56–65. doi:10.1016/j.mce.2016.05.008
- 126. Tohyama O, Imura A, Iwano A, Freund JN, Henrissat B, Fujimori T, et al. Klotho is a novel beta-glucuronidase capable of hydrolyzing steroid

beta-glucuronides. J Biol Chem (2004) 279(11):9777-84. doi:10.1074/jbc. M312392200

- 127. Simons K, Sampaio JL. Membrane organization and lipid rafts. Cold Spring Harb Perspect Biol (2011) 3(10):a004697. doi:10.1101/cshperspect. a004697
- Tucker Zhou TB, King GD, Chen C, Abraham CR. Biochemical and functional characterization of the klotho-VS polymorphism implicated in aging and disease risk. *J Biol Chem* (2013) 288(51):36302–11. doi:10.1074/jbc. M113.490052
- 129. Xu Y, Sun Z. Regulation of S-formylglutathione hydrolase by the anti-aging gene klotho. Oncotarget (2017) 8(51):88259–75. doi:10.18632/oncotarget. 19111
- Hayashi Y, Okino N, Kakuta Y, Shikanai T, Tani M, Narimatsu H, et al. Klotho-related protein is a novel cytosolic neutral beta-glycosylceramidase. *J Biol Chem* (2007) 282(42):30889–900. doi:10.1074/jbc.M700832200
- Eswarakumar VP, Lax I, Schlessinger J. Cellular signaling by fibroblast growth factor receptors. *Cytokine Growth Factor Rev* (2005) 16(2):139–49. doi:10.1016/j.cytogfr.2005.01.001
- 132. Turner N, Grose R. Fibroblast growth factor signalling: from development to cancer. *Nat Rev Cancer* (2010) 10(2):116–29. doi:10.1038/nrc2780
- Bellot F, Crumley G, Kaplow JM, Schlessinger J, Jaye M, Dionne CA. Ligandinduced transphosphorylation between different FGF receptors. *EMBO J* (1991) 10(10):2849–54.
- Ueno H, Gunn M, Dell K, Tseng A Jr, Williams L. A truncated form of fibroblast growth factor receptor 1 inhibits signal transduction by multiple types of fibroblast growth factor receptor. J Biol Chem (1992) 267(3):1470–6.
- Del Piccolo N, Sarabipour S, Hristova K. A new method to study heterodimerization of membrane proteins and its application to fibroblast growth factor receptors. *J Biol Chem* (2017) 292(4):1288–301. doi:10.1074/jbc. M116.755777
- 136. Harmer NJ, Pellegrini L, Chirgadze D, Fernandez-Recio J, Blundell TL. The crystal structure of fibroblast growth factor (FGF) 19 reveals novel features of the FGF family and offers a structural basis for its unusual receptor affinity. *Biochemistry* (2004) 43(3):629–40. doi:10.1021/bi035320k
- Mohammadi M, Olsen SK, Ibrahimi OA. Structural basis for fibroblast growth factor receptor activation. *Cytokine Growth Factor Rev* (2005) 16(2):107–37. doi:10.1016/j.cytogfr.2005.01.008
- Urakawa I, Yamazaki Y, Shimada T, Iijima K, Hasegawa H, Okawa K, et al. Klotho converts canonical FGF receptor into a specific receptor for FGF23. *Nature* (2006) 444(7120):770–4. doi:10.1038/nature05315
- Kurosu H, Ogawa Y, Miyoshi M, Yamamoto M, Nandi A, Rosenblatt KP, et al. Regulation of fibroblast growth factor-23 signaling by klotho. *J Biol Chem* (2006) 281(10):6120–3. doi:10.1074/jbc.C500457200
- 140. Cavallaro U, Niedermeyer J, Fuxa M, Christofori G. N-CAM modulates tumour-cell adhesion to matrix by inducing FGF-receptor signalling. *Nat Cell Biol* (2001) 3(7):650–7. doi:10.1038/35083041
- 141. Francavilla C, Loeffler S, Piccini D, Kren A, Christofori G, Cavallaro U. Neural cell adhesion molecule regulates the cellular response to fibroblast growth factor. J Cell Sci (2007) 120(Pt 24):4388–94. doi:10.1242/jcs.010744
- 142. Francavilla C, Cattaneo P, Berezin V, Bock E, Ami D, de Marco A, et al. The binding of NCAM to FGFR1 induces a specific cellular response mediated by receptor trafficking. *J Cell Biol* (2009) 187(7):1101–16. doi:10.1083/ jcb.200903030
- 143. Williams EJ, Furness J, Walsh FS, Doherty P. Activation of the FGF receptor underlies neurite outgrowth stimulated by L1, N-CAM, and N-cadherin. *Neuron* (1994) 13(3):583–94. doi:10.1016/0896-6273(94)90027-2
- 144. Sanchez-Heras E, Howell FV, Williams G, Doherty P. The fibroblast growth factor receptor acid box is essential for interactions with N-cadherin and all of the major isoforms of neural cell adhesion molecule. *J Biol Chem* (2006) 281(46):35208–16. doi:10.1074/jbc.M608655200
- Christensen C, Lauridsen JB, Berezin V, Bock E, Kiselyov VV. The neural cell adhesion molecule binds to fibroblast growth factor receptor 2. *FEBS Lett* (2006) 580(14):3386–90. doi:10.1016/j.febslet.2006.05.008
- 146. Mohammadi M, Honegger AM, Rotin D, Fischer R, Bellot F, Li W, et al. A tyrosine-phosphorylated carboxy-terminal peptide of the fibroblast growth factor receptor (Flg) is a binding site for the SH2 domain of phospholipase C-gamma 1. *Mol Cell Biol* (1991) 11(10):5068–78. doi:10.1128/ MCB.11.10.5068

- 147. Vainikka S, Joukov V, Wennstrom S, Bergman M, Pelicci PG, Alitalo K. Signal transduction by fibroblast growth factor receptor-4 (FGFR-4). Comparison with FGFR-1. J Biol Chem (1994) 269(28):18320–6.
- 148. Burgess WH, Dionne CA, Kaplow J, Mudd R, Friesel R, Zilberstein A, et al. Characterization and cDNA cloning of phospholipase C-gamma, a major substrate for heparin-binding growth factor 1 (acidic fibroblast growth factor)-activated tyrosine kinase. *Mol Cell Biol* (1990) 10(9):4770–7. doi:10.1128/MCB.10.9.4770
- Crabtree GR, Olson EN. NFAT signaling: choreographing the social lives of cells. Cell (2002) 109(Suppl):S67–79. doi:10.1016/S0092-8674(02)00699-2
- 150. Kouhara H, Hadari YR, Spivak-Kroizman T, Schilling J, Bar-Sagi D, Lax I, et al. A lipid-anchored Grb2-binding protein that links FGF-receptor activation to the Ras/MAPK signaling pathway. *Cell* (1997) 89(5):693–702. doi:10.1016/S0092-8674(00)80252-4
- 151. Gattineni J, Bates C, Twombley K, Dwarakanath V, Robinson ML, Goetz R, et al. FGF23 decreases renal NaPi-2a and NaPi-2c expression and induces hypophosphatemia in vivo predominantly via FGF receptor 1. *Am J Physiol Renal Physiol* (2009) 297(2):F282–91. doi:10.1152/ajprenal.90742.2008
- 152. Gattineni J, Alphonse P, Zhang Q, Mathews N, Bates CM, Baum M. Regulation of renal phosphate transport by FGF23 is mediated by FGFR1 and FGFR4. Am J Physiol Renal Physiol (2014) 306(3):F351-8. doi:10.1152/ ajprenal.00232.2013
- Liu S, Vierthaler L, Tang W, Zhou J, Quarles LD. FGFR3 and FGFR4 do not mediate renal effects of FGF23. J Am Soc Nephrol (2008) 19(12):2342–50. doi:10.1681/ASN.2007121301
- 154. Krajisnik T, Bjorklund P, Marsell R, Ljunggren O, Akerstrom G, Jonsson KB, et al. Fibroblast growth factor-23 regulates parathyroid hormone and 1alphahydroxylase expression in cultured bovine parathyroid cells. *J Endocrinol* (2007) 195(1):125–31. doi:10.1677/JOE-07-0267
- 155. Grabner A, Amaral AP, Schramm K, Singh S, Sloan A, Yanucil C, et al. Activation of cardiac fibroblast growth factor receptor 4 causes left ventricular hypertrophy. *Cell Metab* (2015) 22(6):1020–32. doi:10.1016/j. cmet.2015.09.002
- 156. Ligumsky H, Rubinek T, Merenbakh-Lamin K, Yeheskel A, Sertchook R, Shahmoon S, et al. Tumor suppressor activity of klotho in breast cancer is revealed by structure-function analysis. *Mol Cancer Res* (2015) 13(10): 1398–407. doi:10.1158/1541-7786.MCR-15-0141
- 157. Smith RC, O'Bryan LM, Farrow EG, Summers LJ, Clinkenbeard EL, Roberts JL, et al. Circulating alphaKlotho influences phosphate handling by controlling FGF23 production. J Clin Invest (2012) 122(12):4710–5. doi:10.1172/ JCI64986
- Hum JM, O'Bryan LM, Tatiparthi AK, Cass TA, Clinkenbeard EL, Cramer MS, et al. Chronic hyperphosphatemia and vascular calcification are reduced by stable delivery of soluble klotho. *J Am Soc Nephrol* (2017) 28(4):1162–74. doi:10.1681/ASN.2015111266
- 159. Kawai M, Kinoshita S, Kimoto A, Hasegawa Y, Miyagawa K, Yamazaki M, et al. FGF23 suppresses chondrocyte proliferation in the presence of soluble alpha-klotho both in vitro and in vivo. *J Biol Chem* (2013) 288(4):2414–27. doi:10.1074/jbc.M112.410043
- 160. Hum JM, O'Bryan L, Smith RC, White KE. Novel functions of circulating klotho. Bone (2017) 100:36–40. doi:10.1016/j.bone.2016.11.025
- 161. Sidhu SS. Circulating klotho levels: best way to measure and how to interpret existing data. *Am Soc Nephrol Kidney Week* (2015).
- 162. Faul C, Amaral AP, Oskouei B, Hu MC, Sloan A, Isakova T, et al. FGF23 induces left ventricular hypertrophy. J Clin Invest (2011) 121(11): 4393–408. doi:10.1172/JCI46122
- 163. Singh S, Grabner A, Yanucil C, Schramm K, Czaya B, Krick S, et al. Fibroblast growth factor 23 directly targets hepatocytes to promote inflammation in chronic kidney disease. *Kidney Int* (2016) 90(5):985–96. doi:10.1016/j. kint.2016.05.019
- 164. Grabner A, Schramm K, Silswal N, Hendrix M, Yanucil C, Czaya B, et al. FGF23/FGFR4-mediated left ventricular hypertrophy is reversible. *Sci Rep* (2017) 7(1):1993. doi:10.1038/s41598-017-02068-6
- 165. Xie J, Yoon J, An SW, Kuro-o M, Huang CL. Soluble klotho protects against uremic cardiomyopathy independently of fibroblast growth factor 23 and phosphate. J Am Soc Nephrol (2015) 26(5):1150–60. doi:10.1681/ ASN.2014040325
- 166. Kendall RL, Wang G, Thomas KA. Identification of a natural soluble form of the vascular endothelial growth factor receptor, FLT-1, and its

heterodimerization with KDR. Biochem Biophys Res Commun (1996) 226(2): 324-8. doi:10.1006/bbrc.1996.1355

- 167. Mencke R, Harms G, Moser J, van Meurs M, Diepstra A, Leuvenink HG, et al. Human alternative klotho mRNA is a nonsense-mediated mRNA decay target inefficiently spliced in renal disease. JCI Insight (2017) 2(20). doi:10.1172/jci.insight.94375
- Di Marco GS, Reuter S, Kentrup D, Ting L, Ting L, Grabner A, et al. Cardioprotective effect of calcineurin inhibition in an animal model of renal disease. *Eur Heart J* (2011) 32(15):1935–45. doi:10.1093/eurheartj/ehq436
- 169. Hu MC, Shi M, Gillings N, Flores B, Takahashi M, Kuro OM, et al. Recombinant alpha-klotho may be prophylactic and therapeutic for acute to chronic kidney disease progression and uremic cardiomyopathy. *Kidney Int* (2017) 91(5):1104–14. doi:10.1016/j.kint.2016.10.034
- 170. Shalhoub V, Shatzen EM, Ward SC, Davis J, Stevens J, Bi V, et al. FGF23 neutralization improves chronic kidney disease-associated hyperparathyroidism yet increases mortality. *J Clin Invest* (2012) 122(7):2543–53. doi:10.1172/ JCI61405
- 171. Slavic S, Ford K, Modert M, Becirovic A, Handschuh S, Baierl A, et al. Genetic ablation of Fgf23 or klotho does not modulate experimental heart hypertrophy induced by pressure overload. *Sci Rep* (2017) 7(1):11298. doi:10.1038/s41598-017-10140-4
- 172. Han X, Ross J, Kolumam G, Pi M, Sonoda J, King G, et al. Cardiovascular effects of renal distal tubule deletion of the FGF receptor 1 gene. J Am Soc Nephrol (2018) 29(1):69–80. doi:10.1681/ASN.2017040412
- 173. Andrukhova O, Slavic S, Smorodchenko A, Zeitz U, Shalhoub V, Lanske B, et al. FGF23 regulates renal sodium handling and blood pressure. *EMBO Mol Med* (2014) 6(6):744–59. doi:10.1002/emmm.201303716
- 174. Isakova T, Wahl P, Vargas GS, Gutierrez OM, Scialla J, Xie H, et al. Fibroblast growth factor 23 is elevated before parathyroid hormone and phosphate in chronic kidney disease. *Kidney Int* (2011) 79(12):1370–8. doi:10.1038/ ki.2011.47
- 175. Isakova T, Xie H, Yang W, Xie D, Anderson AH, Scialla J, et al. Fibroblast growth factor 23 and risks of mortality and end-stage renal disease in patients with chronic kidney disease. *JAMA* (2011) 305(23):2432–9. doi:10.1001/ jama.2011.826
- 176. Faul C. Fibroblast growth factor 23 and the heart. Curr Opin Nephrol Hypertens (2012) 21(4):369–75. doi:10.1097/MNH.0b013e32835422c4
- 177. Scialla JJ, Wolf M. Roles of phosphate and fibroblast growth factor 23 in cardiovascular disease. *Nat Rev Nephrol* (2014) 10(5):268–78. doi:10.1038/ nrneph.2014.49
- Batra J, Buttar RS, Kaur P, Kreimerman J, Melamed ML. FGF-23 and cardiovascular disease: review of literature. *Curr Opin Endocrinol Diabetes Obes* (2016) 23(6):423–9. doi:10.1097/MED.00000000000294
- Neuburg S, Dussold C, Gerber C, Wang X, Francis C, Qi L, et al. Genetic background influences cardiac phenotype in murine chronic kidney disease. *Nephrol Dial Transplant* (2017). doi:10.1093/ndt/gfx332
- Cosgrove D, Meehan DT, Grunkemeyer JA, Kornak JM, Sayers R, Hunter WJ, et al. Collagen COL4A3 knockout: a mouse model for autosomal Alport syndrome. *Genes Dev* (1996) 10(23):2981–92. doi:10.1101/gad.10.23.2981
- Andrews KL, Mudd JL, Li C, Miner JH. Quantitative trait loci influence renal disease progression in a mouse model of Alport syndrome. *Am J Pathol* (2002) 160(2):721–30. doi:10.1016/S0002-9440(10)64892-4
- 182. Jia T, Olauson H, Lindberg K, Amin R, Edvardsson K, Lindholm B, et al. A novel model of adenine-induced tubulointerstitial nephropathy in mice. *BMC Nephrol* (2013) 14:116. doi:10.1186/1471-2369-14-116
- 183. Shobeiri N, Pang J, Adams MA, Holden RM. Cardiovascular disease in an adenine-induced model of chronic kidney disease: the temporal link between vascular calcification and haemodynamic consequences. *J Hypertens* (2013) 31(1):160–8. doi:10.1097/HJH.0b013e32835b15bb
- 184. Leifheit-Nestler M, Grabner A, Hermann L, Richter B, Schmitz K, Fischer D, et al. Vitamin D treatment attenuates cardiac FGF23/FGFR4 signaling and hypertrophy in uremic rats. *Nephrol Dial Transplant* (2017) 32(9):1493–503. doi:10.1093/ndt/gfw454
- 185. Leifheit-Nestler M, Grosse Siemer R, Flasbart K, Richter B, Kirchhoff F, Ziegler WH, et al. Induction of cardiac FGF23/FGFR4 expression is associated with left ventricular hypertrophy in patients with chronic kidney disease. *Nephrol Dial Transplant* (2016) 31(7):1088–99. doi:10.1093/ndt/gfv421
- 186. Touchberry CD, Green TM, Tchikrizov V, Mannix JE, Mao TF, Carney BW, et al. FGF23 is a novel regulator of intracellular calcium and cardiac

contractility in addition to cardiac hypertrophy. *Am J Physiol Endocrinol Metab* (2013) 304(8):E863-73. doi:10.1152/ajpendo.00596.2012

- 187. Huang SY, Chen YC, Kao YH, Hsieh MH, Lin YK, Chung CC, et al. Fibroblast growth factor 23 dysregulates late sodium current and calcium homeostasis with enhanced arrhythmogenesis in pulmonary vein cardiomyocytes. *Oncotarget* (2016) 7(43):69231–42. doi:10.18632/oncotarget.12470
- 188. Leifheit-Nestler M, Kirchhoff F, Nespor J, Richter B, Soetje B, Klintschar M, et al. Fibroblast growth factor 23 is induced by an activated reninangiotensin-aldosterone system in cardiac myocytes and promotes the pro-fibrotic crosstalk between cardiac myocytes and fibroblasts. *Nephrol Dial Transplant* (2018). doi:10.1093/ndt/gfy006
- 189. Hao H, Li X, Li Q, Lin H, Chen Z, Xie J, et al. FGF23 promotes myocardial fibrosis in mice through activation of beta-catenin. *Oncotarget* (2016) 7(40):64649–64. doi:10.18632/oncotarget.11623
- 190. Smith ER, Tan SJ, Holt SG, Hewitson TD. FGF23 is synthesised locally by renal tubules and activates injury-primed fibroblasts. *Sci Rep* (2017) 7(1):3345. doi:10.1038/s41598-017-02709-w
- 191. Smith ER, Holt SG, Hewitson TD. FGF23 activates injury-primed renal fibroblasts via FGFR4-dependent signalling and enhancement of TGFbeta autoinduction. *Int J Biochem Cell Biol* (2017) 92:63–78. doi:10.1016/j. biocel.2017.09.009
- 192. Yan L, Mathew L, Chellan B, Gardner B, Earley J, Puri TS, et al. S100/ calgranulin-mediated inflammation accelerates left ventricular hypertrophy and aortic valve sclerosis in chronic kidney disease in a receptor for advanced glycation end products-dependent manner. *Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol* (2014) 34(7):1399–411. doi:10.1161/ATVBAHA.114.303508
- 193. Yan L, Bowman MA. Chronic sustained inflammation links to left ventricular hypertrophy and aortic valve sclerosis: a new link between \$100/RAGE and FGF23. *Inflamm Cell Signal* (2014) 1(5). doi:10.14800/ics.279
- 194. Takashi Y, Kinoshita Y, Hori M, Ito N, Taguchi M, Fukumoto S. Patients with FGF23-related hypophosphatemic rickets/osteomalacia do not present with left ventricular hypertrophy. *Endocr Res* (2017) 42(2):132–7. doi:10.1080/ 07435800.2016.1242604
- Nehgme R, Fahey JT, Smith C, Carpenter TO. Cardiovascular abnormalities in patients with X-linked hypophosphatemia. J Clin Endocrinol Metab (1997) 82(8):2450–4. doi:10.1210/jcem.82.8.4181
- 196. Wacker MJ, Touchberry CD, Silswal N, Brotto L, Elmore CJ, Bonewald LF, et al. Skeletal muscle, but not cardiovascular function, is altered in a mouse model of autosomal recessive hypophosphatemic rickets. *Front Physiol* (2016) 7:173. doi:10.3389/fphys.2016.00173
- 197. Christov M, Clark AR, Corbin B, Hakroush S, Rhee EP, Saito H, et al. Inducible podocyte-specific deletion of CTCF drives progressive kidney disease and bone abnormalities. *JCI Insight* (2018) 3(4). doi:10.1172/jci. insight.95091
- Weinstein M, Xu X, Ohyama K, Deng CX. FGFR-3 and FGFR-4 function cooperatively to direct alveogenesis in the murine lung. *Development* (1998) 125(18):3615–23.
- Shimizu I, Minamino T. Physiological and pathological cardiac hypertrophy. J Mol Cell Cardiol (2016) 97:245–62. doi:10.1016/j.yjmcc.2016.06.001
- 200. Kirby BJ, Ma Y, Martin HM, Buckle Favaro KL, Karaplis AC, Kovacs CS. Upregulation of calcitriol during pregnancy and skeletal recovery after lactation do not require parathyroid hormone. *J Bone Miner Res* (2013) 28(9):1987–2000. doi:10.1002/jbmr.1925
- 201. Lombardi G, Corsetti R, Lanteri P, Grasso D, Vianello E, Marazzi MG, et al. Reciprocal regulation of calcium-/phosphate-regulating hormones in cyclists during the Giro d'Italia 3-week stage race. *Scand J Med Sci Sports* (2014) 24(5):779–87. doi:10.1111/sms.12080
- 202. Erben RG. Pleiotropic actions of FGF23. *Toxicol Pathol* (2017) 45(7):904–10. doi:10.1177/0192623317737469
- 203. Kanbay M, Vervloet M, Cozzolino M, Siriopol D, Covic A, Goldsmith D, et al. Novel faces of fibroblast growth factor 23 (FGF23): iron deficiency, inflammation, insulin resistance, left ventricular hypertrophy, proteinuria and acute kidney injury. *Calcif Tissue Int* (2017) 100(3):217–28. doi:10.1007/s00223-016-0206-7
- 204. Coe LM, Madathil SV, Casu C, Lanske B, Rivella S, Sitara D. FGF-23 is a negative regulator of prenatal and postnatal erythropoiesis. *J Biol Chem* (2014) 289(14):9795–810. doi:10.1074/jbc.M113.527150
- 205. Fon Tacer K, Bookout AL, Ding X, Kurosu H, John GB, Wang L, et al. Research resource: comprehensive expression atlas of the fibroblast growth

factor system in adult mouse. Mol Endocrinol (2010) 24(10):2050-64. doi:10.1210/me.2010-0142

- 206. Munoz Mendoza J, Isakova T, Ricardo AC, Xie H, Navaneethan SD, Anderson AH, et al. Fibroblast growth factor 23 and inflammation in CKD. *Clin J Am Soc Nephrol* (2012) 7(7):1155–62. doi:10.2215/CJN.13281211
- 207. Munoz Mendoza J, Isakova T, Cai X, Bayes LY, Faul C, Scialla JJ, et al. Inflammation and elevated levels of fibroblast growth factor 23 are independent risk factors for death in chronic kidney disease. *Kidney Int* (2017) 91(3):711–9. doi:10.1016/j.kint.2016.10.021
- Wallquist C, Mansouri L, Norrback M, Hylander B, Jacobson SH, Larsson TE, et al. Associations of fibroblast growth factor 23 with markers of inflammation and leukocyte transmigration in chronic kidney disease. *Nephron* (2018) 138(4):287–95. doi:10.1159/000485472
- 209. Almroth G, Lonn J, Uhlin F, Brudin L, Andersson B, Hahn-Zoric M. Sclerostin, TNF-alpha and interleukin-18 correlate and are together with klotho related to other growth factors and cytokines in haemodialysis patients. *Scand J Immunol* (2016) 83(1):58–63. doi:10.1111/sji.12392
- 210. Barreto DV, Barreto FC, Liabeuf S, Temmar M, Lemke HD, Tribouilloy C, et al. Plasma interleukin-6 is independently associated with mortality in both hemodialysis and pre-dialysis patients with chronic kidney disease. *Kidney Int* (2010) 77(6):550–6. doi:10.1038/ki.2009.503
- 211. Pereira BJ, Shapiro L, King AJ, Falagas ME, Strom JA, Dinarello CA. Plasma levels of IL-1 beta, TNF alpha and their specific inhibitors in undialyzed chronic renal failure, CAPD and hemodialysis patients. *Kidney Int* (1994) 45(3):890–6. doi:10.1038/ki.1994.117
- 212. Ridker PM, Cannon CP, Morrow D, Rifai N, Rose LM, McCabe CH, et al. C-reactive protein levels and outcomes after statin therapy. N Engl J Med (2005) 352(1):20–8. doi:10.1056/NEJMoa042378
- 213. Shlipak MG, Fried LF, Crump C, Bleyer AJ, Manolio TA, Tracy RP, et al. Elevations of inflammatory and procoagulant biomarkers in elderly persons with renal insufficiency. *Circulation* (2003) 107(1):87–92. doi:10.1161/01. CIR.0000042700.48769.59
- Bohm F, Kohler UA, Speicher T, Werner S. Regulation of liver regeneration by growth factors and cytokines. *EMBO Mol Med* (2010) 2(8):294–305. doi:10.1002/emmm.201000085
- 215. Han X, Li L, Yang J, King G, Xiao Z, Quarles LD. Counter-regulatory paracrine actions of FGF-23 and 1,25(OH)2 D in macrophages. *FEBS Lett* (2016) 590(1):53–67. doi:10.1002/1873-3468.12040
- 216. Masuda Y, Ohta H, Morita Y, Nakayama Y, Miyake A, Itoh N, et al. Expression of Fgf23 in activated dendritic cells and macrophages in response to immunological stimuli in mice. *Biol Pharm Bull* (2015) 38(5):687–93. doi:10.1248/ bpb.b14-00276
- 217. Yu C, Wang F, Jin C, Wu X, Chan WK, McKeehan WL. Increased carbon tetrachloride-induced liver injury and fibrosis in FGFR4-deficient mice. *Am J Pathol* (2002) 161(6):2003–10. doi:10.1016/S0002-9440(10)64478-1
- Padrissa-Altes S, Bachofner M, Bogorad RL, Pohlmeier L, Rossolini T, Bohm F, et al. Control of hepatocyte proliferation and survival by Fgf receptors is essential for liver regeneration in mice. *Gut* (2015) 64(9):1444–53. doi:10.1136/gutjnl-2014-307874
- Itoh N, Nakayama Y, Konishi M. Roles of FGFs as paracrine or endocrine signals in liver development, health, and disease. *Front Cell Dev Biol* (2016) 4:30. doi:10.3389/fcell.2016.00030
- 220. Dai B, David V, Martin A, Huang J, Li H, Jiao Y, et al. A comparative transcriptome analysis identifying FGF23 regulated genes in the kidney of a mouse CKD model. *PLoS One* (2012) 7(9):e44161. doi:10.1371/journal. pone.0044161
- 221. Yamauchi M, Hirohashi Y, Torigoe T, Matsumoto Y, Yamashita K, Kayama M, et al. Wound healing delays in alpha-klotho-deficient mice that have skin appearance similar to that in aged humans study of delayed wound healing mechanism. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun* (2016) 473(4):845–52. doi:10.1016/j. bbrc.2016.03.138
- Rao A, Luo C, Hogan PG. Transcription factors of the NFAT family: regulation and function. Annu Rev Immunol (1997) 15:707–47. doi:10.1146/ annurev.immunol.15.1.707
- Rossaint J, Unruh M, Zarbock A. Fibroblast growth factor 23 actions in inflammation: a key factor in CKD outcomes. *Nephrol Dial Transplant* (2017) 32(9):1448–53. doi:10.1093/ndt/gfw331
- 224. Navarro-Gonzalez JF, Mora-Fernandez C, Muros M, Herrera H, Garcia J. Mineral metabolism and inflammation in chronic kidney disease patients:

a cross-sectional study. Clin J Am Soc Nephrol (2009) 4(10):1646-54. doi:10.2215/CJN.02420409

- 225. Yamada S, Tokumoto M, Tatsumoto N, Taniguchi M, Noguchi H, Nakano T, et al. Phosphate overload directly induces systemic inflammation and malnutrition as well as vascular calcification in uremia. *Am J Physiol Renal Physiol* (2014) 306(12):F1418–28. doi:10.1152/ajprenal.00633.2013
- 226. Holecki M, Chudek J, Owczarek A, Olszanecka-Glinianowicz M, Bozentowicz-Wikarek M, Dulawa J, et al. Inflammation but not obesity or insulin resistance is associated with increased plasma fibroblast growth factor 23 concentration in the elderly. *Clin Endocrinol (Oxf)* (2015) 82(6):900–9. doi:10.1111/cen.12759
- 227. Hanks LJ, Casazza K, Judd SE, Jenny NS, Gutierrez OM. Associations of fibroblast growth factor-23 with markers of inflammation, insulin resistance and obesity in adults. *PLoS One* (2015) 10(3):e0122885. doi:10.1371/journal. pone.0122885
- 228. di Giuseppe R, Kuhn T, Hirche F, Buijsse B, Dierkes J, Fritsche A, et al. Potential predictors of plasma fibroblast growth factor 23 concentrations: cross-sectional analysis in the EPIC-Germany Study. *PLoS One* (2015) 10(7):e0133580. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0133580
- Liu F, Wu S, Ren H, Gu J. Klotho suppresses RIG-I-mediated senescenceassociated inflammation. Nat Cell Biol (2011) 13(3):254–62. doi:10.1038/ ncb2167
- 230. Eren M, Boe AE, Murphy SB, Place AT, Nagpal V, Morales-Nebreda L, et al. PAI-1-regulated extracellular proteolysis governs senescence and survival in klotho mice. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* (2014) 111(19):7090–5. doi:10.1073/ pnas.1321942111
- 231. Stevens KK, McQuarrie EP, Sands W, Hillyard DZ, Patel RK, Mark PB, et al. Fibroblast growth factor 23 predicts left ventricular mass and induces cell adhesion molecule formation. *Int J Nephrol* (2011) 2011:297070. doi:10.4061/2011/297070
- 232. Cohen G, Haag-Weber M, Horl WH. Immune dysfunction in uremia. *Kidney* Int Suppl (1997) 62:S79–82.
- Dalrymple LS, Go AS. Epidemiology of acute infections among patients with chronic kidney disease. *Clin J Am Soc Nephrol* (2008) 3(5):1487–93. doi:10.2215/CJN.01290308
- Viasus D, Garcia-Vidal C, Cruzado JM, Adamuz J, Verdaguer R, Manresa F, et al. Epidemiology, clinical features and outcomes of pneumonia in patients with chronic kidney disease. *Nephrol Dial Transplant* (2011) 26(9):2899–906. doi:10.1093/ndt/gfq798
- 235. Thompson S, James M, Wiebe N, Hemmelgarn B, Manns B, Klarenbach S, et al. Cause of death in patients with reduced kidney function. J Am Soc Nephrol (2015) 26(10):2504–11. doi:10.1681/ASN.2014070714
- 236. Gutierrez OM, Mannstadt M, Isakova T, Rauh-Hain JA, Tamez H, Shah A, et al. Fibroblast growth factor 23 and mortality among patients undergoing hemodialysis. N Engl J Med (2008) 359(6):584–92. doi:10.1056/ NEJMoa0706130
- 237. Chonchol M, Greene T, Zhang Y, Hoofnagle AN, Cheung AK. Low vitamin D and high fibroblast growth factor 23 serum levels associate with infectious and cardiac deaths in the HEMO Study. *J Am Soc Nephrol* (2016) 27(1):227–37. doi:10.1681/ASN.2014101009
- Anders HJ, Ninichuk V, Schlondorff D. Progression of kidney disease: blocking leukocyte recruitment with chemokine receptor CCR1 antagonists. *Kidney Int* (2006) 69(1):29–32. doi:10.1038/sj.ki.5000053
- 239. Anding K, Gross P, Rost JM, Allgaier D, Jacobs E. The influence of uraemia and haemodialysis on neutrophil phagocytosis and antimicrobial killing. *Nephrol Dial Transplant* (2003) 18(10):2067–73. doi:10.1093/ndt/gfg330
- 240. Rossaint J, Spelten O, Kassens N, Mueller H, Van Aken HK, Singbartl K, et al. Acute loss of renal function attenuates slow leukocyte rolling and transmigration by interfering with intracellular signaling. *Kidney Int* (2011) 80(5):493–503. doi:10.1038/ki.2011.125
- 241. Rossaint J, Oehmichen J, Van Aken H, Reuter S, Pavenstadt HJ, Meersch M, et al. FGF23 signaling impairs neutrophil recruitment and host defense during CKD. J Clin Invest (2016) 126(3):962–74. doi:10.1172/JCI83470
- 242. Haddad LE, Khzam LB, Hajjar F, Merhi Y, Sirois MG. Characterization of FGF receptor expression in human neutrophils and their contribution to chemotaxis. Am J Physiol Cell Physiol (2011) 301(5):C1036–45. doi:10.1152/ ajpcell.00215.2011
- 243. Yang K, Peretz-Soroka H, Wu J, Zhu L, Cui X, Zhang M, et al. Fibroblast growth factor 23 weakens chemotaxis of human blood neutrophils in

microfluidic devices. *Sci Rep* (2017) 7(1):3100. doi:10.1038/s41598-017-03210-0

- 244. Bacchetta J, Sea JL, Chun RF, Lisse TS, Wesseling-Perry K, Gales B, et al. Fibroblast growth factor 23 inhibits extrarenal synthesis of 1,25dihydroxyvitamin D in human monocytes. *J Bone Miner Res* (2013) 28(1):46–55. doi:10.1002/jbmr.1740
- Viaene L, Evenepoel P, Meijers B, Vanderschueren D, Overbergh L, Mathieu C. Uremia suppresses immune signal-induced CYP27B1 expression in human monocytes. *Am J Nephrol* (2012) 36(6):497–508. doi:10.1159/000345146
- Bacchetta J, Salusky IB, Hewison M. Beyond mineral metabolism, is there an interplay between FGF23 and vitamin D in innate immunity? *Pediatr Nephrol* (2013) 28(4):577–82. doi:10.1007/s00467-012-2336-0
- 247. Bacchetta J, Chun RF, Gales B, Zaritsky JJ, Leroy S, Wesseling-Perry K, et al. Antibacterial responses by peritoneal macrophages are enhanced following vitamin D supplementation. *PLoS One* (2014) 9(12):e116530. doi:10.1371/ journal.pone.0116530
- Cararo-Lopes MM, Mazucanti CHY, Scavone C, Kawamoto EM, Berwick DC. The relevance of alpha-klotho to the central nervous system: some key questions. *Ageing Res Rev* (2017) 36:137–48. doi:10.1016/j.arr.2017.03.003
- Slickers J, Duquette P, Hooper S, Gipson D. Clinical predictors of neurocognitive deficits in children with chronic kidney disease. *Pediatr Nephrol* (2007) 22(4):565–72. doi:10.1007/s00467-006-0374-1
- 250. Hartmann H, Hawellek N, Wedekin M, Vogel C, Das AM, Balonwu K, et al. Early kidney transplantation improves neurocognitive outcome in patients with severe congenital chronic kidney disease. *Transpl Int* (2015) 28(4):429–36. doi:10.1111/tri.12510
- 251. Sarnak MJ, Tighiouart H, Scott TM, Lou KV, Sorensen EP, Giang LM, et al. Frequency of and risk factors for poor cognitive performance in hemodialysis patients. *Neurology* (2013) 80(5):471–80. doi:10.1212/WNL. 0b013e31827f0f7f
- 252. Drew DA, Tighiouart H, Scott TM, Lou KV, Fan L, Shaffi K, et al. FGF-23 and cognitive performance in hemodialysis patients. *Hemodial Int* (2014) 18(1):78–86. doi:10.1111/hdi.12100
- 253. Liu P, Chen L, Bai X, Karaplis A, Miao D, Gu N. Impairment of spatial learning and memory in transgenic mice overexpressing human fibroblast growth factor-23. *Brain Res* (2011) 1412:9–17. doi:10.1016/j.brainres.2011.07.028
- 254. Wang XH, Mitch WE. Mechanisms of muscle wasting in chronic kidney disease. Nat Rev Nephrol (2014) 10(9):504–16. doi:10.1038/nrneph. 2014.112
- 255. Aono Y, Hasegawa H, Yamazaki Y, Shimada T, Fujita T, Yamashita T, et al. Anti-FGF-23 neutralizing antibodies ameliorate muscle weakness and decreased spontaneous movement of Hyp mice. J Bone Miner Res (2011) 26(4):803–10. doi:10.1002/jbmr.275
- 256. Li DJ, Fu H, Zhao T, Ni M, Shen FM. Exercise-stimulated FGF23 promotes exercise performance via controlling the excess reactive oxygen species production and enhancing mitochondrial function in skeletal muscle. *Metabolism* (2016) 65(5):747–56. doi:10.1016/j.metabol.2016.02.009
- Zhao P, Hoffman EP. Embryonic myogenesis pathways in muscle regeneration. *Dev Dyn* (2004) 229(2):380–92. doi:10.1002/dvdy.10457
- 258. Zhao P, Caretti G, Mitchell S, McKeehan WL, Boskey AL, Pachman LM, et al. Fgfr4 is required for effective muscle regeneration in vivo. Delineation of a MyoD-Tead2-Fgfr4 transcriptional pathway. *J Biol Chem* (2006) 281(1):429–38. doi:10.1074/jbc.M507440200
- 259. Taylor JG, Cheuk AT, Tsang PS, Chung JY, Song YK, Desai K, et al. Identification of FGFR4-activating mutations in human rhabdomyosarcomas that promote metastasis in xenotransplanted models. *J Clin Invest* (2009) 119(11):3395–407. doi:10.1172/JCI39703
- 260. Avin KG, Vallejo JA, Chen NX, Wang K, Touchberry CD, Brotto M, et al. Fibroblast growth factor 23 does not directly influence skeletal muscle cell proliferation and differentiation or *ex vivo* muscle contractility. *Am J Physiol Endocrinol Metab* (2018). doi:10.1152/ajpendo.00343.2017
- 261. Sise ME, Courtwright AM, Channick RN. Pulmonary hypertension in patients with chronic and end-stage kidney disease. *Kidney Int* (2013) 84(4):682–92. doi:10.1038/ki.2013.186
- 262. Floege J, Uhlig S. Kidney calling lung and call back: how organs talk to each other. Nephrol Dial Transplant (2010) 25(1):32–4. doi:10.1093/ndt/gfp464
- 263. Husain-Syed F, McCullough PA, Birk HW, Renker M, Brocca A, Seeger W, et al. Cardio-pulmonary-renal interactions: a multidisciplinary approach. *J Am Coll Cardiol* (2015) 65(22):2433–48. doi:10.1016/j.jacc.2015.04.024

- 264. Stark KL, McMahon JA, McMahon AP. FGFR-4, a new member of the fibroblast growth factor receptor family, expressed in the definitive endoderm and skeletal muscle lineages of the mouse. *Development* (1991) 113(2):641–51.
- 265. Krick S, Baumlin N, Aller SP, Aguiar C, Grabner A, Sailland J, et al. Klotho inhibits interleukin-8 secretion from cystic fibrosis airway epithelia. *Sci Rep* (2017) 7(1):14388. doi:10.1038/s41598-017-14811-0
- Davis PB, Drumm M, Konstan MW. Cystic fibrosis. Am J Respir Crit Care Med (1996) 154(5):1229–56. doi:10.1164/ajrccm.154.5.8912731
- 267. Wang ZG, Zhu B. Is FGF23 or FGF21 a promising biomarker to indicate the aging process in COPD? *Chest* (2016) 150(2):467–8. doi:10.1016/j. chest.2016.04.038
- Gutierrez OM, Wolf M, Taylor EN. Fibroblast growth factor 23, cardiovascular disease risk factors, and phosphorus intake in the health professionals follow-up study. *Clin J Am Soc Nephrol* (2011) 6(12):2871–8. doi:10.2215/ CJN.02740311
- 269. Vervloet MG, van Zuilen AD, Heijboer AC, ter Wee PM, Bots ML, Blankestijn PJ, et al. Fibroblast growth factor 23 is associated with proteinuria and smoking in chronic kidney disease: an analysis of the MASTERPLAN cohort. *BMC Nephrol* (2012) 13:20. doi:10.1186/1471-2369-13-20
- 270. Sitara D, Kim S, Razzaque MS, Bergwitz C, Taguchi T, Schuler C, et al. Genetic evidence of serum phosphate-independent functions of FGF-23 on bone. *PLoS Genet* (2008) 4(8):e1000154. doi:10.1371/journal.pgen.1000154
- 271. Barnes PJ. Senescence in COPD and its comorbidities. *Annu Rev Physiol* (2017) 79:517–39. doi:10.1146/annurev-physiol-022516-034314
- 272. Shin IS, Shin HK, Kim JC, Lee MY. Role of klotho, an antiaging protein, in pulmonary fibrosis. Arch Toxicol (2015) 89(5):785–95. doi:10.1007/s00204-014-1282-y
- 273. Suga T, Kurabayashi M, Sando Y, Ohyama Y, Maeno T, Maeno Y, et al. Disruption of the klotho gene causes pulmonary emphysema in mice. Defect in maintenance of pulmonary integrity during postnatal life. *Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol* (2000) 22(1):26–33. doi:10.1165/ajrcmb.22.1.3554
- 274. Funada Y, Nishimura Y, Yokoyama M. Imbalance of matrix metalloproteinase-9 and tissue inhibitor of matrix metalloproteinase-1 is associated with pulmonary emphysema in klotho mice. *Kobe J Med Sci* (2004) 50(3–4): 59–67.
- 275. Faul C, Wolf M. Hunt for the culprit of cardiovascular injury in kidney disease. *Cardiovasc Res* (2015) 108(2):209–11. doi:10.1093/cvr/cvv228
- 276. Scialla JJ, Lau WL, Reilly MP, Isakova T, Yang HY, Crouthamel MH, et al. Fibroblast growth factor 23 is not associated with and does not induce arterial calcification. *Kidney Int* (2013) 83(6):1159–68. doi:10.1038/ki.2013.3
- 277. Bianchi A, Guibert M, Cailotto F, Gasser A, Presle N, Mainard D, et al. Fibroblast growth factor 23 drives MMP13 expression in human osteoarthritic chondrocytes in a klotho-independent manner. Osteoarthritis Cartilage (2016) 24(11):1961–9. doi:10.1016/j.joca.2016.06.003
- 278. Orfanidou T, Malizos KN, Varitimidis S, Tsezou A. 1,25-Dihydroxyvitamin D(3) and extracellular inorganic phosphate activate mitogen-activated protein kinase pathway through fibroblast growth factor 23 contributing to hypertrophy and mineralization in osteoarthritic chondrocytes. *Exp Biol Med (Maywood)* (2012) 237(3):241–53. doi:10.1258/ebm.2011.011301
- Feng S, Wang J, Zhang Y, Creighton CJ, Ittmann M. FGF23 promotes prostate cancer progression. *Oncotarget* (2015) 6(19):17291–301. doi:10.18632/ oncotarget.4174
- Zhu Q, Zeng DK, Li FQ. FGF23 promotes renal interstitial fibrosis by activating beta-catenin. *Eur Rev Med Pharmacol Sci* (2018) 22(1):174–83. doi:10.26355/eurrev\_201801\_14115
- Liu S, Guo R, Simpson LG, Xiao ZS, Burnham CE, Quarles LD. Regulation of fibroblastic growth factor 23 expression but not degradation by PHEX. J Biol Chem (2003) 278(39):37419–26. doi:10.1074/jbc.M304544200
- Richter M, Lautze HJ, Walther T, Braun T, Kostin S, Kubin T. The failing heart is a major source of circulating FGF23 via oncostatin M receptor activation. *J Heart Lung Transplant* (2015) 34(9):1211–4. doi:10.1016/j. healun.2015.06.007
- 283. Prie D, Forand A, Francoz C, Elie C, Cohen I, Courbebaisse M, et al. Plasma fibroblast growth factor 23 concentration is increased and predicts

mortality in patients on the liver-transplant waiting list. *PLoS One* (2013) 8(6):e66182. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0066182

- 284. Wasserman H, Ikomi C, Hafberg ET, Miethke AG, Bove KE, Backeljauw PF. Two case reports of FGF23-induced hypophosphatemia in childhood biliary atresia. *Pediatrics* (2016) 138(2). doi:10.1542/peds.2015-4453
- 285. Spichtig D, Zhang H, Mohebbi N, Pavik I, Petzold K, Stange G, et al. Renal expression of FGF23 and peripheral resistance to elevated FGF23 in rodent models of polycystic kidney disease. *Kidney Int* (2014) 85(6):1340–50. doi:10.1038/ki.2013.526
- 286. Sugiura H, Matsushita A, Futaya M, Teraoka A, Akiyama KI, Usui N, et al. Fibroblast growth factor 23 is upregulated in the kidney in a chronic kidney disease rat model. *PLoS One* (2018) 13(3):e0191706. doi:10.1371/journal. pone.0191706
- 287. Zanchi C, Locatelli M, Benigni A, Corna D, Tomasoni S, Rottoli D, et al. Renal expression of FGF23 in progressive renal disease of diabetes and the effect of ACE inhibitor. *PLoS One* (2018) 13(3):e0191706. doi:10.1371/ journal.pone.0191706
- 288. Bansal S, Friedrichs WE, Velagapudi C, Feliers D, Khazim K, Horn D, et al. Spleen contributes significantly to increased circulating levels of fibroblast growth factor 23 in response to lipopolysaccharide-induced inflammation. *Nephrol Dial Transplant* (2017) 32(6):960–8. doi:10.1093/ndt/gfw376
- Nakashima Y, Mima T, Yashiro M, Sonou T, Ohya M, Masumoto A, et al. Expression and localization of fibroblast growth factor (FGF)23 and klotho in the spleen: its physiological and functional implications. *Growth Factors* (2016) 34(5–6):196–202. doi:10.1080/08977194.2016.1273222
- 290. Liu S, Zhou J, Tang W, Jiang X, Rowe DW, Quarles LD. Pathogenic role of Fgf23 in Hyp mice. Am J Physiol Endocrinol Metab (2006) 291(1):E38–49. doi:10.1152/ajpendo.00008.2006
- 291. Riminucci M, Collins MT, Fedarko NS, Cherman N, Corsi A, White KE, et al. FGF-23 in fibrous dysplasia of bone and its relationship to renal phosphate wasting. *J Clin Invest* (2003) 112(5):683–92. doi:10.1172/ JCI18399
- 292. Li Y, He X, Olauson H, Larsson TE, Lindgren U. FGF23 affects the lineage fate determination of mesenchymal stem cells. *Calcif Tissue Int* (2013) 93(6):556–64. doi:10.1007/s00223-013-9795-6
- 293. Toro L, Barrientos V, León P, Rojas M, Gonzalez M, González-Ibáñez A, et al. Erythropoietin induces bone marrow and plasma fibroblast growth factor 23 during acute kidney injury. *Kidney Int* (2018) 93(5):1131–41. doi:10.1016/j. kint.2017.11.018
- 294. van Venrooij NA, Pereira RC, Tintut Y, Fishbein MC, Tumber N, Demer LL, et al. FGF23 protein expression in coronary arteries is associated with impaired kidney function. *Nephrol Dial Transplant* (2014) 29(8):1525–32. doi:10.1093/ndt/gft523
- 295. Mangos S, Amaral AP, Faul C, Juppner H, Reiser J, Wolf M. Expression of fgf23 and alphaKlotho in developing embryonic tissues and adult kidney of the zebrafish, *Danio rerio. Nephrol Dial Transplant* (2012) 27(12):4314–22. doi:10.1093/ndt/gfs335
- 296. Sitara D, Razzaque MS, Hesse M, Yoganathan S, Taguchi T, Erben RG, et al. Homozygous ablation of fibroblast growth factor-23 results in hyperphosphatemia and impaired skeletogenesis, and reverses hypophosphatemia in Phex-deficient mice. *Matrix Biol* (2004) 23(7):421–32. doi:10.1016/j. matbio.2004.09.007

**Conflict of Interest Statement:** Both authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2018 Richter and Faul. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





# Paracrine Effects of FGF23 on the Heart

#### Maren Leifheit-Nestler\* and Dieter Haffner

Department of Pediatric Kidney, Liver and Metabolic Diseases, Pediatric Research Center, Hannover Medical School, Hannover, Germany

Fibroblast growth factor (FGF) 23 is a phosphaturic hormone primarily secreted by osteocytes to maintain phosphate and mineral homeostasis. In patients with and without chronic kidney disease, enhanced circulating FGF23 levels associate with pathologic cardiac remodeling, i.e., left ventricular hypertrophy (LVH) and myocardial fibrosis and increased cardiovascular mortality. Experimental studies demonstrate that FGF23 promotes hypertrophic growth of cardiac myocytes via FGF receptor 4-dependent activation of phospholipase Cy/calcineurin/nuclear factor of activated T cell signaling independent of its co-receptor klotho. Recent studies indicate that FGF23 is also expressed in the heart, and markedly enhanced in various clinical and experimental settings of cardiac remodeling and heart failure independent of preserved or reduced renal function. On a cellular level, FGF23 is expressed in cardiac myocytes and in other non-cardiac myocytes, including cardiac fibroblasts, vascular smooth muscle and endothelial cells in coronary arteries, and in inflammatory macrophages. Current data suggest that secreted by cardiac myocytes, FGF23 can stimulate pro-fibrotic factors in myocytes to induce fibrosis-related pathways in fibroblasts and consequently cardiac fibrosis in a paracrine manner. While acting on cardiac myocytes, FGF23 directly induces pro-hypertrophic genes and promotes the progression of LVH in an autocrine and paracrine fashion. Thus, enhanced FGF23 may promote cardiac injury in various clinical settings not only by endocrine but also via paracrine/autocrine mechanisms. In this review, we discuss recent clinical and experimental data regarding molecular mechanisms of FGF23's paracrine action on the heart with respect to pathological cardiac remodeling.

OPEN ACCESS

# Edited by:

Reinhold Gottfried Erben, Veterinärmedizinische Universität Wien, Austria

#### Reviewed by:

Martin De Borst, University Medical Center Groningen, Netherlands Federica Limana, Università telematica San Raffaele, Italy

#### \*Correspondence:

Maren Leifheit-Nestler leifheit-nestler.maren@ mh-hannover.de

#### Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Molecular and Structural Endocrinology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Endocrinology

Received: 19 December 2017 Accepted: 11 May 2018 Published: 28 May 2018

#### Citation:

Leifheit-Nestler M and Haffner D (2018) Paracrine Effects of FGF23 on the Heart. Front. Endocrinol. 9:278. doi: 10.3389/fendo.2018.00278 Keywords: fibroblast growth factor 23, cardiac remodeling, left ventricular hypertrophy, cardiac fibrosis, endothelial dysfunction, autocrine, paracrine

# FIBROBLAST GROWTH FACTORS (FGFs) AND THEIR RECEPTORS

The FGF family consists of 22 members classified into seven subfamilies due to their phylogenetic relationship (1). Based on their mechanism of function, FGFs are further divided into paracrine, endocrine, and intracrine FGFs (**Table 1**) (2–5). Paracrine FGFs exhibit a heparan sulfate-binding site at their C-terminal region and bind to FGF receptors (FGFR) on the cell surface using heparan sulfate as a co-factor to mediate local biological activities (6). In contrast to paracrine FGFs, endocrine FGFs display a klotho-binding site at their C-termini, and due to their very low heparan sulfate-binding affinity, endocrine FGFs are directly secreted into the blood and exert their functions as endocrine hormones in various target tissues using  $\alpha$ -klotho or  $\beta$ -klotho as co-receptors for

86

 TABLE 1 | Classification of fibroblast growth factor (FGF) family members according to their mechanistic function.

Function	FGF
Paracrine	FGF1, FGF2, FGF3, FGF4, FGF5, FGF6, FGF7, FGF8, FGF9, FGF10, FGF16, FGF17, FGF18, FGF20, FGF22
Endocrine Intracrine	FGF15/19, FGF21, FGF23 FGF11, FGF12, FGF13, FGF14

Bold printed FGFs play a role in heart development, health, or disease conditions.

FGFRs (7–10). Intracrine FGFs are not secreted and exert their biological functions within the same cell (11). While not all FGFs are endogenously expressed in the heart of humans and rodents (12), it was shown that FGF2, FGF3, FGF8, FGF9, FGF10, FGF16, FGF15/19, FGF21, and FGF23 all act on the heart in a paracrine or endocrine manner to induce physiological or pathological pathways in heart development, health, and disease (**Table 1**) (5, 13). The specific role of these FGFs and their respective FGFRs in the heart are nicely discussed in more detail in two reviews by Itoh and colleagues (5, 13).

In mammals, due to alternative splicing, seven FGFRs are generated from four different FGFR genes (FGFR1, FGFR2, FGFR3, FGFR4) with different FGF-binding affinity (14). Paracrine FGFs bind heparan sulfate to promote an FGF/FGFR/heparan sulfate complex while endocrine FGFs bind  $\alpha$ -klotho or  $\beta$ -klotho to induce a complex consisting of FGF/FGFR/klotho, which both directly phosphorylate the FGFR intracellular tyrosine kinase domain. After FGFR activation, FGFR substrate  $2\alpha$  (FRS2 $\alpha$ ) is activated downstream, thereby inducing rat sarcoma protein (RAS)mitogen-activated protein kinase (MAPK), phosphoinositide 3-kinase (PI3K)-AKT serine/threonine kinase (AKT), or signal transducer and activator of transcription (STAT) signaling within the cell, respectively (3, 4, 15, 16). In addition, phospholipase Cy (PLCy) can also be phosphorylated due to FGFR activation leading to activation of calcium-dependent signaling mediating cell motility (15). In the cardiovascular system, FGFR1c, FGFR2b, FGFR2c, FGFR3c, and  $\beta$ -klotho are physiologically expressed at very high levels while FGFR1b, FGFR3b, FGFR4, and α-klotho are only moderately expressed (12).

# **FIBROBLAST GROWTH FACTOR 23**

FGF23 belongs to the endocrine FGF family and mainly functions as a hormone-like FGF. It is mainly expressed and secreted by osteocytes in the bone as a 32-kDa phosphaturic and calcitriol inhibitory protein regulating phosphate homeostasis (17). FGF23 exists in a full-length biologically active form and can be cleaved into N- and C-terminal fragments. The classic target organs of FGF23 are the kidney and the parathyroid glands where it exerts its physiological function through FGFRs with  $\alpha$ -klotho as a cofactor (9, 18). The FGFR-binding site is located in the N-terminus while the  $\alpha$ -klotho binding site is located in the C-terminus. The proprotein convertase cleavage site is stabilized by O-linked glycosylation *via* Galnt3 (19). FGF23 acts on the kidney *via* FGFR1c/ $\alpha$ -klotho/MAPK signaling to regulate phosphate and vitamin D metabolism. It reduces renal phosphate reabsorption by suppression of sodium phosphate co-transporters NaPi-2a and NaPi-2c, thereby lowering serum phosphate levels (17, 20). Moreover, FGF23 decreases active vitamin D synthesis by down-regulation of 1 $\alpha$ -hypdroxylase and upregulation of 24-hydroxylase resulting in low levels of 1,25(OH)<sub>2</sub>D<sub>3</sub> in serum (17). In the parathyroid gland, FGF23 inhibits the secretion of parathyroid hormone (21).

FGF23 expression is almost absent in the central nervous system, endocrine non-reproductive system, and metabolic system, and only minimally expressed in the gastrointestinal system, immune system, reproductive system, and cardiovascular system in healthy adults (12). In pathological conditions, FGF23 was shown to be excessively enhanced in bone (22), heart (23–26), liver (27), and kidneys (28, 29–32).

# FGF23 AND THE CARDIOVASCULAR SYSTEM

Pathological cardiac remodeling, i.e., left ventricular hypertrophy (LVH), myocardial fibrosis, and vascular calcification are the major cardiovascular pathologies in the general population and in patients with chronic kidney disease (CKD) presenting with 15–21% and up to 90% LVH, respectively (33). Since  $\alpha$ -klotho as a specific co-receptor for FGF23 is not expressed in human and rodent hearts (12, 25, 34), direct effects of endocrine-acting FGF23 on the cardiovascular system were not supposed for a long time. However, the causes of cardiovascular disease pathologies are multifactorial. In 2008, FGF23 was discussed for the first time as a new mediator for the progression of LVH in CKD (35). In recent years, recent clinical and experimental studies demonstrated positive associations between endocrine-acting FGF23, cardiac remodeling, and endothelial dysfunction in pathological conditions in humans and rodents. In 2011, Faul and colleagues presented for the first time that administration of FGF23 directly induces hypertrophic growth of isolated neonatal rat cardiomyocytes in vitro and LVH in vivo in an FGFR-dependent but  $\alpha$ -klotho-independent manner (34). In contrast to the established FGF23/FGFR/α-klotho signaling complex primarily mediating the induction of RAS/MAPK pathway (9), FGF23/FGFR activates PLCy in cardiac myocytes and induces hypertrophic cell growth using calcineurin/nuclear factor of activated T cell (NFAT) signaling in the absence of  $\alpha$ -klotho (34). Interestingly, these effects were independent of blood pressure levels. Furthermore, it was shown that FGF23 increases intracellular calcium levels in cardiac myocytes in vitro and promotes contractility of murine cardiac myocytes and ventricular muscle strips ex vivo  $\alpha$ -klotho independently (36). Thus, the  $\alpha$ -klotho-independent action of FGF23 on the heart became more and more likely. In 2015, Grabner et al. identified the FGFR4 isoform as specific FGFR in the heart mediating FGF23's pro-hypertrophic action without  $\alpha$ -klotho (37). In recent years, the importance of the role of enhanced circulating FGF23 on the development of cardiac remodeling was thoroughly demonstrated in patients with CKD (34, 38-43) and end-stage renal disease (ESRD) (34, 35, 44). Reaching serum levels of up to 1,000-fold higher than in healthy individuals, FGF23, and associated alterations in

mineral metabolism, including hyperphosphatemia, hypercalcemia, secondary hyperparathyroidism, vitamin D, and klotho deficiency, are associated with uremic cardiomyopathy, LVH, premature death, and all cause mortality in CKD (35, 38, 41, 45–48).

Clinical studies further indicate that circulating levels of FGF23 are also elevated in patients with dilated cardiomyopathy, ischemic heart disease, acute decompensated and chronic heart failure (HF), atrial fibrillation, and cardiogenic shock, despite normal renal function, suggesting that enhanced cardiac synthesis of FGF23 may cause elevated circulating FGF23 levels and thereby promote cardiac injury (49–61). The endocrine action of FGF23 on the heart and other organ systems was previously described in detail (62–69).

# PARACRINE ACTION OF FGF23 ON THE HEART

It was suggested that FGF23 is not just a biomarker of increased risk but also a direct inducer of cardiac injury in the settings of CKD or HF (34, 70–72). Although FGF23 was discovered in 2001 as an endocrine hormone (73), cardiac FGF23 may be upregulated in certain clinical settings and promote cardiac remodeling *via* autocrine and/or paracrine mechanisms.

### Cardiac FGF23 and LVH

Recently, we analyzed myocardial autopsy samples of deceased patients with childhood-onset ESRD and investigated the wellestablished FGF23/FGFR4 signaling cascade mediating cardiac hypertrophy. We demonstrated that FGF23 is expressed by cardiac myocytes in humans as the full-length biologically active protein (25). Moreover, cardiac FGF23 and FGFR4 are strongly enhanced in heart tissue of CKD patients when compared to age- and sex-matched controls and both positively associate with the development of LVH. As expected, klotho is not expressed in the human heart on mRNA level. However, soluble klotho protein can be clearly detected in myocardial tissue of CKD patients by Western blot and immunohistochemical analysis. The amount of soluble klotho in myocardial tissue is found to be reduced in CKD patients, and negatively associated with the duration of ESRD, dialysis vintage, and cardiac myocyte cross-sectional area. Interestingly, cardiac expression of FGF23, FGFR4, and the amount of soluble klotho in cardiac tissue are found to be dysregulated in dialysis patients and ameliorated in patients with functioning renal allografts. Similarly, FGF23/ FGFR4-associated calcineurin/NFAT pathway and the expression of pro-hypertrophic markers are normalized after kidney transplantation. Multiple linear regression analysis points out that cardiac FGF23 expression and the amount of soluble klotho protein in cardiac tissue are independent predictors of cardiac myocyte cross-sectional area while the mode of renal replacement therapy (RRT) at time of death is found to be the only independent predictor for the induction of cardiac FGF23 synthesis. The amount of soluble klotho protein in the cardiac tissue of CKD patients correlates with the duration of ESRD and the mode of RRT at time of death, and finally, cardiac FGFR4 expression correlates with estimated glomerular filtration rate, mode of RRT at time of death, cumulative time spent on dialysis, and cardiac FGF23 expression levels. The above-mentioned findings are supported by a recent study investigating myocardial tissue of 5/6 nephrectomized (Nx) rats, which is a well-established model of experimental uremia (26). Indeed, cardiac *Fgf23* gene expression is up-regulated in myocardial tissue of 5/6Nx rats compared with sham operated animals. Furthermore, experimental uremia induces full-length cardiac Fgf23 protein demonstrated by Western blot, which positively correlates with the heart weight to body weight ratio, and enhanced  $\beta$ *MHC* and *BNP* expression levels. Although these association studies do not prove causality, data suggests the existence of a *paracrine* FGF23 mechanism in the heart mediating LVH in uremic cardiomyopathy.

Studies in patients with acute decompensated heart failure (ADHF) point out that circulating FGF23 levels are significantly enhanced in ADHF compared to controls, whereas myocardial *FGF23* gene expression is not consistently altered (60). However, the investigated study cohort is rather small and *FGF23* mRNA levels greatly vary within both groups, which may have biased the results of this study. Since ADHF is defined as sudden or gradual onset of HF symptoms (74), the degree of HF progression may also define the strength of cardiac FGF23 induction. Nevertheless, FGF23 is detected in myocardium of both HF and normal patients by quantitative real-time PCR confirming the presence of FGF23 in the human myocardium. In addition, immunohistochemical analysis detects FGF23 expression in the cardiac myocytes of normal myocardial tissue and in failing hearts.

A recent study by Slavic and colleagues investigated cardiac and circulating FGF23 in experimental heart hypertrophy (75). They showed that increased afterload due to transverse aortic constriction (TAC) in mice induces an increase in circulating intact Fgf23 serum levels within 24 h after TAC, which maintains for at least 4 weeks post-surgery. TAC significantly increases cardiac Fgf23 gene transcripts while bone Fgf23 production is higher overall compared to the heart but not significantly stimulated by TAC. Furthermore, pressure overload dramatically reduces the cleavage of Fgf23 in serum. Interestingly, expression of Galnt3, which O-glycosylates and thereby stabilizes Fgf23 protein, is increased in the heart post-TAC but unchanged in bone. By contrast, expression of Fam20c and Furin, promoting Fgf23 cleavage, remain unchanged in heart tissue of mice after TAC. Taken together, these data suggest that cardiac FGF23 synthesis is induced due to pressure overload and reduced FGF23 cleavage further contributes to enhanced intact FGF23 in the heart. Importantly, the up-regulation of cardiac and serum intact Fgf23 is not due to alteration of mineral metabolism as serum levels of phosphate, calcium, sodium, potassium, and iron remain unchanged in mice after TAC compared to sham-operated animals. Instead, serum aldosterone levels, shown to stimulate FGF23 expression in vitro (76), are induced in TAC-operated mice. To confirm whether induction of renin-angiotensin-aldosterone system (RAAS) triggers pressure overload-induced up-regulation of cardiac Fgf23, the authors treated wild-type mice with spironolactone for 2 weeks post-TAC surgery (75). Administration of spironolactone inhibits the induction of circulating intact Fgf23 levels in TAC mice and reduces the mRNA expression of Fgf23 in bone but not in the heart, suggesting that a pressure overload-induced increase in bone Fgf23 synthesis is driven by aldosterone secretion in TAC mice. Interestingly, heart weight to body weight ratio, cardiac myocyte size, end-diastolic left ventricular wall thickness, fractional shortening, and mean blood pressure after TAC are not improved by aldosterone inhibition, indicating that increased systemic Fgf23 may be less important in the development of pressure overload-induced cardiac hypertrophy. However, TACinduced expression of cardiac Fgfr1, Fgfr3, and Fgfr4, nuclear localization of NFAT protein within the cardiac myocytes, Rcan1 induction, and consequently cardiac hypertrophy and fibrosis are also present in global homozygous *Fgf23<sup>-/-</sup>*/vitamin D receptor  $(VDR)^{\Delta/\Delta}$  or *Klotho*<sup>-/-</sup>/VDR<sup> $\Delta/\Delta$ </sup> double knockout mice compared to respective wild-type mice. Neither deletion of Fgf23 protected against pressure overload-induced cardiac hypertrophy and fibrosis, nor klotho deficiency exacerbated TAC-induced pathological hypertrophic phenotype in mice. Thus, FGF23 would appear to be a consequence of pressure overload-induced hypertrophy and perhaps not the initial inducer, suggesting that additional factors could mediate hypertrophic responses during pressure overload independent of FGF23.

FGF2 is expressed in cardiac myocytes and fibroblasts, and angiotensin II or adrenergic stimulation induces FGF2 synthesis in cardiac myocytes, which in turn stimulates itself in a feedforward loop (77). High blood pressure induces LVH via upregulation of FGF2, which is shown to be necessary for hypertrophic development in the TAC model (78). Neonatal and adult cardiac fibroblasts mainly express the high-molecular weight isoform of FGF2, which is stimulated and secreted through angiotensin II treatment, thereby acting on cardiac myocytes via induction of a fetal gene program resulting in cardiac hypertrophy (79). However, neither spironolactone treatment nor FGF23 knockout alters the induction of FGF2 in the high blood pressureinduced cardiac hypertrophy through TAC (75). Interestingly, it was shown that high-molecular weight FGF2 isoform directly stimulates FGF23 synthesis in the bone (80, 81). Whether upregulation of FGF2 in the heart due to pressure overload-induced cardiac hypertrophy after TAC is also responsible for the induction of cardiac FGF23, and if so, the role of cardiac FGF23 in this setting has to be further elucidated.

However, these conclusive findings coincide with clinical and experimental studies showing that enhanced FGF23 serum levels and/or the induction of cardiac FGF23 synthesis are not associated with high blood pressure-induced LVH (25, 34, 37). In addition, the fact that cardiac FGF23 is still enhanced after mineralocorticoid receptor (MR) blockade while bone FGF23 and systemic FGF23 are reduced supports our hypothesis that induction of cardiac FGF23 may have additional blood pressureindependent paracrine effects on the heart, which needs to be addressed in future studies.

## **Cardiac FGF23 and Myocardial Fibrosis**

The role of circulating and/or cardiac FGF23 in the progression of cardiac fibrosis and its potential effects on myocardial fibroblasts promoting cardiac diastolic function is largely unknown. Initial experimental data in rodents demonstrated that FGF23 stimulates the renal expression and production of transforming growth factor  $\beta$  (TGF- $\beta$ ) (82, 83). TGF- $\beta$  is a classic cytokine involved in

different signaling pathways, which is shown to induce fibrosis in various tissues.

Recently, Smith et al. reported that FGF23 is synthesized locally by renal tubules and activates injury-primed fibroblasts (31). Moreover, FGF23 stimulates gene expressions involved in TGF- $\beta$  signaling pathways *via* FGFR4-dependent activation of NFAT and enhancement of TGF- $\beta$  autoinduction in injury-primed renal fibroblasts (84). These data suggest a paracrine mechanism of FGF23 in the kidney acting on renal fibroblasts to induce pro-fibrotic signaling pathways.

In the heart, cardiac FGF23 expression is upregulated in post-myocardial infarction (MI) in rodents and mediates cardiac fibrosis through the activation of  $\beta$ -catenin (24).  $\beta$ -catenin is a pro-fibrotic factor cross talking with TGF- $\beta$  signaling (83, 85, 86). Hao and colleagues demonstrated that FGF23 is endogenously expressed in neonatal rat cardiac myocytes and fibroblasts, adult mouse cardiac fibroblasts (AMCF), and the adult mouse heart (24). They also confirm the findings of Slavic et al. mentioned above (75), showing an increase in cardiac FGF23 mRNA and protein levels in pressure overload-induced failing mouse hearts after TAC. In addition, FGF23 plasma levels are significantly induced post-MI compared to sham-operated mice. Angiotensin II and phenylephrine, both pro-fibrotic and pro-hypertrophic stimulators, clearly up-regulate FGF23 expression in AMCF. Furthermore, stimulation with FGF23 promotes proliferation, collagen I and III synthesis, and  $\beta$ -catenin activation in AMCF. Cardiac-specific overexpression of FGF23 using adeno-associated virus carrying FGF23 (AAV-FGF23) in mice followed by MI or ischemia reperfusion significantly enhances the activation of cardiac β-catenin, TGF-β, collagen I and III, and cardiac fibrosis in mice injected with AAV-FGF23 compared to negative controls. It is important to note that the injection of AAV-FGF23 does not result in enhanced β-catenin, TGF-β, or collagen I and III expression levels in sham-operated mice compared with respective control animals. Thus, endogenous cardiac FGF23 synthesis may only impair myocardial fibrosis after MI or ischemia reperfusion through induction of paracrine signaling pathways, including activation of  $\beta$ -catenin and TGF- $\beta$ . However, the activation of  $\beta$ -catenin-mediated induction of TGF- $\beta$  and collagen synthesis by FGF23 under healthy conditions remains controversial.

Andrukhova and colleagues demonstrated that both skeletal and cardiac Fgf23 expression are increased in mice and rats after MI independent of changes in serum soluble klotho levels (23). In addition, they found increasing serum intact Fgf23 levels in mice and rats after experimental MI, and immunohistochemical staining of heart tissue clearly reveals expression of Fgf23 in left ventricular cardiac myocytes after MI in mice and rats but not in infiltrating leukocytes within the infarct scar, suggesting that cardiac myocytes are the major cellular source of increased cardiac Fgf23 expression post-MI. Importantly, despite the induction of Fgf23, serum levels of PTH, phosphate, calcium, and sodium, and urinary excretion of phosphate, calcium, and sodium remain unchanged post-MI. In addition, biochemical markers of bone metabolism, including urinary excretion of collagen cross-link deoxypyridinoline, serum alkaline phosphatase, Dickkopf-1, and osteoprotegerin, do not differ between mouse and rats post-MI compared with sham control-operated animals. Although the

molecular link between cardiac injury and enhanced Fgf23 levels remains to be further elucidated, these data strongly support the hypothesis that cardiac FGF23 expression is linked to pathological cardiac changes and may exert paracrine mechanisms in the heart.

In an extension to experimental studies in rats and mice, we recently analyzed the myocardial tissue of CKD patients and investigated cardiac FGF23 expression and myocardial fibrosis (87). Cardiac FGF23 synthesis and accumulation of fibrillar collagen fibers are strongly enhanced in CKD patients on dialysis treatment compared to controls. Cardiac fibrosis correlates with duration of dialysis and soluble klotho deficiency detected by immunohistochemical staining of klotho protein in heart tissue sections. Interestingly, no significant correlations between cardiac FGF23 expression and fibrosis could be detected in CKD patients. By performing human fibrosis RT profiler PCR array analyses of myocardial tissue in these patients, angiotensinogen (AGT), and angiotensin II-driven pathways known to promote fibrotic response, including collagen remodeling, activation of TGF-B/TGF-B receptor/Smad complexes, and induction of pro-hypertrophic and pro-fibrotic growth factors endothelin-1 and connective tissue growth factor (CTGF), are significantly enhanced in patients on dialysis treatment. Although cardiac fibrosis positively correlates with the induction of AGT in the heart, soluble klotho deficiency but not endogenous FGF23 expression is shown to be correlated with enhanced cardiac TGFβ/TGF-β receptor pathway. We performed further in vitro studies using neonatal rat ventricular myocytes (NRVM) and fibroblasts (NRCF) in order to discriminate which cell type express FGF23 in the heart and may induce pro-fibrotic signaling. Hereby, we could clearly detect endogenous Fgf23 mRNA expression in NRVM but not in NRCF, which is in contrast to Hao et al. also demonstrating FGF23 production in cardiac fibroblasts of neonatal rats and adult mice (24). However, treatment of NRCF with recombinant FGF23 significantly stimulates collagen remodeling, promotes the induction of pro-fibrotic TGF-β/TGF-β receptor/Smad complexes, and induces Ctgf and endothelin-1 expression in vitro (87). Importantly and in line with the Hao et al. study mentioned above, FGF23 significantly stimulates proliferation and migration of NRCF. In addition, FGF23 induces angiotensinogen expression in cardiac myocytes, promotes extracellular matrix remodeling, and induces pro-fibrotic and pro-hypertrophic growth factors in NRVM while TGF-β/TGF-β receptor signaling unchanged. Taken together, our data suggest that secreted by cardiac myocytes, FGF23 may directly target cardiac fibroblasts and promote profibrotic mechanisms in a paracrine manner. This mechanism in concert with its autocrine induction of fibrotic and hypertrophicrelated factors in cardiac myocytes, cardiac FGF23 may act on both cardiac cell types and thereby promote cardiac hypertrophy and myocardial fibrosis in a paracrine/autocrine fashion.

# Cardiac FGF23 and Endothelial Dysfunction

Clinical and experimental studies demonstrated that high FGF23 serum levels, hyperphosphatemia, and klotho deficiency are strongly associated with cardiovascular complications in CKD patients (71). Elevated FGF23 serum levels associate with endothelial dysfunction and small vessel disease, stroke, and brain infarction in patients with CKD stage 3-4 (40) and in the general population (58, 61, 88), respectively. Whether enhanced circulating levels of FGF23 also impact on vascular calcification is still an open question (39, 42). Voigt and colleagues identified FGF23 accumulation in calcified carotid atherosclerotic lesions from subjects with normal renal function (89). In addition, a recently published study by van Venrooij et al. evaluated the relationship between kidney function, vascular calcification, and FGF23 expression in patients with heart disease (90). They detected FGF23 protein expression by immunohistochemistry in coronary arteries of patients undergoing heart transplantation, which associates with declining renal function. Vascular FGF23 expression and FGFR1, FGFR3, and  $\alpha$ -klotho are observed in both tunica intima and tunica media in areas of calcification. Interestingly, co-immunostaining for FGF23 and CD68 demonstrates co-localization of FGF23 with inflammatory macrophages. Quantitative real-time PCR analysis confirms the gene expression of FGF23 in human coronary artery tissue, also suggesting a potential paracrine effect of FGF23 in vessels.

We performed *in vitro* studies using human coronary artery endothelial cells (HCAEC) in order to investigate the underlying molecular pathways of FGF23-mediated endothelial cell function in the presence and absence of its co-receptor  $\alpha$ -klotho (91). First, we confirmed the previously reported findings (90) that FGFR1 and  $\alpha$ -klotho are present in the intima of human coronary arteries. In addition, cultured HCAECs express FGFRs and  $\alpha$ -klotho, and FGF23 specifically stimulates phosphorylation of FGFR1 and thereby activates the receptor, suggesting that vascular endothelial cells are a target for paracrine FGF23 signaling. Although  $\alpha$ -klotho is not altered by FGF23 treatment on mRNA or protein level, FGF23 increases the expression of ADAM17, responsible for cleavage of membrane bound  $\alpha$ -klotho, and consequently the secretion of soluble  $\alpha$ -klotho. Investigating endothelial cell function targeted by FGF23, we showed that FGF23 activates intracellular signaling to induce the release of nitric oxide (NO) via activation of AKT/endothelial NO synthase (eNOS) pathway in vitro in the presence of  $\alpha$ -klotho. Furthermore, FGF23 treatment enhances the formation of reactive oxygen species (ROS) through induction of NADPH oxidase 2 (Nox2)/p67phox/p47phox/Rac1 signaling complex. In addition, FGF23 stimulates the expression of ROS detoxifying enzymes manganese superoxide dismutase and catalase by activating Foxo forkhead transcription factor 3a (Foxo3a) in the presence of  $\alpha$ -klotho, indicating that FGF23induced ROS production is being neutralized by antioxidant mechanisms. Co-treatment with FGF23 and pan-FGFR inhibitor blunts all NO synthesis, ROS formation, and ROS degradation. Taken together, these data suggest that FGF23 effects on HCAEC mediating endothelial function in the presence of  $\alpha$ -klotho are FGFR dependent. Inhibition of  $\alpha$ -klotho using a neutralizing antibody specifically blocks FGF23-mediated activation of AKT/ eNOS and consequently the release of NO. Most importantly, blocking of  $\alpha$ -klotho further inhibits the expression of SOD2 and catalase induced by FGF23 but does not affect FGF23 stimulated Nox2 signaling and ROS formation. Our data suggest that in states of Klotho deficiency, e.g., CKD, FGF23-induced NO synthesis is blunted and ROS formation overrules ROS degradation. Consequently, enhanced circulating as well as locally synthesized FGF23 may promote endothelial dysfunction and further impact on the progression of cardiovascular disease in CKD. However, the hypothesized paracrine signaling mechanism of FGF23 mediating functional response in vessels has to be further proven in experimental animal models.

### FGF23 and Chronic Inflammation

Cardiac hypertrophy and myocardial fibrosis can be promoted by pro-inflammatory cytokines, such as TNF- $\alpha$  or IL-6, and pro-fibrotic molecules including TGF- $\beta$  and angiotensin II (92). Inflammatory markers, including IL-6, CRP, TNF-α, and fibrinogen, are independently associated with circulating levels of FGF23 in patients with CKD, and FGF23 associates with a greater odds ratio of severe inflammation in these patients (93). Furthermore, FGF23 directly stimulates hepatic secretion of pro-inflammatory cytokines in wild-type mice and in cultured hepatocytes by activating FGFR4 independent of  $\alpha$ -klotho (94), indicating a novel mechanism of FGF23 and chronic inflammation. Furthermore, chronic inflammation in cardiac fibroblasts was shown to induce the expression of FGF23 in the heart (95), suggesting a paracrine signaling mechanism of chronic inflammation inducing cardiac FGF23. However, hard evidence from experimental studies is lacking.

The cytokine oncostatin M (OSM) belongs to the IL-6 family and is involved in various biological processes, including inflammation and ischemic heart disease (96). OSM is further shown to be a major mediator of cardiac remodeling (97). After binding to a receptor heterodimer consisting of gp130 and OSM receptor β, OSM induces a Janus Kinase/STAT, MAPK, or PI3K/ AKT signaling pathway, respectively (98-100), also all known to be induced by FGF/FGFR complexes. Richter and colleagues find that FGF23 is present in cardiac myocytes of patients with ischemic cardiomyopathy, myocarditis, and dilated cardiomyopathy (101). In addition, adult rat cardiac myocytes clearly expresses Fgf23 on the mRNA level, which is excessively induced by OSM treatment in vitro (102). Moreover, cultured OSMtreated non-cardiac myocytes, mainly fibroblasts, also synthesize FGF23. However, FGF23-expressing non-cardiac myocytes are only rarely observed in diseased human heart tissue (101). ELISA quantifications of cardiac myocyte cell supernatant demonstrates significantly increased C-term FGF23 concentrations due to OSM, and Western blot analysis revealed that OSM stimulates both unmodified full-length FGF23 protein and cleaved FGF23 fragments in cell lysates of adult rat cardiac myocytes (102). Similarly, in corresponding cell supernatant C- and N-terminal FGF23 fragments are clearly detected. Inflammatory HF in mice caused by macrophages infiltration of the myocardium shows a strong increase in FGF23 expression and secretion in cardiac myocytes, which is associated with macrophage infiltration and activation of OSM receptor  $\beta$  cascade leading to cardiac myocyte remodeling with enhanced  $\alpha$ -smooth muscle actinin expression, STAT3 phosphorylation, induction of atrial natriuretic peptide (ANP), and destrin. These findings suggest that FGF23 is endogenously expressed in cardiac myocytes in inflammatory HF of humans and rodents and associates with macrophage infiltration and OSM receptor activation.

FGF23 is also shown to be expressed in pro-inflammatory M1 macrophages and specifically up-regulated by lipopolysaccharide and interferon gamma (IFN- $\gamma$ ) *via* NF-κB and JAK/STAT1 pathways, respectively (103), indicating that FGF23 produced by M1 macrophages may modulate pro-inflammatory functions *in vitro* and may support innate immune response to tissue injury. Therefore, it is possible that endogenous expression and secretion of FGF23 by infiltrating macrophages induce cardiovascular and kidney disease progression through induction of inflammation and fibrosis.

# Cardiac FGF23 and RAAS

The activation of RAAS was shown to have direct hypertensive effects and stimulates pro-inflammatory, pro-hypertrophic, and pro-fibrotic pathways in cardiac cells, which are pharmacologically suppressed by angiotensin-converting enzyme (ACE) inhibitors, angiotensin receptor blockers (ARB), and MR antagonists (92). The initial RAAS factor is the induction of angiotensinogen expression. Renin converts angiotensinogen into angiotensin I, and angiotensin I is further metabolized to angiotensin II by ACE, finally affecting myocardial hypertrophy and fibrosis. In contrast, angiotensin-converting enzyme 2 (ACE2) degrades angiotensin I and II into angiotensin 1-9 and 1-7, respectively, acting as vasodilatory and hypotensive reagents. It was shown that FGF23 directly stimulates RAAS through inhibition of ACE2 (82) and recent studies indicate that activation of RAAS in turn can also induce FGF23 synthesis (104). In addition, renin is suppressed by 1,25(OH<sub>2</sub>)D<sub>3</sub> thereby avoiding RAAS activation (66). Since FGF23 suppresses 1,25(OH<sub>2</sub>)D<sub>3</sub> metabolism in the kidney, one may speculate that FGF23 also alters RAAS indirectly through inhibition of 1,25(OH<sub>2</sub>)D<sub>3</sub>. However, the precise mechanisms of how cardiac FGF23 interacts with the local RAAS in the heart and thereby induce cardiac remodeling and impair diastolic function, remains to be further elucidated.

Angiotensin II and aldosterone, as active RAAS components, promote vascular and myocardial fibrosis as well as cardiac hypertrophy also independent of high blood pressure through pathologic signaling mechanisms involving cardiac myocytes and immune cells (92). However, the role of angiotensin II in health and disease is multifactorial, cardiac myocytes and fibroblasts express angiotensin II-type 1 and 2 receptors (AT1R, AT2R). Additionally, as we recently demonstrated, isolated cardiac myocytes and fibroblasts of neonatal rats clearly express angiotensinogen (Agt), which was affected by FGF23 treatment in vitro, although Agt mRNA levels are frequently higher in cardiac myocytes than in fibroblasts (87). In addition, pro-fibrotic and pro-hypertrophic molecules, i.e., TGF-β, collagen 1, CTGF, and endothelin-1, known to be induced by AngII and/or aldosterone, are stimulated by FGF23 treatment in both cardiac myocytes and fibroblasts. Importantly, both AngII and aldosterone significantly up-regulate endogenous FGF23 expression in cardiac myocytes and induce hypertrophic cell growth,  $\beta MHC$ , ANP, and BNP. Whether these pathologies promoting cardiac hypertrophy and fibrosis are directly due to RAAS-mediated up-regulation of FGF23 in the heart or indirectly through the FGF23-mediated stimulation of RAAS is not clear. However, cardiac myocytes and fibroblasts may be potent target cells for local, non-canonical

RAAS activation and paracrine FGF23 signaling (**Figure 1**). Taken these findings together, RAAS is an important regulator and key player in cardiovascular remodeling, resulting in HF that promotes sympathetic activation, systemic inflammation, and pathological cardiac hypertrophy. In turn, AngII and aldosterone induce FGF23 expression in cardiac myocytes in a feed-forward loop, although the underlying molecular mechanisms remain to be identified.

# FUTURE PERSPECTIVES AND POTENTIAL THERAPEUTIC OPTIONS TO PREVENT FGF23-ASSSOCIATED CARDIOVASCULAR PATHOLOGIES

The possibilities of a therapeutic intervention to reduce or even prevent FGF23-associated cardiovascular diseases are certainly more diverse. Direct targeting of the FGF23/FGFR signaling complex is theoretically a straightforward option. It was shown that treatment with a monoclonal anti-FGF23 neutralizing antibody improved secondary hyperparathyroidism with increased vitamin D synthesis and normalization of bone markers in a rat model of experimental uremia (105). Nevertheless, chronic inhibition of FGF23 resulted in increased calcium and phosphate load, enhanced aortic calcification, and higher mortality of CKD rats compared to controls. In contrast, anti-FGF23 antibody therapy was proven to be effective and safe to cure bone abnormalities in hereditary causes of elevated FGF23 levels but reduced serum phosphate levels, e.g., X-linked hypophosphatemic rickets (106). Taken together, in states of high phosphate, general blocking of FGF23 is not suitable. Regarding the heart, the physiological relevance of locally produced FGF23 in the heart and the specific (side) effects of cardiac FGF23 suppression in health and disease are yet not clear and has to be elucidated in the future.



**FIGURE 1** | Proposed model of cardiac FGF23 and local renin-angiotensin-aldosterone system (RAAS) in the heart. The local, non-canonical activation of RAAS directly contributes to cardiac remodeling and hypertrophy and affects different cardiac cell types. Angiotensin II (AngII) type 1 receptor (AT1R) is expressed by cardiac myocytes and fibroblasts and thereby displays an important role in maladaptive remodeling. AngII and aldosterone are stimulators of FGF23 expression and secretion, and cardiac FGF23 directly induces the expression of angiotensinogen (*AGT*) mRNA in cardiac myocytes. After activation, AGT is converted into AngI by renin and further to AngII through angiotensin-converting enzyme (ACE). Angiotensin-converting enzyme 2 (ACE2), which physiologically cleaves AngI and AngII counteracting the pathological effects of AngII, is inhibited by FGF23. Thus, FGF23 directly contributes to RAAS activation *via* induction of AGT and suppression of ACE2 in cardiac myocytes resulting in enhanced AngII and aldosterone synthesis. AngII binds to AT1R and promotes hypertrophic response in cardiac myocytes in a nautocrine/paracrine manner and stimulates cardiac FGF23 in a feed-forward loop. In addition, FGF23-mediated activation of RAAS and consequently increased AngII contribute to cardiac fibrosis *via* binding of AngII to AT1R on cardiac fibroblasts, which directly promotes differentiation and matrix production in cardiac fibroblasts to induce itself or stimulate hypertrophic molecules and signaling in cardiac myocytes. Taken together, endogenous expression of FGF23 in cardiac fibroblasts to induce itself or stimulate hypertrophic molecules and signaling in pathological hypertrophy and fibrosis in a paracrine manner.

Targeting specific FGFRs may be another efficient strategy for therapeutic interventions with lesser side effects. An overview of FGFR small-molecule compounds, monoclonal antibodies, and FGFR analogs currently under development for the use as pro- or anti-FGF signaling therapeutics among others for the treatment of cardiovascular diseases in humans, is nicely summarized in a Review by Katoh (107). Regarding the treatment of LVH, Grabner and colleagues impressively demonstrated that targeting FGFR4 specifically prevents FGF23-induced cardiac hypertrophy *in vitro* and *in vivo* in CKD and non-CKD models (37). However, the specific FGFRs mediating the FGF23-induced signaling pathways in cardiac fibroblasts and other non-cardiac myocyte cells, such as endothelial cells and macrophages, is not finally discovered so fare. Moreover, whether blocking of FGFR4 also ameliorates cardiac fibrosis, improve endothelial function or reduce inflammatory processes is not known. In addition, the translation of



**FIGURE 2** | Overview of paracrine/autocrine acting FGF23 on cardiac myocyte and non-cardiac myocyte during cardiac remodeling and heart failure (HF). FGF23 is endogenously expressed in cardiac myocytes, fibroblasts, coronary artery endothelial cells, and macrophages in the heart. Depending on the cell type, FGF23 is induced by various pathogenic stimuli, including angiotensin II (AngII), aldosterone, oncostatin M (OSM), interferon γ (IFN- γ), lipopolysaccharide (LPS), inflammation, pressure overload, myocardial infarction (MI), and chronic kidney disease (CKD). Cardiac FGF23 exerts pro-hypertrophic, pro-fibrotic, and pro-inflammatory response in different cardiac cell types, which in turn activates pathologically phenotypic changes in the same or nearby cells through stimulation and secretion of growth factors, inflammatory cytokines, and pro-hypertrophic and pro-fibrotic molecules. [References for FGF23 in cardiac myocytes (23, 25, 26, 34, 37, 87, 102); cardiac fibroblasts (24, 87, 101); endothelial cells (90, 91); and macrophages (90, 95, 103).]

this approach into clinical settings has to be investigated in future clinical studies.

The involvement of FGF23 in the RAAS activation is of particular interest and might be another promising target pathway for the therapeutic intervention of FGF23-mediated cardiac pathology. In patients with stable ischemic heart disease (SIHD) within the Prevention of Events With Angiotensin-Converting Enzyme (PEACE) trial, high FGF23 levels were independently associated with risk of HF or cardiovascular mortality (108). Furthermore, ACE inhibitor (ACEi) therapy reduced the incident of both events only in the patient subgroup with the highest FGF23 quartile. A clinical study in patients with advanced chronic systolic HF showed that the absence of ACEi therapy independently associated with increased circulating FGF23 levels (59). Interestingly, in this study, ACEi therapy was further associated with a lower risk of death, urgent heart transplantation, and ventricular assist device implantation only in HF patients without CKD in the highest FGF23 tertile, but not in those with CKD. The authors conclude that the association of FGF23 with adverse events reflects the activation of RAAS. In a recently published large multicentric European prospective observational study in patients with new onset and worsening HF (BIOSTAT-CHF trail), patients with the highest FGF23 quintile presented with worse renal function, more severe HF, increased congestion, and enhanced renin and aldosterone levels suggesting pronounced RAAS activation (109). Furthermore, higher plasma levels of FGF23 were independently associated with higher aldosterone levels

and less successful uptitration of ACEi and ARB in addition to increased risk of mortality and HF hospitalization. In contrast, the use of beta-blocker was not significantly associated with high FGF23 concentrations. In CKD patients, it was shown that high FGF23 levels correlated with impaired ACE inhibition (110). In addition, CKD patients with the highest FGF23 responded with less effective ACEi therapy.

However, all of these studies hypothesized that increased FGF23 levels may provide additional information regarding the tolerability and effectiveness of RAAS blockade and may identify a subset of patients with SIHD or HF with or without CKD which may benefiting from an ACEi therapy. Nevertheless, only the effects of systemic RAAS inhibition on circulating FGF23 levels were investigated and very little is known about the impact of the local RAAS/FGF23 system in the heart. It is unknown if systemic treatment with RAAS inhibitors effectively target cardiac FGF23. A small cohort study in pediatric CKD patients on dialysis treatment or with functioning renal allograft failed to associate the expression of cardiac FGF23 with RAAS medications (25). One can speculate that the impaired efficiency of ACEi therapy in renal insufficiency is caused by additional overexpression of FGF23 in the heart, which may be resistant to systemic RAAS inhibition. This hypothesis is supported by the recently reported interactions of cardiac FGF23 synthesis and RAAS (87). AngII and aldosterone induce endogenous FGF23 in the heart and FGF23 stimulates AGT expression as well as the activation of RAAS in a feed forward loop, which may result in a resistance of therapeutic intervention.



**FIGURE 3** Proposed FGF23-mediated crosstalk between cardiac cells. FGF23 is expressed in cardiac myocytes, tibroblasts, endothelial cells, and macrophages, and directly induces pro-hypertrophic, pro-fibrotic, and pro-inflammatory signaling in a paracrine manner. Moreover, it promotes endothelial dysfunction in states of klotho deficiency. In addition, cardiac FGF23 stimulates different pathologic factors in each cardiac cell type and thereby participate indirectly in the crosstalk between cardiac myocytes and non-cardiac myocytes mediating cardiac hypertrophy and fibrosis.

Another important point is that most clinical trials determine the circulating levels of C-term FGF23. What is about the intact FGF23 protein in HF patients, which is discussed to be more important to mediate signaling events, and do RAAS inhibitory therapeutics impact on the posttranslational modification and/ or cleavage of circulating and cardiac FGF23? It was shown in patients with autosomal dominant hypophosphatemic rickets, hyperphosphatemic familial tumoral calcinosis, and CKD, that the fraction of total FGF23 species representing intact biologically active hormone can markedly vary between different clinical settings (111). The cleavage of FGF23 in the bone is very well established, but less is known about the local processing of FGF23 in the heart and different cardiac cell types. The measurement of both biologically active and total FGF23 protein would represent an important advance for the understanding of its role also in different cardiovascular diseases. Moreover, future studies should provide more insights in the impact of therapeutic medications on the synthesis and cleavage of circulating and cardiac FGF23.

Important to note, treatment with ACEi or vitamin D was shown to improve soluble klotho levels in pediatric patients presenting with mild to moderate CKD (112). Taken together, these observations support the hypothesis of a direct cross talk between RAAS, vitamin D, FGF23, and klotho pathways, which can be targeted by RAAS inhibitor treatment. Normalization of soluble klotho may result in further modification of the specific FGFR for FGF23-mediated signaling in the heart though the interaction of FGF23 with klotho (65). It remains to be proven whether this will result in prevention of FGF23-driven pathological cardiac remodeling and counterregulate FGF23 cardiac toxicity.

### SUMMARY

Enhanced cardiac FGF23 is reported in various clinical and experimental settings of cardiac remodeling or failure, e.g., CKD, ADHF, ischemic cardiomyopathy, myocarditis, dilated cardiomyopathy, inflammatory HF, TAC-induced pressure overload, experimental MI, and ischemia reperfusion in rodents. On a cellular level, FGF23 is expressed in cardiac myocytes and in other non-cardiac myocytes, including cardiac fibroblasts, vascular smooth muscle, and endothelial cells in coronary arteries, and in inflammatory macrophages (**Figure 2**).

The communication of cardiac myocytes and non-cardiac myocytes is mediated by intracellular signaling promoting pathologic ventricular remodeling and hypertrophy. Thereby, cardiac myocytes respond to stress stimuli with secretion of inflammatory cytokines, and damage-associated molecular patterns to impact on local non-cardiac myocytes. This activates resident macrophages and fibroblasts, which secrete pro-hypertrophic and pro-fibrotic cytokines to promote cardiac myocyte hypertrophy,

### REFERENCES

- Itoh N, Ornitz DM. Evolution of the Fgf and Fgfr gene families. *Trends Genet* (2004) 20:563–9. doi:10.1016/j.tig.2004.08.007
- Itoh N, Ornitz DM. Fibroblast growth factors: from molecular evolution to roles in development, metabolism and disease. *J Biochem* (2011) 149:121–30. doi:10.1093/jb/mvq121

fibroblast differentiation, matrix deposition, and finally interstitial myocardial fibrosis. Current data suggest that secreted by cardiac myocytes, FGF23 can stimulate pro-fibrotic factors in myocytes to induce fibrosis-related pathways in fibroblasts and consequently cardiac fibrosis in a paracrine manner, and while acting on cardiac myocytes, FGF23 directly induces pro-hypertrophic genes and promotes the progression of LVH in an autocrine fashion. In addition, in vitro studies suggest that FGF23 can induce endothelial dysfunction in the setting of klotho deficiency via enhanced ROS production and suppression of antioxidant enzymes resulting in increased oxidative stress, which in turn may contribute to the progression of cardiovascular disease in humans. Finally, endogenous FGF23 expression and secretion in infiltrating macrophages in the heart induce cardiovascular disease progression through induction of inflammation and fibrosis. Overall, despite the known expression in bone, FGF23 is now established as also synthesized and secreted in the heart of humans and rodents by different cardiac cell types. Therefore, cardiac FGF23 is involved in the complex interaction between cardiac myocytes, fibroblasts, endothelial cell, and macrophages to induce signaling pathways and phenotypic changes within the same or nearby cells in an autocrine or paracrine manner, respectively (Figure 3).

Nevertheless, recent studies suggest that FGF23 is involved in the activation of local RAAS and, in turn, AngII and aldosterone as active RAAS components induce the expression of FGF23 in the heart in a feed-forward loop. It is known that RAAS activation promotes pro-inflammatory, pro-fibrotic, and pro-hypertrophic processes in cardiac cells. Since AT1R is present in cardiac myocytes, fibroblasts, and macrophages, these cell types are potent target cells for local, non-canonical RAAS activation and paracrine FGF23 signaling.

However, hard evidence showing that enhanced cardiac FGF23 directly induces pathologic cardiac remodeling and hypertrophy in a paracrine manner is lacking. The induction of cardiac FGF23 may also be a consequence of the failing heart. Whether cardiac FGF23 alone is sufficient to induce spontaneous cardiac hypertrophy and fibrosis and whether high cardiac synthesis of FGF23 always leads to the progression of HF must be investigated in further studies. Finally, which factor directly stimulates cardiac FGF23 expression and under which conditions cardiac FGF23 leads to pathological changes of the heart must also be clarified in suitable experimental studies and in specific animal models.

### AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

ML-N and DH equally contributed to conception and design of the manuscript; ML-N performed extensive literature search and wrote the first draft of the review; DH critically reviewed the manuscript. Both authors read and approved the final manuscript.

- Brewer JR, Mazot P, Soriano P. Genetic insights into the mechanisms of Fgf signaling. *Genes Dev* (2016) 30:751–71. doi:10.1101/gad.277137.115
- Itoh N, Ohta H, Nakayama Y, Konishi M. Roles of FGF signals in heart development, health, and disease. *Front Cell Dev Biol* (2016) 4:110. doi:10.3389/ fcell.2016.00110

Ornitz DM, Itoh N. The fibroblast growth factor signaling pathway. Wiley Interdiscip Rev Dev Biol (2015) 4:215–66. doi:10.1002/wdev.176

- Spivak-Kroizman T, Lemmon MA, Dikic I, Ladbury JE, Pinchasi D, Huang J, et al. Heparin-induced oligomerization of FGF molecules is responsible for FGF receptor dimerization, activation, and cell proliferation. *Cell* (1994) 79:1015–24. doi:10.1016/0092-8674(94)90032-9
- Mohammadi M, Olsen SK, Ibrahimi OA. Structural basis for fibroblast growth factor receptor activation. *Cytokine Growth Factor Rev* (2005) 16: 107–37. doi:10.1016/j.cytogfr.2005.01.008
- Kurosu H, Ogawa Y, Miyoshi M, Yamamoto M, Nandi A, Rosenblatt KP, et al. Regulation of fibroblast growth factor-23 signaling by klotho. *J Biol Chem* (2006) 281:6120–3. doi:10.1074/jbc.C500457200
- Urakawa I, Yamazaki Y, Shimada T, Iijima K, Hasegawa H, Okawa K, et al. Klotho converts canonical FGF receptor into a specific receptor for FGF23. *Nature* (2006) 444:770–4. doi:10.1038/nature05315
- Goetz R, Beenken A, Ibrahimi OA, Kalinina J, Olsen SK, Eliseenkova AV, et al. Molecular insights into the klotho-dependent, endocrine mode of action of fibroblast growth factor 19 subfamily members. *Mol Cell Biol* (2007) 27:3417–28. doi:10.1128/MCB.02249-06
- Goldfarb M, Schoorlemmer J, Williams A, Diwakar S, Wang Q, Huang X, et al. Fibroblast growth factor homologous factors control neuronal excitability through modulation of voltage-gated sodium channels. *Neuron* (2007) 55:449–63. doi:10.1016/j.neuron.2007.07.006
- Fon Tacer K, Bookout AL, Ding X, Kurosu H, John GB, Wang L, et al. Research resource: comprehensive expression atlas of the fibroblast growth factor system in adult mouse. *Mol Endocrinol* (2010) 24:2050–64. doi:10.1210/ me.2010-0142
- Itoh N, Ohta H. Pathophysiological roles of FGF signaling in the heart. Front Physiol (2013) 4:247. doi:10.3389/fphys.2013.00247
- Zhang X, Ibrahimi OA, Olsen SK, Umemori H, Mohammadi M, Ornitz DM. Receptor specificity of the fibroblast growth factor family. The complete mammalian FGF family. *J Biol Chem* (2006) 281:15694–700. doi:10.1074/ jbc.M601252200
- Goetz R, Mohammadi M. Exploring mechanisms of FGF signalling through the lens of structural biology. *Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol* (2013) 14:166–80. doi:10.1038/nrm3528
- Carter EP, Fearon AE, Grose RP. Careless talk costs lives: fibroblast growth factor receptor signalling and the consequences of pathway malfunction. *Trends Cell Biol* (2015) 25:221–33. doi:10.1016/j.tcb.2014.11.003
- Shimada T, Hasegawa H, Yamazaki Y, Muto T, Hino R, Takeuchi Y, et al. FGF-23 is a potent regulator of vitamin D metabolism and phosphate homeostasis. J Bone Miner Res (2004) 19:429–35. doi:10.1359/JBMR.0301264
- Kuro-o M, Matsumura Y, Aizawa H, Kawaguchi H, Suga T, Utsugi T, et al. Mutation of the mouse klotho gene leads to a syndrome resembling ageing. *Nature* (1997) 390:45–51. doi:10.1038/36285
- Tagliabracci VS, Engel JL, Wiley SE, Xiao J, Gonzalez DJ, Nidumanda Appaiah H, et al. Dynamic regulation of FGF23 by Fam20C phosphorylation, GalNAc-T3 glycosylation, and furin proteolysis. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* (2014) 111:5520–5. doi:10.1073/pnas.1402218111
- Gattineni J, Bates C, Twombley K, Dwarakanath V, Robinson ML, Goetz R, et al. FGF23 decreases renal NaPi-2a and NaPi-2c expression and induces hypophosphatemia in vivo predominantly via FGF receptor 1. *Am J Physiol Renal Physiol* (2009) 297:F282–91. doi:10.1152/ajprenal.90742.2008
- 21. Ben-Dov IZ, Galitzer H, Lavi-Moshayoff V, Goetz R, Kuro-O M, Mohammadi M, et al. The parathyroid is a target organ for FGF23 in rats. *J Clin Invest* (2007) 117:4003–8. doi:10.1172/JCI32409
- Quarles LD. Skeletal secretion of FGF-23 regulates phosphate and vitamin D metabolism. *Nat Rev Endocrinol* (2012) 8:276–86. doi:10.1038/nrendo. 2011.218
- Andrukhova O, Slavic S, Odorfer KI, Erben RG. Experimental myocardial infarction upregulates circulating fibroblast growth factor-23. J Bone Miner Res (2015) 30:1831–9. doi:10.1002/jbmr.2527
- Hao H, Li X, Li Q, Lin H, Chen Z, Xie J, et al. FGF23 promotes myocardial fibrosis in mice through activation of beta-catenin. *Oncotarget* (2016) 7:64649–64. doi:10.18632/oncotarget.11623
- Leifheit-Nestler M, Grosse Siemer R, Flasbart K, Richter B, Kirchhoff F, Ziegler WH, et al. Induction of cardiac FGF23/FGFR4 expression is associated with left ventricular hypertrophy in patients with chronic kidney disease. *Nephrol Dial Transplant* (2016) 31:1088–99. doi:10.1093/ndt/gfv421
- 26. Leifheit-Nestler M, Grabner A, Hermann L, Richter B, Schmitz K, Fischer DC, et al. Vitamin D treatment attenuates cardiac FGF23/FGFR4 signaling and

hypertrophy in uremic rats. Nephrol Dial Transplant (2017) 32:1493-503. doi:10.1093/ndt/gfw454

- Bienaime F, Ambolet A, Aussilhou B, Brazier F, Fouchard M, Viau A, et al. Hepatic production of fibroblast growth factor 23 in autosomal dominant polycystic kidney disease. *J Clin Endocrinol Metab* (2018). doi:10.1210/ jc.2018-00123
- Zanchi C, Locatelli M, Benigni A, Corna D, Tomasoni S, Rottoli D, et al. Renal expression of FGF23 in progressive renal disease of diabetes and the effect of ACE inhibitor. *PLoS One* (2013) 8:e70775. doi:10.1371/journal. pone.0070775
- Spichtig D, Zhang H, Mohebbi N, Pavik I, Petzold K, Stange G, et al. Renal expression of FGF23 and peripheral resistance to elevated FGF23 in rodent models of polycystic kidney disease. *Kidney Int* (2014) 85:1340–50. doi:10.1038/ki.2013.526
- Mace ML, Gravesen E, Nordholm A, Hofman-Bang J, Secher T, Olgaard K, et al. Kidney fibroblast growth factor 23 does not contribute to elevation of its circulating levels in uremia. *Kidney Int* (2017) 92:165–78. doi:10.1016/j. kint.2017.01.015
- Smith ER, Tan SJ, Holt SG, Hewitson TD. FGF23 is synthesised locally by renal tubules and activates injury-primed fibroblasts. *Sci Rep* (2017) 7:3345. doi:10.1038/s41598-017-02709-w
- Sugiura H, Matsushita A, Futaya M, Teraoka A, Akiyama KI, Usui N, et al. Fibroblast growth factor 23 is upregulated in the kidney in a chronic kidney disease rat model. *PLoS One* (2018) 13:e0191706. doi:10.1371/journal. pone.0191706
- Himmelfarb J, Ikizler TA. Hemodialysis. N Engl J Med (2010) 363:1833–45. doi:10.1056/NEJMra0902710
- Faul C, Amaral AP, Oskouei B, Hu MC, Sloan A, Isakova T, et al. FGF23 induces left ventricular hypertrophy. *J Clin Invest* (2011) 121:4393–408. doi:10.1172/JCI46122
- Gutierrez OM, Mannstadt M, Isakova T, Rauh-Hain JA, Tamez H, Shah A, et al. Fibroblast growth factor 23 and mortality among patients undergoing hemodialysis. N Engl J Med (2008) 359:584–92. doi:10.1056/NEJMoa0706130
- Touchberry CD, Green TM, Tchikrizov V, Mannix JE, Mao TF, Carney BW, et al. FGF23 is a novel regulator of intracellular calcium and cardiac contractility in addition to cardiac hypertrophy. *Am J Physiol Endocrinol Metab* (2013) 304:E863–73. doi:10.1152/ajpendo.00596.2012
- Grabner A, Amaral AP, Schramm K, Singh S, Sloan A, Yanucil C, et al. Activation of cardiac fibroblast growth factor receptor 4 causes left ventricular hypertrophy. *Cell Metab* (2015) 22:1020–32. doi:10.1016/j.cmet.2015.09.002
- Gutierrez OM, Januzzi JL, Isakova T, Laliberte K, Smith K, Collerone G, et al. Fibroblast growth factor 23 and left ventricular hypertrophy in chronic kidney disease. *Circulation* (2009) 119:2545–52. doi:10.1161/ CIRCULATIONAHA.108.844506
- Nasrallah MM, El-Shehaby AR, Salem MM, Osman NA, El Sheikh E, Sharaf El Din UA. Fibroblast growth factor-23 (FGF-23) is independently correlated to aortic calcification in haemodialysis patients. *Nephrol Dial Transplant* (2010) 25:2679–85. doi:10.1093/ndt/gfq089
- Yilmaz MI, Sonmez A, Saglam M, Yaman H, Kilic S, Demirkaya E, et al. FGF-23 and vascular dysfunction in patients with stage 3 and 4 chronic kidney disease. *Kidney Int* (2010) 78:679–85. doi:10.1038/ki.2010.194
- Seeherunvong W, Abitbol CL, Chandar J, Rusconi P, Zilleruelo GE, Freundlich M. Fibroblast growth factor 23 and left ventricular hypertrophy in children on dialysis. *Pediatr Nephrol* (2012) 27:2129–36. doi:10.1007/ s00467-012-2224-7
- 42. Scialla JJ, Lau WL, Reilly MP, Isakova T, Yang HY, Crouthamel MH, et al. Fibroblast growth factor 23 is not associated with and does not induce arterial calcification. *Kidney Int* (2013) 83:1159–68. doi:10.1038/ki.2013.3
- Sarmento-Dias M, Santos-Araujo C, Poinhos R, Oliveira B, Silva IS, Silva LS, et al. Fibroblast growth factor 23 is associated with left ventricular hypertrophy, not with uremic vasculopathy in peritoneal dialysis patients. *Clin Nephrol* (2016) 85:135–41. doi:10.5414/CN108716
- Baia LC, Humalda JK, Vervloet MG, Navis G, Bakker SJ, De Borst MH, et al. Fibroblast growth factor 23 and cardiovascular mortality after kidney transplantation. *Clin J Am Soc Nephrol* (2013) 8:1968–78. doi:10.2215/CJN. 01880213
- Hsu HJ, Wu MS. Fibroblast growth factor 23: a possible cause of left ventricular hypertrophy in hemodialysis patients. *Am J Med Sci* (2009) 337: 116–22. doi:10.1097/MAJ.0b013e3181815498

- 46. Seiler S, Reichart B, Roth D, Seibert E, Fliser D, Heine GH. FGF-23 and future cardiovascular events in patients with chronic kidney disease before initiation of dialysis treatment. *Nephrol Dial Transplant* (2010) 25:3983–9. doi:10.1093/ndt/gfq309
- 47. Isakova T, Xie H, Yang W, Xie D, Anderson AH, Scialla J, et al. Fibroblast growth factor 23 and risks of mortality and end-stage renal disease in patients with chronic kidney disease. *JAMA* (2011) 305:2432–9. doi:10.1001/ jama.2011.826
- Kirkpantur A, Balci M, Gurbuz OA, Afsar B, Canbakan B, Akdemir R, et al. Serum fibroblast growth factor-23 (FGF-23) levels are independently associated with left ventricular mass and myocardial performance index in maintenance haemodialysis patients. *Nephrol Dial Transplant* (2011) 26:1346–54. doi:10.1093/ndt/gfq539
- Mirza MA, Larsson A, Melhus H, Lind L, Larsson TE. Serum intact FGF23 associate with left ventricular mass, hypertrophy and geometry in an elderly population. *Atherosclerosis* (2009) 207:546–51. doi:10.1016/j. atherosclerosis.2009.05.013
- Parker BD, Schurgers LJ, Brandenburg VM, Christenson RH, Vermeer C, Ketteler M, et al. The associations of fibroblast growth factor 23 and uncarboxylated matrix Gla protein with mortality in coronary artery disease: the Heart and Soul Study. Ann Intern Med (2010) 152:640–8. doi:10.7326/ 0003-4819-152-10-201005180-00004
- Seiler S, Cremers B, Rebling NM, Hornof F, Jeken J, Kersting S, et al. The phosphatonin fibroblast growth factor 23 links calcium-phosphate metabolism with left-ventricular dysfunction and atrial fibrillation. *Eur Heart J* (2011) 32:2688–96. doi:10.1093/eurheartj/ehr215
- Arnlov J, Carlsson AC, Sundstrom J, Ingelsson E, Larsson A, Lind L, et al. Higher fibroblast growth factor-23 increases the risk of all-cause and cardiovascular mortality in the community. *Kidney Int* (2013) 83:160–6. doi:10.1038/ki.2012.327
- Isakova T, Houston J, Santacruz L, Schiavenato E, Somarriba G, Harmon WG, et al. Associations between fibroblast growth factor 23 and cardiac characteristics in pediatric heart failure. *Pediatr Nephrol* (2013) 28:2035–42. doi:10.1007/s00467-013-2515-7
- 54. Shibata K, Fujita S, Morita H, Okamoto Y, Sohmiya K, Hoshiga M, et al. Association between circulating fibroblast growth factor 23, alpha-klotho, and the left ventricular ejection fraction and left ventricular mass in cardiology inpatients. *PLoS One* (2013) 8:e73184. doi:10.1371/journal. pone.0073184
- Agarwal I, Ide N, Ix JH, Kestenbaum B, Lanske B, Schiller NB, et al. Fibroblast growth factor-23 and cardiac structure and function. *J Am Heart Assoc* (2014) 3:e000584. doi:10.1161/JAHA.113.000584
- 56. Imazu M, Takahama H, Asanuma H, Funada A, Sugano Y, Ohara T, et al. Pathophysiological impact of serum fibroblast growth factor 23 in patients with nonischemic cardiac disease and early chronic kidney disease. *Am J Physiol Heart Circ Physiol* (2014) 307:H1504–11. doi:10.1152/ajpheart.00331.2014
- Kestenbaum B, Sachs MC, Hoofnagle AN, Siscovick DS, Ix JH, Robinson-Cohen C, et al. Fibroblast growth factor-23 and cardiovascular disease in the general population: the multi-ethnic study of atherosclerosis. *Circ Heart Fail* (2014) 7:409–17. doi:10.1161/CIRCHEARTFAILURE.113.000952
- Wright CB, Dong C, Stark M, Silverberg S, Rundek T, Elkind MS, et al. Plasma FGF23 and the risk of stroke: the Northern Manhattan Study (NOMAS). *Neurology* (2014) 82:1700–6. doi:10.1212/WNL.000000000000410
- Wohlfahrt P, Melenovsky V, Kotrc M, Benes J, Jabor A, Franekova J, et al. Association of fibroblast growth factor-23 levels and angiotensin-converting enzyme inhibition in chronic systolic heart failure. *JACC Heart Fail* (2015) 3:829–39. doi:10.1016/j.jchf.2015.05.012
- Andersen IA, Huntley BK, Sandberg SS, Heublein DM, Burnett JC Jr. Elevation of circulating but not myocardial FGF23 in human acute decompensated heart failure. *Nephrol Dial Transplant* (2016) 31:767–72. doi:10.1093/ndt/ gfv398
- Wright CB, Shah NH, Mendez AJ, Derosa JT, Yoshita M, Elkind MS, et al. Fibroblast growth factor 23 is associated with subclinical cerebrovascular damage: the Northern Manhattan Study. *Stroke* (2016) 47:923–8. doi:10.1161/ STROKEAHA.115.012379
- 62. Faul C. Fibroblast growth factor 23 and the heart. *Curr Opin Nephrol Hypertens* (2012) 21:369–75. doi:10.1097/MNH.0b013e32835422c4
- Kovesdy CP, Quarles LD. The role of fibroblast growth factor-23 in cardiorenal syndrome. Nephron Clin Pract (2013) 123:194–201. doi:10.1159/000353593

- Erben RG. Update on FGF23 and klotho signaling. Mol Cell Endocrinol (2016) 432:56–65. doi:10.1016/j.mce.2016.05.008
- Grabner A, Faul C. The role of fibroblast growth factor 23 and klotho in uremic cardiomyopathy. *Curr Opin Nephrol Hypertens* (2016) 25:314–24. doi:10.1097/MNH.00000000000231
- Kovesdy CP, Quarles LD. FGF23 from bench to bedside. Am J Physiol Renal Physiol (2016) 310:F1168–74. doi:10.1152/ajprenal.00606.2015
- Erben RG. Pleiotropic actions of FGF23. Toxicol Pathol (2017) 45:904–10. doi:10.1177/0192623317737469
- Faul C. Cardiac actions of fibroblast growth factor 23. Bone (2017) 100:69–79. doi:10.1016/j.bone.2016.10.001
- Haffner D, Leifheit-Nestler M. Extrarenal effects of FGF23. *Pediatr Nephrol* (2017) 32:753–65. doi:10.1007/s00467-016-3505-3
- Heine GH, Seiler S, Fliser D. FGF-23: the rise of a novel cardiovascular risk marker in CKD. Nephrol Dial Transplant (2012) 27:3072–81. doi:10.1093/ ndt/gfs259
- Scialla JJ, Wolf M. Roles of phosphate and fibroblast growth factor 23 in cardiovascular disease. *Nat Rev Nephrol* (2014) 10:268–78. doi:10.1038/ nrneph.2014.49
- Tanaka S, Fujita S, Kizawa S, Morita H, Ishizaka N. Association between FGF23, alpha-klotho, and cardiac abnormalities among patients with various chronic kidney disease stages. *PLoS One* (2016) 11:e0156860. doi:10.1371/ journal.pone.0156860
- 73. Shimada T, Mizutani S, Muto T, Yoneya T, Hino R, Takeda S, et al. Cloning and characterization of FGF23 as a causative factor of tumor-induced osteomalacia. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* (2001) 98:6500–5. doi:10.1073/pnas. 101545198
- Gheorghiade M, Zannad F, Sopko G, Klein L, Pina IL, Konstam MA, et al. Acute heart failure syndromes: current state and framework for future research. *Circulation* (2005) 112:3958–68. doi:10.1161/CIRCULATIONAHA. 105.590091
- Slavic S, Ford K, Modert M, Becirovic A, Handschuh S, Baierl A, et al. Genetic ablation of Fgf23 or klotho does not modulate experimental heart hypertrophy induced by pressure overload. *Sci Rep* (2017) 7:11298. doi:10.1038/ s41598-017-10140-4
- Zhang B, Umbach AT, Chen H, Yan J, Fakhri H, Fajol A, et al. Up-regulation of FGF23 release by aldosterone. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun* (2016) 470:384–90. doi:10.1016/j.bbrc.2016.01.034
- Kakkar R, Lee RT. Intramyocardial fibroblast myocyte communication. *Circ Res* (2010) 106:47–57. doi:10.1161/CIRCRESAHA.109.207456
- Schultz JE, Witt SA, Nieman ML, Reiser PJ, Engle SJ, Zhou M, et al. Fibroblast growth factor-2 mediates pressure-induced hypertrophic response. J Clin Invest (1999) 104:709–19. doi:10.1172/JCI7315
- 79. Jiang ZS, Jeyaraman M, Wen GB, Fandrich RR, Dixon IM, Cattini PA, et al. High- but not low-molecular weight FGF-2 causes cardiac hypertrophy in vivo; possible involvement of cardiotrophin-1. *J Mol Cell Cardiol* (2007) 42:222–33. doi:10.1016/j.yjmcc.2006.09.002
- Xiao L, Naganawa T, Lorenzo J, Carpenter TO, Coffin JD, Hurley MM. Nuclear isoforms of fibroblast growth factor 2 are novel inducers of hypophosphatemia via modulation of FGF23 and klotho. *J Biol Chem* (2010) 285:2834–46. doi:10.1074/jbc.M109.030577
- Xiao L, Esliger A, Hurley MM. Nuclear fibroblast growth factor 2 (FGF2) isoforms inhibit bone marrow stromal cell mineralization through FGF23/ FGFR/MAPK in vitro. *J Bone Miner Res* (2013) 28:35–45. doi:10.1002/ jbmr.1721
- Dai B, David V, Martin A, Huang J, Li H, Jiao Y, et al. A comparative transcriptome analysis identifying FGF23 regulated genes in the kidney of a mouse CKD model. *PLoS One* (2012) 7:e44161. doi:10.1371/journal.pone. 0044161
- Zhou L, Li Y, Zhou D, Tan RJ, Liu Y. Loss of klotho contributes to kidney injury by derepression of Wnt/beta-catenin signaling. *J Am Soc Nephrol* (2013) 24:771–85. doi:10.1681/ASN.2012080865
- Smith ER, Holt SG, Hewitson TD. FGF23 activates injury-primed renal fibroblasts via FGFR4-dependent signalling and enhancement of TGFbeta autoinduction. *Int J Biochem Cell Biol* (2017) 92:63–78. doi:10.1016/j. biocel.2017.09.009
- Lam AP, Gottardi CJ. beta-catenin signaling: a novel mediator of fibrosis and potential therapeutic target. *Curr Opin Rheumatol* (2011) 23:562–7. doi:10.1097/BOR.0b013e32834b3309

- Guo Y, Xiao L, Sun L, Liu F. Wnt/beta-catenin signaling: a promising new target for fibrosis diseases. *Physiol Res* (2012) 61:337–46.
- Leifheit-Nestler M, Kirchhoff F, Nespor J, Richter B, Soetje B, Klintschar M, et al. FGF23 is induced by activated renin-angiotensin-aldosterone system in cardiac myocytes and promotes the pro-fibrotic crosstalk between cardiac myocytes and fibroblasts. *Nephrol Dial Transplant* (2018). doi:10.1093/ndt/ gfy006
- Mirza MA, Larsson A, Lind L, Larsson TE. Circulating fibroblast growth factor-23 is associated with vascular dysfunction in the community. *Athero*sclerosis (2009) 205:385–90. doi:10.1016/j.atherosclerosis.2009.01.001
- Voigt M, Fischer DC, Rimpau M, Schareck W, Haffner D. Fibroblast growth factor (FGF)-23 and fetuin-A in calcified carotid atheroma. *Histopathology* (2010) 56:775–88. doi:10.1111/j.1365-2559.2010.03547.x
- van Venrooij NA, Pereira RC, Tintut Y, Fishbein MC, Tumber N, Demer LL, et al. FGF23 protein expression in coronary arteries is associated with impaired kidney function. *Nephrol Dial Transplant* (2014) 29:1525–32. doi:10.1093/ndt/gft523
- Richter B, Haller J, Haffner D, Leifheit-Nestler M. Klotho modulates FGF23mediated NO synthesis and oxidative stress in human coronary artery endothelial cells. *Pflugers Arch* (2016) 468:1621–35. doi:10.1007/s00424-016-1858-x
- Frieler RA, Mortensen RM. Immune cell and other noncardiomyocyte regulation of cardiac hypertrophy and remodeling. *Circulation* (2015) 131: 1019–30. doi:10.1161/CIRCULATIONAHA.114.008788
- Munoz Mendoza J, Isakova T, Ricardo AC, Xie H, Navaneethan SD, Anderson AH, et al. Fibroblast growth factor 23 and inflammation in CKD. *Clin J Am Soc Nephrol* (2012) 7:1155–62. doi:10.2215/CJN.13281211
- Singh S, Grabner A, Yanucil C, Schramm K, Czaya B, Krick S, et al. Fibroblast growth factor 23 directly targets hepatocytes to promote inflammation in chronic kidney disease. *Kidney Int* (2016) 90:985–96. doi:10.1016/j.kint.2016. 05.019
- Yan L, Bowman MA. Chronic sustained inflammation links to left ventricular hypertrophy and aortic valve sclerosis: a new link between \$100/RAGE and FGF23. *Inflamm Cell Signal* (2014) 1:e279. doi:10.14800/ics.279
- Dey G, Radhakrishnan A, Syed N, Thomas JK, Nadig A, Srikumar K, et al. Signaling network of oncostatin M pathway. J Cell Commun Signal (2013) 7:103–8. doi:10.1007/s12079-012-0186-y
- Kubin T, Poling J, Kostin S, Gajawada P, Hein S, Rees W, et al. Oncostatin M is a major mediator of cardiomyocyte dedifferentiation and remodeling. *Cell Stem Cell* (2011) 9:420–32. doi:10.1016/j.stem.2011.08.013
- Schaefer LK, Wang S, Schaefer TS. Oncostatin M activates stat DNA binding and transcriptional activity in primary human fetal astrocytes: low- and high-passage cells have distinct patterns of stat activation. *Cytokine* (2000) 12:1647–55. doi:10.1006/cyto.2000.0774
- Van Wagoner NJ, Choi C, Repovic P, Benveniste EN. Oncostatin M regulation of interleukin-6 expression in astrocytes: biphasic regulation involving the mitogen-activated protein kinases ERK1/2 and p38. *J Neurochem* (2000) 75:563–75. doi:10.1046/j.1471-4159.2000.0750563.x
- 100. Arita K, South AP, Hans-Filho G, Sakuma TH, Lai-Cheong J, Clements S, et al. Oncostatin M receptor-beta mutations underlie familial primary localized cutaneous amyloidosis. *Am J Hum Genet* (2008) 82:73–80. doi:10.1016/j. ajhg.2007.09.002
- Richter M, Polyakova V, Gajawada P, Pöling J, Warnecke H, Braun T, et al. Oncostatin M induces FGF23 expression in cardiomyocytes. J Clin Exp Cardiolog (2012) S9:003. doi:10.4172/2155-9880.S9-003

- Richter M, Lautze HJ, Walther T, Braun T, Kostin S, Kubin T. The failing heart is a major source of circulating FGF23 via oncostatin M receptor activation. J Heart Lung Transplant (2015) 34:1211–4. doi:10.1016/j.healun.2015. 06.007
- 103. Han X, Li L, Yang J, King G, Xiao Z, Quarles LD. Counter-regulatory paracrine actions of FGF-23 and 1,25(OH)2 D in macrophages. *FEBS Lett* (2016) 590:53–67. doi:10.1002/1873-3468.12040
- 104. Fajol A, Chen H, Umbach AT, Quarles LD, Lang F, Foller M. Enhanced FGF23 production in mice expressing PI3K-insensitive GSK3 is normalized by beta-blocker treatment. *FASEB J* (2016) 30:994–1001. doi:10.1096/fj.15-279943
- 105. Shalhoub V, Shatzen EM, Ward SC, Davis J, Stevens J, Bi V, et al. FGF23 neutralization improves chronic kidney disease-associated hyperparathyroidism yet increases mortality. *J Clin Invest* (2012) 122:2543–53. doi:10.1172/ JCI61405
- 106. Fukumoto S. Anti-fibroblast growth factor 23 antibody therapy. Curr Opin Nephrol Hypertens (2014) 23:346–51. doi:10.1097/01.mnh.0000447012. 98357.da
- Katoh M. Therapeutics targeting FGF signaling network in human diseases. Trends Pharmacol Sci (2016) 37:1081–96. doi:10.1016/j.tips.2016.10.003
- 108. Udell JA, Morrow DA, Jarolim P, Sloan S, Hoffman EB, O'donnell TF, et al. Fibroblast growth factor-23, cardiovascular prognosis, and benefit of angiotensin-converting enzyme inhibition in stable ischemic heart disease. J Am Coll Cardiol (2014) 63:2421–8. doi:10.1016/j.jacc.2014.03.026
- 109. Ter Maaten JM, Voors AA, Damman K, Van Der Meer P, Anker SD, Cleland JG, et al. Fibroblast growth factor 23 is related to profiles indicating volume overload, poor therapy optimization and prognosis in patients with newonset and worsening heart failure. *Int J Cardiol* (2018) 253:84–90. doi:10.1016/j. ijcard.2017.10.010
- 110. Humalda JK, Lambers Heerspink HJ, Kwakernaak AJ, Slagman MC, Waanders F, Vervloet MG, et al. Fibroblast growth factor 23 and the antiproteinuric response to dietary sodium restriction during renin-angiotensinaldosterone system blockade. *Am J Kidney Dis* (2015) 65:259–66. doi:10.1053/j. ajkd.2014.07.022
- 111. Wolf M, White KE. Coupling fibroblast growth factor 23 production and cleavage: iron deficiency, rickets, and kidney disease. *Curr Opin Nephrol Hypertens* (2014) 23:411–9. doi:10.1097/01.mnh.0000447020.74593.6f
- 112. Shroff R, Aitkenhead H, Costa N, Trivelli A, Litwin M, Picca S, et al. Normal 25-hydroxyvitamin D levels are associated with less proteinuria and attenuate renal failure progression in children with CKD. J Am Soc Nephrol (2016) 27:314–22. doi:10.1681/ASN.2014090947

**Conflict of Interest Statement:** ML-N was supported by Amgen and received a research grant from the German Cardiac Society. DH received consultancy fees and/or research grants from Amgen, Chiesi Farmaceutici, Horizon Pharma, Kyowa Kirin, Pfizer, and Sandoz.

Copyright © 2018 Leifheit-Nestler and Haffner. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





# FGF23 in Cardiovascular Disease: Innocent Bystander or Active Mediator?

#### Robert Stöhr<sup>1\*</sup>, Alexander Schuh<sup>1</sup>, Gunnar H. Heine<sup>2</sup> and Vincent Brandenburg<sup>1</sup>

<sup>1</sup> Department of Cardiology, University Hospital of the RWTH Aachen, Aachen, Germany, <sup>2</sup> Department of Nephrology, University Hospital Homburg-Saar, Homburg, Germany

Fibroblast growth factor-23 (FGF23) is a mainly osteocytic hormone which increases renal phosphate excretion and reduces calcitriol synthesis. These renal actions are mediated via alpha-klotho as the obligate co-receptor. Beyond these canonical "mineral metabolism" actions, FGF23 has been identified as an independent marker for cardiovascular risk in various patient populations. Previous research has linked elevated FGF23 predominantly to left-ventricular dysfunction and consecutive morbidity and mortality. Moreover, some experimental data suggest FGF23 as a direct and causal stimulator for cardiac hypertrophy via specific myocardial FGF23-receptor activation, independent from alpha-klotho. This hypothesis offers fascinating prospects in terms of therapeutic interventions, specifically in patients with chronic kidney disease (CKD) in whom the FGF23 system is strongly stimulated and in whom left-ventricular dysfunction is a major disease burden. However, novel data challenges the previous stand-alone hypothesis about a one-way road which guides unidirectionally skeletal FGF23 toward cardiotoxic effects. In fact, recent data point toward local myocardial production and release of FGF23 in cases where (acute) myocardial damage occurs. The effects of this local production and the physiological meaning are under current examination. Moreover, epidemiologic studies suggest that high FGF-23 may follow, rather than induce, myocardial disease in certain conditions. In summary, while FGF23 is an interesting link between mineral metabolism and cardiac function underlining the meaning of the bone-heart axis, more research is needed before therapeutic interventions may be considered.

## OPEN ACCESS

#### Edited by:

Reinhold Gottfried Erben, Veterinärmedizinische Universität Wien, Austria

#### Reviewed by:

Mariusz W. Szkudlinski, Trophogen, United States Heike M. Hermanns, Universitätsklinikum Würzburg, Germanv

> \***Correspondence:** Robert Stöhr rstoehr@ukaachen.de

#### Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Molecular and Structural Endocrinology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Endocrinology

Received: 26 February 2018 Accepted: 11 June 2018 Published: 27 June 2018

#### Citation:

Stöhr R, Schuh A, Heine GH and Brandenburg V (2018) FGF23 in Cardiovascular Disease: Innocent Bystander or Active Mediator? Front. Endocrinol. 9:351. doi: 10.3389/fendo.2018.00351 Keywords: FGF23, cardiovascular diseases, heart failure, hypertrophy, left ventricular, myocardial infarction

# INTRODUCTION

Despite relevant progress in diagnosis and therapy, mortality in patients with chronic kidney disease (CKD) and end-stage renal disease (ESRD) remains high, with an overall 65% 5-year mortality (1). Mortality and morbidity associated with CKD are mainly driven by a vast increase in the rates of cardiovascular events. Indeed, the risk of a patient with early CKD to develop cardiovascular disease (CVD) is ~20 times higher than to finally require renal replacement therapy (2). Although traditional cardiovascular risk factors including hyperlipidemia, diabetes, and hypertension are highly prevalent in patients with CKD (3), they cannot alone explain the high cardiovascular disease burden in CKD patients. Several "non-Framingham" or "non-traditional"

risk factors have been proposed to contribute to this exploding cardiovascular risk, among which parameters of the so-called CKD—mineral and bone disorder (CKD-MBD) may be of particular importance (4). Many of these parameters link all three entities of the CKD-MBD syndrome, i.e., renal, skeletal and cardiovascular disease. Some of the "non-traditional" cardiovascular risk factors within the spectrum of CKD-MBD such as hyperphosphataemia (5), hypo-and hypercalcaemia (6) as well as secondary hyperparathyroidism (7) have been known for a long time to predict cardiovascular mortality in CKD patients (4). Fibroblast growth factor-23, FGF23 is a rather novel player within the broad spectrum of the CKD-MBD syndrome (8).

# THE SPECIFIC CARDIOVASCULAR PATHOLOGY OF CKD PATIENTS

The cardiovascular disease spectrum of CKD and ESRD patients is specific in various aspects. In addition to accelerated cardiovascular calcification the central characteristic feature of CKD-associated CVD is the development of left-ventricular hypertrophy (LVH). The pathophysiology of CKD-associated LVH is complex and multifactorial and LVH occurs even in the absence of severe and long-standing uncontrolled arterial hypertension or aortic valvular disease in CKD patients (9). Instead, increased vascular stiffness, anemia, hypervolaemia, activation of the renin angiotensin, and of the sympathetic system as well as the toxic effects of uremia-associated circulating factors also contribute to the development of LVH in the setting of CKD (9). Among the latter, FGF23 is a candidate undergoing an intense debate.

# THE EVOLUTION OF FGF23 RESEARCH OVER TIME

An important milestone in our understanding of the bone-heart axis was the discovery of the profound metabolic, specifically mineral effects of FGF23 (10). FGF23 is a 32 kDa bone-derived potent regulator of vitamin D and phosphate metabolism. It was originally identified only some 15 years ago in the osteological community as a phosphaturic hormone in renal phosphate wasting syndromes such as oncogenic osteomalacia (11). Shortly thereafter, it was found that plasma concentration of FGF23 rises dramatically with increasing severity of CKD (12), and moreover, is independently associated with poorer outcome among non-dialysis CKD patients (13, 14) as well as dialysis patients (15). Soon, FGF23 left the nephrology niche and proved to be of particular interest for the cardiology community, since the dismal association between high FGF23 levels and poor prognosis is also detectable in patients selected primarily via cardiac disorders (16-18). Abundant cohort studies followed, all pointing toward the same direction-a strong association between elevated FGF23 levels, cardiovascular morbidity and mortality (19). Of note, FGF-23 turned out to be a stronger predictor of heart failure decompensation rather than of acute atherosclerotic cardiovascular events (14, 20).

The next evolutionary step in our FGF23 understanding was the transfer from association toward causality: Recent experimental data established a causal pathway and linked extracardiac FGF-23 directly to the development of cardiovascular pathologies, specifically cardiomyopathy (21). However, as discussed below, even this point of view is again moving forward as evidence grows that the cardiovascular system itself may be able to affect FGF23 levels with potential, yet to be determined, local and systemic effects.

# PHYSIOLOGY OF FGF23

Circulating FGF23 is mainly produced by osteocytes and osteoblasts. FGF23 primarily targets the renal tubular and parathyroid cells. These canonical effects of FGF23 (i.e., regulating phosphate, vitamin D metabolism and PTH) depend upon its interaction with FGF23 receptors and its obligate renal co-receptor alpha-klotho (22). In renal tubular cells, upon binding to the FGF-receptor and alpha-klotho—FGF23 (1) stimulates the excretion of phosphate, (2) reduces the activation of calcidiol to calcitriol, and (3) increases the degradation of the latter (23) Hypothetical non-canonical renal effects of FGF23 include the stimulation of distal tubular sodium and calcium absorption (24, 25) as well as suppression of angiotensin converting enzyme 2 transcription in the kidney (26). Furthermore, *in vitro*, FGF23 treatment of bovine parathyroid cells inhibits PTH secretion (27) (summarized in **Figure 1**).

There is a striking association between decreasing glomerular filtration rate (GFR) and raising FGF23 levels in humans. In fact, the magnitude of FGF23 increase with the decline in kidney function is unique among the various biomarkers of the CKD-MBD syndrome. While a PTH increase by a factor of 20–30 may already represent severe, uncontrolled hyperparathyroidism, FGF23 levels over 1,000-fold higher than in healthy controls have been described in CKD (28).



# FGF23 REGULATION: PHOSPHATE AND BEYOND

The underlying mechanisms of the tremendous rise of FGF23 in renal insufficiency remain partly unclear. Various endogenous, but also external factors contribute to FGF23 regulation such as the phosphorus load and active Vitamin D [1,25 (OH)  $_2$ D3] which appear to be main stimulators of FGF-23 synthesis (29, 30), while other factors including calcium, parathyroid hormone, inflammation, and iron are also involved (31).

Indeed, the exact mechanistical evidence through which decreasing GFR and/or high serum phosphate can increase FGF23 concentrations is still lacking. In fact, it appears an oversimplification to establish a smooth and direct link between phosphate load and/or retention leading to FGF23 increase or vice versa, phosphate restriction, and/or: excretion to FGF23 decrease. Animal and in vitro experiments have to date yielded conflicting results. In mice, feeding a high phosphate diet has been shown to increase circulating FGF23 (32), and FGF23 levels correlated positively with levels of circulating phosphate in patients with ESRD (10). However, dietary phosphate modulation has some corresponding effects on circulating FGF23 levels in some studies (33, 34), while other studies found no effect (12). In vitro, cultured osteoblast increased FGF23 production in response to 1,25 (OH) 2D and PTH (35) but not to phosphate (36). In a mouse model of progressive renal failure, Zhang et al. found that severe phosphate restriction (0.2 and 0.02%) did not modulate serum levels of FGF23 (37) despite the expected severe reduction in renal phosphate excretion.

Beyond factors that affect osteoblastic and osteocytic FGF23 production, FGF23 levels and actions undergo modifications via changes in its release (38), cleavage (39), distribution, and allocation of receptors and co-receptors. Cleavage of FGF23 by a furin pro-protein convertase into its N- and C-terminal fragments appears to be the main regulator of its biological effects (40). To date, only intact FGF23 has clearly been shown to have a physiological effect, while the function of the C-terminal fragments remains more controversial (41). Goetz and coworkers have shown that c-terminal FGF23 fragments actually inhibit the FGF23-FGF-R-klotho-interaction (41) and thus antagonize phosphaturic effects of intact FGF23. Hence, FGF23 cleavage is a relevant metabolic step regulating FGF23 activity.

The distribution of FGF-receptors is a major determinant of FGF23 function and is responsible for mediating canonical (renal and phosphaturic) and (e.g., cardiac) effects. FGF-Receptor 1 (FGF-R1) is thought to be the major renal effector of FGF23, mediating primarily phosphaturic and calcitriolregulatory effects of FGF23 (42). Klotho as obligate co-receptor is of major importance regarding renal mode of action of FGF23 (22).

## CARDIOVASCULAR EFFECTS OF RAISED FGF23

As already mentioned, over the last years many studies have shown significant and independent associations between increased FGF23 and dismal outcomes in humans. Remarkably,

this association is not limited to CKD patients (non-dialysis CKD (13, 14) and ESRD (15, 43)), but also detectable in patients without overt CKD (16-18, 44) in whom no primary significant FGF23 excess is to be expected. While there appears to be a strong and independent association between FGF23 levels and increased mortality as well as heart failure, the association to the development of atherosclerosis is much less pronounced (14, 20) suggesting that occlusive atherosclerotic disease may not be the primary link between increased FGF23 levels and mortality (45). Numerous additional explanations have been proposed as basis for the prognostic impact of FGF23 on (cardiovascular) mortality, which comprise a contribution of raised FGF23 to endothelial dysfunction (46), stimulation of the renin-angiotensin system (47), arterial stiffness (46), vascular calcification (48), inflammation (31), and leftventricular hypertrophy.

# SPECIFIC FOCUS UPON FGF23 AS THE DRIVING FORCE FOR LVH

Left-ventricular dysfunction has gained specific interest regarding its association with increasing levels of FGF23 now representing an outstanding research field in cardiorenal medicine, since LVH is highly prevalent in CKD and is presumably among the major driving forces for sudden cardiac death (SCD) (49). SCD in turn is among the leading causes of death in CKD patients and the single most prevalent cause for CV death—more prevalent event than classical atherosclerotic cardiovascular events in these patients (50).

Indeed, LVH is a very common finding in patients with CKD and ESRD with up to 74% of patients showing some form of this pathological cardiac remodeling (51–53). The exact prevalence of LVH most likely varies with duration and severity of CKD as well as with the sensitivity of the detection method. Actually, virtually all patients with severe non-dialysis CKD or ESRD will have at least subtle—if not substantial—changes of left ventricular function, geometry, and structure. Evolving and more sophisticated echocardiography and magnetic resonance imaging techniques will make detection of subclinical myocardial changes more sensitive in future. LVH not only predisposes to sudden cardiac death (49), but also increases the risk of developing heart failure: heart failure with preserved ejection fraction (HFPEF) as well as heart failure with reduced ejection fraction (HFREF).

Recent research has attributed a substantial role in LVH pathogenesis to FGF23: As early as 1997 Nehme et al. hinted at it by showing that children with X-linked hypophospataemic rickets (XLH), an X-linked dominant disease with FGF23 overexpression and consecutive hypophosphataemia, to have signs of LVH (54).

In much less selected patients, evidence for an association between FGF23 and LVH was first published by Mirza et al. who showed that in the PIVUS cohort, a Swedish cohort with around 800 patients aged 70 or more, intact FGF23 correlated with the presence of LVH, as determined by echocardiography (55). Noteworthy, this relationship held true, even for FGF23 levels within the normal range. The effects of increased FGF23 were then prospectively analyzed by Faul et al. in a large cohort of 3070 non-dialysis CKD patients. The authors found baseline levels of c-terminal FGF23 to positively correlate with the presence of LVH. Increased FGF23 baseline levels were also associated with an up to 7-fold increased incidence of LVH development in the following 3 years (56). However, there are also studies in hemodialysis patients that have found no association between FGF23 and ventricular mass (57, 58).

In continued research, mainly driven by Faul and coworkers (21, 56, 59–61), several experimental settings were used to determine whether the FGF23 association with LVH was causative or purely associative. The authors concluded that FGF23 is within the causal pathway of CKD-associated LVH development. *In vitro*, the treatment of neonatal rat ventricular myocytes for 48 h with different concentrations of FGF23 induced morphometric hypertrophy similar in extent to treatment with FGF2, a known strong inducer of LVH. These histological changes accompanied a change in the gene expression profile reflecting pathological hypertrophy. The effect was dose dependent, with no further increase seen after 15 ng/ml FGF23 (56). Interestingly, the authors concluded that the cardiac effects of FGF23 were Klotho independent since Klotho was not expressed by cardiac myocytes.

*In-vivo* experiments using intravenous and intramyocardial injection of FGF23 also showed induction of LVH in non-CKD mice (56). Again, Klotho did not appear to be necessary for the cardiac effects of FGF23. Using Klotho-null mice, Faul et al. showed that even in the absence of Klotho, treatment with FGF23 induces LVH to a similar manner as seen in wild type mice. Interestingly, mice heterozygous for Klotho, in which FGF23 raises less pronouncedly than in Klotho null mice, also develop LVH, though to a lesser extent than klotho null mice. While the authors state that this reflects a dose dependent effect of FGF23, it may also reflect the total loss of protective klotho (56).

To further examine the interplay between FGF23 and its cardiac receptors Faul et al. also investigated the effect of FGF23 on FGFR4 null mice and found that abrogation of the FGFR4 prevented the development of LVH in vitro as well as in vivo while overexpression of FGFR4 induced LVH in non-CKD mice (21). These data raise the hypothesis that the myocardial FGF23 effects are mediated predominantly through the FGFR4 activation of PLC/calcineurin/NFAT pathway. However, it remains unclear if the proposed cardiac effects of FGF23 are all direct effects upon the myocardium or in part reflect systemic FGF23 effects since administration of FGF23 has been suggest to raise blood pressure (24), potentially contributing the induction of LVH (56). Also, XLH-children do not universally exhibit LVH despite chronically raised FGF23 levels (54, 62). Hence, all these findings warrant critical reappraisal and indeed, very recent data point into a different direction.

# FGF23 AND MYOCARDIAL DISEASE: CHICKEN OR EGG?

The postulated absence of klotho from the myocardium has been the subject of some debate (23), since klotho is essentially required for FGF23 to exert its renal effects (47). Its role in the setting of cardiomyocyte FGF23 toxicity thus remains controversial: While Faul reported a Klotho-independent effect of FGF-23 on cardiomyocytes, other groups suggested that klotho deficiency rather than a FGF23 excess causes cardiac hypertrophy (63): In heterozygous klotho-deficient CKD mice, the development of LVH was not modified by interventions normalizing FGF23 and phosphate levels, but only via exogenous klotho application. In humans, it is currently impossible to clearly separate the effects of CKD-induced klotho deficiency, phosphate load, and FGF23 raise, particularly as no reliable assays for soluble klotho measurements are available so far.

FGF23 has traditionally been believed to be mainly of skeletal origin from which it affects systemically its canonical kidney and parathyroid gland as well as non-canonical targets such as cardiomyocytes (64). While above-mentioned epidemiological data and experimental findings accuse FGF23 (presumably from skeletal origin) as being directly noxious to myocardial cells and being a causative agent for LVH induction and myocardial damage, some data point toward a different or even opposite direction (**Figure 2**). Two major unsolved issues emerge in this respect: First, does the FGF23, which may finally act upon the myocardium, only originate from the bone or also directly from the myocardium and second, are these actions only deleterious or are there some (dose- and time-dependent) beneficial effects detectable?

Indeed, some beneficial cardiovascular effects have been attributed to FGF23: Remarkably, acute elevations of FGF23 were shown to be positively inotropic: FGF23 induced acute elevations of intracellular calcium of primary cardiomyocytes, an effect that could be abrogated by the calcium channel blocker verapamil. FGF23 treatment of a ventricular muscle strip led to increased contractility, which was blocked by inhibition of FGF receptors (65). Hypothetically, this finding allows speculations about a potential physiological role of FGF23 elevations in situations of acute cardiomyocyte stress. If these effects are (patho) physiologically relevant, it appears counterintuitive that skeletal FGF23 is the sole source for such cardiac actions, because this would require a fast myocardial-skeletal messenger.



In fact, recently Richter el al found cultured cardiomyocytes to express FGF23 (66). In subsequent clinical studies, FGF23 was shown to be present in the explanted hearts of patients with ischaemic or dilated cardiomyopathy undergoing heart transplantation, but not in healthy hearts (67). In another set of experiments, Andhrukova et al. found that, in the setting of experimental myocardial infarction in mice, circulating FGF23 is increased in the circulation with a concomitant reduction of 1,25(OH)2D3 (68). Additionally to increased FGF23 production in the bone, myocardial FGF23 was also increased on a protein and mRNA level suggesting that increased circulating FGF23 post-myocardial infarction is at least partly derived from the myocardium itself (68). To add to the complexity of the FGF23myocardium interaction experiments with the pressure overload model of transverse aortic constriction (TAC) demonstrated that LVH profoundly increased serum levels of intact FGF23, augmented cardiac mRNA and protein expression of FGF23, and increased FGF23 transcription in bone by an aldosterone-driven mechanism (69).

These experimental data are supported by some clinical data fueling the hypothesis that FGF23 release and myocardial damage is not a one-way route from the skeleton to the myocardium: Cross-sectional data derived from a cohort study and post-hoc subgroup analyses from a randomized trial on mechanical assist device implantation support the hypothesis that the heart is an active player-not only a recipient-in FGF23 metabolism (70, 71): these patients had much higher FGF-23 than healthy individuals or patients with myocardial infarction not complicated by heart failure. Moreover, among these patients with cardiogenic shock, increased levels of FGF23 on admission correlated with increased mortality at 30 days and 1 year (70). Considering the speed and the magnitude of the FGF-23 rise we speculate that the myocardial damage per se induces FGF23 (be it heart-derived and/or bone derived). Hence, this challenged the mono-directional hypothesis that external factors stimulate bone FGF23 release which in turn induces myocardial damage.

Recent data by Anderson et al. underlines how much this topic is currently still up for debate. The authors found that, in a group of patients with acute heart failure, FGF23 is sharply elevated in the circulation (72). In contrary, this does not appear to hold true for chronic cardiac damage as Richter et al. found no upregulation of FGF23 in explanted hearts of patients undergoing heart transplantation for chronic severe heart failure (66).

# IS MODIFICATION OF FGF23 A PROMISING THERAPEUTIC OPTION IN CARDIAC DISEASE?

Since many data and researchers suggest that FGF23 excess negatively impacts the cardiovascular system, it appears a potential treatment modality to reduce the circulating amount or to block the FGF23-target organ interaction. However, there are at least two relevant arguments that pharmacological FGF23 blockade is not as straightforward as one could assume. First, as mentioned above, some (early) rise in FGF23 (presumably specifically FGF23 produced and released from the myocardium itself) might have stabilizing effects in the setting of acute myocardial damage. Second, the optimal level and the most appropriate tool of intervention to lower (systemic) FGF23 are unclear.

Clear warning signals against an unreflected (unspecific) blockade emerge from in vivo experiments by Shalhoub et al. The authors showed that pharmacological blockade of FGF23 using a pan-blocking antibody failed to prevent the development of LVH in uraemic rats (73). Not only were these results in conflict with the results obtained by Faul et al. (56) but worryingly, FGF23 blockade led to increased aortic calcification and even mortality in the animals (73). The authors attributed this detrimental finding to the raise in serum phosphorus levels which occurred with the blockade of the potent phosphaturic actions of FGF23. Similar results were found when inhibiting FGF23 signaling by a pan-FGFR inhibitor which resulted in increased phosphorus and FGF23 levels leading to multifocal, multiorgan soft tissue mineralization (74). These data clearly remind us that some (systemic) FGF23 actions are beneficial-e.g., the avoidance of phosphate toxicity. Hence, a more specific mode of action such as blocking chronically stimulated FGF23-receptor interactions at the myocardium might hold promise in this respect. Hypothetically, restoration of klotho levels might help to re-direct FGF23 actions toward canonical (renal) signaling pathways and block off-target signaling. Potential effects of FGF23 lowering in humans were shown in the EVOLVE trial in which the use of the PTH-lowering agent Cinacalcet was compared to placebo in patients with terminal renal failure on haemodialysis. Noteworthy, the aim of the intervention was not directly to influence FGF23 synthesis or release but primarily targeted hyperparathyroidism. In this trial, patients receiving cinacalcet showed a significant reduction in mean FGF23 levels (75). Furthermore, patients that responded with a prominent FGF23 decrease of > 30% showed a pronounced reduction in cardiovascular mortality in the 20 week followup (75). Against a direct pathophysiological contribution of FGF23 stands that within the placebo group, patients who had a reduction of FGF23 during the study period had no better prognosis than patients who did not have such FGF-23 reduction. Currently, a fully human monoclonal IgG1 antibody, Burosumab, is under investigation for rare diseases with primary FGF23 excess and the clinical picture of phosphate-losing osteomalacia (X-linked hypophosphatemia). In such diseases, where a primary FGF23 excess hits a physiological kidney function, the approach really holds promise and allows to normalize hypophosphatemia. However, a broader application is currently not appealing since chronic effects of FGF23 blockade in conditions with reactive, secondary FGF23 excess are unpredictable.

# CARDIAC FGF23 RESEARCH: THE NEXT LEVEL

In summary, the jury is still out on the exact role of FGF23 in the development of cardiovascular abnormalities. The FGF23klotho axis and pathophysiological cardiac effects are a constantly evolving field. Each players' role (klotho, local and systemic FGF23, FGF23-receptors) needs to be exactly determined. Facing the massive threat induced by left-ventricular dysfunction to patients with CKD and ESRD and the potential direct and indirect involvement of low klotho, high FGF23 levels, together with other features of CKD-MBD in this setting an urgent roadmap for further research emerges.

Prior to any therapeutic intervention with the aim to minimize potentially negative FGF23 effects upon cardiac structure and function, research needs to focus on and clarify relevant unsolved issues. Just to name a few, the community needs to prove how cardiac disease induces (rather than follows) FGF-23 secretion,

### REFERENCES

- National Institute of Diabetes and Digestive and Kidney Diseases. USRDS 2013 Annual Data Report: Atlas of End-Stage Renal Disease in the United States. Bethesda, MD. (2014).
- Foley RN, Murray AM, Li S, Herzog CA, McBean AM, Eggers PW, et al. Chronic kidney disease and the risk for cardiovascular disease, renal replacement, and death in the United States Medicare population, 1998 to 1999. J Am Soc Nephrol. (2005) 16:489–95. doi: 10.1681/ASN.2004030203
- Go AS, Chertow GM, Fan D, McCulloch CE, Hsu CY. Chronic kidney disease and the risks of death, cardiovascular events, and hospitalization. N Engl J Med. (2004) 351:1296–305. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa041031
- Moe SM, Drueke T, Lameire N, Eknoyan G. Chronic kidney disease-mineralbone disorder: a new paradigm. *Adv Chronic Kidney Dis.* (2007) 14:3–12. doi: 10.1053/j.ackd.2006.10.005
- Block GA, Hulbert-Shearon TE, Levin NW, Port FK. Association of serum phosphorus and calcium x phosphate product with mortality risk in chronic hemodialysis patients: a national study. *Am J Kidney Dis.* (1998) 31:607–17. doi: 10.1053/ajkd.1998.v31.pm9531176
- Lim LM, Kuo HT, Kuo MC, Chiu YW, Lee JJ, Hwang SJ, et al. Low serum calcium is associated with poor renal outcomes in chronic kidney disease stages 3-4 patients. *BMC Nephrol.* (2014) 15:183. doi: 10.1186/1471-2369-15-183
- Andersson P, Rydberg E, Willenheimer R. Primary hyperparathyroidism and heart disease-a review. *Eur Heart J.* (2004) 25:1776–87. doi: 10.1016/j.ehj.2004.07.010
- Vervloet MG, Massy ZA, Brandenburg VM, Mazzaferro S, Cozzolino M, Urena-Torres P, et al. Bone: a new endocrine organ at the heart of chronic kidney disease and mineral and bone disorders. *Lancet Diabetes Endocrinol*. (2014) 2:427–36. doi: 10.1016/S2213-8587(14)70059-2
- Di Lullo L, Gorini A, Russo D, Santoboni A, Ronco C. Left ventricular hypertrophy in chronic kidney disease patients: from pathophysiology to treatment. *Cardiorenal Med.* (2015) 5:254–66. doi: 10.1159/000435838
- Weber TJ, Liu S, Indridason OS, Quarles LD. Serum FGF23 levels in normal and disordered phosphorus homeostasis. J Bone Miner Res. (2003) 18:1227– 34. doi: 10.1359/jbmr.2003.18.7.1227
- Jonsson KB, Zahradnik R, Larsson T, White KE, Sugimoto T, Imanishi Y, et al. Fibroblast growth factor 23 in oncogenic osteomalacia and X-linked hypophosphatemia. N Engl J Med. (2003) 348:1656–63. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa020881
- 12. Larsson T, Nisbeth U, Ljunggren O, Juppner H, Jonsson KB. Circulating concentration of FGF-23 increases as renal function declines in patients with chronic kidney disease, but does not change in response to variation in phosphate intake in healthy volunteers. *Kidney Int.* (2003) 64:2272–9. doi: 10.1046/j.1523-1755.2003.00328.x
- Isakova T, Xie H, Yang W, Xie D, Anderson AH, Scialla J, et al. Fibroblast growth factor 23 and risks of mortality and end-stage renal disease in patients with chronic kidney disease. *JAMA* (2011) 305:2432–9. doi: 10.1001/jama.2011.826

to what degree cardiomyocytes may themselves produce FGF-23 in health and disease, whether such locally produced FGF-23 has a physiological role in (acute) myocardial damage; and whether or not (systemic) FGF23 excess itself directly drives the development of myocardial damage. Only when these questions have been answered, can we try to discuss whether and how to intervene on serum FGF-23 level.

# **AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS**

All authors listed have made a substantial, direct and intellectual contribution to the work, and approved it for publication.

- Seiler S, Rogacev KS, Roth HJ, Shafein P, Emrich I, Neuhaus S, et al. Associations of FGF-23 and sKlotho with cardiovascular outcomes among patients with CKD stages 2-4. *Clin J Am Soc Nephrol.* (2014) 9:1049–58. doi: 10.2215/CJN.07870713
- Gutierrez OM, Mannstadt M, Isakova T, Rauh-Hain JA, Tamez H, Shah A, et al. Fibroblast growth factor 23 and mortality among patients undergoing hemodialysis. N Engl J Med. (2008) 359:584–92. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa0706130
- Parker BD, Schurgers LJ, Brandenburg VM, Christenson RH, Vermeer C, Ketteler M, et al. The associations of fibroblast growth factor 23 and uncarboxylated matrix Gla protein with mortality in coronary artery disease: the Heart and Soul Study. Ann Intern Med. (2010) 152:640–8. doi: 10.7326/0003-4819-152-10-201005180-00004
- Brandenburg VM, Kleber ME, Vervloet MG, Tomaschitz A, Pilz S, Stojakovic T, et al. Fibroblast growth factor 23 (FGF23) and mortality: the Ludwigshafen Risk and Cardiovascular Health Study. *Atherosclerosis* (2014) 237:53–9. doi: 10.1016/j.atherosclerosis.2014.08.037
- Souma N, Isakova T, Lipiszko D, Sacco RL, Elkind MS, DeRosa JT, et al. Fibroblast growth factor 23 and cause-specific mortality in the general population: the Northern Manhattan study. *J Clin Endocrinol Metab.* (2016) 101:3779–86. doi: 10.1210/jc.2016-2215
- Olauson H, Vervloet MG, Cozzolino M, Massy ZA, Urena Torres P, Larsson TE. New insights into the FGF23-Klotho axis. *Semin Nephrol.* (2014) 34:586– 97. doi: 10.1016/j.semnephrol.2014.09.005
- Scialla JJ, Xie H, Rahman M, Anderson AH, Isakova T, Ojo A, et al. Fibroblast growth factor-23 and cardiovascular events in CKD. J Am Soc Nephrol. (2014) 25:349–60. doi: 10.1681/ASN.2013050465
- Grabner A, Amaral AP, Schramm K, Singh S, Sloan A, Yanucil C, et al. Activation of cardiac fibroblast growth factor receptor 4 causes left ventricular hypertrophy. *Cell Metab.* (2015) 22:1020–32. doi: 10.1016/j.cmet.2015.09.002
- Hu MC, Shiizaki K, Kuro-o M, Moe OW. Fibroblast growth factor 23 and Klotho: physiology and pathophysiology of an endocrine network of mineral metabolism. *Annu Rev Physiol.* (2013) 75:503–33. doi: 10.1146/annurev-physiol-030212-183727
- Kovesdy CP, Quarles LD. FGF23 from bench to bedside. Am J Physiol Renal Physiol. (2016) 310:F1168–74. doi: 10.1152/ajprenal.00606.2015
- Andrukhova O, Slavic S, Smorodchenko A, Zeitz U, Shalhoub V, Lanske B, et al. FGF23 regulates renal sodium handling and blood pressure. *EMBO Mol Med.* (2014) 6:744–59. doi: 10.1002/emmm.201303716
- Andrukhova O, Smorodchenko A, Egerbacher M, Streicher C, Zeitz U, Goetz R, et al. FGF23 promotes renal calcium reabsorption through the TRPV5 channel. *EMBO J.* (2014) 33:229–46. doi: 10.1002/embj.201284188
- 26. de Borst MH, Vervloet MG, ter Wee PM, Navis G. Cross talk between the renin-angiotensin-aldosterone system and vitamin D-FGF-23klotho in chronic kidney disease. J Am Soc Nephrol. (2011) 22:1603–9. doi: 10.1681/ASN.2010121251
- Krajisnik T, Bjorklund P, Marsell R, Ljunggren O, Akerstrom G, Jonsson KB, et al. Fibroblast growth factor-23 regulates parathyroid hormone and 1alphahydroxylase expression in cultured bovine parathyroid cells. *J Endocrinol.* (2007) 195:125–31. doi: 10.1677/JOE-07-0267

- Wolf M. Update on fibroblast growth factor 23 in chronic kidney disease. *Kidney Int.* (2012) 82:737–47. doi: 10.1038/ki.2012.176
- Saito H, Maeda A, Ohtomo S, Hirata M, Kusano K, Kato S, et al. Circulating FGF-23 is regulated by 1alpha,25-dihydroxyvitamin D3 and phosphorus *in vivo. J Biol Chem.* (2005) 280:2543–9. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M408903200
- Antoniucci DM, Yamashita T, Portale AA. Dietary phosphorus regulates serum fibroblast growth factor-23 concentrations in healthy men. J Clin Endocrinol Metab. (2006) 91:3144–9. doi: 10.1210/jc.2006-0021
- David V, Francis C, Babitt JL. Ironing out the cross talk between FGF23 and inflammation. *Am J Physiol Renal Physiol.* (2017) 312:F1–8. doi: 10.1152/ajprenal.00359.2016
- Perwad F, Azam N, Zhang MY, Yamashita T, Tenenhouse HS, Portale AA. Dietary and serum phosphorus regulate fibroblast growth factor 23 expression and 1,25-dihydroxyvitamin D metabolism in mice. *Endocrinology* (2005) 146:5358–64. doi: 10.1210/en.2005-0777
- Vervloet MG, van Ittersum FJ, Buttler RM, Heijboer AC, Blankenstein MA, ter Wee PM. Effects of dietary phosphate and calcium intake on fibroblast growth factor-23. *Clin J Am Soc Nephrol.* (2011) 6:383–9. doi: 10.2215/CJN.04730510
- Burnett SM, Gunawardene SC, Bringhurst FR, Juppner H, Lee H, Finkelstein JS. Regulation of C-terminal and intact FGF-23 by dietary phosphate in men and women. J Bone Miner Res. (2006) 21:1187–96. doi: 10.1359/jbmr.060507
- 35. Lavi-Moshayoff V, Wasserman G, Meir T, Silver J, Naveh-Many T. PTH increases FGF23 gene expression and mediates the high-FGF23 levels of experimental kidney failure: a bone parathyroid feedback loop. *Am J Physiol Renal Physiol.* (2010) 299:F882–9. doi: 10.1152/ajprenal.00360.2010
- Liu S, Tang W, Zhou J, Stubbs JR, Luo Q, Pi M, et al. Fibroblast growth factor 23 is a counter-regulatory phosphaturic hormone for vitamin D. J Am Soc Nephrol. (2006) 17:1305–15. doi: 10.1681/ASN.2005111185
- 37. Zhang S, Gillihan R, He N, Fields T, Liu S, Green T, et al. Dietary phosphate restriction suppresses phosphaturia but does not prevent FGF23 elevation in a mouse model of chronic kidney disease. *Kidney Int*. (2013) 84:713–21. doi: 10.1038/ki.2013.194
- Zhang B, Umbach AT, Chen H, Yan J, Fakhri H, Fajol A, et al. Up-regulation of FGF23 release by aldosterone. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun.* (2016) 470:384–90. doi: 10.1016/j.bbrc.2016.01.034
- Wolf M, White KE. Coupling fibroblast growth factor 23 production and cleavage: iron deficiency, rickets, and kidney disease. *Curr Opin Nephrol Hypertens.* (2014) 23:411–9. doi: 10.1097/01.mnh.0000447020.74593.6f
- Bhattacharyya N, Wiench M, Dumitrescu C, Connolly BM, Bugge TH, Patel HV, et al. Mechanism of FGF23 processing in fibrous dysplasia. *J Bone Miner Res.* (2012) 27:1132–41. doi: 10.1002/jbmr.1546
- Goetz R, Nakada Y, Hu MC, Kurosu H, Wang L, Nakatani T, et al. Isolated C-terminal tail of FGF23 alleviates hypophosphatemia by inhibiting FGF23-FGFR-Klotho complex formation. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA*. (2010) 107:407–12. doi: 10.1073/pnas.0902006107
- 42. Gattineni J, Bates C, Twombley K, Dwarakanath V, Robinson ML, Goetz R, et al. FGF23 decreases renal NaPi-2a and NaPi-2c expression and induces hypophosphatemia *in vivo* predominantly via FGF receptor 1. *Am J Physiol Renal Physiol*. (2009) 297:F282–91. doi: 10.1152/ajprenal.90742.2008
- Jean G, Terrat JC, Vanel T, Hurot JM, Lorriaux C, Mayor B, et al. High levels of serum fibroblast growth factor (FGF)-23 are associated with increased mortality in long haemodialysis patients. *Nephrol Dial Transplant*. (2009) 24:2792–6. doi: 10.1093/ndt/gfp191
- 44. Udell JA, Morrow DA, Jarolim P, Sloan S, Hoffman EB, O'Donnell TF, et al. Fibroblast growth factor-23, cardiovascular prognosis, and benefit of angiotensin-converting enzyme inhibition in stable ischemic heart disease. J Am Coll Cardiol. (2014) 63:2421–8. doi: 10.1016/j.jacc.2014.03.026
- Scialla JJ, Lau WL, Reilly MP, Isakova T, Yang HY, Crouthamel MH, et al. Fibroblast growth factor 23 is not associated with and does not induce arterial calcification. *Kidney Int.* (2013) 83:1159–68. doi: 10.1038/ki.2013.3
- 46. Silswal N, Touchberry CD, Daniel DR, McCarthy DL, Zhang S, Andresen J, et al. FGF23 directly impairs endothelium-dependent vasorelaxation by increasing superoxide levels and reducing nitric oxide bioavailability. Am J Physiol Endocrinol Metab. (2014) 307:E426–36. doi: 10.1152/ajpendo.00264.2014
- 47. Wohlfahrt P, Melenovsky V, Kotrc M, Benes J, Jabor A, Franekova J, et al. Association of fibroblast growth factor-23 levels and angiotensin-converting

enzyme inhibition in chronic systolic heart failure. JACC Heart Fail. (2015) 3:829–39. doi: 10.1016/j.jchf.2015.05.012

- Desjardins L, Liabeuf S, Renard C, Lenglet A, Lemke HD, Choukroun G, et al. FGF23 is independently associated with vascular calcification but not bone mineral density in patients at various CKD stages. *Osteoporos Int.* (2012) 23:2017–25. doi: 10.1007/s00198-011-1838-0
- Di Lullo L, House A, Gorini A, Santoboni A, Russo D, Ronco C. Chronic kidney disease and cardiovascular complications. *Heart Fail Rev.* (2015) 20:259–72. doi: 10.1007/s10741-014-9460-9
- Green D, Roberts PR, New DI, Kalra PA. Sudden cardiac death in hemodialysis patients: an in-depth review. *Am J Kidney Dis.* (2011) 57:921–9. doi: 10.1053/j.ajkd.2011.02.376
- Foley RN, Parfrey PS, Harnett JD, Kent GM, Martin CJ, Murray DC, et al. Clinical and echocardiographic disease in patients starting end-stage renal disease therapy. *Kidney Int*. (1995) 47:186–92. doi: 10.1038/ki.1995.22
- Greaves SC, Gamble GD, Collins JF, Whalley GA, Sharpe DN. Determinants of left ventricular hypertrophy and systolic dysfunction in chronic renal failure. *Am J Kidney Dis.* (1994) 24:768–76. doi: 10.1016/S0272-6386(12)80670-6
- Payne J, Sharma S, De Leon D, Lu JL, Alemu F, Balogun RA, et al. Association of echocardiographic abnormalities with mortality in men with non-dialysisdependent chronic kidney disease. *Nephrol Dial Transplant*. (2012) 27:694– 700. doi: 10.1093/ndt/gfr282
- Nehgme R, Fahey JT, Smith C, Carpenter TO. Cardiovascular abnormalities in patients with X-linked hypophosphatemia. J Clin Endocrinol Metab. (1997) 82:2450–4. doi: 10.1210/jcem.82.8.4181
- Mirza MA, Larsson A, Melhus H, Lind L, Larsson TE. Serum intact FGF23 associate with left ventricular mass, hypertrophy and geometry in an elderly population. *Atherosclerosis.* (2009) 207:546–51. doi: 10.1016/j.atherosclerosis.2009.05.013
- Faul C, Amaral AP, Oskouei B, Hu MC, Sloan A, Isakova T, et al. FGF23 induces left ventricular hypertrophy. J Clin Invest. (2011) 121:4393–408. doi: 10.1172/JCI46122
- 57. Humalda JK, Riphagen IJ, Assa S, Hummel YM, Westerhuis R, Vervloet MG, et al. Fibroblast growth factor 23 correlates with volume status in haemodialysis patients and is not reduced by haemodialysis. *Nephrol Dial Transplant*. (2016) 31:1494–501. doi: 10.1093/ndt/gfv393
- Wald R, Goldstein MB, Wald RM, Harel Z, Kirpalani A, Perl J, et al. Correlates of left ventricular mass in chronic hemodialysis recipients. *Int J Cardiovasc Imaging*. (2014) 30:349–56. doi: 10.1007/s10554-013-0337-0
- Leifheit-Nestler M, Grabner A, Hermann L, Richter B, Schmitz K, Fischer DC, et al. Vitamin D treatment attenuates cardiac FGF23/FGFR4 signaling and hypertrophy in uremic rats. *Nephrol Dial Transplant*. (2017) 32:1493–503. doi: 10.1093/ndt/gfw454
- 60. Leifheit-Nestler M, Grosse Siemer R, Flasbart K, Richter B, Kirchhoff F, Ziegler WH, et al. Induction of cardiac FGF23/FGFR4 expression is associated with left ventricular hypertrophy in patients with chronic kidney disease. *Nephrol Dial Transplant*. (2016) 31:1088–99. doi: 10.1093/ndt/gfv421
- Mangos S, Amaral AP, Faul C, Juppner H, Reiser J, Wolf M. Expression of fgf23 and alphaklotho in developing embryonic tissues and adult kidney of the zebrafish, Danio rerio. *Nephrol Dial Transplant*. (2012) 27:4314–22. doi: 10.1093/ndt/gfs335
- Vered I, Vered Z, Perez JE, Jaffe AS, Whyte MP. Normal left ventricular performance in children with X-linked hypophosphatemic rickets: a Doppler echocardiography study. J Bone Miner Res. (1990) 5:469–74. doi: 10.1002/jbmr.5650050508
- Xie J, Yoon J, An SW, Kuro-o M, Huang CL. Soluble klotho protects against uremic cardiomyopathy independently of fibroblast growth factor 23 and phosphate. J Am Soc Nephrol. (2015) 26:1150–60. doi: 10.1681/ASN.2014040325
- Shimada A, Nureki O, Dohmae N, Takio K, Yokoyama S. Gene cloning, expression, crystallization and preliminary X-ray analysis of Thermus thermophilus arginyl-tRNA synthetase. *Acta Crystallogr D Biol Crystallogr.* (2001) 57:272–5. doi: 10.1107/S0907444900016255
- Touchberry CD, Green TM, Tchikrizov V, Mannix JE, Mao TF, Carney BW, et al. FGF23 is a novel regulator of intracellular calcium and cardiac contractility in addition to cardiac hypertrophy. *Am J Physiol Endocrinol Metab.* (2013) 304:E863–73. doi: 10.1152/ajpendo.00596.2012

- Richter M, Lautze HJ, Walther T, Braun T, Kostin S, Kubin T. The failing heart is a major source of circulating FGF23 via oncostatin M receptor activation. J Heart Lung Transplant. (2015) 34:1211–4. doi: 10.1016/j.healun.2015.06.007
- Richter M, Polyakova V, Gajawada P, Pöling J, Warnecke H, Braun T, et al. Oncostatin M induces FGF23 expression in cardiomyocytes. J Clin Exp Cardiol. (2012) S9:003. doi: 10.4172/2155-9880.S9-003
- Andrukhova O, Slavic S, Odorfer KI, Erben RG. Experimental Myocardial Infarction Upregulates Circulating Fibroblast Growth Factor-23. J Bone Miner Res. (2015) 30:1831–9. doi: 10.1002/jbmr.2527
- 69. Slavic S, Ford K, Modert M, Becirovic A, Handschuh S, Baierl A, et al. Genetic ablation of Fgf23 or klotho does not modulate experimental heart hypertrophy induced by pressure overload. *Sci Rep.* (2017) 7:11298. doi: 10.1038/s41598-017-10140-4
- 70. Fuernau G, Poss J, Denks D, Desch S, Heine GH, Eitel I, et al. Fibroblast growth factor 23 in acute myocardial infarction complicated by cardiogenic shock: a biomarker substudy of the Intraaortic Balloon Pump in Cardiogenic Shock II (IABP-SHOCK II) trial. *Crit Care.* (2014) 18:713. doi: 10.1186/s13054-014-0713-8
- Poss J, Mahfoud F, Seiler S, Heine GH, Fliser D, Bohm M, et al. FGF-23 is associated with increased disease severity and early mortality in cardiogenic shock. *Eur Heart J Acute Cardiovasc Care*. (2013) 2:211–8. doi: 10.1177/2048872613494025
- Andersen IA, Huntley BK, Sandberg SS, Heublein DM, Burnett JCJr. Elevation of circulating but not myocardial FGF23 in human acute decompensated heart failure. *Nephrol Dial Transplant*. (2016) 31:767–72. doi: 10.1093/ndt/gfv398

- Shalhoub V, Shatzen EM, Ward SC, Davis J, Stevens J, Bi V, et al. FGF23 neutralization improves chronic kidney disease-associated hyperparathyroidism yet increases mortality. *J Clin Invest.* (2012) 122:2543–53. doi: 10.1172/JCI61405
- 74. Yanochko GM, Vitsky A, Heyen JR, Hirakawa B, Lam JL, May J, et al. Pan-FGFR inhibition leads to blockade of FGF23 signaling, soft tissue mineralization, and cardiovascular dysfunction. *Toxicol Sci.* (2013) 135:451– 64. doi: 10.1093/toxsci/kft161
- 75. Moe SM, Chertow GM, Parfrey PS, Kubo Y, Block GA, Correa-Rotter R, et al. Cinacalcet, fibroblast growth factor-23, and cardiovascular disease in hemodialysis: the evaluation of cinacalcet HCl therapy to lower cardiovascular events (EVOLVE) trial. *Circulation* (2015) 132:27–39. doi: 10.1161/CIRCULATIONAHA.114.013876

**Conflict of Interest Statement:** The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2018 Stöhr, Schuh, Heine and Brandenburg. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





# **Corrigendum: FGF23 in Cardiovascular Disease: Innocent Bystander or Active Mediator?**

#### Robert Stöhr<sup>1\*</sup>, Alexander Schuh<sup>1</sup>, Gunnar H. Heine<sup>2</sup> and Vincent Brandenburg<sup>1</sup>

<sup>1</sup> Department of Cardiology, University Hospital of the RWTH Aachen, Aachen, Germany, <sup>2</sup> Department of Nephrology, University Hospital Homburg-Saar, Homburg, Germany

Keywords: FGF23, cardiovascular diseases, heart failure, hypertrophy, left ventricular, myocardial infarction

#### A corrigendum on

#### FGF23 in Cardiovascular Disease: Innocent Bystander or Active Mediator?

by Stöhr, R., Schuh, A., Heine, G. H., and Brandenburg, V. (2018). Front. Endocrinol. 9:351. doi: 10. 3389/fendo.2018.00351

#### Approved by:

**OPEN ACCESS** 

Frontiers in Endocrinology Editorial Office, Frontiers Media SA, Switzerland

> \*Correspondence: Robert Stöhr rstoehr@ukaachen.de

#### Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Molecular and Structural Endocrinology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Endocrinology

> **Received:** 29 June 2018 **Accepted:** 05 July 2018 **Published:** 18 July 2018

#### Citation:

Stöhr R, Schuh A, Heine GH and Brandenburg V (2018) Corrigendum: FGF23 in Cardiovascular Disease: Innocent Bystander or Active Mediator? Front. Endocrinol. 9:422. doi: 10.3389/fendo.2018.00422 In the original article, there was an error. The last paragraph contained several mistakes carried on from a previous version.

A correction has been made to the section Cardiac FGF23 Research: The Next Level, paragraph 2 and should read:

"Prior to any therapeutic intervention with the aim to minimize potentially negative FGF23 effects upon cardiac structure and function, research needs to focus on and clarify relevant unsolved issues. Just to name a few, the community needs to prove how cardiac disease induces (rather than follows) FGF-23 secretion, to what degree cardiomyocytes may themselves produce FGF-23 in health and disease, whether such locally produced FGF-23 has a physiological role in (acute) myocardial damage; and whether or not (systemic) FGF23 excess itself directly drives the development of myocardial damage. Only when these questions have been answered, can we try to discuss whether and how to intervene on serum FGF-23 level."

The authors apologize for this error and state that this does not change the scientific conclusions of the article in any way.

The original article has been updated.

**Conflict of Interest Statement:** The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2018 Stöhr, Schuh, Heine and Brandenburg. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.




## Therapeutic Interference With Vascular Calcification—Lessons From Klotho-Hypomorphic Mice and Beyond

Florian Lang<sup>1\*</sup>, Christina Leibrock<sup>1,2</sup>, Lisann Pelzl<sup>1</sup>, Meinrad Gawaz<sup>3</sup>, Burkert Pieske<sup>4,5,6</sup>, Ioana Alesutan<sup>4,5,6</sup> and Jakob Voelkl<sup>4,6</sup>

<sup>1</sup> Department of Physiology I, Eberhard Karls-University, Tübingen, Germany, <sup>2</sup> Fresenius Kabi Deutschland GmbH, Bad Homburg, Germany, <sup>3</sup> Department of Internal Medicine III, Eberhard Karls-University, Tübingen, Germany, <sup>4</sup> Department of Internal Medicine and Cardiology, Charité-Universität Medizin Berlin, Berlin, Germany, <sup>5</sup> Berlin Institute of Health (BIH), Berlin, Germany, <sup>6</sup> Partner Site Berlin, German Centre for Cardiovascular Research (DZHK), Berlin, Germany

#### **OPEN ACCESS**

#### Edited by:

Reinhold Gottfried Erben, Veterinärmedizinische Universität Wien. Austria

#### Reviewed by:

Daniel Cejka, Krankenhaus der Elisabethinen, Austria Vera Knauper, Cardiff University, United Kingdom

\*Correspondence:

Florian Lang florian.lang@uni-tuebingen.de

#### Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Molecular and Structural Endocrinology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Endocrinology

Received: 12 February 2018 Accepted: 13 April 2018 Published: 04 May 2018

#### Citation:

Lang F, Leibrock C, Pelzl L, Gawaz M, Pieske B, Alesutan I and Voelkl J (2018) Therapeutic Interference With Vascular Calcification—Lessons From Klotho-Hypomorphic Mice and Beyond. Front. Endocrinol. 9:207. doi: 10.3389/fendo.2018.00207 Medial vascular calcification, a major pathophysiological process associated with cardiovascular disease and mortality, involves osteo-/chondrogenic transdifferentiation of vascular smooth muscle cells (VSMCs). In chronic kidney disease (CKD), osteo-/ chondrogenic transdifferentiation of VSMCs and, thus, vascular calcification is mainly driven by hyperphosphatemia, resulting from impaired elimination of phosphate by the diseased kidneys. Hyperphosphatemia with subsequent vascular calcification is a hallmark of klotho-hypomorphic mice, which are characterized by rapid development of multiple age-related disorders and early death. In those animals, hyperphosphatemia results from unrestrained formation of  $1,25(OH)_2D_3$  with subsequent retention of calcium and phosphate. Analysis of klotho-hypomorphic mice and mice with vitamin D<sub>3</sub> overload uncovered several pathophysiological mechanisms participating in the orchestration of vascular calcification and several therapeutic opportunities to delay or even halt vascular calcification. The present brief review addresses the beneficial effects of bicarbonate. carbonic anhydrase inhibition, magnesium supplementation, mineralocorticoid receptor (MR) blockage, and ammonium salts. The case is made that bicarbonate is mainly effective by decreasing intestinal phosphate absorption, and that carbonic anhydrase inhibition leads to metabolic acidosis, which counteracts calcium-phosphate precipitation and VSMC transdifferentiation. Magnesium supplementation, MR blockage and ammonium salts are mainly effective by interference with osteo-/chondrogenic signaling in VSMCs. It should be pointed out that the, by far, most efficient substances are ammonium salts, which may virtually prevent vascular calcification. Future research will probably uncover further therapeutic options and, most importantly, reveal whether these observations in mice can be translated into treatment of patients suffering from vascular calcification, such as patients with CKD.

Keywords: vascular calcification, bicarbonate, carbonic anhydrase inhibitors, magnesium, mineralocorticoid receptor, ammonium salts, osteogenic signaling, phosphate

## INTRODUCTION

Medial vascular calcification is a key pathophysiological process associated with the risk of cardiovascular events in a variety of clinical conditions such as aging, diabetes, and chronic kidney disease (CKD) (1, 2). Accordingly, vascular calcification is a powerful predictor of cardiovascular and all-cause mortality (3–5). Vascular calcification in CKD results mainly from impaired renal phosphate elimination with subsequent hyperphosphatemia and precipitation of calcium-phosphate (6). Accordingly, plasma phosphate concentrations are correlated with the incidence of cardiovascular events, heart failure, and death (7, 8).

Vascular calcification results, at least in part, from an active process in vascular smooth muscle cells (VSMCs) (6). Exposure of VSMCs to enhanced extracellular phosphate concentrations is followed by osteo-/chondrogenic transdifferentiation *via* complex intracellular signaling pathways (9). Phosphate complexes with calcium to form pro-inflammatory calcium-phosphate nanoparticles (10, 11). Calcium-phosphate crystals are further involved in the formation of protein–mineral complexes, the calciprotein particles (CPPs) (12). These can transform into more toxic secondary CPPs containing crystalline calcium-phosphate (13). Osteo-/ chondrogenic signaling cascades in VSMCs can be triggered by calcium-phosphate nanoparticles and/or secondary CPPs (14–20).

Osteo-/chondrogenic signaling involves upregulation of the type III sodium-dependent phosphate transporter PIT1 (also known as SLC20A1) (21, 22). The transdifferentiated VSMCs express osteogenic transcription factors, such as MSH homeobox 2 (MSX2) and core-binding factor alpha 1 (CBFA1, also known as runt-related transcription factor 2, RUNX2) as well as chondrogenic transcription factors such as SRY-Box 9 (SOX9) (23-25) to facilitate, via various complex mechanisms, vascular tissue mineralization (1). Vascular calcification can be prevented by inhibition of CBFA1 (26). The transcription factor NFAT5 (nuclear factor of activated T-cells 5) upregulates CBFA1 expression, an effect mediated by the transcription factor SOX9 (27). Osteo-/chondrogenic reprogramming ultimately upregulates the expression and activity of tissue non-specific alkaline phosphatase (ALPL), an enzyme hydrolyzing the calcification inhibitor pyrophosphate (28). Transdifferentiated VSMCs are also able to secrete matrix vesicles to actively promote tissue mineralization (29). Vascular osteo-/chondrogenic transdifferentiation precedes vascular calcification (30) and has been observed in vasculature of CKD patients (31). Accordingly, osteo-/chondrogenic transdifferentiation predisposes vascular tissue in CKD patients to vascular calcification (32). The orchestration of vascular calcification is, however, still incompletely understood (33).

Valuable insight into mechanisms of vascular calcification was gained by analysis of the klotho-hypomorphic mice (34). Klotho is a transmembrane protein with highest expression in kidney, but also found in parathyroid glands and choroid plexus (34). The extracellular domain of klotho is cleaved off and released into blood (35). Soluble klotho confers protection of kidneys (36) and cardiovascular system (37). Klotho counteracts tissue fibrosis (38, 39), progression of CKD (38), cardiomyopathy (38), vascular calcification (38), and tumor growth (39). Klotho is in part effective by interference with TGF $\beta$ 1 signaling (39).

Klotho is required for the negative regulation of 25-hydroxyvitamin D3 1-α-hydroxylase (1-α-hydroxylase) by FGF23 and thus for inhibition of 1,25-dihydroxyvitamin D3 (1,25(OH)<sub>2</sub>D<sub>3</sub>) production (35, 40). Contrary to CKD patients, production of 1,25(OH)<sub>2</sub>D<sub>3</sub> is excessive in klotho-hypomorphic mice, resulting in elevated phosphate levels (35). Therefore, the mice suffer from severe tissue calcification, mimicking the findings in mice with renal failure (41). These mice further display a wide variety of age-related disorders and early death (34, 35). Conversely, overexpression of klotho increases the life span of mice (42). Apparently, klotho may similarly influence the life span of humans (43). Although 1,25(OH)<sub>2</sub>D<sub>3</sub> may exhibit protective effects during calcification (44), its excessive formation in klotho-hypomorphic mice increases intestinal calcium and phosphate uptake and renal phosphate retention, thus driving the phenotype and tissue calcification (35, 45). The life span of klotho-hypomorphic mice is substantially increased by vitamin D3-deficient diet (45). Moreover, klotho stimulates Na+/K+-ATPase activity (46) and lack of klotho leads to extracellular volume depletion with secondary increase of ADH and aldosterone release (40). Dehydration, in turn, downregulates klotho expression (47). Although the origin of hyperphosphatemia differs between CKD and klotho-hypomorphic mice, both lead to comparable sequelae of vascular calcification (Figure 1).

The present brief review addresses attempts to interfere with vascular calcification, premature aging and early death of klotho-hypomorphic mice and similar models. We anticipate that insights from maneuvers successful in klotho-hypomorphic mice may improve our understanding of the mechanisms underlying calcifications in patients with CKD.

#### BICARBONATE

Most CKD patients and klotho-hypomorphic mice suffer from acidosis (50, 51), which may further enhance plasma phosphate concentrations (52) and aggravate CKD (53–57). Conversely, alkali administration may slow the progression of CKD (53–56). In contrast to rats, in which metabolic acidosis has been shown to slow the progression of renal disease (58–60), in CKD patients, the deterioration of renal function is accelerated by acidosis and slowed by bicarbonate treatment (56, 61, 62).

Bicarbonate treatment of klotho-hypomorphic mice decreased tissue calcification and increased the average life span of those mice (63). Bicarbonate treatment did not significantly modify plasma concentrations of  $1,25(OH)_2D_3$  and calcium, but significantly decreased plasma phosphate concentrations and plasma aldosterone concentrations (63). Bicarbonate treatment was presumably primarily effective by decreasing intestinal phosphate absorption and renal phosphate reabsorption (63). Alkalinization of the intestinal lumen is expected to compromise phosphate solubility and absorption.

#### **CARBONIC ANHYDRASE INHIBITION**

Extracellular pH can be modified by treatment with carbonic anhydrase inhibitors, such as acetazolamide (64). The diuretic interferes with proximal tubular bicarbonate reabsorption and, thus, leads to renal bicarbonate loss and acidosis (64). Extracellular



phosphate elimination and reduced formation of calcitriol [1,25(OH)<sub>2</sub>D<sub>3</sub>]. Phosphate overload and formation of secondary calciprotein particles (CPPs) (48) induce an osteogenic remodeling of vascular smooth muscle cells (VSMCs), causing matrix-vesicle release and a pro-calcific environment and subsequent vascular mineralization. In klotho-hypomorphic mice, klotho deficiency causes an unrestrained calcitriol formation. This causes increased intestinal and renal phosphate reabsorption, increasing phosphate levels. Therefore, despite the potential anti-calcific effects of calcitriol (49), this phosphate overload exceeds the capabilities of anti-calcific mechanisms in the body and may induce a comparable osteo-/chondrogenic transdifferentiation of VSMCs. Although the origin of hyperphosphatemia differs between CKD and kl/kl mice, both presumably suffer from excessive phosphate concentrations and increased formation of secondary CPPs to induce a similar VSMC-mediated calcification.

pH has a profound effect on calcium and phosphate solubility, which is enhanced by acidification and decreased by alkalinization (65). Moreover, acidosis counteracts vascular calcification by downregulation of PIT1 expression (58, 65, 66) and inhibition of renal tubular phosphate reabsorption with increase of renal phosphate elimination (67).

Acetazolamide treatment of klotho-hypomorphic mice blunted the calcifications in trachea, lung, kidney, stomach, intestine, and vascular tissues, reversed the excessive aortic *Alpl* transcript levels as a marker of aortic osteo-/chondrogenic signaling, increased the plasma concentrations of the calcification counteracting proteins osteoprotegerin, osteopontin as well as fetuin-A (68–70) and, thus, tripled the life span despite unaltered plasma concentrations of FGF23, 1,25(OH)<sub>2</sub>D<sub>3</sub>, calcium and phosphate (64). *In vitro*, acidic medium prevented the phosphate-induced upregulation of *ALPL* mRNA expression in primary human aortic smooth muscle cells, indicating that extracellular acidosis interferes with osteo-/chondrogenic transdifferentiation of VSMCs (64). Acidic conditions may impair the formation of small calcium-phosphate complexes during hyperphosphatemia and, thus, hinder VSMC osteo-/chondrogenic transdifferentiation.

It should be kept in mind that the bicarbonaturia and, thus, systemic acidosis following carboanhydrase inhibitor treatment depends on renal function and may, thus, be lacking in CKD patients.

#### MAGNESIUM

In CKD patients, lower serum magnesium levels are associated with vascular calcification (71) and are predictive for

increased arterial stiffness and mortality (72). Previous *in vitro* studies have shown that magnesium treatment is able inhibit phosphate-induced VSMCs calcification (73–75). Magnesium is able to interfere with hydroxyapatite formation (76). Also, magnesium interferes with osteo-/chondrogenic reprogramming of VSMCs.

Experiments in mice treated with excessive levels of vitamin D<sub>3</sub>, mimicking excessive vitamin D receptor activation during klotho deficiency, revealed magnesium supplementation as a further potential treatment to reduce the progression of vascular calcification (77). Vitamin D<sub>3</sub> overload was followed by extensive vascular calcification and upregulation of aortic osteoinduction as shown by expression of the osteogenic markers *Msx2*, *Cbfa1*, and *Alpl* (77). Those effects were blunted by additional treatment with MgCl<sub>2</sub>. Vitamin D<sub>3</sub> overload upregulated the aortic expression of calcium-sensing receptor (CASR), an effect augmented by additional MgCl<sub>2</sub> supplementation (77). Magnesium can activate CASR (78) and CASR activation in VSMCs inhibits osteo-/chondrogenic remodeling and calcification (79).

Those *in vivo* observations were supported by *in vitro* experiments using primary human aortic VSMCs. Addition of MgCl<sub>2</sub> to the VSMCs cell culture medium reversed the phosphate-induced calcification and osteo-/chondrogenic signaling, effects paralleled by upregulation of CASR expression. The protective effects of MgCl<sub>2</sub> were virtually abrogated by the CASR antagonist NPS-2143 or by silencing of the CASR gene (77). Thus, magnesium supplementation may reduce the progression of vascular calcification at least in part by activating CASR. Magnesium

supplementation may thus be beneficial in CKD patients (80). Recently, a first pilot trial indicated that magnesium supplementation is safe in CKD patients and is able to reduce serum calcification propensity (81).

# MINERALOCORTICOID RECEPTOR (MR) INHIBITION

Vascular smooth muscle cells express the MR (82) and MR stimulation by aldosterone triggers the osteo-/chondrogenic signaling (82-87) by upregulation of PIT1 expression (87, 88), leading to expression of osteogenic transcription factors and enzymes and subsequent mineralization (87). Klothohypomorphic mice develop renal sodium loss and hyperaldosteronism (89). Hyperaldosteronism presumably contributes to the stimulation of vascular calcification in klotho-hypomorphic mice (40, 87, 90) and CKD patients (91). Accordingly, treatment with the MR antagonist spironolactone reduces the extent of vascular calcification in klotho-hypomorphic mice and rats with adenine-induced renal failure (88) and reduces cardio-/cerebrovascular mortality in dialysis patients (92). Spironolactone treatment of klotho-hypomorphic mice reduced aortic PIT1dependent osteoinductive signaling, but increased cystatin-C levels (87). MR blockade with spironolactone may particularly suppress the progression of vascular calcification in patients with hyperaldosteronism.

Spironolactone may be effective even at normal levels of circulating aldosterone (93, 94). Aldosterone is produced not only in adrenal glands, but in diverse tissues (95-98) including the vasculature (99). Aldosterone synthase (also known as CYP11B2) is expressed during calcifying conditions and, thus, aldosterone may be produced in VSMCs (99, 100). Vascular aldosterone production is particularly important under pathological conditions (97). Vascular aldosterone may foster development of hypertension (101). CYP11B2 is upregulated in atheroma-plaques (102) and contributes to oxidative stress (103). In accordance, high-phosphate treatment increased aldosterone synthase expression in VSMCs (90) and silencing of aldosterone synthase attenuated the phosphate-induced osteo-/ chondrogenic transdifferentiation and calcification in vitro. Similarly, aldosterone synthase expression is higher in coronary arteries from patients with impaired renal function and correlated with CBFA1 expression. Aldosterone synthase expression in VSMCs is upregulated by disruption of APEX1-dependent gene suppression (90). Accordingly, APEX1 is protective against VSMC calcification (90, 104).

Aldosterone synthase expression is similarly enhanced in klotho-hypomorphic mice (90). In those mice, aortic osteo-/ chondrogenic signaling is decreased by spironolactone, but not by adrenalectomy and in adrenalectomized klotho-hypomorphic mice, spironolactone treatment still significantly blunts aortic osteoinductive reprogramming (90).

Mineralocorticoid receptor antagonism may, thus, be a therapeutic option for hyperphosphatemic patients even in the absence of hyperaldosteronism (86). Spironolactone may further protect VSMCs in diabetes (105), which may lead to upregulation of vascular aldosterone synthase (100).

The effects of spironolactone in CKD patients are under study (106, 107). Clinical trials indicate that spironolactone treatment reduces morbidity and mortality in hemodialysis patients (92). MR inhibition may cause a transient reduction of renal function and promote hyperkalemia, but has been shown to be relatively safe in CKD patients (92, 108).

#### AMMONIUM SALTS

Besides its acidifying effect on extracellular pH (109, 110), NH<sup>4</sup><sub>4</sub> may dissociate to H<sup>+</sup> and NH<sub>3</sub> which easily crosses membranes, thus entering cells and cellular compartments (111). In acidic intracellular compartments NH<sub>3</sub> binds H<sup>+</sup> and is trapped as NH<sup>4</sup><sub>4</sub> (112). The binding of H<sup>+</sup> alkalinizes acidic cellular compartments (113) and the intracellular/intra-compartimental accumulation of NH<sup>4</sup><sub>4</sub> swells cells and acidic intracellular compartments (114–116). Cell swelling may downregulate the cell volume sensitive transcription factor NFAT5 (117, 118). Moreover, alkalinization of acidic cellular compartments may interfere with the maturation of several proteins including TGF $\beta$ 1 (119), a key factor in the regulation of osteo-/chondrogenic signaling of VSMCs (120–122).

Treatment of klotho-hypomorphic mice with NH<sub>4</sub>Cl containing drinking water prevented soft tissue and vascular calcifications and increased their life span more than 12- ( $\mathfrak{F}$ ) or 4-fold ( $\mathfrak{Q}$ ) without significantly affecting extracellular pH or plasma concentrations of 1,25(OH)<sub>2</sub>D<sub>3</sub>, calcium, and phosphate (123). Tissue calcification and aging were further delayed in klothohypomorphic mice by NH<sub>4</sub>NO<sub>3</sub> (124).

NH<sub>4</sub>Cl prevents vascular calcification apparently not by inducing acidosis. Untreated klotho-hypomorphic mice suffer from respiratory acidosis resulting from severe lung emphysema (123). NH<sub>4</sub>Cl treatment prevents the development of lung emphysema and, thus, respiratory acidosis (123). Instead, NH<sub>4</sub>Cl induces a metabolic acidosis of similar extracellular pH as in untreated mice (123).

NH<sub>4</sub>Cl treatment prevents development of extracellular volume depletion, thus normalizing ADH release and plasma aldosterone levels (40). The decrease of plasma aldosterone concentrations following NH<sub>4</sub>Cl treatment presumably contributes to the decrease of vascular calcification. However, the effect of NH<sub>4</sub>Cl on survival and calcification (123) is, by far, larger than that of aldosterone receptor blockade (87).

NH<sub>4</sub>Cl treatment is presumably mainly effective by interference with osteo-/chondrogenic transdifferentiation of VSMCs (123). In aortic tissue of klotho-hypomorphic mice and in phosphate treated VSMCs *in vitro*, NH<sub>4</sub>Cl disrupted the increased expression of osteogenic and chondrogenic markers *CBFA1* and *SOX9* and of ALPL (123). Osteo-/chondrogenic reprogramming is paralleled by VSMCs senescence (125), and thus vascular aging (126). NH<sub>4</sub>Cl treatment reversed the upregulation of *PAI-1*, *p21*, and *GLB1*, key elements in the orchestration of senescence (127). *TGF* $\beta$ 1 expression was upregulated in aortic tissue of klotho-hypomorphic mice and in phosphate treated VSMCs, which in turn triggers cellular senescence, osteo-/chondrogenic reprogramming and aging (128) and is decreased by NH<sub>4</sub>Cl treatment (123). NH<sub>4</sub>Cl further impairs maturation of TGF $\beta$ 1 (119). TGF $\beta$ 1 is a stimulator of NFAT5 expression (129). NH<sub>4</sub>Cl treatment reverses the enhanced expression of *NFAT5* in klotho-hypomorphic mice and in phosphate treated VSMCs (123). Addition of exogenous TGF $\beta$ 1 protein or NFAT5 overexpression triggers osteo-/chondrogenic reprogramming of VSMCs *in vitro*, which cannot be reversed by NH<sub>4</sub>Cl, indicating that NH<sub>4</sub>Cl is effective upstream of mature TGF $\beta$ 1 (123). NH<sub>4</sub>Cl treatment is, at least in part, effective by disrupting TGF $\beta$ 1-dependent osteo-/chondrogenic signaling (123) and, thus, vascular calcification (130).

Further *in vitro* experiments revealed that inhibition of the vacuolar H<sup>+</sup> ATPase with bafilomycin A1 or following dissipation of the pH gradient across the membranes of acidic cellular compartments with methylamine similarly disrupted



FIGURE 2 | Hypothetical mechanisms involved in the discussed treatments preventing vascular calcification. During hyperphosphatemia, phosphate complexes with calcium and forms secondary calciprotein particles, inducing osteo-/chondrogenic transdifferentiation of vascular smooth muscle cells (VSMCs), which in turn generates a pro-calcific environment and subsequent active tissue mineralization. Oral bicarbonate treatment may impair intestinal phosphate reabsorption, ameliorating hyperhosphatemia. Renal carboanhydrase inhibition causes proton retention, which may reduce the formation of calcium-phosphate nanoparticles. Magnesium may similarly directly prevent calcium-phosphate complexation and stimulates the calcium sensing receptor in VSMCs, blunting osteo-chondrogenic transdifferentiation. This transdifferentiation is also directly stimulated by aldosterone, which may be blunted by spironolactone (spiro). Ammoniumchloride leads to lysosomal (lys) alkalinization which appears to dissipate the osteo-chondrogenic transdifferentiation of VSMCs. These mechanisms may provide the basis to develop a therapeutic approach to reduce the burden of vascular calcification.

#### REFERENCES

 Shanahan CM, Crouthamel MH, Kapustin A, Giachelli CM. Arterial calcification in chronic kidney disease: key roles for calcium and phosphate. *Circ Res* (2011) 109(6):697–711. doi:10.1161/CIRCRESAHA.110. 234914 phosphate-induced TGF $\beta$ 1-dependent osteo-/chondrogenic signaling in VSMCs (131), supporting the hypothesis that vascular acidic cellular compartments are necessary for promoting vascular calcification.

A concern of NH<sub>4</sub>Cl treatment is the cerebral ammonia toxicity (114–116). However, the employed NH<sub>4</sub>Cl dosage does apparently not lead to toxic ammonia concentrations as NH<sub>4</sub>Cl treated male klotho-hypomorphic mice reached a life span close to that of untreated wild-type mice, and behavioral studies did not reveal any defect in NH<sub>4</sub>Cl treated wild-type mice (123). Needless to say, NH<sub>4</sub>Cl treatment may be hazardous in patients with hepatic failure.

## CONCLUSION

Klotho-hypomorphic mice and mice with vitamin  $D_3$  overload suffer from severe vascular calcification. Experiments in those animals shed novel light on the mechanisms orchestrating vascular calcification and led to the discovery of several powerful therapeutic opportunities (**Figure 2**). The most effective treatment turned out to be NH<sub>4</sub>Cl, but also acetazolamide, spironolactone, bicarbonate, or magnesium supplementation were able to reduce the progression of vascular calcification *in vivo*. Further studies are required to fully define advantages and disadvantages of those treatments, to possibly uncover additional therapeutic options and—most importantly—to clarify whether the successful treatments in mice can be translated into avoidance of vascular calcification in human disease, such as CKD, diabetes, and (premature) aging.

## **AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS**

All authors listed have made substantial, direct and intellectual contribution to the work, and approved it for publication.

## ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

The authors acknowledge the meticulous preparation of the manuscript by L. Subasic.

## FUNDING

Experiments in the author's laboratories were supported by the European Union Seventh Framework Programme (FP7/2007-2013-603288-SysVasc), the Deutsche Forschungsgemeinschaft (La315-15, AL2054/1-1, VO2259/2-1), Else Kröner-Fresenius-Stiftung, and the Berlin Institute of Health (BIH) Translational Postdoc Grant. The authors acknowledge support by Deutsche Forschungsgemeinschaft and Open Access Publishing Fund of University of Tübingen.

- Stabley JN, Towler DA. Arterial calcification in diabetes mellitus: preclinical models and translational implications. *Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol* (2017) 37(2):205–17. doi:10.1161/ATVBAHA.116.306258
- Blacher J, Guerin AP, Pannier B, Marchais SJ, London GM. Arterial calcifications, arterial stiffness, and cardiovascular risk in end-stage renal disease. *Hypertension* (2001) 38(4):938–42. doi:10.1161/hy1001.096358

- London GM, Guérin AP, Marchais SJ, Métivier F, Pannier B, Adda H. Arterial media calcification in end-stage renal disease: impact on all-cause and cardiovascular mortality. *Nephrol Dial Transplant* (2003) 18(9):1731–40. doi:10.1093/ndt/gfg414
- 5. Foley RN, Parfrey PS, Sarnak MJ. Epidemiology of cardiovascular disease in chronic renal disease. *J Am Soc Nephrol* (1998) 9(12 Suppl):S16–23.
- Giachelli CM. Vascular calcification: in vitro evidence for the role of inorganic phosphate. J Am Soc Nephrol (2003) 14(9 Suppl 4):S300–4. doi:10.1097/01. ASN.000081663.52165.66
- Tonelli M, Sacks F, Pfeffer M, Gao Z, Curhan G; Cholesterol and Recurrent Events Trial Investigators. Relation between serum phosphate level and cardiovascular event rate in people with coronary disease. *Circulation* (2005) 112(17):2627–33. doi:10.1161/CIRCULATIONAHA.105.553198
- Block GA, Hulbert-Shearon TE, Levin NW, Port FK. Association of serum phosphorus and calcium x phosphate product with mortality risk in chronic hemodialysis patients: a national study. *Am J Kidney Dis* (1998) 31(4):607–17. doi:10.1053/ajkd.1998.v31.pm9531176
- Steitz SA, Speer MY, Curinga G, Yang HY, Haynes P, Aebersold R, et al. Smooth muscle cell phenotypic transition associated with calcification: upregulation of Cbfa1 and downregulation of smooth muscle lineage markers. *Circ Res* (2001) 89(12):1147–54. doi:10.1161/hh2401.101070
- Dautova Y, Kozlova D, Skepper JN, Epple M, Bootman MD, Proudfoot D. Fetuin-A and albumin alter cytotoxic effects of calcium phosphate nanoparticles on human vascular smooth muscle cells. *PLoS One* (2014) 9(5):e97565. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0097565
- Dautova Y, Kapustin AN, Pappert K, Epple M, Okkenhaug H, Cook SJ, et al. Calcium phosphate particles stimulate interleukin-1beta release from human vascular smooth muscle cells: a role for spleen tyrosine kinase and exosome release. J Mol Cell Cardiol (2018) 115:82–93. doi:10.1016/j.yjmcc. 2017.12.007
- Paloian NJ, Giachelli CM. A current understanding of vascular calcification in CKD. Am J Physiol Renal Physiol (2014) 307(8):F891–900. doi:10.1152/ ajprenal.00163.2014
- Hocher B, Pasch A. Hope for CKD-MBD patients: new diagnostic approaches for better treatment of CKD-MBD. *Kidney Dis (Basel)* (2017) 3(1):8–14. doi:10.1159/000477244
- Pasch A. Novel assessments of systemic calcification propensity. Curr Opin NephrolHypertens(2016)25(4):278–84.doi:10.1097/MNH.00000000000237
- Holt SG, Smith ER. Fetuin-A-containing calciprotein particles in mineral trafficking and vascular disease. *Nephrol Dial Transplant* (2016) 31(10): 1583–7. doi:10.1093/ndt/gfw048
- Kuro OM. A phosphate-centric paradigm for pathophysiology and therapy of chronic kidney disease. *Kidney Int Suppl (2011)* (2013) 3(5):420–6. doi:10.1038/kisup.2013.88
- Brylka L, Jahnen-Dechent W. The role of fetuin-A in physiological and pathological mineralization. *Calcif Tissue Int* (2013) 93(4):355–64. doi:10.1007/ s00223-012-9690-6
- Herrmann M, Kinkeldey A, Jahnen-Dechent W. Fetuin-A function in systemic mineral metabolism. *Trends Cardiovasc Med* (2012) 22(8):197–201. doi:10.1016/j.tcm.2012.07.020
- Jahnen-Dechent W, Heiss A, Schäfer C, Ketteler M. Fetuin-A regulation of calcified matrix metabolism. *Circ Res* (2011) 108(12):1494–509. doi:10.1161/ CIRCRESAHA.110.234260
- Aghagolzadeh M, Hochberg LR, Cash SS, Truccolo W. Predicting seizures from local field potentials recorded via intracortical microelectrode arrays. *Conf Proc IEEE Eng Med Biol Soc* (2016) 2016:6353–6. doi:10.1109/ EMBC.2016.7592181
- Li X, Yang HY, Giachelli CM. Role of the sodium-dependent phosphate cotransporter, Pit-1, in vascular smooth muscle cell calcification. *Circ Res* (2006) 98(7):905–12. doi:10.1161/01.RES.0000216409.20863.e7
- Masuda M, Miyazaki-Anzai S, Keenan AL, Shiozaki Y, Okamura K, Chick WS, et al. Activating transcription factor-4 promotes mineralization in vascular smooth muscle cells. *JCI Insight* (2016) 1(18):e88646. doi:10.1172/jci.insight. 88646
- Shroff RC, McNair R, Figg N, Skepper JN, Schurgers L, Gupta A, et al. Dialysis accelerates medial vascular calcification in part by triggering smooth muscle cell apoptosis. *Circulation* (2008) 118(17):1748–57. doi:10.1161/ CIRCULATIONAHA.108.783738

- Shao JS, Cheng SL, Pingsterhaus JM, Charlton-Kachigian N, Loewy AP, Towler DA. Msx2 promotes cardiovascular calcification by activating paracrine Wnt signals. J Clin Invest (2005) 115(5):1210–20. doi:10.1172/JCI24140
- Xu Z, Ji G, Shen J, Wang X, Zhou J, Li L. SOX9 and myocardin counteract each other in regulating vascular smooth muscle cell differentiation. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun* (2012) 422(2):285–90. doi:10.1016/j.bbrc.2012.04.149
- Lin ME, Chen TM, Wallingford MC, Nguyen NB, Yamada S, Sawangmake C, et al. Runx2 deletion in smooth muscle cells inhibits vascular osteochondrogenesis and calcification but not atherosclerotic lesion formation. *Cardiovasc Res* (2016) 112(2):606–16. doi:10.1093/cvr/cvw205
- Caron MM, van der Windt AE, Emans PJ, van Rhijn LW, Jahr H, Welting TJ. Osmolarity determines the in vitro chondrogenic differentiation capacity of progenitor cells via nuclear factor of activated T-cells 5. *Bone* (2013) 53(1):94–102. doi:10.1016/j.bone.2012.11.032
- Sheen CR, Kuss P, Narisawa S, Yadav MC, Nigro J, Wang W, et al. Pathophysiological role of vascular smooth muscle alkaline phosphatase in medial artery calcification. *J Bone Miner Res* (2015) 30(5):824–36. doi:10.1002/jbmr.2420
- Chen NX, Moe SM. Pathophysiology of vascular calcification. Curr Osteoporos Rep (2015) 13(6):372–80. doi:10.1007/s11914-015-0293-9
- Pai A, Leaf EM, El-Abbadi M, Giachelli CM. Elastin degradation and vascular smooth muscle cell phenotype change precede cell loss and arterial medial calcification in a uremic mouse model of chronic kidney disease. *Am J Pathol* (2011) 178(2):764–73. doi:10.1016/j.ajpath.2010.10.006
- Koleganova N, Piecha G, Ritz E, Schirmacher P, Müller A, Meyer HP, et al. Arterial calcification in patients with chronic kidney disease. *Nephrol Dial Transplant* (2009) 24(8):2488–96. doi:10.1093/ndt/gfp137
- Shroff RC, McNair R, Skepper JN, Figg N, Schurgers LJ, Deanfield J, et al. Chronic mineral dysregulation promotes vascular smooth muscle cell adaptation and extracellular matrix calcification. *J Am Soc Nephrol* (2010) 21(1):103–12. doi:10.1681/ASN.2009060640
- Mizobuchi M, Towler D, Slatopolsky E. Vascular calcification: the killer of patients with chronic kidney disease. J Am Soc Nephrol (2009) 20(7):1453–64. doi:10.1681/ASN.2008070692
- Kuro-o M, Matsumura Y, Aizawa H, Kawaguchi H, Suga T, Utsugi T, et al. Mutation of the mouse klotho gene leads to a syndrome resembling ageing. *Nature* (1997) 390(6655):45–51. doi:10.1038/36285
- Kuro-o M. Klotho, phosphate and FGF-23 in ageing and disturbed mineral metabolism. Nat Rev Nephrol (2013) 9(11):650–60. doi:10.1038/ nrneph.2013.111
- Neyra JA, Hu MC. Potential application of klotho in human chronic kidney disease. *Bone* (2017) 100:41–9. doi:10.1016/j.bone.2017.01.017
- Xie J, Yoon J, An SW, Kuro-o M, Huang CL. Soluble klotho protects against uremic cardiomyopathy independently of fibroblast growth factor 23 and phosphate. J Am Soc Nephrol (2015) 26(5):1150–60. doi:10.1681/ ASN.2014040325
- Lu X, Hu MC. Klotho/FGF23 axis in chronic kidney disease and cardiovascular disease. *Kidney Dis (Basel)* (2017) 3(1):15–23. doi:10.1159/000452880
- Mencke R, Olauson H, Hillebrands JL. Effects of klotho on fibrosis and cancer: a renal focus on mechanisms and therapeutic strategies. *Adv Drug Deliv Rev* (2017) 121:85–100. doi:10.1016/j.addr.2017.07.009
- Fischer SS, Kempe DS, Leibrock CB, Rexhepaj R, Siraskar B, Boini KM, et al. Hyperaldosteronism in klotho-deficient mice. *Am J Physiol Renal Physiol* (2010) 299(5):F1171–7. doi:10.1152/ajprenal.00233.2010
- Alesutan I, Feger M, Tuffaha R, Castor T, Musculus K, Buehling SS, et al. Augmentation of phosphate-induced osteo-/chondrogenic transformation of vascular smooth muscle cells by homoarginine. *Cardiovasc Res* (2016) 110(3):408–18. doi:10.1093/cvr/cvw062
- Kurosu H, Yamamoto M, Clark JD, Pastor JV, Nandi A, Gurnani P, et al. Suppression of aging in mice by the hormone klotho. *Science* (2005) 309(5742):1829–33. doi:10.1126/science.1112766
- 43. Invidia L, Salvioli S, Altilia S, Pierini M, Panourgia MP, Monti D, et al. The frequency of klotho KL-VS polymorphism in a large Italian population, from young subjects to centenarians, suggests the presence of specific time windows for its effect. *Biogerontology* (2010) 11(1):67–73. doi:10.1007/s10522-009-9229-z
- 44. Lau WL, Leaf EM, Hu MC, Takeno MM, Kuro-o M, Moe OW, et al. Vitamin D receptor agonists increase klotho and osteopontin while decreasing aortic

calcification in mice with chronic kidney disease fed a high phosphate diet. *Kidney Int* (2012) 82(12):1261–70. doi:10.1038/ki.2012.322

- 45. Tsujikawa H, Kurotaki Y, Fujimori T, Fukuda K, Nabeshima Y. Klotho, a gene related to a syndrome resembling human premature aging, functions in a negative regulatory circuit of vitamin D endocrine system. *Mol Endocrinol* (2003) 17(12):2393–403. doi:10.1210/me.2003-0048
- Sopjani M, Alesutan I, Dërmaku-Sopjani M, Gu S, Zelenak C, Munoz C, et al. Regulation of the Na+/K+ ATPase by klotho. *FEBS Lett* (2011) 585(12):1759–64. doi:10.1016/j.febslet.2011.05.021
- Tang C, Pathare G, Michael D, Fajol A, Eichenmüller M, Lang F. Downregulation of klotho expression by dehydration. *Am J Physiol Renal Physiol* (2011) 301(4):F745–50. doi:10.1152/ajprenal.00037.2011
- Smith ER, Hewitson TD, Hanssen E, Holt SG. Biochemical transformation of calciprotein particles in uraemia. *Bone* (2018) 110:355–67. doi:10.1016/j. bone.2018.02.023
- Mathew S, Lund RJ, Chaudhary LR, Geurs T, Hruska KA. Vitamin D receptor activators can protect against vascular calcification. J Am Soc Nephrol (2008) 19(8):1509–19. doi:10.1681/ASN.2007080902
- Alexander RT, Woudenberg-Vrenken TE, Buurman J, Dijkman H, van der Eerden BC, van Leeuwen JP, et al. Klotho prevents renal calcium loss. J Am Soc Nephrol (2009) 20(11):2371–9. doi:10.1681/ASN.2008121273
- Kovesdy CP. Metabolic acidosis and kidney disease: does bicarbonate therapy slow the progression of CKD? *Nephrol Dial Transplant* (2012) 27(8):3056–62. doi:10.1093/ndt/gfs291
- Barsotti G, Lazzeri M, Cristofano C, Cerri M, Lupetti S, Giovannetti S. The role of metabolic acidosis in causing uremic hyperphosphatemia. *Miner Electrolyte Metab* (1986) 12(2):103–6.
- Loniewski I, Wesson DE. Bicarbonate therapy for prevention of chronic kidney disease progression. *Kidney Int* (2014) 85(3):529–35. doi:10.1038/ ki.2013.401
- Nath KA, Hostetter MK, Hostetter TH. Pathophysiology of chronic tubulointerstitial disease in rats. Interactions of dietary acid load, ammonia, and complement component C3. J Clin Invest (1985) 76(2):667–75. doi:10.1172/ JCI112020
- Phisitkul S, Hacker C, Simoni J, Tran RM, Wesson DE. Dietary protein causes a decline in the glomerular filtration rate of the remnant kidney mediated by metabolic acidosis and endothelin receptors. *Kidney Int* (2008) 73(2):192–9. doi:10.1038/sj.ki.5002647
- Wesson DE, Jo CH, Simoni J. Angiotensin II receptors mediate increased distal nephron acidification caused by acid retention. *Kidney Int* (2012) 82(11):1184–94. doi:10.1038/ki.2012.267
- Torres VE, Mujwid DK, Wilson DM, Holley KH. Renal cystic disease and ammoniagenesis in Han:SPRD rats. J Am Soc Nephrol (1994) 5(5):1193–200.
- Mendoza FJ, Lopez I, Montes de Oca A, Perez J, Rodriguez M, Aguilera-Tejero E. Metabolic acidosis inhibits soft tissue calcification in uremic rats. *Kidney Int* (2008) 73(4):407–14. doi:10.1038/sj.ki.5002646
- Jara A, Felsenfeld AJ, Bover J, Kleeman CR. Chronic metabolic acidosis in azotemic rats on a high-phosphate diet halts the progression of renal disease. *Kidney Int* (2000) 58(3):1023–32. doi:10.1046/j.1523-1755.2000.00260.x
- Jara A, Chacón C, Ibaceta M, Valdivieso A, Felsenfeld AJ. Effect of ammonium chloride and dietary phosphorus in the azotaemic rat. I. Renal function and biochemical changes. *Nephrol Dial Transplant* (2004) 19(8):1986–92. doi:10.1093/ndt/gfh311
- Dobre M, Rahman M, Hostetter TH. Current status of bicarbonate in CKD. J Am Soc Nephrol (2015) 26(3):515–23. doi:10.1681/ASN.2014020205
- de Brito-Ashurst I, Varagunam M, Raftery MJ, Yaqoob MM. Bicarbonate supplementation slows progression of CKD and improves nutritional status. *J Am Soc Nephrol* (2009) 20(9):2075–84. doi:10.1681/ASN.2008111205
- Leibrock CB, Voelkl J, Kohlhofer U, Quintanilla-Martinez L, Kuro-O M, Lang F. Bicarbonate-sensitive calcification and lifespan of klotho-deficient mice. *Am J Physiol Renal Physiol* (2016) 310(1):F102–8. doi:10.1152/ajprenal. 00037.2015
- Leibrock CB, Alesutan I, Voelkl J, Michael D, Castor T, Kohlhofer U, et al. Acetazolamide sensitive tissue calcification and aging of klotho-hypomorphic mice. J Mol Med (Berl) (2016) 94(1):95–106. doi:10.1007/s00109-015-1331-x
- 65. Yonova D. Vascular calcification and metabolic acidosis in end stage renal disease. *Hippokratia* (2009) 13(3):139–40.

- Villa-Bellosta R, Sorribas V. Compensatory regulation of the sodium/phosphate cotransporters NaPi-IIc (SCL34A3) and Pit-2 (SLC20A2) during Pi deprivation and acidosis. *Pflugers Arch* (2010) 459(3):499–508. doi:10.1007/ s00424-009-0746-z
- Biber J, Hernando N, Forster I, Murer H. Regulation of phosphate transport in proximal tubules. *Pflugers Arch* (2009) 458(1):39–52. doi:10.1007/ s00424-008-0580-8
- Voelkl J, Pakladok T, Lin Y, Viereck R, Lebedeva A, Kukuk D, et al. Up-regulation of hepatic alpha-2-HS-glycoprotein transcription by testosterone via androgen receptor activation. *Cell Physiol Biochem* (2014) 33(6):1911–20. doi:10.1159/000362968
- Zhou S, Fang X, Xin H, Li W, Qiu H, Guan S. Osteoprotegerin inhibits calcification of vascular smooth muscle cell via down regulation of the notch1-RBP-Jkappa/Msx2 signaling pathway. *PLoS One* (2013) 8(7):e68987. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0068987
- Paloian NJ, Leaf EM, Giachelli CM. Osteopontin protects against high phosphate-induced nephrocalcinosis and vascular calcification. *Kidney Int* (2016) 89(5):1027–36. doi:10.1016/j.kint.2015.12.046
- Meema HE, Oreopoulos DG, Rapoport A. Serum magnesium level and arterial calcification in end-stage renal disease. *Kidney Int* (1987) 32(3):388–94. doi:10.1038/ki.1987.222
- João Matias P, Azevedo A, Laranjinha I, Navarro D, Mendes M, Ferreira C, et al. Lower serum magnesium is associated with cardiovascular risk factors and mortality in haemodialysis patients. *Blood Purif* (2014) 38(3–4):244–52. doi:10.1159/000366124
- 73. Louvet L, Metzinger L, Büchel J, Steppan S, Massy ZA. Magnesium attenuates phosphate-induced deregulation of a microRNA signature and prevents modulation of Smad1 and osterix during the course of vascular calcification. *Biomed Res Int* (2016) 2016:7419524. doi:10.1155/2016/7419524
- Louvet L, Bazin D, Büchel J, Steppan S, Passlick-Deetjen J, Massy ZA. Characterisation of calcium phosphate crystals on calcified human aortic vascular smooth muscle cells and potential role of magnesium. *PLoS One* (2015) 10(1):e0115342. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0115342
- Montezano AC, Zimmerman D, Yusuf H, Burger D, Chignalia AZ, Wadhera V, et al. Vascular smooth muscle cell differentiation to an osteogenic phenotype involves TRPM7 modulation by magnesium. *Hypertension* (2010) 56(3):453–62. doi:10.1161/HYPERTENSIONAHA.110.152058
- Ter Braake AD, Tinnemans PT, Shanahan CM, Hoenderop JGJ, de Baaij JHF. Magnesium prevents vascular calcification in vitro by inhibition of hydroxyapatite crystal formation. *Sci Rep* (2018) 8(1):2069. doi:10.1038/s41598-018-20241-3
- 77. Alesutan I, Tuffaha R, Auer T, Feger M, Pieske B, Lang F, et al. Inhibition of osteo/chondrogenic transformation of vascular smooth muscle cells by MgCl2 via calcium-sensing receptor. *J Hypertens* (2017) 35(3):523–32. doi:10.1097/HJH.00000000001202
- Saidak Z, Brazier M, Kamel S, Mentaverri R. Agonists and allosteric modulators of the calcium-sensing receptor and their therapeutic applications. *Mol Pharmacol* (2009) 76(6):1131–44. doi:10.1124/mol.109.058784
- Molostvov G, Hiemstra TF, Fletcher S, Bland R, Zehnder D. Arterial expression of the calcium-sensing receptor is maintained by physiological pulsation and protects against calcification. *PLoS One* (2015) 10(10):e0138833. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0138833
- Apetrii M, Covic A, Massy ZA. Magnesium supplementation: a consideration in dialysis patients. *Semin Dial* (2018) 31(1):11–4. doi:10.1111/sdi.12653
- Bressendorff I, Hansen D, Schou M, Silver B, Pasch A, Bouchelouche P, et al. Oral magnesium supplementation in chronic kidney disease stages 3 and 4: efficacy, safety, and effect on serum calcification propensity-A prospective randomized double-blinded placebo-controlled clinical trial. *Kidney Int Rep* (2017) 2(3):380–9. doi:10.1016/j.ekir.2016.12.008
- Jaffe IZ, Mendelsohn ME. Angiotensin II and aldosterone regulate gene transcription via functional mineralocortocoid receptors in human coronary artery smooth muscle cells. *Circ Res* (2005) 96(6):643–50. doi:10.1161/01. RES.0000159937.05502.d1
- Jaffe IZ, Tintut Y, Newfell BG, Demer LL, Mendelsohn ME. Mineralocorticoid receptor activation promotes vascular cell calcification. *Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol* (2007) 27(4):799–805. doi:10.1161/01. ATV.0000258414.59393.89

- Wu SY, Yu YR, Cai Y, Jia LX, Wang X, Xiao CS, et al. Endogenous aldosterone is involved in vascular calcification in rat. *Exp Biol Med (Maywood)* (2012) 237(1):31–7. doi:10.1258/ebm.2011.011175
- Lang F, Ritz E, Alesutan I, Voelkl J. Impact of aldosterone on osteoinductive signaling and vascular calcification. *Nephron Physiol* (2014) 128(1–2):40–5. doi:10.1159/000368268
- Lang F, Ritz E, Voelkl J, Alesutan I. Vascular calcification is aldosterone a culprit? *Nephrol Dial Transplant* (2013) 28(5):1080–4. doi:10.1093/ndt/ gft041
- Voelkl J, Alesutan I, Leibrock CB, Quintanilla-Martinez L, Kuhn V, Feger M, et al. Spironolactone ameliorates PIT1-dependent vascular osteoinduction in klotho-hypomorphic mice. J Clin Invest (2013) 123(2):812–22. doi:10.1172/ JCI64093
- Tatsumoto N, Yamada S, Tokumoto M, Eriguchi M, Noguchi H, Torisu K, et al. Spironolactone ameliorates arterial medial calcification in uremic rats: the role of mineralocorticoid receptor signaling in vascular calcification. *Am J Physiol Renal Physiol* (2015) 309(11):F967–79. doi:10.1152/ajprenal. 00669.2014
- Andrukhova O, Slavic S, Smorodchenko A, Zeitz U, Shalhoub V, Lanske B, et al. FGF23 regulates renal sodium handling and blood pressure. *EMBO Mol Med* (2014) 6(6):744–59. doi:10.1002/emmm.201303716
- Alesutan I, Voelkl J, Feger M, Kratschmar DV, Castor T, Mia S, et al. Involvement of vascular aldosterone synthase in phosphate-induced osteogenic transformation of vascular smooth muscle cells. *Sci Rep* (2017) 7(1):2059. doi:10.1038/s41598-017-01882-2
- Hené RJ, Boer P, Koomans HA, Mees EJ. Plasma aldosterone concentrations in chronic renal disease. *Kidney Int* (1982) 21(1):98–101. doi:10.1038/ ki.1982.14
- Matsumoto Y, Mori Y, Kageyama S, Arihara K, Sugiyama T, Ohmura H, et al. Spironolactone reduces cardiovascular and cerebrovascular morbidity and mortality in hemodialysis patients. *J Am Coll Cardiol* (2014) 63(6):528–36. doi:10.1016/j.jacc.2013.09.056
- 93. Ando K, Ohtsu H, Uchida S, Kaname S, Arakawa Y, Fujita T, et al. Antialbuminuric effect of the aldosterone blocker eplerenone in non-diabetic hypertensive patients with albuminuria: a double-blind, randomised, placebo-controlled trial. *Lancet Diabetes Endocrinol* (2014) 2(12):944–53. doi:10.1016/S2213-8587(14)70194-9
- Toyonaga J, Tsuruya K, Ikeda H, Noguchi H, Yotsueda H, Fujisaki K, et al. Spironolactone inhibits hyperglycemia-induced podocyte injury by attenuating ROS production. *Nephrol Dial Transplant* (2011) 26(8):2475–84. doi:10.1093/ndt/gfq750
- Slight SH, Joseph J, Ganjam VK, Weber KT. Extra-adrenal mineralocorticoids and cardiovascular tissue. J Mol Cell Cardiol (1999) 31(6):1175–84. doi:10.1006/jmcc.1999.0963
- Le Goascogne C, Robel P, Gouézou M, Sananès N, Baulieu EE, Waterman M. Neurosteroids: cytochrome P-450scc in rat brain. *Science* (1987) 237(4819): 1212–5. doi:10.1126/science.3306919
- Gomez-Sanchez CE, Gomez-Sanchez EP. Editorial: cardiac steroidogenesis new sites of synthesis, or much ado about nothing? *J Clin Endocrinol Metab* (2001) 86(11):5118–20. doi:10.1210/jc.86.11.5118
- Xue C, Siragy HM. Local renal aldosterone system and its regulation by salt, diabetes, and angiotensin II type 1 receptor. *Hypertension* (2005) 46(3):584–90. doi:10.1161/01.HYP.0000175814.18550.c0
- Hatakeyama H, Miyamori I, Fujita T, Takeda Y, Takeda R, Yamamoto H. Vascular aldosterone. Biosynthesis and a link to angiotensin II-induced hypertrophy of vascular smooth muscle cells. *J Biol Chem* (1994) 269(39):24316–20.
- 100. Matsuzawa Y, Suematsu S, Saito J, Omura M, Nishikawa T. Vascular aldosterone production at the pre-diabetic stage of young Otsuka Long-Evans Tokushima Fatty (OLETF) rats, compared with Long-Evans Tokushima Otsuka (LETO) rats. *Molecules* (2013) 18(12):15636–47. doi:10.3390/ molecules181215636
- 101. Takeda Y, Miyamori I, Inaba S, Furukawa K, Hatakeyama H, Yoneda T, et al. Vascular aldosterone in genetically hypertensive rats. *Hypertension* (1997) 29(1 Pt 1):45–8. doi:10.1161/01.HYP.29.1.45
- 102. Ayari H, Legedz L, Cerutti C, Lantelme P, Feugier P, Gustin MP, et al. Mutual amplification of corticosteroids and angiotensin systems in human vascular smooth muscle cells and carotid atheroma. J Mol Med (Berl) (2014) 92(11):1201–8. doi:10.1007/s00109-014-1193-7

- 103. Ohmine T, Miwa Y, Takahashi-Yanaga F, Morimoto S, Maehara Y, Sasaguri T. The involvement of aldosterone in cyclic stretch-mediated activation of NADPH oxidase in vascular smooth muscle cells. *Hypertens Res* (2009) 32(8):690–9. doi:10.1038/hr.2009.76
- 104. Lee KM, Lee EO, Lee YR, Joo HK, Park MS, Kim CS, et al. APE1/Ref-1 inhibits phosphate-induced calcification and osteoblastic phenotype changes in vascular smooth muscle cells. *Int J Mol Sci* (2017) 18(10):2053. doi:10.3390/ ijms18102053
- 105. Silva MA, Bruder-Nascimento T, Cau SB, Lopes RA, Mestriner FL, Fais RS, et al. Spironolactone treatment attenuates vascular dysfunction in type 2 diabetic mice by decreasing oxidative stress and restoring NO/GC signaling. *Front Physiol* (2015) 6:269. doi:10.3389/fphys.2015.00269
- 106. Hill NR, Lasserson D, Thompson B, Perera-Salazar R, Wolstenholme J, Bower P, et al. Benefits of aldosterone receptor antagonism in chronic kidney disease (BARACK D) trial-a multi-centre, prospective, randomised, open, blinded end-point, 36-month study of 2,616 patients within primary care with stage 3b chronic kidney disease to compare the efficacy of spironolactone 25 mg once daily in addition to routine care on mortality and cardiovascular outcomes versus routine care alone: study protocol for a randomized controlled trial. *Trials* (2014) 15:160. doi:10.1186/1745-6215-15-160
- 107. Ng KP, Jain P, Heer G, Redman V, Chagoury OL, Dowswell G, et al. Spironolactone to prevent cardiovascular events in early-stage chronic kidney disease (STOP-CKD): study protocol for a randomized controlled pilot trial. *Trials* (2014) 15:158. doi:10.1186/1745-6215-15-158
- Bianchi S, Bigazzi R, Campese VM. Long-term effects of spironolactone on proteinuria and kidney function in patients with chronic kidney disease. *Kidney Int* (2006) 70(12):2116–23. doi:10.1038/sj.ki.5001854
- 109. Nowik M, Kampik NB, Mihailova M, Eladari D, Wagner CA. Induction of metabolic acidosis with ammonium chloride (NH4Cl) in mice and rats – species differences and technical considerations. *Cell Physiol Biochem* (2010) 26(6):1059–72. doi:10.1159/000323984
- 110. Mohebbi N, Perna A, van der Wijst J, Becker HM, Capasso G, Wagner CA. Regulation of two renal chloride transporters, AE1 and pendrin, by electrolytes and aldosterone. *PLoS One* (2013) 8(1):e55286. doi:10.1371/journal. pone.0055286
- 111. Roos A, Boron WF. Intracellular pH. Physiol Rev (1981) 61(2):296–434. doi:10.1152/physrev.1981.61.2.296
- 112. Ling H, Ardjomand P, Samvakas S, Simm A, Busch GL, Lang F, et al. Mesangial cell hypertrophy induced by NH4Cl: role of depressed activities of cathepsins due to elevated lysosomal pH. *Kidney Int* (1998) 53(6):1706–12. doi:10.1046/j.1523-1755.1998.00952.x
- 113. Völkl H, Friedrich F, Häussinger D, Lang F. Effect of cell volume on acridine orange fluorescence in hepatocytes. *Biochem J* (1993) 295(Pt 1):11–4. doi:10.1042/bj2950011
- 114. Haussinger D, Gorg B. Interaction of oxidative stress, astrocyte swelling and cerebral ammonia toxicity. *Curr Opin Clin Nutr Metab Care* (2010) 13(1):87–92. doi:10.1097/MCO.0b013e328333b829
- Jayakumar AR, Norenberg MD. The Na-K-Cl Co-transporter in astrocyte swelling. *Metab Brain Dis* (2010) 25(1):31–8. doi:10.1007/s11011-010-9180-3
- Pasantes-Morales H, Vazquez-Juarez E. Transporters and channels in cytotoxic astrocyte swelling. *Neurochem Res* (2012) 37(11):2379–87. doi:10.1007/ s11064-012-0777-2
- Burg MB, Ferraris JD, Dmitrieva NI. Cellular response to hyperosmotic stresses. *Physiol Rev* (2007) 87(4):1441–74. doi:10.1152/physrev.00056.2006
- Handler JS, Kwon HM. Cell and molecular biology of organic osmolyte accumulation in hypertonic renal cells. *Nephron* (2001) 87(2):106–10. doi:10.1159/000045897
- Basque J, Martel M, Leduc R, Cantin AM. Lysosomotropic drugs inhibit maturation of transforming growth factor-beta. *Can J Physiol Pharmacol* (2008) 86(9):606–12. doi:10.1139/y08-063
- 120. Liu X, Bai C, Gong D, Yuan Y, Han L, Lu F, et al. Pleiotropic effects of transforming growth factor-beta1 on pericardial interstitial cells. Implications for fibrosis and calcification in idiopathic constrictive pericarditis. J Am Coll Cardiol (2011) 57(15):1634–5. doi:10.1016/j.jacc.2010.10.054
- Pai AS, Giachelli CM. Matrix remodeling in vascular calcification associated with chronic kidney disease. J Am Soc Nephrol (2010) 21(10):1637–40. doi:10.1681/ASN.2010040349
- 122. Tachi K, Takami M, Sato H, Mochizuki A, Zhao B, Miyamoto Y, et al. Enhancement of bone morphogenetic protein-2-induced ectopic bone

formation by transforming growth factor-beta1. *Tissue Eng Part A* (2011) 17(5–6):597–606. doi:10.1089/ten.tea.2010.0094

- 123. Leibrock CB, Alesutan I, Voelkl J, Pakladok T, Michael D, Schleicher E, et al. NH4Cl treatment prevents tissue calcification in klotho deficiency. J Am Soc Nephrol (2015) 26(10):2423–33. doi:10.1681/ASN. 2014030230
- 124. Leibrock CB, Feger M, Voelkl J, Kohlhofer U, Quintanilla-Martinez L, Kuro-o M, et al. Partial reversal of tissue calcification and extension of life span following ammonium nitrate treatment of klotho-deficient mice. *Kidney Blood Press Res* (2016) 41(1):99–107. doi:10.1159/000443411
- 125. Mackenzie NC, MacRae VE. The role of cellular senescence during vascular calcification: a key paradigm in aging research. *Curr Aging Sci* (2011) 4(2):128–36. doi:10.2174/1874609811104020128
- 126. Wang JC, Bennett M. Aging and atherosclerosis: mechanisms, functional consequences, and potential therapeutics for cellular senescence. *Circ Res* (2012) 111(2):245–59. doi:10.1161/CIRCRESAHA.111.261388
- 127. Lee BY, Han JA, Im JS, Morrone A, Johung K, Goodwin EC, et al. Senescenceassociated beta-galactosidase is lysosomal beta-galactosidase. *Aging Cell* (2006) 5(2):187–95. doi:10.1111/j.1474-9726.2006.00199.x
- 128. Wang N, Wang X, Xing C, Sun B, Yu X, Hu J, et al. Role of TGF-beta1 in bone matrix production in vascular smooth muscle cells induced by a high-phosphate environment. *Nephron Exp Nephrol* (2010) 115(3):e60–8. doi:10.1159/000313831

- 129. Hiyama A, Gogate SS, Gajghate S, Mochida J, Shapiro IM, Risbud MV. BMP-2 and TGF-beta stimulate expression of beta1,3-glucuronosyl transferase 1 (GlcAT-1) in nucleus pulposus cells through AP1, TonEBP, and Sp1: role of MAPKs. *J Bone Miner Res* (2010) 25(5):1179–90. doi:10.1359/jbmr.091202
- Kanno Y, Into T, Lowenstein CJ, Matsushita K. Nitric oxide regulates vascular calcification by interfering with TGF-signalling. *Cardiovasc Res* (2008) 77(1):221–30. doi:10.1093/cvr/cvm049
- 131. Alesutan I, Musculus K, Castor T, Alzoubi K, Voelkl J, Lang F. Inhibition of phosphate-induced vascular smooth muscle cell osteo-/chondrogenic signaling and calcification by bafilomycin A1 and methylamine. *Kidney Blood Press Res* (2015) 40(5):490–9. doi:10.1159/000368524

**Conflict of Interest Statement:** CL is employed by the company Fresenius Kabi Deutschland GmbH, Bad Homburg, Germany. All other authors declare no competing interests.

Copyright © 2018 Lang, Leibrock, Pelzl, Gawaz, Pieske, Alesutan and Voelkl. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





## **Role of Fibroblast Growth Factor-23** in Innate Immune Responses

Elizabeth A. Fitzpatrick<sup>1</sup>, Xiaobin Han<sup>2</sup>, Zhousheng Xiao<sup>2</sup> and L. Darryl Quarles<sup>2\*</sup>

<sup>1</sup> Department of Microbiology, Immunology and Biochemistry, University of Tennessee Health Science Center, Memphis, TN, United States, <sup>2</sup> Department of Medicine, University of Tennessee Health Science Center, Memphis, TN, United States

Fibroblast growth factor-23 (FGF-23) is a bone-derived hormone that activates FGFR/ $\alpha$ -Klotho binary complexes in the kidney renal tubules to regulate phosphate reabsorption and vitamin D metabolism. The objective of this review is to discuss the emerging data that show that FGF-23 has functions beyond regulation of mineral metabolism, including roles in innate immune and hemodynamic responses. Excess FGF-23 is associated with inflammation and adverse infectious outcomes, as well as increased morbidity and mortality, particularly in patients with chronic kidney disease. Enhancer elements in the FGF-23 promoter have been identified that mediate the effects of inflammatory cytokines to stimulate FGF-23 gene transcription in bone. In addition, inflammation induces ectopic expression of FGF-23 and α-Klotho in macrophages that do not normally express FGF-23 or its binary receptor complexes. These observations suggest that FGF-23 may play an important role in regulating innate immunity through multiple potential mechanisms. Circulating FGF-23 acts as a counter-regulatory hormone to suppress 1,25D production in the proximal tubule of the kidney. Since vitamin D deficiency may predispose infectious and cardiovascular diseases, FGF-23 effects on innate immune responses may be due to suppression of 1,25D production. Alternatively, systemic and locally produced FGF-23 may modulate immune functions through direct interactions with myeloid cells, including macrophages and polymorphonuclear leukocytes to impair immune cell functions. Short-acting small molecules that reversibly inhibit FGF-23 offer the potential to block pro-inflammatory and cardiotoxic effects of FGF-23 with less side effects compared with FGF-23 blocking antibodies that have the potential to cause hyperphosphatemia and soft tissue calcifications in animal models. In conclusion, there are several mechanisms by which FGF-23 impacts the innate immune system and further investigation is critical for the development of therapies to treat diseases associated with elevated FGF-23.

Keywords: fibroblast growth factor-23, innate immunity, klotho, macrophage activation, PMNs, LPS stimulation, infection risk

Fibroblast growth factor-23 (FGF-23) is a bone-derived hormone that participates in a bone–kidney endocrine network regulating mineral metabolism. FGF-23 is produced by osteoblasts and osteocytes in bone and enters the circulation to inhibit phosphate reabsorption and reduce serum 1,25D levels through the activation of canonical FGFR/ $\alpha$ -Klotho receptor complexes in renal tubules (1–3). The major physiological functions of FGF-23 are to (1) coordinate bone mineralization with renal handling of phosphate (1, 4) and (2) act as a counter-regulatory hormone for 1,25D (**Figure 1A**). Elevated levels of FGF-23 are associated with several hereditary and acquired hypophosphatemic disorders including X-linked hypophosphatemic rickets (Hyp mice homolog)—caused by inactivating mutations of *Phex* (5–7)—autosomal recessive hypophosphatemic rickets 1—caused by

**OPEN ACCESS** 

#### Edited by:

Tarik Issad, Institut National de la Santé et de la Recherche Médicale (INSERM), France

#### Reviewed by:

Yan Viva Ma, Johnson & Johnson, United States Yobana Perez-Cervera, Benito Juárez Autonomous University of Oaxaca, Mexico

> \*Correspondence: L. Darrvl Quarles

dquarles@uthsc.edu

#### Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Molecular and Structural Endocrinology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Endocrinology

Received: 08 March 2018 Accepted: 28 May 2018 Published: 12 June 2018

#### Citation:

Fitzpatrick EA, Han X, Xiao Z and Quarles LD (2018) Role of Fibroblast Growth Factor-23 in Innate Immune Responses. Front. Endocrinol. 9:320. doi: 10.3389/fendo.2018.00320



hormonal effects of this antiaging hormone. In this schema, FGF-23 regulates innate immune response through suppression of 1,25(OH)D2 production by the kidney. **(B)** Paracrine effects of FGF-23 on innate immune responses. Macrophages do not normally express FGF-23 or  $\alpha$ -Klotho, but in the setting of infection, LPS/IFN $\gamma$  induces the ectopic expression of both FGF-23 and its co-receptor  $\alpha$ -Klotho that reconstitutes paracrine FGF-23 signaling in macrophages. FGF-23 stimulates pro-inflammatory responses in M1 macrophages and blocks the transition to M2 macrophages (3). In addition, FGF-23 is proposed to directly activate FGFR2 in PMNs to decrease recruitment (19).

inactivating mutations of *Dmp1* (5, 7)—ARHR2—caused by inactivating mutations in *Enpp1* (6–10)—and Raine syndrome—caused by inactivating mutations in FAM20C (11, 12). Increased FGF-23 is the result of either increased gene transcription or diminished cleavage of FGF-23 in these disorders.

#### **ROLE OF FGF-23 IN INFLAMMATION**

There are emerging data that FGF-23 may have effects on immune responses. Vitamin D, which is regulated by FGF-23, has welldescribed effects on both innate and adaptive immunity (20–22). Vitamin D has an overall effect to enhance innate immune responses and exert anti-inflammatory effects through local and systemic effects. Evidence that FGF-23 may have an overall impact on immunity comes from the association between elevated FGF-23 levels and inflammation. FGF-23 is increased in inflammatory bowel disease (23) and chronic kidney disease (CKD) (4). In CKD, elevated FGF-23 initially functions to maintain mineral homeostasis, but persistent elevations are maladaptive and associated with increased morbidity and mortality (24–26), cardiovascular disease (26–30), inflammation, and infections (31, 32). Infections, most commonly caused by infected catheters and pneumonia (33), are second to cardiovascular disease in causing death in CKD (34) and are >100-fold higher than the general population. Recent clinical association studies suggest that elevated FGF-23 contributes to an increase in susceptibility or severity of infections in CKD. Moreover, elevated FGF-23 levels correlated with increased IL-6, TNF $\alpha$ , CRP, fibrinogen, and severe inflammation in CKD patients (31, 35). In a CKD mouse model of bacterial pneumonia, FGF-23 administration exacerbated disease severity and its inhibition improved outcomes (19). Although these studies suggest that FGF-23 interacts with the immune system, they do not reveal whether FGF-23 directly regulates immune cell functions or indirectly affects immune responses through FGF-23 regulation of 1,25D.

### INFLAMMATORY STIMULI INDUCE FGF-23 EXPRESSION IN OSTEOBLASTS/ OSTEOCYTES AND IMMUNE CELLS

Inflammatory stimuli upregulate FGF-23 expression in bone, where FGF-23 is usually expressed, but also in immune cells and tissues that do not normally express FGF-23. Inflammatory cytokines have been shown to induce FGF-23 expression *in vivo* 

and in vitro. Inflammation increases circulating FGF-23 levels in both animal models and humans in response to infection, inflammation, and oxidative stress (36-38). For example, mouse serum FGF-23 levels are significantly increased following inoculation with Gram-negative (E. coli) or Gram-positive (S. aureus) bacteria, or LPS administration in mice (37). Numerous studies have demonstrated that FGF-23 transcription in osteoblasts/osteocytes is regulated by LPS, IL-1 $\beta$ , and TNF $\alpha$  (39). An enhancer residing in the -16 kb region of FGF-23 was identified and following deletion using CRISPR/Cas9 technology was demonstrated to be responsible for the stimulation of FGF-23 transcription by inflammatory stimuli (40). Bacterial components stimulate immune cells through toll-like receptors (TLRs) and stimulation of TLRs 2, and 4 on bone marrow-derived dendritic cells increased FGF-23 mRNA expression. TLR4 recognizes the bacterial cell wall component LPS, and TLR2 recognizes lipotechoic acids present in bacterial membranes leading to the activation of NF-κB pathway. Inhibition of NF-KB activation prevented the upregulation of FGF-23 mRNA in response to LPS stimulation. Hif1 $\alpha$  is another transcription factor that stimulates FGF-23 in osteoblasts (41), indicating that oxidative stress/inflammation stress may induce expression of FGF-23.

Macrophages may be central to FGF-23 regulation and function. Resting RAW264.7 macrophages, which do not normally express FGF-23, when stimulated with LPS/IFN- $\gamma$  to induce M1 polarization express significant increases in FGF-23. The increase is also mediated by NF-kB-dependent activation of the FGF-23 promoter (3). In addition, the M1 macrophages upregulate Klotho transcription, including the full-length  $\alpha$ -Kl message and the alternatively spliced s-Kl message and protein levels. By contrast, IL-4 induction of M2 macrophages results in only modest increases in FGF-23 expression and no upregulation of  $\alpha$ -Klotho transcription. Not only do macrophages make FGF-23 and respond to FGF-23 (see below), but make other cytokines, such as OSM, that induce tissue expression of FGF-23, such as in cardiomyocytes (42). In contrast to M1 macrophages, Masuda et al. (37) did not observe upregulation of FGF-23 mRNA in T cells stimulated with the polyclonal stimulators PMA and ionomycin. Lymphocytes also express TLRs 2 and 4, and it is not known whether stimulation through these receptors will upregulate FGF-23 mRNA in these cells.

These observations suggest that inflammatory mediators stimulate FGF-23 gene transcription in osteoblasts/osteocytes that normally express FGF-23 and in macrophages and tissues that do not normally express FGF-23. The resulting local and systemic production of FGF-23 may play a critical role in the ensuing immune responses through targeting FGFR/ $\alpha$ -Klotho receptor complexes in the kidney or reconstituted receptor complexes in the local inflammatory tissue environment.

## POTENTIAL MECHANISMS FOR FGF-23 IMPAIRMENT OF HOST RESPONSES

### Indirect Effects Mediated by FGF-23 Suppression of 1,25D

Under physiological conditions, changes in FGF-23 results in reciprocal changes in 1,25D, and *vice versa*. FGF-23 may affect immune responses through activation of FGFR/ $\alpha$ -Klotho complexes in

the proximal renal tubule leading to suppression of 1,25D by the kidney (3, 19, 43–46). The association between low vitamin D and high FGF-23 serum levels with infectious and cardiac deaths in a large cohort of patients with end-stage renal disease (47, 48) may be due to the loss of the anti-inflammatory effects of 1,25D (49, 50). The loss of 1,25D may result in the amplification of inflammatory response and subsequently increased tissue pathology.

# Direct Effects of FGF-23 on Macrophages and PMNs

Another mechanism is direct pro-inflammatory actions of FGF-23 on immune cells. There is emerging evidence that FGF-23 directly interacts with immune cells, such as PMNs and/or macrophages through binding of FGFR/ $\alpha$ -Kl receptors (**Figure 1B**).

Rossaint et al. (19) used a murine model of CKD, induced by 5/6 nephrectomy, to measure the effect of excess FGF23 on *E. coli* pneumonia. The authors demonstrate that mice with CKD had decreased recruitment of PMNs into the lungs and increased disease severity. Neutralization of FGF23 with anti-FGF23 antibody restored PMN recruitment and the host response in these mice. The authors proposed that elevated circulating levels of FGF-23 directly activated FGFR2 in PMNs to impair the host response to infection.

Direct effects of FGF-23 on PMNs are controversial for several reasons. First, PMNs lack the obligate FGF-23 co-receptor  $\alpha$ -Klotho. To deal with this inconsistency, this hypothesis proposes that FGF-23 targets PMNs through the non-canonical FGFR2 pathway (2). Second, FGFR2, which is the only FGFR expressed in PMNs, is not a target for FGF-23 in multiple functional studies and target engagement assays (2, 51-53). Third, experimental designs in existing studies are not sufficient to establish the role of FGFR2 or PMNs in mediating FGF-23's adverse effects on host responses. In this regard, a single intravenous injection of 200 ng of rFGF-23 to mice was the only in vivo evidence that elevated FGF-23 impairs PMN responses to sepsis. Essential studies to ablate FGFR2 in PMNs or to test the effects of chronic elevations of FGF-23 in the absence of confounding effects of CKD (19, 54) have not been performed. Finally, effects of FGF-23 inhibition to improve outcomes with a blocking antibody have not controlled for confounding effects of reciprocal increases in 1,25D production in response to FGF-23 inhibition.

There is compelling data that FGF-23 targets macrophages. Several studies have demonstrated that macrophages and DCs express FGFR1 and inflammatory stimuli upregulates  $\alpha$ -Klotho expression in macrophages to reconstitute FGFR- $\alpha$ -Klotho signaling (3, 37). Stimulation of these cells with FGF-23 resulted in induction of TNF- $\alpha$  mRNA and protein expression in primary macrophages as well as macrophage cell lines through activation of binary FGFR/ $\alpha$ -Klotho complexes (3, 37). In addition, the ability of FGFR inhibitors to block FGF-23 signaling in macrophages confirms that the canonical FGFR/Kl signaling pathway is active in macrophages (3).

If FGF-23 is directly affecting innate immune responses, animal models with elevated FGF-23 should exhibit abnormal host responses even in the absence of CKD. Indeed, a sterile inflammation model to induce the infiltration of peritoneal macrophages with thioglycolate shows that Hyp mice have increased FGF-23 expression in macrophages (3). Macrophages isolated from Hyp mice expressed higher levels of FGF-23 and Klotho compared with WT controls. Hyp macrophages also had increased basal ERK activation and increased TNF-a mRNA, consistent with activation of FGFR/aKl signaling. Serum levels of TNF-a were increased consistent with the pro-inflammatory phenotype [i.e., kidney inflammation (18) and cardiovascular abnormalities in Hyp mice (55)]. These data support the hypothesis that locally produced and circulating FGF-23 activate immune cells in the inflammatory milieu (3, 43), leading to adverse outcomes (56). In this scenario, infection with bacteria stimulates the production of FGF-23 locally in M1 activated macrophages which also upregulate FGFR/ $\alpha$ -Kl complexes (3). Autocrine stimulation of the M1 cells with FGF23 amplifies TNF production and inhibits the transition to a wound healing M2 phenotype, resulting in excess tissue damage and increased morbidity and mortality (Figure 1B).

Based on these findings, a new hypothesis proposes that FGF-23 actions on innate immunity are mediated by activation of reconstituted canonical FGFR/ $\alpha$ -Kl receptors in tissue macrophages during infections by both systemic and local production of FGF-23 (**Figure 1B**) (3, 19, 37, 43). Although the full effects of FGF-23 on immune cell function remain to be defined, in this schema, FGF-23 is proposed to have pro-inflammatory effects mediated by activated macrophages. Additional studies are needed to characterize the impact of FGF-23 on immune responses. In particular, experiments that conditional delete FGF-23, FGFRs, and  $\alpha$ -Klotho in different myeloid cells are needed to define the role of FGF-23/FGFR/ $\alpha$ -Klotho signaling in mediating immune responses.

# ROLE OF $\alpha$ -KLOTHO AND SOLUBLE KLOTHO (sKI) IN INFLAMMATION

 $\alpha$ -Klotho gene has two transcripts that encode a long type I transmembrane (TM) protein containing KL1 and KL2 domains and a short secreted protein containing only a single KL domain (57). The ~130-kDa TM protein is an obligate co-receptor for binding of FGF-23 to FGFRs (2, 58). Ectodomain shedding by ADAM10 and ADAM17 generates a circulating α-Klotho isoform that lacks the TM domain (59). The short secreted ~60-kDa isoform (s-KL) is generated by the alternative spliced transcript. Similar sized as soluble KL1 and KL2 fragments are also generated by additional post-translational cleavage of the shed isoform (57, 60). The ~60-kDa s-KL gene product emerged during evolution before FGF-23 and likely has FGF-23 independent functions, including antiaging, anti-inflammatory, and anti-fibrotic effects due to actions of secreted forms of KL to inhibit Wnt, IGF-1, and TGF-β signaling (61–65). Since excess FGF-23 is associated with decreased expression of  $\alpha$ -Klotho in the kidney and circulating Kl, it is difficult to determine if the adverse effects attributed to excess FGF-23 are actually caused by Klotho deficiency. Indeed, Klotho depletion is associated with increased inflammation in multiple experimental models.

A recent study showed that renal Klotho mRNA and protein were significantly decreased leading to increased inflammation in kidney of the *db/db* mouse model of diabetes (66). Addition of sKl or overexpression of  $\alpha$ -Klotho suppressed NF- $\kappa$ B activation and subsequent production of inflammatory cytokines in response to TNF- $\alpha$  stimulation *in vitro*. Klotho serves as an anti-inflammatory modulator, which negatively regulates the production of NF- $\kappa$ B-linked inflammatory proteins *via* a mechanism that involves phosphorylation of Ser<sup>536</sup> in the transactivation domain of RelA (66). Thus, distinguishing between FGF-23 and  $\alpha$ -Klotho-dependent effects are important, because Klotho administration would correct abnormalities caused by FGF-23 suppression of Klotho.

### FGF-23 REGULATES HEMODYNAMIC RESPONSES TO COUNTER THE HYPOTENSIVE EFFECTS OF INFLAMMATION

Could FGF-23 effects regulate renal process that have cardiovascular effects, be linked to inflammatory responses (53, 67)? For example, FGF-23 upregulates NCC in the DT leading to hypertension and suppression of aldosterone levels (15, 16, 55). FGF-23 administration suppresses ACE2 and  $\alpha$ Kl expression in the kidney, which could potentially cause left ventricular hypertrophy by enhancing the response to Ang II and/or decreasing circulating sKl (68). From a teleological perspective, FGF-23 control of blood pressure may serve to attenuate the hypotensive effects of inflammation, or alternatively account for the link between inflammation and hypertension (69).

## THERAPEUTIC POTENTIAL OF FGF-23 ANTAGONIST

If elevations of FGF-23 are causally linked to adverse outcomes, as emerging data are suggesting, then efforts to inhibit the end-organ effects of excess FGF-23 may improve outcomes in clinical conditions of FGF-23 excess. Advancements in pharmacological tools to block FGF-23 have been made, including blocking antibodies, which show efficacy and safety in treating hypophosphatemic rickets in hereditary disorders of FGF-23 excess (70). Blocking antibodies, however, have a narrow safety window and long half-life (16, 70), which may limit their use in CKD. Indeed, FGF-23-blocking antibody has not been shown to safely reduce FGF-23 in CKD without worsening hyperphosphatemia. Use of an FGF-23-blocking antibody also induced aortic calcification associated with increased risk of mortality in a rodent model of CKD (16). A novel FGF-23 antagonist, Zinc13407541, has been developed, which is short-acting and effectively antagonizes FGF-23 actions in vitro and in vivo without elevating serum phosphate (71). Unlike FGF-23-blocking antibodies, this small molecule compound can specifically block FGF-23/FGFR/Klotho signaling and increase serum 1,25(OH)<sub>2</sub>D levels (71) and suppresses TNF- $\alpha$  expression in activated macrophages. With further lead optimization, derivatives of Zinc13407541 could potentially be a titratable pharmacological tool to block FGF-23-related mortality in CKD.

In conclusion, a new understanding of FGF-23 functions proposes functions beyond mineral metabolism that includes indirect and direct effects on components of the myeloid lineage that may account for the association between elevated FGF-23 and impaired host responses to infections. Distinguishing between the proposed mechanisms, namely, FGF-23 suppression of 1,25D, activation of FGFR2 in PMNs in the absence of  $\alpha$ -Klotho, and FGF-23 activation of canonical FGFR/ $\alpha$ -Kl signaling in macrophages, is important, if we are to make progress in preventing and treating complications of excess FGF-23. Additional studies are needed to determine the relative importance of FGF-23 direct effect on different components of the myeloid lineage in regulating innate immune function and the clinical significance of FGF-23 actions to counteract the systemic and local immune effects of Vitamin D. Distinguishing between these direct and indirect effects will help establish whether pharmacological inhibition of FGF-23 or administration of 1,25D or sKl can prevent the adverse outcomes associated with FGF-23 excess.

#### REFERENCES

- Quarles LD. Skeletal secretion of FGF-23 regulates phosphate and vitamin D metabolism. *Nat Rev Endocrinol* (2012) 8(5):276–86. doi:10.1038/nrendo. 2011.218
- Urakawa I, Yamazaki Y, Shimada T, Iijima K, Hasegawa H, Okawa K, et al. Klotho converts canonical FGF receptor into a specific receptor for FGF23. *Nature* (2006) 444(7120):770–4. doi:10.1038/nature05315
- Han X, Li L, Yang J, King G, Xiao Z, Quarles LD. Counter-regulatory paracrine actions of FGF-23 and 1,25(OH)2 D in macrophages. *FEBS Lett* (2016) 590(1):53–67. doi:10.1002/1873-3468.12040
- Quarles LD. Evidence for a bone-kidney axis regulating phosphate homeostasis. J Clin Invest (2003) 112(5):642–6. doi:10.1172/JCI200319687
- Feng JQ, Ward LM, Liu S, Lu Y, Xie Y, Yuan B, et al. Loss of DMP1 causes rickets and osteomalacia and identifies a role for osteocytes in mineral metabolism. *Nat Genet* (2006) 38(11):1310–5. doi:10.1038/ng1905
- Liu S, Zhou J, Tang W, Jiang X, Rowe DW, Quarles LD. Pathogenic role of Fgf23 in Hyp mice. Am J Physiol Endocrinol Metab (2006) 291(1):E38–49. doi:10.1152/ajpendo.00008.2006
- Liu S, Zhou J, Tang W, Menard R, Feng JQ, Quarles LD. Pathogenic role of Fgf23 in Dmp1-null mice. Am J Physiol Endocrinol Metab (2008) 295(2): E254–61. doi:10.1152/ajpendo.90201.2008
- Mackenzie NC, Zhu D, Milne EM, van't Hof R, Martin A, Darryl Quarles L, et al. Altered bone development and an increase in FGF-23 expression in Enpp1(-/-) mice. *PLoS One* (2012) 7(2):e32177. doi:10.1371/journal.pone. 0032177
- Martin A, Liu S, David V, Li H, Karydis A, Feng JQ, et al. Bone proteins PHEX and DMP1 regulate fibroblastic growth factor Fgf23 expression in osteocytes through a common pathway involving FGF receptor (FGFR) signaling. *FASEB J* (2011) 25(8):2551–62. doi:10.1096/fj.10-177816
- Wang X, Wang S, Li C, Gao T, Liu Y, Rangiani A, et al. Inactivation of a novel FGF23 regulator, FAM20C, leads to hypophosphatemic rickets in mice. *PLoS Genet* (2012) 8(5):e1002708. doi:10.1371/journal.pgen.1002708
- Whyte MP, McAlister WH, Fallon MD, Pierpont ME, Bijanki VN, Duan S, et al. Raine syndrome (OMIM #259775), caused by FAM20C mutation, is congenital sclerosing osteomalacia with cerebral calcification (OMIM 259660). *J Bone Miner Res* (2017) 32(4):757–69. doi:10.1002/jbmr.3034
- Oya K, Ishida K, Nishida T, Sato S, Kishino M, Hirose K, et al. Immunohistochemical analysis of dentin matrix protein 1 (Dmp1) phosphorylation by Fam20C in bone: implications for the induction of biomineralization. *Histochem Cell Biol* (2017) 147(3):341–51. doi:10.1007/s00418-016-1490-z
- Liu S, Guo R, Simpson LG, Xiao ZS, Burnham CE, Quarles LD. Regulation of fibroblastic growth factor 23 expression but not degradation by PHEX. J Biol Chem (2003) 278(39):37419–26. doi:10.1074/jbc.M304544200
- Quarles LD. Endocrine functions of bone in mineral metabolism regulation. *J Clin Invest* (2008) 118(12):3820–8. doi:10.1172/JCI36479
- Han X, Yang J, Li L, Huang J, King G, Quarles LD. Conditional deletion of Fgfr1 in the proximal and distal tubule identifies distinct roles in phosphate

## **AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS**

XH performed the *in vitro* studies characterizing the ectopic expression of FGF-23 in activated macrophages. EF performed investigations evaluating impact of FGF-23 on the susceptibility to infection. ZX performed the studies characterizing regulation of FGF-23. LQ supervised all research studies related to FGF-23 effects in macrophages. All the authors contributed to the literature review and writing of this manuscript.

## FUNDING

This work was supported by the National Institute of Arthritis and Musculoskeletal and Skin Diseases (NIAMS) of the National Institutes of Health (NIH) under award number RO1AR045955.

and calcium transport. *PLoS One* (2016) 11(2):e0147845. doi:10.1371/journal. pone.0147845

- Andrukhova O, Smorodchenko A, Egerbacher M, Streicher C, Zeitz U, Goetz R, et al. FGF23 promotes renal calcium reabsorption through the TRPV5 channel. *EMBO J* (2014) 33(3):229–46. doi:10.1002/embj.201284188
- Fajol A, Chen H, Umbach AT, Quarles LD, Lang F, Foller M. Enhanced FGF23 production in mice expressing PI3K-insensitive GSK3 is normalized by betablocker treatment. *FASEB J* (2016) 30(2):994–1001. doi:10.1096/fj.15-279943
- Dai B, David V, Martin A, Huang J, Li H, Jiao Y, et al. A comparative transcriptome analysis identifying FGF23 regulated genes in the kidney of a mouse CKD model. *PLoS One* (2012) 7(9):e44161. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0044161
- Rossaint J, Oehmichen J, Van Aken H, Reuter S, Pavenstadt HJ, Meersch M, et al. FGF23 signaling impairs neutrophil recruitment and host defense during CKD. J Clin Invest (2016) 126(3):962–74. doi:10.1172/JCI83470
- Penna G, Adorini L. 1 Alpha,25-dihydroxyvitamin D3 inhibits differentiation, maturation, activation, and survival of dendritic cells leading to impaired alloreactive T cell activation. *J Immunol* (2000) 164(5):2405–11. doi:10.4049/ jimmunol.164.5.2405
- Jeffery LE, Burke F, Mura M, Zheng Y, Qureshi OS, Hewison M, et al. 1,25-Dihydroxyvitamin D3 and IL-2 combine to inhibit T cell production of inflammatory cytokines and promote development of regulatory T cells expressing CTLA-4 and FoxP3. *J Immunol* (2009) 183(9):5458–67. doi:10.4049/ jimmunol.0803217
- Zhang Y, Leung DY, Richers BN, Liu Y, Remigio LK, Riches DW, et al. Vitamin D inhibits monocyte/macrophage proinflammatory cytokine production by targeting MAPK phosphatase-1. J Immunol (2012) 188(5):2127–35. doi:10.4049/ jimmunol.1102412
- El-Hodhod MA, Hamdy AM, Abbas AA, Moftah SG, Ramadan AA. Fibroblast growth factor 23 contributes to diminished bone mineral density in childhood inflammatory bowel disease. *BMC Gastroenterol* (2012) 12:44. doi:10.1186/1471-230X-12-44
- Brandenburg VM, Kleber ME, Vervloet MG, Tomaschitz A, Pilz S, Stojakovic T, et al. Fibroblast growth factor 23 (FGF23) and mortality: the Ludwigshafen Risk and Cardiovascular Health Study. *Atherosclerosis* (2014) 237(1):53–9. doi:10.1016/j.atherosclerosis.2014.08.037
- Souma N, Isakova T, Lipiszko D, Sacco RL, Elkind MS, DeRosa JT, et al. Fibroblast growth factor 23 and cause-specific mortality in the general population: the Northern Manhattan Study. *J Clin Endocrinol Metab* (2016) 101(10):3779–86. doi:10.1210/jc.2016-2215
- Gutierrez OM, Mannstadt M, Isakova T, Rauh-Hain JA, Tamez H, Shah A, et al. Fibroblast growth factor 23 and mortality among patients undergoing hemodialysis. N Engl J Med (2008) 359(6):584–92. doi:10.1056/NEJMoa0706130
- Gutierrez OM, Januzzi JL, Isakova T, Laliberte K, Smith K, Collerone G, et al. Fibroblast growth factor 23 and left ventricular hypertrophy in chronic kidney disease. *Circulation* (2009) 119(19):2545–52. doi:10.1161/CIRCULATIONAHA. 108.844506
- Isakova T, Xie H, Yang W, Xie D, Anderson AH, Scialla J, et al. Fibroblast growth factor 23 and risks of mortality and end-stage renal disease in patients with chronickidney disease. *JAMA* (2011) 305(23):2432–9. doi:10.1001/jama.2011.826

- Hsu HJ, Wu MS. Fibroblast growth factor 23: a possible cause of left ventricular hypertrophy in hemodialysis patients. *Am J Med Sci* (2009) 337(2):116–22. doi:10.1097/MAJ.0b013e3181815498
- Jean G, Bresson E, Terrat JC, Vanel T, Hurot JM, Lorriaux C, et al. Peripheral vascular calcification in long-haemodialysis patients: associated factors and survival consequences. *Nephrol Dial Transplant* (2009) 24(3):948–55. doi:10.1093/ ndt/gfn571
- Munoz Mendoza J, Isakova T, Ricardo AC, Xie H, Navaneethan SD, Anderson AH, et al. Fibroblast growth factor 23 and inflammation in CKD. *Clin J Am Soc Nephrol* (2012) 7(7):1155–62. doi:10.2215/CJN.13281211
- Hanks LJ, Casazza K, Judd SE, Jenny NS, Gutierrez OM. Associations of fibroblast growth factor-23 with markers of inflammation, insulin resistance and obesity in adults. *PLoS One* (2015) 10(3):e0122885. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0122885
- Abou Dagher G, Harmouche E, Jabbour E, Bachir R, Zebian D, Bou Chebl R. Sepsis in hemodialysis patients. *BMC Emerg Med* (2015) 15:30. doi:10.1186/ s12873-015-0057-y
- Sarnak MJ, Jaber BL. Mortality caused by sepsis in patients with end-stage renal disease compared with the general population. *Kidney Int* (2000) 58(4):1758–64. doi:10.1111/j.1523-1755.2000.00337.x
- Manghat P, Fraser WD, Wierzbicki AS, Fogelman I, Goldsmith DJ, Hampson G. Fibroblast growth factor-23 is associated with C-reactive protein, serum phosphate and bone mineral density in chronic kidney disease. *Osteoporos Int* (2010) 21(11):1853–61. doi:10.1007/s00198-009-1142-4
- Kovesdy CP, Quarles LD. FGF23 from bench to bedside. Am J Physiol Renal Physiol (2016) 310(11):F1168–74. doi:10.1152/ajprenal.00606.2015
- Masuda Y, Ohta H, Morita Y, Nakayama Y, Miyake A, Itoh N, et al. Expression of Fgf23 in activated dendritic cells and macrophages in response to immunological stimuli in mice. *Biol Pharm Bull* (2015) 38(5):687–93. doi:10.1248/bpb.b14-00276
- Ito N, Wijenayaka AR, Prideaux M, Kogawa M, Ormsby RT, Evdokiou A, et al. Regulation of FGF23 expression in IDG-SW3 osteocytes and human bone by pro-inflammatory stimuli. *Mol Cell Endocrinol* (2015) 399:208–18. doi:10.1016/j.mce.2014.10.007
- Itoh N. Hormone-like (endocrine) Fgfs: their evolutionary history and roles in development, metabolism, and disease. *Cell Tissue Res* (2010) 342(1):1–11. doi:10.1007/s00441-010-1024-2
- Onal M, Carlson AH, Thostenson JD, Benkusky NA, Meyer MB, Lee SM, et al. A novel distal enhancer mediates inflammation-, PTH-, and early onset murine kidney disease-induced expression of the mouse Fgf23 gene. *JBMR Plus* (2018) 2(1):32–47. doi:10.1002/jbm4.10023
- Zhang Q, Doucet M, Tomlinson RE, Han X, Quarles LD, Collins MT, et al. The hypoxia-inducible factor-1alpha activates ectopic production of fibroblast growth factor 23 in tumor-induced osteomalacia. *Bone Res* (2016) 4:16011. doi:10.1038/boneres.2016.11
- Richter M, Lautze HJ, Walther T, Braun T, Kostin S, Kubin T. The failing heart is a major source of circulating FGF23 via oncostatin M receptor activation. *J Heart Lung Transplant* (2015) 34(9):1211–4. doi:10.1016/j.healun.2015. 06.007
- Han X, Quarles LD. Multiple faces of fibroblast growth factor-23. Curr Opin NephrolHypertens(2016)25(4):333-42.doi:10.1097/MNH.00000000000240
- Bacchetta J, Chun RF, Gales B, Zaritsky JJ, Leroy S, Wesseling-Perry K, et al. Antibacterial responses by peritoneal macrophages are enhanced following vitamin D supplementation. *PLoS One* (2014) 9(12):e116530. doi:10.1371/ journal.pone.0116530
- Bacchetta J, Salusky IB, Hewison M. Beyond mineral metabolism, is there an interplay between FGF23 and vitamin D in innate immunity? *Pediatr Nephrol* (2013) 28(4):577–82. doi:10.1007/s00467-012-2336-0
- 46. Bacchetta J, Sea JL, Chun RF, Lisse TS, Wesseling-Perry K, Gales B, et al. Fibroblast growth factor 23 inhibits extrarenal synthesis of 1,25dihydroxyvitamin D in human monocytes. *J Bone Miner Res* (2013) 28(1): 46–55. doi:10.1002/jbmr.1740
- Chonchol M, Greene T, Zhang Y, Hoofnagle AN, Cheung AK. Low vitamin D and high fibroblast growth factor 23 serum levels associate with infectious and cardiac deaths in the HEMO Study. *J Am Soc Nephrol* (2016) 27(1):227–37. doi:10.1681/ASN.2014101009
- Li C, Ding XY, Xiang DM, Xu J, Huang XL, Hou FF, et al. Enhanced M1 and impaired M2 macrophage polarization and reduced mitochondrial biogenesis via inhibition of AMP kinase in chronic kidney disease. *Cell Physiol Biochem* (2015) 36(1):358–72. doi:10.1159/000430106

- Schleithoff SS, Zittermann A, Tenderich G, Berthold HK, Stehle P, Koerfer R. Vitamin D supplementation improves cytokine profiles in patients with congestive heart failure: a double-blind, randomized, placebo-controlled trial. *Am J Clin Nutr* (2006) 83(4):754–9. doi:10.1093/ajcn/83.4.754
- Gomaa AM, El-Aziz EA. Vitamin D reduces high-fat diet induced weight gain and C-reactive protein, increases interleukin-10, and reduces CD86 and caspase-3. *Pathophysiology* (2017) 24(1):31–7. doi:10.1016/j.pathophys. 2017.01.003
- Nakatani T, Sarraj B, Ohnishi M, Densmore MJ, Taguchi T, Goetz R, et al. In vivo genetic evidence for klotho-dependent, fibroblast growth factor 23 (Fgf23)-mediated regulation of systemic phosphate homeostasis. *FASEB J* (2009) 23(2):433–41. doi:10.1096/fj.08-114397
- Beenken A, Mohammadi M. The structural biology of the FGF19 subfamily. *Adv Exp Med Biol* (2012) 728:1–24. doi:10.1007/978-1-4614-0887-1\_1
- Goetz R, Nakada Y, Hu MC, Kurosu H, Wang L, Nakatani T, et al. Isolated C-terminal tail of FGF23 alleviates hypophosphatemia by inhibiting FGF23-FGFR-Klotho complex formation. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* (2010) 107(1):407–12. doi:10.1073/pnas.0902006107
- Haddad LE, Khzam LB, Hajjar F, Merhi Y, Sirois MG. Characterization of FGF receptor expression in human neutrophils and their contribution to chemotaxis. *Am J Physiol Cell Physiol* (2011) 301(5):C1036–45. doi:10.1152/ajpcell.00215.2011
- Andrukhova O, Slavic S, Smorodchenko A, Zeitz U, Shalhoub V, Lanske B, et al. FGF23 regulates renal sodium handling and blood pressure. *EMBO Mol Med* (2014) 6(6):744–59. doi:10.1002/emmm.201303716
- Benoit M, Desnues B, Mege JL. Macrophage polarization in bacterial infections. J Immunol (2008) 181(6):3733–9. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.181.6.3733
- Chen CD, Podvin S, Gillespie E, Leeman SE, Abraham CR. Insulin stimulates the cleavage and release of the extracellular domain of Klotho by ADAM10 and ADAM17. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A (2007) 104(50):19796–801. doi:10.1073/ pnas.0709805104
- Kurosu H, Ogawa Y, Miyoshi M, Yamamoto M, Nandi A, Rosenblatt KP, et al. Regulation of fibroblast growth factor-23 signaling by klotho. *J Biol Chem* (2006) 281(10):6120–3. doi:10.1074/jbc.C500457200
- Chen CD, Tung TY, Liang J, Zeldich E, Tucker Zhou TB, Turk BE, et al. Identification of cleavage sites leading to the shed form of the anti-aging protein klotho. *Biochemistry* (2014) 53(34):5579–87. doi:10.1021/ bi500409n
- van Loon EP, Pulskens WP, van der Hagen EA, Lavrijsen M, Vervloet MG, van Goor H, et al. Shedding of klotho by ADAMs in the kidney. *Am J Physiol Renal Physiol* (2015) 309(4):F359–68. doi:10.1152/ajprenal.00240.2014
- Chateau MT, Araiz C, Descamps S, Galas S. Klotho interferes with a novel FGF-signalling pathway and insulin/Igf-like signalling to improve longevity and stress resistance in *Caenorhabditis elegans*. *Aging* (2010) 2(9):567–81. doi:10.18632/aging.100195
- Kuro-o M, Matsumura Y, Aizawa H, Kawaguchi H, Suga T, Utsugi T, et al. Mutation of the mouse klotho gene leads to a syndrome resembling ageing. *Nature* (1997) 390(6655):45–51. doi:10.1038/36285
- Sugiura H, Yoshida T, Shiohira S, Kohei J, Mitobe M, Kurosu H, et al. Reduced Klotho expression level in kidney aggravates renal interstitial fibrosis. *Am J Physiol Renal Physiol* (2012) 302(10):F1252–64. doi:10.1152/ ajprenal.00294.2011
- Hu MC, Shi M, Cho HJ, Adams-Huet B, Paek J, Hill K, et al. Klotho and phosphate are modulators of pathologic uremic cardiac remodeling. *J Am Soc Nephrol* (2015) 26(6):1290–302. doi:10.1681/ASN.2014050465
- 65. Deng M, Luo Y, Li Y, Yang Q, Deng X, Wu P, et al. Klotho gene delivery ameliorates renal hypertrophy and fibrosis in streptozotocin-induced diabetic rats by suppressing the Rho-associated coiled-coil kinase signaling pathway. *Mol Med Rep* (2015) 12(1):45–54. doi:10.3892/mmr.2015.3367
- Zhao Y, Banerjee S, Dey N, LeJeune WS, Sarkar PS, Brobey R, et al. Klotho depletion contributes to increased inflammation in kidney of the db/db mouse model of diabetes via RelA (serine)536 phosphorylation. *Diabetes* (2011) 60(7):1907–16. doi:10.2337/db10-1262
- Burrell LM, Johnston CI, Tikellis C, Cooper ME. ACE2, a new regulator of the renin-angiotensin system. *Trends Endocrinol Metab* (2004) 15(4):166–9. doi:10.1016/j.tem.2004.03.001
- Xie J, Cha SK, An SW, Kuro OM, Birnbaumer L, Huang CL. Cardioprotection by Klotho through downregulation of TRPC6 channels in the mouse heart. *Nat Commun* (2012) 3:1238. doi:10.1038/ncomms2240

- De Miguel C, Rudemiller NP, Abais JM, Mattson DL. Inflammation and hypertension: new understandings and potential therapeutic targets. *Curr Hypertens Rep* (2015) 17(1):507. doi:10.1007/s11906-014-0507-z
- Carpenter TO, Imel EA, Ruppe MD, Weber TJ, Klausner MA, Wooddell MM, et al. Randomized trial of the anti-FGF23 antibody KRN23 in X-linked hypophosphatemia. J Clin Invest (2014) 124(4):1587–97. doi:10.1172/JCI72829
- Xiao Z, Riccardi D, Velazquez HA, Chin AL, Yates CR, Carrick JD, et al. A computationally identified compound antagonizes excess FGF-23 signaling in renal tubules and a mouse model of hypophosphatemia. *Sci Signal* (2016) 9(455):ra113. doi:10.1126/scisignal.aaf5034

**Conflict of Interest Statement:** The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2018 Fitzpatrick, Han, Xiao and Quarles. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





## Targeting Fibroblast Growth Factor 23 Signaling with Antibodies and Inhibitors, Is There a Rationale?

#### Seiji Fukumoto\*

Department of Molecular Endocrinology, Fujii Memorial Institute of Medical Sciences, Institute of Advanced Medical Sciences, Tokushima University, Tokushima, Japan

Fibroblast growth factor 23 (FGF23) is a phosphotropic hormone mainly produced by bone. FGF23 reduces serum phosphate by suppressing intestinal phosphate absorption through reducing 1,25-dihydroxyvitamin D and proximal tubular phosphate reabsorption. Excessive actions of FG23 result in several kinds of hypophosphatemic rickets/ osteomalacia including X-linked hypophosphatemic rickets (XLH) and tumor-induced osteomalacia. While neutral phosphate and active vitamin D are standard therapies for child patients with XLH, these medications have several limitations both in their effects and adverse events. Several approaches that inhibit FGF23 actions including anti-FGF23 antibodies and inhibitors of FGF signaling have been shown to improve phenotypes of model mice for FG23-related hypophosphatemic diseases. In addition, clinical trials indicated that a humanized anti-FGF23 antibody increased serum phosphate and improved quality of life in patients with XLH. Furthermore, circulatory FGF23 is high in patients with chronic kidney disease (CKD). Many epidemiological studies indicated the association between high FGF23 levels and various adverse events especially in patients with CKD. However, it is not known whether the inhibition of FGF23 activities in patients with CKD is beneficial for these patients. In this review, recent findings concerning the modulation of FGF23 activities are discussed.

Keywords: hypophosphatemia, rickets, osteomalacia, antibody, chronic kidney disease-mineral and bone disorder (CKD-MBD)

## INTRODUCTION

Fibroblast growth factor 23 (*FGF23*) was identified as a responsible gene for autosomal dominant hypophosphatemic rickets (ADHR) in 2000 by positional cloning (1). FGF23 was also cloned as a responsible humoral factor for tumor-induced osteomalacia (TIO), a rare paraneoplastic syndrome (2). ADHR and TIO are diseases characterized by hypophosphatemia associated with impaired renal tubular phosphate reabsorption. Subsequent studies established that FGF23 is a hormone mainly produced by bone and regulates phosphate and vitamin D metabolism by binding to Klotho–FGF receptor complex (3–7). Klotho is a single membrane spanning protein. While there is also soluble Klotho, its role in FGF23 signaling is not clear (8). FGF23 was shown to transduce signals only in tissues which express membrane form Klotho (6). FGF23 reduces serum phosphate by inhibiting intestinal phosphate absorption through decreasing serum 1,25-dihydroxyvitamin D [1,25(OH)<sub>2</sub>D] level and proximal tubular phosphate reabsorption (3). Therefore, ADHR and TIO have been considered to be caused by excessive actions of FGF23. These results lead to develop a concept that the inhibition of FGF23 activities may be beneficial for hypophosphatemic patients caused by excessive actions of FGF23 is high in patients with chronic kidney

OPEN ACCESS

#### Edited by:

Reinhold Gottfried Erben, Veterinärmedizinische Universität Wien, Austria

#### Reviewed by:

Junichiro Sonoda, Genentech, Inc., United States Clemens W. Bergwitz, Yale University, United States

#### \*Correspondence:

Seiji Fukumoto fukumoto-tky@umin.ac.jp

#### Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Molecular and Structural Endocrinology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Endocrinology

Received: 29 November 2017 Accepted: 05 February 2018 Published: 20 February 2018

#### Citation:

Fukumoto S (2018) Targeting Fibroblast Growth Factor 23 Signaling with Antibodies and Inhibitors, Is There a Rationale? Front. Endocrinol. 9:48. doi: 10.3389/fendo.2018.00048 disease (CKD) and can be extremely high in some subjects with end-stage renal disease (ESRD) (9, 10). Circulatory FGF23 levels have been shown to be associated with various adverse events such as higher mortality, cardiovascular events, and left ventricular hypertrophy, especially in subjects with CKD. However, it is not known whether these events are direct consequences of FGF23 activities (11). In this review, the significance of inhibiting FGF23 activities in various diseases is discussed.

## FGF23-RELATED HYPOPHOSPHATEMIC DISEASES

Chronic hypophosphatemia is an important cause for rickets and osteomalacia characterized by impaired mineralization of bone matrix. Rickets develops in children before the closure of epiphyseal plate and results in growth retardation and bone deformities. In contrast, osteomalacia in adults can cause severe muscle weakness and bone pain. Serum phosphate level is maintained by intestinal phosphate absorption, renal tubular phosphate handling and equilibrium between extracellular phosphate and phosphate in bone or intracellular fluid. Of these, renal phosphate handling is the main determinant of chronic serum phosphate level. Most phosphate filtered through glomeruli is reabsorbed in proximal tubules by type 2a and 2c sodium-phosphate cotransporters. FGF23 reduces the expression of these sodiumphosphate cotransporters and suppresses phosphate reabsorption (3). At the same time, FGF23 reduces serum 1,25(OH)<sub>2</sub>D by modulating the expression of vitamin D-metabolizing enzymes (3). FGF23 suppresses the expression of CYP27B1 that encodes a protein responsible for the production of 1,25(OH)<sub>2</sub>D. FGF23 also enhances CYP24A1 expression that encodes an enzyme that works to reduce 1,25(OH)<sub>2</sub>D level.

After the identification of FGF23, several kinds of enzymelinked immunosorbent assay for FGF23 have been established (12, 13). A part of FGF23 protein is proteolytically cleaved into inactive N-terminal and C-terminal fragments before or during the process of secretion. FGF23 level can be regulated by both FGF23 transcription and this posttranslational processing of FGF23 protein. For example, iron deficiency seems to enhance FGF23 production and also the processing of FGF23 protein (14). Therefore, FGF23 level does not always reflect the amount of FGF23 transcription. Intact assay using two kinds of antibodies that recognize N-terminal and C-terminal portions of the processing site of FGF23 detects only full-length biologically active FGF23 (12). In contrast, C-terminal assay using antibodies against the C-terminal part of FGF23 measures both full-length and processed inactive C-terminal fragment of FGF23 (13). FGF23 level measured by C-terminal assay seems to correlate with the amount of FGF23 transcription. Intravenous iron preparations inhibit gene expression of FGF23. While iron dextrane does not affect the cleavage of FGF23, several iron preparations such as iron polymaltose and iron carboxymaltose may block the cleavage, resulting in paradoxical hypophosphatemia (14). This two step regulation of FGF23 needs to be kept in mind when interpreting results of FGF23 levels by intact and C-terminal FGF23 assays. Measurement of FGF23 levels in patients with chronic hypophosphatemia indicated that FGF23 levels are high in hypophosphatemic patients with ADHR and TIO by both assays (12, 13, 15). In contrast, FGF23 levels are low in patients with chronic hypophosphatemia from other causes such as vitamin D deficiency and Fanconi syndrome indicating that circulatory FGF23 level is suppressed in these patients by hypophosphatemia or other accompanying metabolic changes (16). From these results, high FGF23 in patients with chronic hypophosphatemia seemed to indicate that this hypophosphatemia is caused by excessive actions of FGF23.

In addition to patients with ADHR and TIO, FGF23 levels have been shown to be high in several kinds of hypophosphatemic diseases (**Table 1**). Of these, X-linked hypophosphatemic rickets (XLH) caused by inactivating mutations of *phosphate-regulating gene with homologies to endopeptidases on the X chromosome (PHEX)* is the most prevalent cause of genetic hypophosphatemic disease. More than three hundred kinds of mutations in *PHEX* have been assembled in a database.<sup>1</sup> PHEX is a single membrane spanning protein mainly expressed in bone and teeth (17). There is a murine model of XLH called *Hyp. Hyp* mice show similar biochemical features to those of patients with XLH. Genetic analysis indicated that there is a deletion in 3' region of *Phex* gene in *Hyp* mice (18). It has been shown that *Fgf23* is overexpressed in bone and circulatory Fgf23 is high in *Hyp* mice (19). Therefore, it is

<sup>1</sup>http://www.phexdb.mcgill.ca/.

TABLE 1 | FGF23-related hypophosphatemic diseases.

	Responsible gene	Mutations	Reference	
X-linked hypophosphatemic rickets: XLH	PHEX	Inactivating	(20)	
Autosomal dominant hypophosphatemic rickets: ADHR	FGF23	Activating	(1)	
Autosomal recessive hypophosphatemic rickets 1: ARHR1	DMP1	Inactivating	(21, 22)	
Autosomal recessive hypophosphatemic rickets 2: ARHR2	ENPP1	Inactivating	(23, 24)	
Osteoglophonic dysplasia	FGFR1	Activating	(25)	
Jansen-type metaphyseal chondrodysplasia	PTH1R	Activating	(26)	
Hypophosphatemia with dental abnormality and ectopic calcification	FAM20C	Inactivating	(27)	
McCune-Albright syndrome	GNAS1	Activating	(28)	
Epidermal nevus syndrome: ENS	HRAS, KRAS, NRAS	Activating	(29)	
Tumor-induced osteomalacia: TIO	FN-FGF1, FN-FGFR1	Activating	(30)	

Hypophosphatemia after infusion of saccharated ferric oxide, iron polymaltose, or ferric carboxymaltose

#### Biliary atresia

PHEX, phosphate-regulating gene with homologies to endopeptidases on the X chromosome; FGF23, fibroblast growth factor 23; DMP1, dentin matrix protein 1; ENPP1, ectonucleotide pyrophosphatase/phosphodiesterase 1; FGFR1, fibroblast growth factor receptor 1; PTH1R, parathyroid hormone 1 receptor; FAM20C, family with sequence similarity 20, member C; GNAS1, guanine nucleotide binding protein, alpha-stimulating activity polypeptide 1; HRAS, Harvey rat sarcoma viral oncogene homolog; KRAS, Kirsten rat sarcoma rival oncogene homolog; NRAS, neuroblastoma RAS viral oncogene homolog; FN, fibronectin; FGFR, FGF receptor. believed that inactivating mutations in *PHEX* somehow induce enhanced expression of *FGF23* in bone and cause excessive actions of FGF23 in patients with XLH. Signals from FGF receptor was reported to be involved in the overproduction of FGF23 production in *Hyp* mice (7). However, the precise detailed role of PHEX in the regulation of *FGF23* expression needs to be established.

Mutations in dentin matrix protein 1 (DMP1) and ectonucleotide pyrophosphatase/phosphodiesterase 1 (ENPP1) results in autosomal recessive hypophosphatemic rickets 1 and 2, respectively (21-24). Furthermore, mutations in several other genes have been shown to cause hypophosphatemic diseases with high FGF23 levels (31). Inactivating mutations in FAM20C was reported in Raine syndrome, a usually lethal osteosclerotic disease (32). However, hypophosphatemia with high FGF23 was later reported in some surviving patients (27). Osteoglophonic dysplasia is caused activating mutations in FGF receptor 1. Hypophosphatemia with high FGF23 in this disease again suggests the involvement of signals from FGF receptor in FGF23 production (25). Epidermal nevus syndrome is caused by somatic mutations in RAS oncogenes and is characterized by sebaceous nevi and skeletal defects (29). These oncogene products can transduce signals from receptor tyrosine kinases including FGF receptor. Jansen-type metaphyseal chodrodysplasia and McCune-Albright syndrome are caused by activating mutations in parathyroid hormone (PTH) 1 receptor and GNAS1, respectively (26, 28). These results suggest that cyclic AMP pathway is involved in FGF23 production. In some patients with TIO, FN (fibronectin)-FGF receptor 1 or FN-FGF1 fusion gene was reported in responsible tumors (30). It is likely that these genes activate some intracellular signaling pathway to enhance FGF23 production.

In addition to diseases with known genetic causes, hypophosphatemia with high FGF23 has been reported in patients receiving some intravenous iron preparations (33, 34). Recently, it has been reported that biliary atresia can be associated with hypophosphatemia with high FGF23 (35). In most of these FGF23-related hypophosphatemic diseases, FGF23 is considered to be overexpressed in bone while the detailed mechanism of this overproduction is not clear. On the contrary, in patients with TIO, the responsible tumors produce FGF23 and FGF23 is shown to be expressed in liver in a patient with biliary atresia. Collectively, these results indicate that excessive production and actions of FGF23 can cause several kinds of hypophosphatemic diseases.

#### THE INHIBITION OF FGF23 ACTIVITY AS A NEW THERAPEUTIC MANEUVER FOR FGF23-RELATED HYPOPHOSPHATEMIC DISEASES

#### **Direct FGF23 Targeting**

Tumor-induced osteomalacia is a paraneoplastic syndrome and can be cured by complete resection of the responsible tumors. However, it is sometimes difficult to find the responsible tumors in patients with TIO. Even when the responsible tumors can be found, it is not always possible to completely remove the lesions. For those patients with TIO whose responsible tumors cannot be removed, neutral phosphate and active vitamin D are usually prescribed. For patients with most other FGF23-related hypophosphatemic diseases including XLH, the same drugs are also used. However, these medications are not drugs based on the pathophysiology of these diseases. In addition, these medications may not able to correct impaired growth completely in patients with hypophosphatemic rickets (36). Furthermore, administration of phosphate and active vitamin D can be associated with several adverse events such as hypercalcemia, hypercalciuria, nephrocalcinosis, and gastrointestinal symptoms (37).

It has been shown that excessive activities of FGF23 underlie the pathogenesis of FGF23-related hypophosphatemic diseases as mentioned above. Therefore, the suppression of FGF23 activities has been considered as a novel therapy for patients with these diseases. Murine monoclonal antibodies against N-terminal and C-terminal portions of human FGF23 were obtained. These antibodies inhibited in vitro FGF23 activity and synergistically increased serum phosphate and 1,25(OH)<sub>2</sub>D levels in normal mice (38). These results as well as phenotypes of hyperphosphatemia and high 1,25(OH)<sub>2</sub>D in Fgf23 null mice confirmed that FGF23 is a physiological regulator of phosphate and vitamin D metabolism (4, 38). Then, these antibodies were tested in *Hyp* mice and were shown to increase serum phosphate and 1,25(OH)<sub>2</sub>D (39). In addition, repeated administration of these antibodies enhanced longitudinal growth of long bones, increased bone mineral density and corrected impaired mineralization of Hyp mice (39). Furthermore, these antibodies increased grip power and spontaneous movement of Hyp mice (40). These results suggested that the inhibition of FGF23 activities by FGF23 antibodies can ameliorate biochemical, morphological, histological and clinical abnormalities of patients with FGF23-related hypophosphatemic rickets/osteomalacia.

Based on the results of these preclinical studies, humanized anti-FGF23 monoclonal antibody (burosumab) was developed and tested in several clinical trials. The initial phase I study involving 38 adult patients with XLH showed that burosumab increased serum phosphate, 1,25(OH)<sub>2</sub>D and tubular maximum transport of phosphate per glomerular filtration rate (TmP/GFR), an index of proximal tubular phosphate reabsorption, in a dosedependent manner (41). Subsequent study with 28 adult patients with XLH showed that subcutaneous injections of burosumab every 4 weeks increased serum phosphate, 1,25(OH)<sub>2</sub>D and TmP/ GFR after each administration (42). Furthermore, burosumab was shown to significantly improve patient perception of physical functioning and stiffness (43). These results indicated that burosumab can improve biochemical abnormalities of adult patients with XLH and improve quality of life. However, it was unclear from these studies whether burosumab can also work in children and ameliorate rickets/osteomalacia.

While the results have not yet been published as articles so far, several clinical trials with burosumab are ongoing. Results presented in several scientific meetings and available on the web suggest that burosumab can improve biochemical abnormalities in child patients with XLH and also in patients with TIO.<sup>2,3</sup> In addition, burosumab seems to improve roentgenological signs of

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup>http://www.ultragenyx.com/pipeline/krn23-xlh/.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup>http://www.ultragenyx.com/pipeline/krn23-tio/.

rickets in children. Based on these results, the US Food and Drug Administration granted a Breakthrough Therapy Designation for burosumab in 2016 (see footnote 2). However, there are several questions to be answered in the future studies. Long-term safety should be carefully monitored. In addition, it has not yet been shown whether burosumab can heal rickets/osteomalacia and normalize height in child patients with XLH. Furthermore, it has not been established how long burosumab should be used for child patients with XLH. Theoretically, burosumab seems to be effective in patients with other FGF23-related hypophosphatemic diseases than XLH and TIO. This also needs to be proved in the future trials. Collectively, burosumab has been shown to inhibit FGF23 actions in human and seems to be promising as a novel therapy for patients with FGF23-related hypophosphatemic diseases.

In addition to anti-FGF23 antibody, a computationally identified compound binding to FGF23 was also shown to increase serum phosphate and 1,25(OH)<sub>2</sub>D in a model mouse of FGF23related hypophosphatemic diseases (44). These compounds can be cost-effective compared to the antibody. However, this small molecule has not been used in clinical trials.

#### Klotho–FGF Receptor Complex Targeting

Another approach is to inhibit the binding of FGF23 to Klotho-FGF receptor complex. Purified C-terminal fragment of FGF23 protein was shown to compete with full-length FGF23 for the binding to Klotho–FGF receptor complex (45). Administration of this C-terminal fragment of FGF23 temporally increased serum phosphate of *Hyp* mice (45). The C-terminal portion of FGF23 protein was fused to Fc portion of IgG1 to increase the stability of the C-terminal fragment (46). This FGF23 c-tail-Fc fusion molecule also increased serum phosphate and improved mineralization of *Hyp* mice when repeatedly injected (46). In addition to this C-terminal fragment of FGF23, several small compounds were shown to impair the interaction between FGF23 and Klotho–FGF receptor complex (47).

#### **Targeting FGF Receptor**

In addition, the inhibition of FGF receptor was shown to inhibit FGF23 activities (48, 49). Several reports suggest that signals from FGF receptor stimulate FGF23 production in bone (7, 48). Therefore, it is possible that the inhibition of FGF receptor suppresses both the production and the actions of FGF23. NVP-BGJ398, a pan FGF receptor inhibitor, increased serum phosphate, enhanced bone growth, increased mineralization, and corrected the disturbed growth plate structure in *Hyp* mice (49).

# Targeting of Downstream Signals from FGF Receptor

The inhibition of mitogen-activated protein kinase (MAPK) pathway was also shown to impair FGF23 actions while FGF receptor can activate several signal transduction pathways. PD0325901, an inhibitor of MAPK pathway, was shown to increase serum phosphate and 1,25(OH)<sub>2</sub>D, and correct impaired mineralization in *Hyp* mice (50). These preclinical studies indicated that there are several ways to inhibit excessive FGF23 activities causing FGF23-related hypophosphatemic diseases.

However, FGF receptor-MAPK pathway is involved in numerous biological processes in addition to mediating FGF23 actions suggesting that the inhibition of this pathway can be associated with various adverse events. NVP-BGJ398 and PD0325901 have been tested in several clinical trials mainly for patients with solid cancers.<sup>4</sup> NVP-BGJ398 was shown to inhibit FGF23 secretion in patients with TIO caused by malignant tumors (51). However, these inhibitors have not yet tested for patients with genetic FGF23-related hypophosphatemic diseases or TIO caused by benign tumors. FGF23 c-tail-Fc fusion molecule and other small compounds that impair the binding of FGF23 to Klotho–FGF receptor complex have not been tested in clinical trials, either.

#### FGF23 AND CKD-MBD

Circulatory FGF23 level is high in patients with CKD. Several studies indicated that FGF23 starts to increase in the early phase of CKD (10, 52). This increase of FGF23 precedes those of PTH and phosphate. While the detailed regulatory mechanisms of FGF23 production and circulatory FGF23 levels remain to be clarified, 1,25(OH)<sub>2</sub>D and high phosphate diet were shown to enhance FGF23 levels (53). However, in patients with early CKD with high FGF23 level, 1,25(OH)<sub>2</sub>D and phosphate are not high. Recent studies suggest that inflammation and iron deficiency are involved in this high FGF23 in patients with CKD (54).

In a model rat of early CKD, the inhibition of Fgf23 activity by anti-FGF23 antibodies were shown to enhance proximal tubular phosphate reabsorption and increase serum phosphate and  $1,25(OH)_2D$  (55). These results suggest that high FGF23 in patients with early CKD suppresses phosphate reabsorption and works to prevent the development of hyperphosphatemia. The inhibition of Fgf23 activities by anti-FGF23 antibody in a model rat of CKD was also shown to cause higher mortality by increasing serum phosphate and promoting ectopic calcification (56). Therefore, this increase of FGF23 in patients with early CKD is considered to be one of adaptive responses to maintain mineral homeostasis.

In contrast, there are now many epidemiological studies that indicate the association between high FGF23 levels and various adverse events especially in patients with CKD or ESRD (11). For example, high FGF23 levels in patients who were beginning hemodialysis were shown to be associated with higher mortality during the first year of hemodialysis (57). Adverse events associated with high FGF23 are quite diverse including cardiovascular events, left ventricular hypertrophy, progression of CKD, fractures, higher mortality, frailty, insulin resistance, and so on. These associations suggest that the inhibition of FGF23 activity may be beneficial in patients with CKD under certain conditions. Actually, secondary analysis of Evaluation Of Cinacalcet Hydrochloride Therapy to Lower CardioVascular Events indicated that cinacalcet-induced reductions in serum FGF23 were associated with lower rates of cardiovascular death and major cardiovascular events (58). However, there has been no study that examined effects of

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup>https://clinicaltrials.gov/ct2/home.

inhibiting FGF23 activities by anti-FGF23 antibody or inhibitors in patients with ESRD. In addition, the reason for the association between high FGF23 levels and various adverse events are not clear enough. While it was reported that FGF23 signals in a Klotho-independent fashion through FGFR4/nuclear factor of activated T cells/calcineurin, which may cause left ventricular hypertrophy (59, 60), it has not been shown how FGF23 can activate FGF receptor without Klotho. In addition, it is not clear either whether FGF23 induces various adverse events directly working on several tissues like heart, bone and kidney. Further studies are necessary to establish the usefulness of inhibiting FGF23 activities in patients with CKD.

### CONCLUSION

Fibroblast growth factor 23 is a hormone that reduces serum phosphate and  $1,25(OH)_2D$  levels. For patients with excessive hormone actions, therapeutic measures to suppress the activities of that hormone are used. Therefore, it is reasonable to develop methods to inhibit FGF23 actions for patients with FGF23-related hypophosphatemic diseases. Patients with hypophosphatemic

## REFERENCES

- ADHR Consortium. Autosomal dominant hypophosphataemic rickets is associated with mutations in FGF23. Nat Genet (2000) 26(3):345–8. doi:10.1038/81664
- 2. Shimada T, Mizutani S, Muto T, Yoneya T, Hino R, Takeda S, et al. Cloning and characterization of FGF23 as a causative factor of tumor-induced osteomalacia. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* (2001) 98(11):6500–5. doi:10.1073/pnas.101545198
- 3. Shimada T, Hasegawa H, Yamazaki Y, Muto T, Hino R, Takeuchi Y, et al. FGF-23 is a potent regulator of vitamin D metabolism and phosphate homeostasis. *J Bone Miner Res* (2004) 19(3):429–35. doi:10.1359/JBMR.0301264
- Shimada T, Kakitani M, Yamazaki Y, Hasegawa H, Takeuchi Y, Fujita T, et al. Targeted ablation of *Fgf23* demonstrates an essential physiological role of FGF-23 in phosphate and vitamin D metabolism. *J Clin Invest* (2004) 113(4):561–8. doi:10.1172/JCI19081
- Kurosu H, Ogawa Y, Miyoshi M, Yamamoto M, Nandi A, Rosenblatt KP, et al. Regulation of fibroblast growth factor-23 signaling by klotho. *J Biol Chem* (2006) 281(10):6120–3. doi:10.1074/jbc.C500457200
- Urakawa I, Yamazaki Y, Shimada T, Iijima K, Hasegawa H, Okawa K, et al. Klotho converts canonical FGF receptor into a specific receptor for FGF23. *Nature* (2006) 444(7120):770–4. doi:10.1038/nature05315
- Martin A, Liu S, David V, Li H, Karydis A, Feng JQ, et al. Bone proteins PHEX and DMP1 regulate fibroblastic growth factor Fgf23 expression in osteocytes through a common pathway involving FGF receptor (FGFR) signaling. *FASEB* J (2011) 25(8):2551–62. doi:10.1096/fj.10-177816
- Dalton GD, Xie J, An SW, Huang CL. New insights into the mechanisms of action of soluble Klotho. *Front Endocrinol* (2017) 8:323. doi:10.3389/ fendo.2017.00323
- Weber TJ, Liu S, Indridason OS, Quarles LD. Serum FGF23 levels in normal and disordered phosphorus homeostasis. J Bone Miner Res (2003) 18(7):1227–34. doi:10.1359/jbmr.2003.18.7.1227
- Gutierrez O, Isakova T, Rhee E, Shah A, Holmes J, Collerone G, et al. Fibroblast growth factor-23 mitigates hyperphosphatemia but accentuates calcitriol deficiency in chronic kidney disease. J Am Soc Nephrol (2005) 16(7):2205–15. doi:10.1681/ASN.2005010052
- Fukumoto S, Shimizu Y. Fibroblast growth factor 23 as a phosphotropic hormone and beyond. J Bone Miner Metab (2011) 29(5):507–14. doi:10.1007/ s00774-011-0298-0
- Yamazaki Y, Okazaki R, Shibata M, Hasegawa Y, Satoh K, Tajima T, et al. Increased circulatory level of biologically active full-length FGF-23 in patients with hypophosphatemic rickets/osteomalacia. *J Clin Endocrinol Metab* (2002) 87(11):4957–60. doi:10.1210/jc.2002-021105

disorders by FGF23 excess may benefit from FGF23 blocking antibodies or inhibitors of FGF23 signaling. However, these therapies need careful monitoring because deficient actions of FGF23 result in hyperphosphatemic disease. On the contrary, FGF23 seems to be high in response to changes of mineral homeostasis or other metabolic process in patients with CKD. Patients with CKD may benefit from these novel therapies to the extent that FGF23 secretion is excessively stimulated and beyond what's needed in compensation. However, there is not enough evidence that indicates the inhibition of FGF23 activities is useful for patients with CKD.

## **AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS**

The author confirms being the sole contributor of this work and approved it for publication.

## FUNDING

This work was supported in part by Grants-in-Aid for Scientific Research from Ministry of Health, Labour and Welfare.

- Jonsson KB, Zahradnik R, Larsson T, White KE, Sugimoto T, Imanishi Y, et al. Fibroblast growth factor 23 in oncogenic osteomalacia and X-linked hypophosphatemia. N Engl J Med (2003) 348(17):1656–63. doi:10.1056/ NEJMoa020881
- Wolf M, Koch TA, Bregman DB. Effects of iron deficiency anemia and its treatment on fibroblast growth factor 23 and phosphate homeostasis in women. *J Bone Miner Res* (2013) 28(8):1793–803. doi:10.1002/jbmr.1923
- Imel EA, Hui SL, Econs MJ. FGF23 concentrations vary with disease status in autosomal dominant hypophosphatemic rickets. *J Bone Miner Res* (2007) 22(4):520–6. doi:10.1359/jbmr.070107
- Endo I, Fukumoto S, Ozono K, Namba N, Tanaka H, Inoue D, et al. Clinical usefulness of measurement of fibroblast growth factor 23 (FGF23) in hypophosphatemic patients: proposal of diagnostic criteria using FGF23 measurement. *Bone* (2008) 42(6):1235–9. doi:10.1016/j.bone.2008. 02.014
- Ruchon AF, Marcinkiewicz M, Siegfried G, Tenenhouse HS, DesGroseillers L, Crine P, et al. Pex mRNA is localized in developing mouse osteoblasts and odontoblasts. *J Histochem Cytochem* (1998) 46(4):459–68. doi:10.1177/002215549804600405
- Beck L, Soumounou Y, Martel J, Krishnamurthy G, Gauthier C, Goodyer CG, et al. Pex/PEX tissue distribution and evidence for a deletion in the 3' region of the pex gene in X-linked hypophosphatemic mice. *J Clin Invest* (1997) 99(6):1200–9. doi:10.1172/JCI119276
- Liu S, Guo R, Simpson LG, Xiao ZS, Burnham CE, Quarles LD. Regulation of fibroblastic growth factor 23 expression but not degradation by PHEX. *J Biol Chem* (2003) 278(39):37419–26. doi:10.1074/jbc.M304544200
- The HYP Consortium. A gene (PEX) with homologies to endopeptidases is mutated in patients with X-linked hypophosphatemic rickets. *Nat Genet* (1995) 11(2):130–6. doi:10.1038/ng1095-130
- Feng JQ, Ward LM, Liu S, Lu Y, Xie Y, Yuan B, et al. Loss of DMP1 causes rickets and osteomalacia and identifies a role for osteocytes in mineral metabolism. *Nat Genet* (2006) 38(11):1310–5. doi:10.1038/ng1905
- 22. Lorenz-Depiereux B, Bastepe M, Benet-Pages A, Amyere M, Wagenstaller J, Muller-Barth U, et al. DMP1 mutations in autosomal recessive hypophosphatemia implicate a bone matrix protein in the regulation of phosphate homeostasis. *Nat Genet* (2006) 38(11):1248–50. doi:10.1038/ng1868
- Levy-Litan V, Hershkovitz E, Avizov L, Leventhal N, Bercovich D, Chalifa-Caspi V, et al. Autosomal-recessive hypophosphatemic rickets is associated with an inactivation mutation in the ENPP1 gene. *Am J Hum Genet* (2010) 86(2):273–8. doi:10.1016/j.ajhg.2010.01.010
- 24. Lorenz-Depiereux B, Schnabel D, Tiosano D, Hausler G, Strom TM. Lossof-function ENPP1 mutations cause both generalized arterial calcification of

infancy and autosomal-recessive hypophosphatemic rickets. *Am J Hum Genet* (2010) 86(2):267–72. doi:10.1016/j.ajhg.2010.01.006

- White KE, Cabral JM, Davis SI, Fishburn T, Evans WE, Ichikawa S, et al. Mutations that cause osteoglophonic dysplasia define novel roles for FGFR1 in bone elongation. *Am J Hum Genet* (2005) 76(2):361–7. doi:10.1086/ 427956
- Brown WW, Juppner H, Langman CB, Price H, Farrow EG, White KE, et al. Hypophosphatemia with elevations in serum fibroblast growth factor 23 in a child with Jansen's metaphyseal chondrodysplasia. J Clin Endocrinol Metab (2009) 94(1):17–20. doi:10.1210/jcem.94.2.9988
- Rafaelsen SH, Raeder H, Fagerheim AK, Knappskog P, Carpenter TO, Johansson S, et al. Exome sequencing reveals FAM20c mutations associated with firboblast growth factor 23-related hypophosphatemia, dental anomalies, and ectopic calcification. *J Bone Miner Res* (2013) 28(6):1378–85. doi:10.1002/ jbmr.1850
- Riminucci M, Collins MT, Fedarko NS, Cherman N, Corsi A, White KE, et al. FGF-23 in fibrous dysplasia of bone and its relationship to renal phosphate wasting. J Clin Invest (2003) 112(5):683–92. doi:10.1172/JCI18399
- Lim YH, Ovejero D, Sugaman JS, Deklotz CM, Maruri A, Eichenfield LF, et al. Multilineage somatic activating mutations in HRAS and NRAS cause mosaic cutaneous and skeletal lesions, elevated FGF23 and hypophosphatemia. *Hum Mol Genet* (2014) 23(2):397–407. doi:10.1093/hmg/ddt429
- Lee JC, Su SY, Changou CA, Yang RS, Tsai KS, Collins MT, et al. Characterization of FN1-FGFR1 and novel FN1-FGF1 fusion genes in a large series of phosphaturic mesenchymal tumors. *Mod Pathol* (2016) 29(11):1335–46. doi:10.1038/ modpathol.2016.137
- Fukumoto S. FGF23-FGF receptor/Klotho pathway as a new drug target for disorders of bone and mineral metabolism. *Calcif Tissue Int* (2016) 98(4):334-40. doi:10.1007/s00223-015-0029-y
- 32. Simpson MA, Hsu R, Keir LS, Hao J, Sivapalan G, Ernst LM, et al. Mutations in FAM20C are associated with lethal osteosclerotic bone dysplasia (Raine syndrome), highlighting a crucial molecule in bone development. Am J Hum Genet (2007) 81(5):960–912. doi:10.1086/522240
- Schouten BJ, Doogue MP, Soule SG, Hunt PJ. Iron polymaltose-induced FGF23 elevation complicated by hypophosphataemic osteomalacia. *Ann Clin Biochem* (2009) 46(Pt 2):167–9. doi:10.1258/acb.2008.008151
- Shimizu Y, Tada Y, Yamauchi M, Okamoto T, Suzuki H, Ito N, et al. Hypophosphatemia induced by intravenous administration of saccharated ferric oxide: another form of FGF23-related hypophosphatemia. *Bone* (2009) 45(4):814–6. doi:10.1016/j.bone.2009.06.017
- Wasserman H, Ikomi C, Hafberg ET, Miethke AG, Bove KE, Backeljauw PF. Two case reports of FGF23-induced hypophosphatemia in childhood biliary atresia. *Pediatrics* (2016) 138(2):e20154453. doi:10.1542/peds. 2015-4453
- Makitie O, Doria A, Kooh SW, Cole WG, Daneman A, Sochett E. Early treatment improves growth and biochemical and radiographic outcome in X-linked hypophosphatemic rickets. *J Clin Endocrinol Metab* (2003) 88(8):3591–7. doi:10.1210/jc.2003-030036
- Carpenter TO, Imel EA, Holm IA, Jan de Beur SM, Insogna KL. A clinician's guide to X-linked hypophosphatemia. J Bone Miner Res (2011) 26(7):1381–8. doi:10.1002/jbmr.340
- Yamazaki Y, Tamada T, Kasai N, Urakawa I, Aono Y, Hasegawa H, et al. Anti-FGF23 neutralizing antibodies show the physiological role and structural features of FGF23. *J Bone Miner Res* (2008) 23(9):1509–18. doi:10.1359/ jbmr.080417
- Aono Y, Yamazaki Y, Yasutake J, Kawata T, Hasegawa H, Urakawa I, et al. Therapeutic effects of anti-FGF23 antibodies in hypophosphatemic rickets/ osteomalacia. *J Bone Miner Res* (2009) 24(11):1879–88. doi:10.1359/jbmr. 090509
- Aono Y, Hasegawa H, Yamazaki Y, Shimada T, Fujita T, Yamashita T, et al. Anti-FGF23 neutralizing antibodies ameliorate muscle weakness and decreased spontaneous movement of hyp mice. *J Bone Miner Res* (2011) 26(4):803–10. doi:10.1002/jbmr.275
- Carpenter TO, Imel EA, Ruppe MD, Weber TJ, Klausner MA, Wooddell MM, et al. Randomized trial of the anti-FGF23 antibody KRN23 in X-linked hypophosphatemia. *J Clin Invest* (2014) 124(4):1587–97. doi:10.1172/ jci72829

- 42. Imel EA, Zhang X, Ruppe MD, Weber TJ, Klausner MA, Ito T, et al. Prolonged correction of serum phosphorus in adults with X-linked hypophosphatemia using monthly doses of KRN23. *J Clin Endocrinol Metab* (2015) 100(7):2565–73. doi:10.1210/jc.2015-1551
- Ruppe MD, Zhang X, Imel EA, Weber TJ, Klausner MA, Ito T, et al. Effect of four monthly doses of a human monoclonal anti-FGF23 antibody (KRN23) on quality of life in X-linked hypophosphatemia. *Bone Rep* (2016) 13(5):158–62. doi:10.1016/j.bonr.2016.05.004
- 44. Xiao Z, Riccardi D, Velazquez HA, Chin AL, Yates CR, Carrick JD, et al. A computationally identified compound antagonizes excess FGF-23 signaling in renal tubules and a mouse model of hypophosphatemia. *Sci Signal* (2016) 9(455):ra113. doi:10.1126/scisignal.aaf5034
- 45. Goetz R, Nakada Y, Hu MC, Kurosu H, Wang L, Nakatani T, et al. Isolated C-terminal tail of FGF23 alleviates hypophosphatemia by inhibiting FGF23-FGFR-Klotho complex formation. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* (2010) 107(1):407–12. doi:10.1073/pnas.0902006107
- 46. Johnson K, Levine K, Sergi J, Chamoun J, Roach R, Vekich J, et al. Therapeutic effects of FGF23 c-tail Fc in a murine pre-clinical model of X-linked hypophosphatemia via the selective modulation of phosphate reabsorption. J Bone Miner Res (2017) 32(10):2062–73. doi:10.1002/jbmr.3197
- Fakhar M, Rashid S. Targeted inhibition of Klotho binding to fibroblast growth factor 23 prevents hypophosphetemia. *J Mol Graph Model* (2017) 75:9–19. doi:10.1016/j.jmgm.2017.1004.1024
- Wohrle S, Bonny O, Beluch N, Gaulis S, Stamm C, Scheibler M, et al. FGF receptors control vitamin D and phosphate homeostasis by mediating renal FGF-23 signaling and regulating FGF-23 expression in bone. *J Bone Miner Res* (2011) 26(10):2486–97. doi:10.1002/jbmr.478
- Wohrle S, Henninger C, Bonny O, Thuery A, Beluch N, Hynes NE, et al. Pharmacological inhibition of fibroblast growth factor (FGF) receptor signaling ameliorates FGF23-mediated hypophosphatemic rickets. *J Bone Miner Res* (2013) 28(4):899–911. doi:10.1002/jbmr.1810
- Zhang MY, Ranch D, Pereira RC, Armbrecht HJ, Portale AA, Perwad F. Chronic inhibition of ERK1/2 signaling improves disordered bone and mineral metabolism in hypophosphatemic (98Hyp) mice. *Endocrinology* (2012) 153(4):1806–16. doi:10.1210/en.2011-1831
- Florenzano P, Gafni RI, Collins MT. Tumor-induced osteomalacia. Bone Rep (2017) 7:90–7. doi:10.1016/j.bonr.2017.09.002
- Isakova T, Wahl P, Vargas GS, Gutierrez OM, Scialla J, Xie H, et al. Fibroblast growth factor 23 is elevated before parathyroid hormone and phosphate in chronic kidney disease. *Kidney Int* (2011) 79(12):1370–8. doi:10.1038/ ki.2011.47
- Saito H, Maeda A, Ohtomo S, Hirata M, Kusano K, Kato S, et al. Circulating FGF-23 is regulated by 1alpha,25-dihydroxyvitamin D3 and phosphorus in vivo. J Biol Chem (2005) 280(4):2543–9. doi:10.1074/jbc.M408903200
- David V, Francis C, Babitt JL. Ironing out the cross talk between FGF23 and inflammation. *Am J Physiol Renal Physiol* (2017) 312(1):F1-8. doi:10.1152/ ajprenal.00359.2016
- 55. Hasegawa H, Nagano N, Urakawa I, Yamazaki Y, Iijima K, Fujita T, et al. Direct evidence for a causative role of FGF23 in the abnormal renal phosphate handling and vitamin D metabolism in rats with early-stage chronic kidney disease. *Kidney Int* (2010) 78(10):975–80. doi:10.1038/ki.2010.313
- Shalhoub V, Shatzen EM, Ward SC, Davis J, Stevens J, Bi V, et al. FGF23 neutralization improves chronic kidney disease-associated hyperparathyroidism yet increases mortality. *J Clin Invest* (2012) 122(7):2543–53. doi:10.1172/ jci61405
- Gutierrez OM, Mannstadt M, Isakova T, Rauh-Hain JA, Tamez H, Shah A, et al. Fibroblast growth factor 23 and mortality among patients undergoing hemodialysis. N Engl J Med (2008) 359(6):584–92. doi:10.1056/ NEJMoa0706130
- Moe SM, Chertow GM, Parfrey PS, Kubo Y, Block GA, Correa-Rotter R, et al. Cinacalcet, fibroblast growth factor-23, and cardiovascular disease in hemodialysis: the evaluation of cinacalcet HCl therapy to lower cardiovascular events (EVOLVE) trial. *Circulation* (2015) 132(1):27–39. doi:10.1161/ CIRCULATIONAHA.114.013876
- Faul C, Amaral AP, Oskouei B, Hu MC, Sloan A, Isakova T, et al. FGF23 induces left ventricular hypertrophy. *J Clin Invest* (2011) 121(11):4393–408. doi:10.1172/JCI46122

 Grabner A, Amaral AP, Schramm K, Singh S, Sloan A, Yanuci C, et al. Activation of cardiac firboblast growth factor receptor 4 causes left ventricular hypertrophy. *Cell Metab* (2015) 22(6):1020–32. doi:10.1016/j.cmet.2015.09.002

**Conflict of Interest Statement:** The department is supported by Chugai Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd., Taisho Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd., Ono Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd., and Kyowa Hakko Kirin Co., Ltd.

Copyright © 2018 Fukumoto. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

